

Norwegian University of Life Sciences Faculty of Veterinary Medicine

Philosophiae Doctor (PhD) Thesis 2023:79

Inflammatory conditions in the musculoskeletal system of salmonids in Norwegian aquaculture in relation to melanized changes

Inflammasjonstilstander i muskel- og skjelettsystemet hos salmonider i norsk akvakultur relatert til melaniserte forandringer

Malin Helen Brimsholm

Inflammatory conditions in the musculoskeletal system of salmonids in Norwegian aquaculture in relation to melanized changes

Inflammasjonstilstander i muskel- og skjelettsystemet hos salmonider i norsk akvakultur relatert til melaniserte forandringer

> Philosophiae Doctor (PhD) Thesis Malin Helen Brimsholm

Norwegian University of Life Sciences The PhD programme in Veterinary Sciences at the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine

Ås 2023

Thesis number 2023:79 ISSN 1894-6402 ISBN 978-82-575-2111-0

Table of contents

Sι	upervisors and Evaluation Committee	1
A	Acknowledgements	2
1	ABBREVIATIONS	4
2	LIST OF PAPERS	7
3	SUMMARY	8
4	NORSK SAMMENDRAG (SUMMARY IN NORWEGIAN)	11
5	INTRODUCTION	14
	5.1. Background for the thesis	14
	5.1.1 Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout in Norwegian aquaculture	14
	5.1.2 Melanization of skeletal muscle in farmed Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout	16
	5.2 The musculoskeletal system in salmonids	17
	5.2.1 Bone tissue	17
	5.2.2 Skeletal muscle	21
	5.2.3 Adipose tissue	24
	5.2.4 Growth and measurements in salmonid aquaculture	24
	5.3 Inflammation, regeneration and melanization	25
	5.3.1 Cells and mediators of the innate and adaptive immune system	26
	5.3.2 Melano-macrophages and melanin	27
	5.3.3 External and internal factors affecting the immune response	29
	5.3.4 Inflammatory reactions in the musculoskeletal system	31
	5.3.4.1 Pathological conditions and regeneration in bone tissue	32
	5.3.4.2 Inflammation and regeneration in skeletal muscle	33
	5.3.4.3 Inflammatory conditions in adipose tissue	35
	5.3.4.4 Selected viruses affecting the salmonid musculoskeletal system	36
	5.4 Red and melanized focal changes in farmed Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout	
	5.4.1 Prevalence and concerns in the industry	
	5.4.2 Characterization of changes	
	5.4.3 Aetiology: Current knowledge	
	5.5 Aims and objectives	41
6	6 MATERIALS AND METHODS	43
	6.1 Materials	43
	6.2 Methodology	44
	6.2.1 Radiography	44
	6.2.2 Histology	45

	6.2.3 Reverse transcription quantitative polymerase chain reaction (Rt-qPCR)	45
	6.2.4 In situ hybridization (ISH)	46
7	SUMMARY OF SEPARATE PAPERS	48
8	DISCUSSION	51
8	.1 Material and methodological considerations	51
	8.1.1 Macroscopic grading systems, radiography, and histology	51
	8.1.2 RT-qPCR and ISH	52
8	.2 Evaluation of the results in light of existing knowledge and identified gaps for future study.	53
9	CONCLUSIONS	59
10	FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	61
11	REFERENCES	63
12	ENCLOSED PAPERS I-IV	87

Supervisors and Evaluation Committee

Main supervisor: Dr. Håvard Bjørgen Co-supervisor: Prof. Erling Olaf Koppang Co-supervisor: Dr. Cathrine Trangerud

First opponent: Prof. Paul Eckhard Witten Second opponent: Prof. Kurt Buchmann Third opponent: Dr. Ida Beitnes Johansen

Acknowledgements

The commencement of this study took place at the Department of Preclinical Sciences and Pathology (PrePat) at the Norwegian University of Life Sciences (NMBU), Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Campus Adamstuen in Oslo, Norway, and continued at campus Ås after the moving of the faculty during the spring/summer of 2021. The work was mainly funded by the Faculty of Veterinary Science, by the Norwegian Research Fund (FHF) grant number 901501, in addition to a contribution from *Astri and Birger Torsteds endowment fund in favor of Animals*. Bremnes Seashore AS, Lerøy Seafood Group ASA, Blom Fiskeoppdrett, Matre Research Station, and local fisheries in Drammenselven kindly supplied project material.

I would like to show my appreciation to the NMBU Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, and especially to the former Head of the Institute at PrePat, Finn Arne Weltzien, and current Head of the Institute Arild Espenes, for giving me the opportunity to pursue a doctorate degree.

Importantly, I wish to give special thanks to my supervisors at NMBU Faculty of Veterinary Medicine; My main supervisor, Håvard Bjørgen and my co-supervisors Erling Olaf Koppang and Cathrine Trangerud. As a Ph.D. student starting my work in March 2020, at the same time as the first COVID-19 outbreak in Norway, I had to encounter a new world of academic and pandemic uncertainties. Despite quarantine, home office, and social distancing, my supervisors virtually never left my side and thus made it possible for me to finish this degree within the nominal time. Firstly, their level of knowledge and enthusiasm has been very inspiring and has reinforced my desire to pursue a career in scientific research. Secondly, throughout my time as a Ph.D. student, I have been given nothing but support, advice, and motivating words, which have given me much confidence and the feeling of acceptance and trust from my supervisors. I have valued this enormously and am forever grateful for their support.

I would also like to acknowledge my co-authors, as they have greatly contributed to my work and growth as a scientist. I am very grateful for the fruitful discussions, inputs, and sharing of experience and knowledge. I am also thankful to my co-workers at the Unit of Anatomy at NMBU Faculty of Veterinary Medicine for a safe, positive, and encouraging work environment. Every lunch discussion, whether academic, political, or just funny stories from a day in the life of an anatomist, has been a pleasure. A special thanks is given to my fellow Ph.D. student and office partner, Fran Barac. I wish for every Ph.D. student out there to share an office with someone as kind, helpful, and down-to-earth as Fran, and I could not be happier to work so closely with someone who shares my exact sense of humor. As it turns out, humor and self-irony are important tools when enduring the great task of writing a Ph.D.

I want to show my appreciation to my co-workers in the laboratory at NMBU Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Anne Clementine Linde and Souheir Chahine Al Taoyl from PrePat, and Ingvild Berg Nyman from the Department of Paraclinical Sciences (ParaFag). Their contribution to this study has been essential, and I am very grateful for our collaboration and knowledge sharing.

Finally, I am forever grateful to my dear family and friends for cheering for me and "hanging in there" with me through these years. My dear husband Kim and our dog Cosmo have been the greatest support system, with encouraging words and barks through the ups and downs of this journey. They have patiently listened to stories about failed EDTA procedures in the lab and tried to follow improvised lectures on teleost ribs' intricate anatomical properties over Sunday brunch. To my surprise, even my husband's love for tennis has helped me, as the French Open 2023 slogan was

precisely what I needed to hear when approaching the submission of my thesis: "Victory belongs to the most tenacious."

1 ABBREVIATIONS

- APC antigen-presenting cell
- aSVF adipose stromal vascular fraction
- CT computed tomography
- Ct cycle threshold
- DAMP damage associated molecular pattern
- DHA- docosahexaenoic acid
- DMD Duchenne muscular dystrophy
- DNA deoxyribonucleic acid
- EDTA ethylenediaminetetraacetate
- EGC eosinophilic granule cell
- EPA eicosapentaenoic acid
- FAP fibro-adipogenic progenitor cell
- FM Fontana MassonFO fish oil
- GC germinal centers
- GS genomic selection
- HE hematoxylin and eosin
- HSMB hjerte- og skjelettmuskelbetennelese
- HSMI Heart and skeletal muscle inflammation
- i.p. intraperitoneal
- Ig immunoglobulins
- iNOS inducible nitric oxide synthase
- IPNV Infectious pancreatic necrosis virus
- ISH In situ hybridization
- kV kilo voltage
- LC-PUFA long-chain- polyunsaturated fatty acid
- mA milliampere
- MAS marker-assisted selection
- mAs milliampere/second
- MFC melanized focal changes
- MHC major histocompatibility complex
- MMC melano-macrophage centers

- MGC multinucleated giant cell
- MSB Maritus Scarlet Blue
- MT Masson Trichrome
- NCC non-specific cytotoxic cell
- NET neutrophil extracellular trap
- NK-cell natural killer cell
- NO nitric oxide
- NOD- nucleotide oligomerization domain
- NOFIMA The Norwegian Institute of Food, Fisheries and Aquaculture Research
- NOK Norwegian krone
- OI osteogenesis imperfecta
- OM osteomalacia
- OP osteoporosis
- PAMP pathogen-associated molecular pattern
- PD Pancreas Disease
- PRR pattern-recognizing receptor
- PRV-1/3 Piscine orthoreovirus 1/3
- QTL quantitative trait loci
- RFC red focal changes
- RIG- I- retinoic acid-inducible gene I
- RNA messenger ribonucleic acid
- RNA ribonucleic acid
- ROS reactive oxygen species
- RT-qPCR Reverse transcription quantitative polymerase chain reaction
- SAV- Salmonid alphavirus
- SD sleeping disease
- SHK salmon head kidney
- THK tilapia head kidney
- TLR toll-like receptor
- TNF α tumor necrosis factor α
- TRAP tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase
- Tyrp-1/2 tyrosine related protein 1/2
- VG Van Gieson
- VO vegetable oil

2 LIST OF PAPERS

Paper I:

Anatomical and pathological characteristics of ribs in the Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) and its relevance to soft tissue changes

Malin Brimsholm, Per Gunnar Fjelldal, Tom Hansen, Cathrine Trangerud, Geir Magne Knutsen, Charlotte Finstad Asserson, Erling Olaf Koppang, Håvard Bjørgen

Published in Anatomia Histologia Embryologia, 2023, 52(3), 421-436, DOI: 10.1111/ahe.12900

Paper II (Short communication):

Diffuse melanization of the red skeletal musculature in farmed Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.)

Malin Brimsholm, Line Rønning, Espen Rimstad, Erling Olaf Koppang, Håvard Bjørgen

Published in Journal of Fish Diseases, 2022, 46(4), 453-458, DOI: 10.1111/jfd.13729

Paper III:

Red and melanized focal changes in white skeletal muscle in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*): Comparative analysis of farmed, wild and hybrid fish reared under identical conditions.

Malin Brimsholm, Per Gunnar Fjelldal, Tom Hansen, Thomas William Kenneth Fraser, Monica Solberg, Kevin Glover, Erling Olaf Koppang, Håvard Bjørgen

Published in Journal of Fish Diseases, 2023, Online version of Record, DOI: 10.1111/jfd.13856

Paper IV:

Focal red and melanized changes in the white skeletal muscle of farmed rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*)

Håvard Bjørgen, Malin Brimsholm, Morten Lund, Maria Dahle, Espen Rimstad and Erling Olaf Koppang

Manuscript

3 SUMMARY

Norwegian salmonid aquaculture has become one of Norway's largest industries. With a yearly export of 1.25 million tons, Norway is the largest producer of Atlantic salmon worldwide. Norway also has a significant production of farmed rainbow trout. The production procedures for the two species are relatively similar, with both freshwater and seawater phases due to the anadromous lifestyles of the species. During the last forty years, production has developed into a highly intensified industry, with a production time frame of about two years. To accommodate the rapid production, several improvements in fish health have emerged. An important part of the production is the selective breeding of fast-growing, slow-maturing individuals with increased robustness against diseases. Additionally, the development of efficient vaccines against several infectious agents has resulted in a significant increase in fish health and welfare and a decrease in the use of antibiotics to treat bacterial diseases. The impact of nutritional contents in fish feeds, such as lipid sources and minerals, has been given increasing attention over the last decades, as the feed can severely impact fish growth and general health.

While the aquaculture industry has made significant strides in addressing potential hazards impacting farmed fish, some challenges continue to impact fish health and welfare. An important quality concern for the salmon industry is the occurrence of red and melanized changes in the skeletal muscle, commonly known as red focal changes (RFC) or melanized focal changes (MFC). These changes are predominantly detected in the abdominal wall's cranioventral region at slaughter; on average, 20-30 % of farmed Atlantic salmon are affected. The finding of RFC and MFC leads to cassation of the affected area in the fillet, costing the industry great economic losses each year. As these changes cannot be detected before slaughter, i.e., no detectable symptoms, they are primarily considered a quality concern; however, RFC and MFC cause significant tissue damage in the white muscle and could thus be considered an animal welfare problem.

RFC and MFC represent acute and chronic inflammatory reactions in the skeletal muscle. Histological properties of RFC include hemorrhages and necrotic myocytes, while MFC is characterized by granulomatous inflammation, extensive fibrosis, and an abundance of melano-macrophages, the latter being responsible for the dark pigmentation of the fillet. The development from acute to chronic inflammation is suggested to result from persistent infection with *piscine orthoreovirus* 1 (PRV-1), as the virus has been found in relation to severe MFC and particularly to organized granulomas in the lesioned tissue. However, there is no indication that PRV-1 is the causative factor for the development of RFC, and the initial cause of the acute inflammation is not yet known. The specific localization of the changes has led to several theories on initiating factors causing focal hemorrhage and necrosis in the skeletal muscle, such as intraperitoneal (i.p.) vaccine injections, external trauma causing bruises to the muscle or inflicting fractures on the ribs, or extension of the stomach due to extensive feeding with pellets causing pressure on the abdominal wall. Some production parameters have proved to reduce the prevalence of RFC and MFC, such as increased fish oil content in the feeds, consequently increasing the level of the anti-inflammatory fatty acids eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA).

RFC and MFC have not been observed in wild-living Atlantic salmon, and the prevalence of RFC and MFC in farmed rainbow trout and in organically farmed Atlantic salmon are believed to be lower than in common Atlantic salmon production. This has led to the question of whether the prevalence in conventional Atlantic salmon farming is due to the external factors revolving around the production

procedures or if the internal (genetic) dissimilarities between farmed and wild salmon and between salmon and rainbow trout can have an impact on the development of RFC and MFC.

This thesis aimed to address critical questions about RFC and MFC's origins in Norwegian salmonid production. In paper I, the association between pathological conditions in the ribs in relation to RFC and MFC was investigated, as their anatomical location could indicate involvement in the development of RFC/MFC. Here, Atlantic salmon from a commercial producer, Bremnes Seashore AS, experimentally kept fish from Matre Research station, and wild-caught spawning salmon were investigated using radiography and histology for costal abnormalities in relation to RFC and MFC. The results showed an association between costal fractures and RFC and MFC and between callus formations and MFC. However, RFC and MFC were also observed with no pathological changes in the ribs. The histological investigations described the anatomical properties of Atlantic salmon ribs, including vascularization of the ribs, giving further insight into the pathogenesis during costal fractures in salmon and the association to RFC and MFC.

Although most commonly seen as focal discoloration in the cranio-ventral abdominal wall, melanization has been observed in other parts of the skeletal muscle with lower frequency. Different locations and distributions may indicate a different cause and development. In paper II, a morphological description was conducted on diffuse melanization of red skeletal muscle in farmed Atlantic salmon, a condition rarely observed partially due to the retainment of the skin during slaughter. The red skeletal muscle is located right beneath the skin, on the lateral sides of the truncus, and makes up less than 10% of the total skeletal mass in salmonids. Red skeletal muscle's physiological properties differ from white skeletal muscle's, with smaller myocytes, abundant vascularization, and aerobic metabolism. Additionally, during disease outbreaks of heart and skeletal muscle inflammation (HSMI) or pancreas disease (PD) caused by PRV-1 and salmonid alphavirus (SAV), respectively, lesions are predominantly found in the red skeletal muscle and, to a lesser degree, in the white skeletal muscle. The results in paper II showed similar changes as in MFC in the abdominal wall, with diffuse granulomatous inflammation and extensive fibrosis and infiltration of melano-macrophages. No organized granulomas were present. Using reverse transcription quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR), PRV-1 was detected, with a statistically significant lower Ct value in the affected samples. The specific location of the virus in the tissue was not investigated; however, the characteristics of the lesions corresponded with a persistent infection of PRV-1, although without granulomas, as seen in advanced high-grade MFC in white skeletal muscle.

To determine whether the differing occurrence of RFC and MFC in farmed and wild Atlantic salmon arises from external influences or genetic factors, a study was conducted in which Atlantic salmon from farmed, wild, and hybrid backgrounds were raised under identical rearing conditions from hatching until slaughter (paper III). The prevalence of the changes was investigated before and after seawater transfer. In accordance with earlier reports, RFC and MFC occurred in the seawater phase. RFC remained stable at 1-5 % throughout the trial, whereas MFC increased towards slaughter, reaching a 25-30 % prevalence. There was no significant difference in prevalence across the origin groups, and histological investigations revealed similar changes in both farmed, wild, and hybrid fish. These results indicate that the changes develop due to external production-related factors and thus explain the absence of RFC and MFC in wild-living Atlantic salmon.

The variation in prevalence seen in farmed rainbow trout has also been hypothesized to result from genetic differences, especially given the similar rearing conditions shared with Atlantic salmon production. To provide novel information on the frequency and morphological characteristics of RFC and MFC in farmed rainbow trout, investigations were conducted on slaughter-ready fish from three different farm sites in Western Norway (paper IV). RFC was only detected in one fish, whereas MFC

had a maximum prevalence of 6.47%. Histological investigations revealed some similarities to those found in Atlantic salmon, however, with a lower presence of melano-macrophages and other inflammatory cells embedded in the lesioned and fibrotic tissue. Importantly, organized granulomas were only detected in one fish. PRV-1 and SAV were detected in skeletal muscle with RT-qPCR, and *in situ* hybridization (ISH) revealed that the viruses were not located in relation to the lesions, in contrast to PRV-1 in severe melanized changes in Atlantic salmon. These results indicate that the response and clearance of viruses are dissimilar and more efficient in rainbow trout, in accordance with earlier comparative reports on viral-specific responses, possibly explaining the lower prevalence of MFC in rainbow trout. Thus, the dissimilar frequency of MFC in farmed Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout is likely due to genetic divergencies between the two species. Additionally, the lower prevalence of RFC in rainbow trout indicates a lower impact of an external factor than in Atlantic salmon production, causing local hemorrhage and necrosis.

In sum, this thesis sheds light on the initial factors causing RFC and MFC in farmed Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout. The results emphasize the high significance of external factors and the low influence of genetic impact on the prevalence of focal changes in farmed Atlantic salmon and pinpoint costal fractures as one possible external factor that can cause RFC and MFC. Novel insight into the anatomical properties of Atlantic salmon ribs was revealed, providing essential information for future analyses of pathological changes in the ribs and adjacent soft tissue. Different distributions of melanization in Atlantic salmon may have different causes, such as diffuse melanization of the red skeletal muscle. However, the severity and duration of the chronic inflammation are suggested to result from the persistent infection of PRV-1, regardless of distribution. This thesis provides the first description of RFC and MFC in farmed rainbow trout. The findings imply that the lower prevalence of MFC in rainbow trout results from genetic divergencies between the two species, causing different viral defenses and elimination. Additionally, external factors may inflict less harm on farmed rainbow trout than Atlantic salmon, as the prevalence of RFC was also lower.

4 NORSK SAMMENDRAG (SUMMARY IN NORWEGIAN)

Norsk lakseproduksjon utgjør i dag en av Norges største industrier, og med en årlig eksport på 1.25 millioner tonn er Norge verdens største produsent av atlantisk laks. Norge har også en betydelig produksjon av regnbueørret. Produksjonen av disse artene er tilnærmet like, med både ferskvannsfase og sjøvannsfase, hvor utgangspunktet er de anadrome egenskapene til artene. Denne industrien har i løpet av de siste årene blitt svært intensivert, med en produksjonssyklus på rundt 2 år. Flere tilpasninger er gjort innen fiskehelse for å best kunne imøtekomme denne hurtige produksjonen. En viktig del av dette arbeidet er seleksjonsbasert avl av rasktvoksende individ med sen seksuell modning og økt robusthet mot infeksjonssykdommer. I tillegg har utviklingen av effektive vaksiner resultert i betydelig forbedret fiskehelse og velferd, og ikke minst en kraftig nedgang i bruken av antibiotika ved behandling av bakterielle sykdommer. De senere årene har også fokuset på næringskomponenter i fiskefôret økt, som mineral- og lipidinnhold, da det viser seg at fôret har stor betydning for fiskens vekst og helse.

På tross av store forbedringer innen laksens helse og velferd i oppdrettsnæringen er det fortsatt utfordringer knyttet til produksjonen. Et viktig kvalitetsproblem i næringen er forekomsten av røde og svarte flekker i den hvite skjelettmuskulaturen hos oppdrettslaks. Flekkene finnes hovedsakelig i den cranioventrale delen av bukveggen, og sees i gjennomsnitt i 20-30 % av fisken. Ved funn av slike flekker blir deler av, eller hele, fileten kassert, noe som fører til store økonomiske tap for næringen hvert år. Ettersom affisert fisk ikke viser symptomer blir ikke flekkene oppdaget før slakt, og dermed ansees dette hovedsakelig som et kvalitetsproblem. Fiskens velferd bør dog ikke ignoreres, ettersom de røde og svarte flekkene er et resultat av betydelig vevsskade i skjelettmuskulaturen.

Røde og svarte flekker representerer henholdsvis en akutt og kronisk inflammasjonsreaksjon i skjelettmuskulaturen. Histologiske forandringer i røde flekker innebærer blødning og nekrose av muskelceller, mens det i svarte flekker foregår en kronisk, granulomatøs inflammasjon med uttalt fibrose, og med betydelig infiltrasjon av melanomakrofager som gir den distinkte mørke fargen i muskelvevet. Utviklingen fra akutt til kronisk inflammasjon skyldes trolig en persistent infeksjon av *piscine orthoreovirus* 1 (PRV-1). Dette viruset er sett i relasjon til alvorlige grader av svarte flekker hos atlantisk laks, og også i organiserte graulomer i vevet. Det er derimot ingen indikasjon på at PRV-1 er den utløsende årsaken til den akutte inflammasjonen. På grunn av sin spesifikke lokalisasjon i bukveggen har flere teorier blitt foreslått som årsak til de røde, og senere svarte, flekkene. Eksempler på slike teorier er både intraperitoneal (i.p.) vaksineinjeksjon, eksternt traume som gir skade på skjelettmuskulaturen eller ribbena, eller utvidelse av magesekken grunnet uttalt fôring med pellets som gir et innvendig trykk på bukveggen. Enkelte produksjonsparametere har dessuten vist seg å redusere forekomsten av røde og svarte flekker, som økt fiskeoljeinnhold i fôret, med påfølgende økt innhold av de anti-inflammatoriske fettsyrene eicosapentaensyre (EPA) og dokosaheksaensyre (DHA).

Røde og svarte flekker er ikke observert i vill Atlantisk laks, og forekomsten av flekkene er trolig lavere i oppdrett av regnbueørret og økologisk laks. Dette har ført til spørsmålet om forekomsten av flekker hos konvensjonelt produsert laks skyldes eksterne faktorer i produksjonsprosedyrene, eller om det er interne (genetiske) forskjeller mellom oppdrettet og vill laks, og mellom atlantisk laks og regnbueørret, som er avgjørende for den ulike frekvensen av flekker.

Denne doktorgradsavhandlingen adresserer viktige spørsmål rundt opphavet til de røde og svarte flekkene i norsk laksefiskproduksjon. I artikkel I ble assosiasjonen mellom røde og svarte flekker og patologiske forandringer i ribbena undersøkt, ettersom fiskens ribben ligger i nær relasjon til bukhulen og potensielt kan føre til skade i bukhulemuskulaturen. Ved hjelp av radiografiske og

histologiske metoder ble prøver fra Atlantisk laks fra en konvensjonell oppdretter undersøkt, i tillegg til prøver fra Matre Forskningsstasjon og villfanget laks. Resultatet viste en sammenheng mellom ribbensfrakturer og røde og svarte flekker i skjelettmuskulaturen, samt en sammenheng mellom callusformasjoner i ribbena og svarte flekker. Røde og svarte flekker ble også observert uten patologiske forandringer på ribbena, som indikerte andre årsaksforhold enn ribbensforandringer. Gjennom histologiske undersøkelser ble anatomiske forhold i ribbena til Atlantisk laks beskrevet, inkludert vaskularisering av ribbena, noe som gir viktig kunnskap for patogenesen ved et ribbensbrudd, men som også understreker assosiasjonen til røde og svarte flekker.

Selv om flekkene normalt sees som en fokal misfarging i den cranioventrale bukveggen, er melanisert skjelettmuskulatur også observert i andre deler av fisken, dog mer sjeldent. Ulik lokalisasjon og distribusjon av melaniseringen peker på andre utløsende årsaker og /eller ulik utvikling av inflammasionen enn for de fokale flekkene. Artikkel II presenterer en morfologisk beskrivelse av diffus melanisering av den røde skjelettmuskulaturen i atlantisk laks, en tilstand som sjelden observeres, delvis fordi skinnet på fisken vanligvis ikke fjernes ved slakt. Den røde skjelettmuskulaturen utgjør under 10 % av den totale skjelettmuskelmassen i laksefisk. De fysiologiske egenskapene skiller seg fra den hvite skjelettmuskulaturen, med myocytter av mindre størrelse, uttalt vaskulering og aerob metabolisme. Dessuten, under utbrudd av hjerte- og skielettmuskelbetennelse (HSMB) og pankreas sykdom (PD), forårsaket av henholdsvis PRV-1 og salmonid alphavirus (SAV), er det fortrinnsvis den røde skjelettmuskulaturen som affiseres, og i mindre grad den hvite. Resultatene i artikkel II viste lignende histologiske forandringer som er beskrevet i fokale svarte flekker, med diffus granulomatøs betennelse, uttalt fibrose og melanomakrofag-infiltrasjon. Organiserte granulomer ble ikke observert. Ved bruk av teknikken reverse transcription quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR), ble PRV-1 detektert i muskelprøvene, med signifikant lavere Ct-verdi i de affiserte fiskene. Den spesifikke lokalisasjonen til viruset i vevet ble ikke avdekket, men lesjonenes karakteristikker korresponderte med den persistente PRV-1-infeksjonen som er vist i høygradige fokale svarte flekker.

For å avdekke om den ulike forekomsten av flekker i oppdrettslaks og villaks skyldes eksterne eller genetiske faktorer, ble det i artikkel III gjennomført en studie hvor atlantisk laks med ulike opphav (avlet, vill og hybrid) ble holdt i identiske oppdrettsforhold fra klekking til slakt. Forekomsten av flekker ble undersøkt både i ferksvannsfasen og sjøvannsfasen. I samsvar med tidlige rapporter viste resultatene at flekkene oppstod i sjøvannsvasen av produksjonen. Forekomsten av røde flekker holdt seg stabil gjennom hele sjøvannsfasen, med en prevalens på 1-5%, mens de svarte flekkene økte i prevalens gjennom sjøvannsfasen, og ved slakt lå denne på 25-30 %. Det var ingen statistisk signifikant forskjell i prevalensen mellom de ulike opphavsgruppene, og histologiske undersøkelser viste lignende forandringer i alle gruppene. Disse resultatene indikerer at flekkene i oppdrettslaks oppstår som en konsekvens av eksterne faktorer i oppdrettsnæringen, noe som forklarer fraværet av flekker i villaks.

Den ulike forekomsten av flekker hos oppdrettet regnbueørret har også ført til spekulasjoner om dette skyldes eksterne eller genetiske ulikheter mellom de to artene. Her er særlig den genetiske forskjellen foreslått, ettersom oppdrettsforholdene av artene er nærmest tilsvarende. Viktig informasjon om frekvensen og morfologien til flekker i regnbueørret ble presentert i artikkel IV, hvor slakteferdig regnbueørret fra tre ulike oppdrettsanlegg ble analysert. Røde flekker ble kun observert i én fisk, og den høyeste forekomsten av svarte flekker var 6,47%. Histologiske undersøkelser viste lignende forandringer som i atlantisk laks, men med lavere forekomst av infiltrerende melanomakrofager i det fibrotiske vevet. I tillegg ble det kun observert organiserte granulomer i en av fiskene. Både PRV-1 og SAV ble detektert i skjelettmuskelprøvene ved hjelp av RT-qPCR, og ved

bruk av *in situ* hybridisering (ISH) ble det avdekket at virusene var lokalisert i områder uten lesjoner. Dette er i kontrast til høygradige svarte flekker hos atlantisk laks, hvor PRV-1 er assosiert med affiserte områder og organiserte granulomer. Disse resultatene indikerer ar responsen mot, og elimineringen av virus er ulik og mer effektiv i regnbueørret, noe som stemmer overens med publiserte resultater omhandlende komparativ virusrespons hos laksefisk. Dette er trolig også forklaringen på den lavere forekomsten av svarte flekker hos regnbueørret. Dermed er den ulike forekomsten av svarte flekker hos atlantisk laks og regnbueørret trolig grunnet genetiske ulikheter. Den lave forekomsten av røde flekker i regnbueørret indikerer dessuten at den utløsende, eksterne årsaken til flekker er av mindre betydning enn i oppdrett av atlantisk laks.

For å konkludere omhandler denne avhandlingen utløsende faktorer for røde og svarte flekker i atlantisk laks og regnbueørret. Resultatene understreker betydningen av eksterne faktorer, og eliminerer betydningen av genetiske faktorer i forekomsten av flekker hos oppdrettslaks. Her vises det at ribbensfrakturer er en slik ekstern faktor som kan føre til utviklingen av flekker. Ny informasjon om anatomiske forhold i ribben hos atlantisk laks bidrar til viktig kunnskap ved tolkning av ribbensforandringer og patologiske endringer i det omkringliggende bløtvevet. Ulik distribusjon av melanisering i atlantisk laks kan ha ulike årsaker, som diffus melanisering av rød skjelettmuskulatur, men varigheten og alvorlighetsgraden er trolig et knyttet til en persistent infeksjon av PRV-1, uavhengig av distribusjon. Denne avhandlingen presenterer den første beskrivelsen av røde og svarte flekker i oppdrett av regnbueørret. Funnene viser at forekomsten av svarte flekker er lavere enn hos oppdrettslaks, og at dette trolig skyldes genetiske forskjeller mellom de to artene, som hovedsakelig resulterer i ulikt forsvar mot virusinfeksjon. Eksterne faktorer er trolig også av mindre betydning ved oppdrett av regnbueørret, ettersom forekomsten av røde flekker også var lavere her.

5 INTRODUCTION

5.1. Background for the thesis

5.1.1 Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout in Norwegian aquaculture

The Norwegian aquaculture production is primarily based on salmonid species, herein Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) and rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Both species are anadromous. Although the distinction between resident freshwater rainbow trout and the migrating steelhead trout has been made, they both belong to the same species. In the wild, the fertilized eggs are hatched (for Atlantic salmon in the fall, for rainbow trout in the spring), and the parr migrates to the sea as smolts after smoltification for growth and maturation. Adult spawning fish return from the sea to their native freshwater rivers (Fig. 1) (Thorstad, Whoriskey, Rikardsen & Aarestrup, 2011; Hardy, 2002). Wild Atlantic salmon can be found in large areas of the northern Atlantic Ocean, including North America, the Faroe Islands, and Norway (Thorstad et al., 2011a), and usually spend around 2 to 3 years at sea before returning to their native rivers (Wennevik & Hansen, 2022). In Norway, two relict tribes of Atlantic salmon exist; the byglandsbleke found in Byglandsfjorden (Barlaup, 2011), and småbanken in Namsenvassdraget (Thorstad et al., 2011b). Both tribes live solely in freshwater and are genetically dissimilar to their anadromous counterparts, as they were likely separated from the migrating Atlantic salmon during the ice age. In contrast to Atlantic salmon, rainbow trout belongs to the Pacific trout and salmon group and is not commonly found in the Norwegian wild fauna (Muhlfeld et al., 2019). Brown trout (Salmo trutta), on the other hand, is commonly found in Norwegian wild fauna. This is a desired species for recreational fishing but is not utilized in salmonid production in Norway. Although the species show similarities in terms of life cycle and breeding, Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout belong to separate monophyletic groups (Crête-Lafrenière, Weir, & Bernatchez, 2012; Stearley & Smith 1993) and therefore hold different traits in terms of phenotype and genotype. For a long time, the rainbow trout today known as Oncorhynchus mykiss Walbaum was named based on similarities to the genus Salmo and was thus known under Salmo gairdneri Richarson. However, due to more advanced biochemistry techniques, the more appropriate classification was given to rainbow trout as they proved to be more closely related to Pacific trouts (Smith & Stearly, 1989). Farming and production of Atlantic salmon in Norway started in the 1970s and has grown to become one of the largest salmon productions in the world. In 2022, 1.25 million tons of Atlantic salmon were exported for 100.8 billion NOK (Norwegian Seafood Council, 2023). Internationally, rainbow trout is the most common reared trout, with production often limited to freshwater dams and raceway ponds. In Norway, rainbow trout are reared similarly to Atlantic salmon, although on a smaller scale. The production in Norway expanded greatly during the 1990s (Skaala et al., 2020), and in 2022, 54,000 tons of rainbow trout were exported, with a value of 5.1 billion NOK (Norwegian Seafood Council, 2023).



Figure 1. Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) and rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) life cycle. Eggs hatch in freshwater rivers, alevins, fry, and later parr stay in the river until smoltification. The fish migrate to the sea as smolts and return to the native river as spawning adults. Created with BioRender.com

Production of salmonids is based on the fish's natural life cycle but with modern technology and breeding programs to accelerate growth and thus produce large quantities within a limited time. After hatching, the fish is kept in freshwater for 6 to 18 months. After sea transfer, the fish is reared for 11 to 18 months until reaching the preferred slaughter size of around 4-5 kg before sexual maturation (Fig. 2). The Norwegian breeding programs for Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout were developed in the early 70s (Gjedrem, 1992, 2010), herein selecting for beneficial traits such as late maturation, fat content and resistance against specific diseases. This meticulous work has resulted in today's farmed salmonids being genetically and phenotypically different from their wild-living counterparts (Glover et al., 2017). In the event of farmed salmonids escaping the nets, these genetic differences pose a potential threat to the genetic integrity of the wild population of Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout.

Salmonid aquaculture has several challenges in terms of production purposes and animal welfare. The fish is kept in tanks and sea cages. Throughout the production, handling of the fish is required during transportation, vaccination, and mechanical and medical treatment against disease and infections. Vaccination against several infectious agents has dramatically improved farmed fish welfare during the last decades, and antibiotics use is thus significantly reduced (Norwegian Seafood Council, 2021). However, some challenges remain to be resolved, and to ensure optimized fish health and, therefore, production, research on these topics is of great interest and importance. One significant challenge yet to be resolved is focal melanized skeletal muscle inflammation in farmed salmonids.



Figure 2. Simplified illustration of the Norwegian production cycle of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) and rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Fertilized eggs hatch in freshwater containers. Alevins, fry, and later parr stays in freshwater tanks until smoltification. Before sea transfer, the fish is vaccinated. Transfer to seawater cages occurs postsmoltification. The fish is slaughtered before maturation when body weight reaches>2 kg. Created with BioRender.com

5.1.2 Melanization of skeletal muscle in farmed Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout

Focal red and melanized skeletal muscle are seen as red or dark discolored areas in farmed Atlantic salmon's white skeletal muscle, the fillet. The fillet is the main product retrieved from salmonid production and should appear light orange and show no sign of damage to acquire the highest quality score. At slaughter, the fillet is evaluated, and findings of discolorations lead to the cassation of parts of or the entire fillet. An average of 20 % of the fillets in farmed Atlantic salmon have melanized discolorations. Thus, the associated economic loss is substantial (Mørkøre et al., 2015). Interestingly, according to industry representatives, the prevalence of skeletal muscle melanization in rainbow trout is much lower, although the rearing procedures are similar.

The most common manifestation of melanization is found in focal areas in the cranioventral part of the skeletal muscle (90 % of the changes are found here) (Bjørgen et al., 2019). The melanized changes result from local chronic inflammation in the muscle (Koppang, Haugarvoll, Hordvik, Aune, & Poppe, 2005; Larsen et al., 2012). The condition commences with an initial injury of unknown cause, seen as hemorrhage and necrosis in the soft tissue, appearing as a red focal change (RFC) in the fillet. The leading theory is that acute inflammation can develop into a chronic state over time, resulting in a melanized focal change (MFC), possibly due to a persistent infection. Previous research strongly suggests a possible link between *piscine orthoreovirus* 1 (PRV-1) and melanized focal changes (Bjørgen et al., 2019; Bjørgen et al., 2020; Bjørgen et al., 2015; Malik et al., 2021a). However, although it is believed that PRV-1 is an important driver of the inflammation from acute to chronic, the initial cause of the acute inflammation is still unknown. Several theories have been suggested, such as trauma, hypoxia, nutritional-related factors, and genetic predispositions. As it appears, the cause of the development is multi-factorial, and it is difficult to distinguish between the different factors as there is no available model for the induction of melanized changes.

5.2 The musculoskeletal system in salmonids

In vertebrates, the musculoskeletal system constitutes the skeleton and the attached soft tissue, enabling movement of the organism. The soft tissues include skeletal muscle, ligaments, and tendons. Interspersed between the muscle tissue are adipose tissue, nerves, and blood vessels, enabling the recruitment of local energy sources and cells from the circulation. In the following sections, emphasis is given to the tissues of the musculoskeletal system in salmonids.

5.2.1 Bone tissue

Of the 34,000 fish species known, 28,000 are classified as bony fish (teleosts). The teleost skeleton consists primarily of bony tissue, unlike cartilaginous species such as sharks and rays, with a skeleton made of cartilage. However, within the teleostean species, there is a large variety of phenotypical and cellular traits of the cartilage and osseous tissue depending on the skeletal element, species, environmental conditions, and other internal and external factors (Witten, Huysseune, & Hall, 2010). The skeleton in teleost species enables swimming movement and protects the brain, spinal cord, and other internal organs. It can be divided into the axial skeleton; the skull and its skeletal elements, the vertebral bodies and their extensions and the ribs and intermuscular bones, and the appendicular skeleton; the fins, and the pectoral and pelvic girdle. In salmonids, vertebral bodies vary in number from 45 to 65 (Kacem, Meunier, & Baglinière, 1998; Kryvi & Poppe, 2016). Extending from the vertebral bodies in the thoracic region are the neural arches and spines (dorsal) and the ribs (ventral) (De Clercq et al., 2017). Haemal arches and spines (ventral) replace the ribs in the caudal part of the fish posterior to the abdominal cavity (Fig. 3). Not to be mistaken with the ribs, the intermuscular bones, known as pin bones, are attached to the vertebral bodies via ligaments (Kague et al., 2019). The presence of intermuscular bones varies among species and can be numerous (Patterson & Johnson 1995). At slaughter, the axial and appendicular skeleton is mechanically removed, leaving the skeletal muscle, the *fillet*, as the main product for human consumption.



Figure 3: 3D computed tomography (CT) image of the Atlantic salmon skeleton, including the axial and appendicular skeletal elements. Imaging done by Cathrine Trangerud.

Skeletal abnormalities in salmonid aquaculture can have significant consequences for fish welfare and health but can also affect the fillet's quality. Vertebral deformities such as lordosis, kyphosis, or fused vertebral bodies may leave the fish morphology altered and impact swimming movement and feeding, and has thus been given great interest (Fjelldal et al., 2012; Gil Martens et al., 2010; Sullivan, Hammond, Roberts, & Manchester, 2007). Some focus has also been given to the ribs, predominantly in terms of anatomical deviations in relation to phosphorus deficiency but also other factors influencing normal morphology (Baeverfjord, Asgard, & Shearer, 1998; Deschamps, Stewart, Demanche, & Vandenberg, 2016; Gislason et al., 2010; Jiménez-Guerrero et al., 2022). However, as rib malformations in salmonids have less impact on the fish's growth, performance, and external appearance, the ribs are not investigated and described to the same extent.

In Atlantic salmon, the number of paired ribs is between 21 and 24 (Jiménez-Guerrero et al., 2022), extending from the vertebral bodies reaching toward the ventral part of the abdominal wall, providing both protection for the abdominal organs (Fig 4a), and muscle attachment sites for the skeletal muscle. As salmonids lack a sternum, the ribs are not anchored ventrally but end blindly in the ventral part of the abdominal wall (Fig.4b). The ribs are located beneath the peritoneum, near the abdominal cavity (Fig.4c). Due to high breaking force (Fiedler, Elmogazy, Courtemanche, Cardoso, & Berteau, 2021) they withstand the force generated by the attached skeletal muscle during swimming. The ribs are thinner in rainbow trout but have greater breaking force than in Atlantic salmon (Yao, 2017). The axis of the ribs can be divided into proximal, mid, and distal parts (Jiménez-Guerrero et al., 2022; Soliman, 2018) and is made up of a bone collar of cortical bone covering a central medullar cavity. In mammals, the ribs are flat bones developing through type I endochondral ossification, resulting in a marrow cavity with spongious bone and hematopoietic tissue. In contrast, salmonid ribs are formed through perichondral ossification and type II endochondral ossification (explained in detail in later sections) (De Clercq et al., 2017; Weigele & Franz-Odendaal, 2016). Here, cartilage is replaced with adipose tissue and vessels. Thus, in contrast to mammals, hematopoiesis in teleosts occurs in the hematopoietic tissue of the kidney, predominantly the head kidney (reviewed by (Bjørgen & Koppang, 2021). However, the chondrocytic core in the salmonid rib can persist, and the cartilage resorption is not related to a specific time of skeletal development Witten & Huysseune, 2009). To further elaborate on the ossification process in salmonid ribs, the microstructure and cells of the bone tissue are described in the following section.



Figure 4. Illustration of the anatomical position of the ribs in salmonids. (a) The approximal region of the fish axis containing ribs. (b) Ribs extending ventrally from the vertebral bodies. Neural arches and spines extend dorsally. (c) The ribs are situated in the abdominal wall attached to white skeletal muscle tissue. Red skeletal muscle tissue is located on the lateral side of the truncus. Created with BioRender.com. The microstructure and cells of teleost bones are used in classifying fish species as primitive/basal or advanced species. This is putatively due to the evolutionary alterations in the components of bone. The bone tissue in salmonids is characterized as primitive, with osteocytes embedded in the bone matrix consisting of type 1-collagen and hydroxyapatite crystals, primarily consisting of calcium (Ca) and phosphorus (P) (Witten et al., 2019), as seen in mammals. Thus, the term cellular bone is applied. In contrast, advanced teleosts lack embedded osteocytes in the bone tissue, and their bones are known as acellular bone (Cohen et al., 2012; Davesne et al., 2019; Horton & Summers, 2009). In vertebrates, including mammals and fish, bone cells, i.e., osteoblasts, osteocytes, and osteoclasts, are vital in the bone's growth, adaptation, and plasticity. As in mammals, teleost osteoblasts lay down the bone matrix, and when surrounded by calcified bone, the cells are characterized as osteocytes located in lacunas. Osteocytes are essential for the homeostasis and plasticity of the bone, and adjacent osteocytes communicate through canaliculi holding cell extensions (Schaffler, Cheung, Majeska, & Kennedy, 2014). Additionally, osteocytic osteolysis has been suggested as an essential trait in cellular species, including salmonids, to control mineral homeostasis (Kacem et al., 1998). Osteoblasts and osteocytes are of mesenchymal lineage in mammals (Mizoguchi & Ono, 2021) and fish (Ando, Shibata, Has, Brand, & Kawakami, 2017). Osteoclasts remove old and damaged bone through resorption activity during growth, development, and repair. Osteoclasts have also been referred to as chondroclasts during cartilage removal (Odgren, Witwicka, & Reyes-Gutierrez, 2016; Wlodarski, Brodzikowska, & Kuzaka, 2014). For convenience, this thesis refers to cells resorbing bone and cartilage as osteoclasts. As in mammals, teleost osteoclasts are thought to be of hematopoietic lineage (Persson, Björnsson, & Takagi, 1999; Takagi & Kaneko, 1995). In zebrafish, two types of osteoclasts have been detected during growth and remodeling using tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase (TRAP) staining. The two osteoclast types appear age- and site-specific; Mononucleated osteoclasts with shallow resorption lacunas are observed in younger animals, while multinucleated cells creating resorption larger lacunas (Howships lacunae) are predominantly seen in older animals (Persson et al., 1999; Witten, Hansen, & Hall, 2001). Further, during fracture repair, two types of osteoclasts are recruited to the site of damage, as seen in medaka (Takeyama, Chatani, Takano, & Kudo, 2014). The process of fracture repair in teleosts is addressed later in the thesis.

Teleosts possess an indeterminate growth, meaning the body size will grow throughout their life span (Froehlich, Fowler, Galt, Smith, & Biga, 2013). To sustain the growth and plasticity in the skeleton, the bone tissue is constantly changing through bone formation by osteoblasts and bone resorption by osteoclasts. Several factors can influence bone remodelling in addition to growth, such as mechanical impact, mineral homeostasis, metabolic demands, infectious agents, and fracture repair. The resorption of bone tissue also allows blood vessels to penetrate the bone, resulting in the vascularization of the skeletal element. Depending on fish size, skeletal element, and cellularity, vascularization of teleost bones varies significantly among species and even among individuals (Moss, 1963). Different skeletal elements may be classified as vascular or avascular, and cavities containing blood vessels in the bone tissue are known as vascular cavities or vascular canals (Meunier, 2002). The vascular canals are categorized according to organization along the axis of the bone and can be divided into radial, longitudinal, or circular vascular canals (Meunier, 2002). In mammalian bone, longitudinal vascular canals are often found in organized osteons, or Haversian systems, with osteocytes embedded in concentric bone lamellae surrounding longitudinal vessels and nerves. Transverse vessels known as Volkmann's canals provide communication between osteons. Osteons are present in compact bone and spongy bone. In teleosts, osteons can be found but may also be absent. Additionally, the presence of embedded osteocytes in the concentric lamella is primarily found in larger species (Nicoletta et al., 2015; Weigele & Franz-Odendaal, 2016).

According to Meunier (2002), vascularization in fish bone is primarily found in the inner spongy bone, whereas the outer compact bone is generally poorly vascularized. However, as shown in the dorsal fin of Atlantic bluefin tuna, an inner layer of the compact bone holds abundant osteons with central vascular canals (Santamaria et al., 2018). As for salmonid ribs, no extensive research has been done specifically on vascularization. However, cellular and acellular fish ribs have revealed vascular canals within osteons (Davesne et al., 2019). On the contrary, ribs without abundant vascularization have been observed in both primitive and advanced species (Cohen et al., 2012), reaffirming the findings done by Moss on the diversity of teleost skeletal vascularization (Moss, 1963). Nevertheless, vascularization is a vital part of the formation of bony tissues, the osteogenesis.

The osteogenesis in teleosts occurs primarily through perichondral, endochondral, and intermembranous ossification, depending on the skeletal element and the species in question. Perichondral and endochondral ossification requires a pre-existing template of cartilage tissue. making this an indirect type of ossification. In perichondral ossification (fig. 5a), osteoprogenitor cells in the perichondrium differentiate into osteocytes, laying down the bone matrix. Thus, perichondrium is transformed into periosteum, and a collar of compact bone surrounds the cartilage template. By perforating blood vessels, osteoclasts and osteoblasts will gain access to the chondrocytic medulla. In mammals, osteoclasts delivered by the perforating blood vessels remove the calcified cartilage, and osteoblasts lay down osteoid, resulting in the cancellous bone. This process, where cartilage is replaced by cancellous bone inside the bone collar, is known as endochondral ossification type I (Fig. 5b). In teleosts, osteoclasts remove the chondrocytes, resulting in a medullar cavity filled with adipose tissue (Giovannone et al., 2019), but without the presence of cancellous bone or hematopoietic tissue. This type of ossification is named endochondral ossification type II (Fig.5.c) (Weigele & Franz-Odendaal, 2016). Intramembranous ossification is a form of direct ossification through the differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells to a condensed area of osteoblasts (Fig 5d). The osteoblasts lay down bone matrix and are later enclosed by the calcified bone as osteocytes, whereas mesenchymal stem cells continue to differentiate, providing additional osteoblasts for bone matrix production. Intramembranous ossification can be found in several skeletal elements in vertebrates and is the most common type of ossification in flat bones such as the bones of the skull in mammals or the intermuscular bones in teleosts (Nie et al., 2019).



Figure 5. Illustration of ossification models. (a) Perichondral ossification, resulting in a bone collar of compact bone holding a marrow cavity. (b) Endochondral ossification type I: Perforating blood vessels supplying cells for removal of chondrocytes and deposition of bone, resulting in cancellous bone tissue. (c) Endochondral ossification type II: Perforating blood vessels providing cells for removal of chondrocytes, with no deposition of bone tissue or cancellous bone formation. Adipose tissue fills the marrow cavity. (d) Intramembranous ossification: Mesenchymal stem cells in collagenous membranes differentiate into osteoblasts, laying down bone tissue and forming an ossification center. The enclosed osteoblasts become osteocytes. Blue strings: Collagen fibers. Created with BioRender.com.

5.2.2 Skeletal muscle

Skeletal muscle in salmonids is arranged in segments, or *myotomes*, visible to the naked eye (fig 6a). The connective tissue separating the myotomes, the *myosepta* (fig. 6b), functions as an attachment for the muscle tissue. The myotomes consist of bundles of myocytes/myofibers and *fascicles*, separated by perimysium, and the myocytes are surrounded by endomysium. One myocyte reaches from one myosepta to the next. Thus, the myosepta functions as a tendon. Mature myocytes have a characteristic position of the numerous nuclei in the periphery of the cell (Fig.6c). The skeletal muscle is classified due to differences in metabolic properties: White skeletal muscle is relatively poorly vascularized, anaerobic and has a low number of mitochondria, responsible for low-enduring and explosive movement. The myocytes are large (50-200 μ m) compared to red muscle (Fig 6d) (Fauconneau et al., 1997). Red skeletal muscle, in contrast, is abundantly vascularized, has high amounts of mitochondria, and is aerobic and fatigue-resistant, responsible for long-lasting movement (Kiessling, Ruohonen, & Bjørnevik, 2006). Red muscle cells are smaller in size (25-45 μ m) (Fig. 6e). In addition, pink muscle cells representing an intermediate muscle type are found in salmonids (Gunrow, Stange, Bochert, & Tönben, 2021; Kiessling et al., 2006). In contrast to mammals, the different fiber types are not mixed but rather separated in other parts of the truncus,

as illustrated in Figure 4. The white skeletal muscle (*m. lateralis profundus*) makes up over 90 % of the total skeletal muscle mass in salmonids, while the remaining mass constitutes of red muscle fibers (*m. lateralis superficialis*) located laterally on the truncus underneath the skin and pink fibers located between the red and white muscle tissue (Gunrow et al., 2021; Kryvi & Poppe, 2016).

Development and growth of skeletal muscle in salmonid fish is divided into three phases: The embryonic muscle formation, the yolk sac-larval myoblast, and myotome formation, and the following continuous growth throughout life (Johnston, 1999; Stickney, Barresi, & Devoto, 2000; Koumans & Akster, 1995). In contrast to mammals and fish of smaller size, such as zebrafish, the postembryonic growth of the skeletal muscle (myogenesis) in large teleosts is performed through both hyperplasia (increase of myocyte number) that can be observed as relatively small, newly formed cells, and hypertrophy (enlargement of myocytes) seen as large size cells (Rowlerson, Radaelli, Mascarello, & Veggetti, 1997; Kiessling et al., 2006). This is evident in Atlantic salmon, with the number of myotomes increasing from 5,000 at hatching to 1 million in adult-sized fish (Johnston, 1999). In the event of enlargement, the myocytes must recruit additional nuclei provided by adjacent muscle stem cells/satellite cells (Johnston, 1999; Koumans & Akster, 1995). As a lineage of the myogenic progenitor cells, the satellite cells reside in the muscle, located between the basal lamina and plasmalemma of the myofiber (Baghdadi & Tajbakhsh, 2018). These cells can be identified by Pax7, a gene expressed in myogenic satellite cells (Seale et al., 2000). The Pax7 gene has been identified in zebrafish during growth and repair in skeletal muscle (Seger et al., 2011), and satellite-like cells are described in both Atlantic salmon (Matschak & Stickland, 1995) and rainbow trout (Gabillard, Sabin, & Paboeuf, 2010). In mammals and fish, the red muscle cells have a higher nuclei content than equivalent-sized white muscle cells but also a higher number of progenitor cells and satellite cells (Gunrow et al., 2021; Burleigh, 1977). The role of satellite cells during muscle regeneration is vital and is described later in the thesis.



Figure 6. Skeletal muscle in salmonid fish. (a) Macroscopic image of red (asterisk) and white skeletal muscle in Atlantic salmon. Myotomes (arrowhead) are separated by myosepta. (b) Low magnification of skeletal muscle in Atlantic salmon. Myosepta containing adipocytes are separating myotomes. Scale bar= 500 μ m.(c) White skeletal muscle in rainbow trout, illustrating a mosaic appearance with different-sized myocytes. Scale bar= 100 μ m. (d) Higher magnification of (d), showing the multinucleated myocytes. Scale bar= 50 μ m.(e) Red skeletal muscle in Atlantic salmon. The multinucleated myocytes are smaller compared to white skeletal muscle. Scale bar= 50 μ m. (f) Adipocytes in rainbow trout. Peripherally located nuclei and a mosaic pattern with different sizes of the cells. Scale bar= 50 μ m.

5.2.3 Adipose tissue

In fish, adipose tissue can be divided into visceral/abdominal fat, subcutaneous fat, and so-called consumed fat, the latter representing the adipose tissue found in the skeletal muscle (Weil, Lefèvre, & Bugeon, 2013). Salmonids are classified as fatty fish with abundant lipids in the skeletal muscle. In terms of Atlantic salmon versus rainbow trout, rainbow trout has a higher whole body and fillet crude lipid percentage (Aas, Åsgård, & Ytrestøyl, 2022a) and relatively more excess visceral adipose tissue (Berge et al., 2023). In salmonids, most of the adipose tissue in the skeletal muscle is found in the myosepta in the white skeletal muscle (Fig. 6b) and in the perimysium (Ackman & Zhou, 1994; S. Zhou, Ackman, & Morrison, 1995; Zhou, Ackman, & Morrison, 1996). Adipose cells, or *adipocytes*, vary in size depending on the myoseptal region in the fish (Zhou et al., 1996). Further, lipid droplets can be seen in the endomysium and inside red skeletal muscle myocytes using a light microscope (Ackman & Zhou, 1994; Zhou et al., 1996), whereas lipid droplets in white skeletal myocytes must be visualized using an electron microscope (Nanton et al., 2007). The distribution of lipids coincides with the metabolic properties of the two muscle types: White skeletal muscle utilizes glycogen as the energy source, whereas red muscle performs lipid oxidation through the high number of mitochondria in the myocytes (Nag, 1972).

Adipocytes grow in similar manners as myocytes with hyperplasia and hypertrophy through the differentiation of preadipocytes into adipocytes (Vegusdal, Sundvold, Gjøen, & Ruyter, 2003; Weil et al., 2013). The adipocytes may vary significantly in size (5-200 um) (Fig 6f), and the mean size increases with body weight and lipid content (Fauconneau et al., 1997). The dietary lipid sources can also alter the adipocyte size, seen as enlarged adipose cells in fish fed vegetable oils (Cruz-Garcia et al., 2011; Fauconneau et al., 1997; Bou et al., 2020). In addition to adipocytes, an adipose stromal vascular fraction (aSVF) has been detected in Atlantic salmon adipose tissue by gene expression, representing not only preadipocytes but also vascular cells and lymphocytes, including macrophages (Salmerón, 2018; Todorcević, Skugor, Krasnov, & Ruyter, 2010; Vegusdal et al., 2003). Involvement of the adipose tissue has been confirmed during vaccine-related side effects (Veenstra et al., 2017). Further, mesenchymal stem cells from visceral adipose tissue in Atlantic salmon have been shown to differentiate into mineralizing osteoblast-like cells *in vitro* (Ytteborg et al., 2015). Immune cells have also been reported in the visceral adipose tissue in rainbow trout (Pignatelli et al., 2014).

5.2.4 Growth and measurements in salmonid aquaculture

The fillet is the main product in salmonid aquaculture. Thus, enhanced skeletal muscle growth is an essential trait for selection, and the result of meticulous breeding for a higher growth rate is evident when comparing slaughter weight in farmed versus wild Atlantic salmon kept in common rearing conditions (Glover et al., 2009). As mentioned, teleosts possess indeterminate growth, meaning the skeletal tissues never reach a specific growth plateau (Froehlich et al., 2013; Rescan, 2008). However, the growth rate is influenced by both external and internal factors, such as temperature, maturation, nutritional status, and dietary components (Johnston et al., 2003). The higher growth rate is linked with not only increased skeletal muscle mass but also increased lipid deposition (Todorčević et al., 2009; Todorčević et al., 2008). Increased muscle percentage is the desired outcome, and abundant visceral lipid deposition is a waste product. The ratio of feed intake: weight gain (feed conversion ratio, FCR), i.e., the conversion protein in the feed, is thus also an important parameter used in aquaculture production (Kause, Kiessling, Martin, Houlihan, & Ruohonen, 2016).

Growth and body condition measurements are performed throughout the production to ensure optimal conditions. The growth rate can be reported as absolute or relative (Hopkins, 1992), calculating the weight gain percentage throughout the production. Specific growth rate (SGR) measures the percentage increase in body weight per day. In contrast, the condition factor is calculated using fish length (from the nose to the tail) and body weight, giving a qualitative classification of the fish condition in terms of leanness/fattiness (Barnham & Baxter 1998). The condition factor tends to be higher in rainbow trout than in Atlantic salmon, likely due to differences in weight relative to body length (Berge et al., 2023; Aas et al., 2022a).

Both internal and external factors may influence the growth of aquaculture production. The selective breeding for increased growth rate and slaughter size has resulted in increased hyperplasia of the myocytes and adipose cells, consequently resulting in larger individuals due to hypertrophy of the increased number of these cells (Fauconneau et al., 1997). As increased fat levels in the diet result in increased fat content in the fillet (Einen & Skrede, 1998), research has been conducted to attain reduced visceral lipid weight while ensuring the preferred fillet size to achieve a higher yield of the end product and reduce waste products (Kause, Paananen, Ritola, & Koskinen, 2007). External factors such as nutrient content and feeding regimes highly affect growth (Johansen & Jobling, 1998; Overturf, Barrows, Hardy, Brezas, & Dumas, 2016) and even temperature during egg incubation (Johnston & McLay, 1997; Matschak, Hopcroft, Mason, Crook, & Stickland, 1998), in the freshwater phase (Johnston et al., 2003) and the seawater phase (Jobling, 2002) will affect development and growth through number and size of myocytes and metabolic rate and feed consumption. Additionally, although vaccination is a vital part of salmonid production in Norway, reduced growth can be observed as a side effect post-vaccination (Berg, Rødseth, & Hansen, 2007; Midtlyng & Lillehaug, 1998; Sørum & Damsgard, 2004).

5.3 Inflammation, regeneration and melanization

The immune system is commonly divided into the innate and the adaptive immune system. However, a division between the two is not entirely accurate, as several cellular and humoral (soluble) components can be found in both, and the components herein depend on each other to function. The innate immune system is based on an unspecific first-line defense against pathogens and other potentially harmful agents. In contrast, the adaptive immune system relies on the host's previous encounters with the agent in question, making the defense directed at specific agents. In salmonids, as in other teleosts and mammals, the innate immune system consists of both mechanical barriers such as the skin and scales, mucus, and pH, in addition to the cellular and nonspecific humoral components such as macrophages, neutrophils, cytokines, and complement proteins (Plouffe, Hanington, Walsh, Wilson, & Belosevic, 2005). In the adaptive immune system, recognizing specific antigens due to a developed memory creates a fast-acting cellular defense of specific T and B lymphocytes and a humoral defense consisting of antibodies produced by mature B cells.

Even though many of the salmonid immune cells are equivalent to those in mammals, the organization of the immune system based on lymphoid organs and tissues differs greatly. First, there are no apparent lymph nodes, and the existence of lymphatic vessels in fish is disputed (Vogel, 2010). The thymus and the head kidney are primary immune organs, and importantly, as teleosts lack bone marrow, the hematopoietic function is found in the head kidney (Bjørgen & Koppang, 2021). The head kidney also functions as a secondary immune organ, as do the spleen, the

intraepithelial lymphoid tissue of the gills (ILT) and the salmonid bursa (Bjørgen & Koppang, 2021; Haugarvoll, Bjerkås, Nowak, Hordvik, & Koppang, 2008; Løken, Bjørgen, Hordvik, & Koppang, 2020). Additionally, several mucosal-associated lymphoid tissues (MALTs) have been detected in the nose, gut, and gills (Salinas, 2015).

5.3.1 Cells and mediators of the innate and adaptive immune system

The leucocytes in the immunological defense can roughly be divided into granulocytes and agranulocytes (lymphocytes). In mammals, granulocytes are named based on their specific reaction to staining. However, the same is not evident in fish granulocytes (Reite & Evensen, 2006). Basophils are rare in fish and often contain granules of histamine (Dalmo & Bøgwald, 2022), resembling another mammalian granulocyte, mast cells. Mast cells in fish are similar to those in mammals and may be referred to as eosinophilic granule cells (EGCs) (Reite & Evensen, 2006). Neutrophils are indeed present (Havixbeck & Barreda, 2015), but not always to the same extent as in mammalian inflammation responses (Roberts & Rodger 2012). The migration from the circulation is due to molecules such as cytokines and chemokines secreted by cells at the site of damage. Neutrophils are phagocytes and possess the function of cell-mediated cytotoxicity by releasing reactive oxygen species (ROS) and degrading proteases, and neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) production, thus performing both external elimination and trapping of microbes (Palić, Ostojić, Andreasen, & Roth, 2007). NK cells, or natural killer cells, are lymphocytes with cytotoxic function, recognizing infected or altered cells (damaged or cancerous) and eliminating the cell by inducing cell death. Although specific markers for fish NK cells are not yet developed, there are two analogs to mammalian NK cells found in fish: The non-specific cytotoxic cell (NCC) and the NK-like cell (Dalmo, Ingebrigtsen, & Bøgwald, 1997; Fischer, Koppang, & Nakanishi, 2013; Nakanishi, Toda, Shibasaki, & Somamoto, 2011). In fish, red blood cells and thrombocytes also possess immunological properties (Köllner, Fischer, Rombout, Taverne-Thiele, & Hansen, 2004; Ortega-Villaizan, Coll, & Rimstad, 2022).

Professional antigen-presenting cells (APCs), such as macrophages and dendritic cells, are essential links between the innate and adaptive immune response. Dendritic cells with similar functions and phenotype as seen in mammals have been characterized in zebrafish (Shao et al., 2015). Macrophages are agranulocytic cells arriving at the site of injury or infection shortly after neutrophils (Crane & Albina, 2014). These cells are phagocytic and will take up harmful agents and debris from dead cells. In mammals and fish, macrophages can be categorized based on their polarization: M1 macrophages produce pro-inflammatory cytokines and nitric oxide (NO), or M2 macrophages produce anti-inflammatory cytokines and arginase (Galdiero, Biswas, & Mantovani, 2014; Wentzel et al., 2020a; Wentzel et al., 2020b). In mammals, a distinction is made between recruited bone marrow-derived macrophages and M2-polarized tissue-resident macrophages originating from the embryonic yolk sac (Davies, Jenkins, Allen, & Taylor, 2013; Ito, Hikosaka-Kuniishi, Yamazaki, & Yamane, 2022). The distinction between recruited and tissue-resident macrophages can be made by specific antibodies (ED1 vs. ED2/ED3, respectively), as shown in rats (Dijkstra, Döpp, Joling, & Kraal 1985). Tissue-resident macrophages, such as Langerhans cells, have been detected in fish (He et al., 2018), in which the majority originates from hematopoietic stem cells. However, some tissueresident macrophages in the zebrafish epidermis are of non-hematopoietic origin (Lin, Wen, & Xu, 2019). Macrophages in mammals and fish show many similarities (Dalmo & Bøgwald, 2022). Still, an important distinguishment from higher vertebrates is the presence of melanin produced by macrophages known as melano-macrophages (Haugarvoll, Thorsen, Laane, Huang, & Koppang,

2006). These cells are of particular importance to this thesis and will be described in detail in later sections.

Altogether, the cells involved in an immunological response aim to eliminate the damaging agent, remove dead or damaged cells and tissue, and restore the tissue function and structure. However, the cells cannot function without a signaling system to induce the reactions. Mediators such as cytokines, chemokines, and receptors are vital to performing a cellular defense. When a cell or tissue is damaged and/or infected, damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) and pathogenassociated molecular patterns (PAMPs) are present. These molecules are displayed on injured and dying host cells or derived from pathogenic agents, respectively, such as bacterial lipopolysaccharides and viral nucleotides (Magnadottir, 2006). To discover the presence of DAMPs and PAMPs, receptors recognizing these patterns are vital. Pattern-recognizing receptors (PRRs) are non-specific receptors enabling the innate immune defense to conduct inflammatory reactions without a previous pathogen encounter. Numerous cell types express these receptors in the body, and activation of PRRs will induce a signaling cascade, resulting in the upregulation of immunerelated genes. Depending on the pathogen in question, i.e., extracellular or intracellular species and strains, different PRRs may be activated: Several toll-like receptors (TLR), retinoic acid-inducible gene I (RIG-I)-like receptors and nucleotide oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptors are all present in fish (Dalmo & Bøgwald, 2022). As the PRRs recognize DAMPs or PAMPs, the cell will go into an antipathogen state, with the production and release of several cytokines and mediators such as interferons (IFN type I and II), tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α), complement proteins, and antimicrobial peptides (Sun, Robertsen, Wang, & Liu, 2009) with many functions, such as stimulating antigen presentation, opsonization of agents, inhibition of viral transcription and controlling apoptosis (Hanada & Yoshimura, 2002).

The cells of the adaptive immune system in fish comprise T-lymphocytes and B-lymphocytes (T-cells and B-cells), as in mammals. Several characteristics can be found similar to that of higher vertebrates, such as cytotoxic T-cells, CD4/CD8-receptors, CD3 co-receptors (Fischer et al., 2013), and major histocompatibility complex (MHC)-molecules. The production of specific piscine immunoglobulins (IgM, IgT, IgD) by B-cells (Hikima, Jung, & Aoki, 2011) makes it possible to conduct several functional and structural investigations on the immune system of teleosts. To activate the cells of the adaptive immune system, antigens must be presented by infected or phagocytic cells by MHC class I or II complexes (Mantegazza, Magalhaes, Amigorena, & Marks, 2013). However, B-cells in fish are highly phagocytic, thus functioning as a part of the innate immune system (Zhang et al., 2017).

5.3.2 Melano-macrophages and melanin

In mammals and birds, cells containing melanin pigment are restricted to include classical melanocytes derived from the ectoderm in the skin and non-classical melanocytes in internal organs, such as neuroepithelial cells of the retina. Non-classical melanocytes are defined by their localization in tissues other than skin and/or with an alternative migratory pathway to the neural crest-derived classical melanocytes (Colombo, Berli, Delmas, & Larue, 2011; Arnheiter & Debbache, 2021). Melanophages, conversely, are phagocytic cells in the skin internalizing melanin, particularly during pathological conditions (Weiss, James, & Cooper, 1988). Melanin is synthesized in specialized organelles in the melanocytes named melanosomes. In the epidermis, melanosomes are secreted by classical melanocytes, followed by an internalization by keratinocytes, while dermal melanocytes

interact with fibroblasts, without the transfer of melanosomes (Colombo et al., 2011; Moreiras et al., 2022). In lower vertebrates such as fish, melanophores are equivalent cells to melanocytes. (Colombo et al., 2011). There is no evidence of melanin-synthesizing macrophages in higher vertebrates. However, such phagocytes can be found in reptiles, amphibians, and fish (Haugarvoll et al., 2006; Sichel, Scalia, Mondio, & Corsaro, 1997).

Melanin-containing macrophages, commonly known as melano-macrophages, are thought to originate from myeloid cell lines in the hematopoietic tissue in fish. Their appearance occurs after the first feeding, coinciding with immunological maturity, in immune organs such as the head kidney, spleen, and liver (Agius, 1981). The abundance and distribution of melano-macrophages in fish varies among species (Meseguer, Lopez-Ruiz, & Esteban, 1994; Roberts, 1975) but also depends on age (Agius, 1981), inflammatory status, and environmental differences and challenges (Agius & Roberts, 2003). Aggregates of melano-macrophages, known as melano-macrophage centers (MMCs), are found in both fish, amphibians, and reptiles (Ahmed, 2022; Steinel & Bolnick, 2017; Wu, Zhang, Chai, & Wang, 2017). In advanced teleost species, MMCs are commonly seen in the head kidney and spleen (Agius & Roberts, 2003; Wolke, 1992), while in primitive teleosts such as salmonids, melanomacrophages are less organized and more randomly distributed in the interstitium of these organs, often located around vessels (Roberts, 1975; Schwindt et al., 2006). In salmonids, the degree of pigmentation, i.e., the amount of melanin in the melano-macrophages, are abundant compared to many other teleosts species (Agius, 1985). Melano-macrophages have been shown to retain antigens for a prolonged period, indicating that these cells perform long-lasting presentation of antigens to cells of the adaptive immune system (Brattgjerd & Evensen, 1996; Herraez & Zapata, 1986). Thus, due to their functional and structural similarities and the implication that the organization of the cells follows vertebrate evolution, MMCs are suggested to be analogs to germinal centers (GC) in higher vertebrates (Agius, 1980). However, some essential features in mammalian germinal centers have not yet been detected in fish MMCs (Agius, 1985; Press & Evensen, 1999; Steinel & Bolnick, 2017). Nevertheless, melanin-containing cells have important properties in terms of cellular protection of the organism.

Melanin is a heterogeneous group of pigments best known for contributing to the defense against UV radiation in the skin of mammals (Riley, 1997; Wolke, 1992). This is true, but the pigment is seen in numerous biological systems, including plants, bacteria, insects, amphibians, and fish. The function of melanin has light absorbance, antioxidant functions (redox properties), and binding of metal ions, and may also bring different modulations of the immune system, such as suppression of proinflammatory cytokine production (Christensen, Li, Chen, & Nappi, 2005; ElObeid, Kamal-Eldin, Abdelhalim, & Haseeb, 2017; Mohagheghpour et al., 2000; Riley, 1997). In mammals and fish, melanin production is performed through a series of enzymatic steps, starting with the amino acid tyrosine. The end products are eumelanin or pheomelanin, and the two are distinguishable due to their synthesis pathway, solubility, and color: Brown/black and insoluble and red/brown and soluble, respectively. The synthesis of eumelanin involves key enzymes coded by the tyrosinase gene family, herein tyrosine-related protein 1 (Tyrp-1) and tyrosine-related protein 2 (Tyrp-2) (Boonanuntanasarn, Yoshizaki, Iwai, & Takeuchi, 2004; Wakamatsu & Ito, 2021). In this thesis, the term melanin is used for eumelanin, which is visible as dark intracellular pigments on hematoxylin and eosin staining. The presence of pheomelanin in fish is disputed; however, with the use of different histological staining methods, pheomelanin is suggested to be present in at least some teleost species (Dang et al., 2019; Kottler, Künstner, & Schartl, 2015). In addition to melanin produced by the cell, other pigments may be found in melano-macrophages. Lipofuscin, a yellow/brown pigment resulting from the oxidative polymerization of polyunsaturated fatty acids, may accumulate during bacterial or viral infections or due to poor nutrition (Agius, 1985; Roberts &

Rodger, 2012). Hemosiderin, an iron-containing pigment from the catabolism of hemoglobin, is primarily seen in melano-macrophages associated with MMCs in the spleen (Agius & Roberts, 2003)

For many years, the melanin seen in melano-macrophages of fish was thought to result from phagocytic activity (Agius, 1985), as seen in melanophages in mammals. However, in 2006, synthesis of melanin in macrophages in Atlantic salmon was discovered in vitro in the salmon head kidney (SHK)-1 cell line, showing the production and secretion of melanosomes through tyrosinase-activity in a teleost leucocyte cell line (Haugarvoll et al., 2006). These cells were CD83-positive, a marker for dendritic cells. Recently, tyrosinase activity was also described in a CD83-negative cell line from tilapia head kidney (THK) with macrophage characteristics, indicating these cells to be melanomacrophage progenitors (Wen, 2016). Melanogenesis has also been shown to occur in organized granulomas in pigmented skeletal muscle in Atlantic salmon (Larsen et al., 2012) and melanized blood vessels in cod (Cooper & Midling, 2007). Muscle melanization has been observed in fish with elevated zinc levels in the diet of sand flathead (Platycephalus bassensis) (Ooi et al., 2022). Thus, the presence of melano-macrophages and melanin in non-immunological organs and tissues has been described most commonly in fish suffering from infections and internal lesions (Dang et al., 2019; Koppang et al., 2005; Larsen et al., 2012; Overstreet & Thulin, 1989). In healthy fish, however, the distribution of melano-macrophages in non-immunological and non-mucosal organs is less described but has been observed in the heart, for example (Overstreet & Thulin, 1989). Generally, the presence of tissue-resident macrophages in fish's skeletal muscle and adipose tissue is not well described but has been reported in mammals (Hassnain Wagas et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2020). This will be further addressed later in the thesis.

5.3.3 External and internal factors affecting the immune response

Fish are in close and constant contact with the external environment and depend on a robust but balanced innate immune response. Both external and internal factors can influence the immune response. External factors include water temperature, water quality, nutrition, and infectious agents in the milieu. In poikilothermic organisms such as salmonids, the body temperature adapts to the surrounding environment, and thus, the metabolic reactions will be influenced equally. This will affect the inflammatory response rate (Fryer et al., 1976), although non-specific immune responses can provide compensatory actions during low water temperatures (Bly & Clem, 1992; Le Morvan, Troutaud, & Deschaux, 1998). In any organism, adequate nutrition is vital for survival, and particularly in aquaculture, nutrition is of great importance as malnutrition can impact fish growth and, consequently, production. Minerals, vitamins, proteins, and lipids in fish feeds have proven to play vital roles in immune responses in fish (Jantawongsri, Jones, Elliot, Scmidt-Posthaus, & Nowak, 2022), including salmonids (Kiron, Fukuda, Takeuchi, & Watanabe, 1995). Regarding lipid composition, the nutritional content of long chain-polyunsaturated fatty acids (LC-PUFA) has proven to be of great importance to commercial farming productions. LC-PUFAs are divided into two groups, n-6 and n-3 PUFAs (Venegas-Calerón, Sayanova, & Napier, 2010). Due to cost efficiencies, the dietary lipid level in commercial salmonid feeds consists of a high proportion of vegetable oils (VO), replacing the preferred fish oils (FO) (Aas, Åsgård, & Ytrestøyl, 2022b). This leads to a higher level of pro-inflammatory n-6 fatty acids (Montero et al., 2010) and a lower level of the anti-inflammatory n-3 highly unsaturated fatty acids eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA), resulting in a negative impact on fish health and robustness (Bou et al., 2017). Thus, influenced by

both the temperature and nutritional status, the pathological changes inflicted by harmful agents vary in severity and duration.

Vaccination and stress must be included in aquaculture production when considering possible external factors influencing the immune response. Vaccination is important in preparing the immune system and preventing disease (Midtlyng 2022). In Norwegian aquaculture, vaccines against bacterial infections such as classical furunculosis (Midtlyng, Reitan, & Speilberg, 1996) have proven very successful, dramatically reducing antimicrobial treatment use (Norwegian Seafood Council, 2021). Vaccines against viruses are more challenging to develop, much due to their intracellular viral replicating mechanisms. However, some vaccines are successfully used against specific viral infections (Ma, Bruce, Jones, & Cain, 2019). Although with a successful outcome regarding protection against many diseases, vaccination brings side effects, both local and systemic (Midtlyng & Lillehaug, 1998). During intraperitoneal injections, adjuvants will induce a local inflammation in the abdominal cavity, resulting in possible adhesions and chronic inflammation in the local tissue (Poppe & Breck, 1997). Moreover, the handling procedure during vaccination is stressful for the fish. Stress induces a cascade of processes in the organism, including nervous, endocrine, and immunological responses (Tort & Balasch, 2022). As in mammals, cortisol is a vital stress hormone in fish, and during both acute and chronic stress, cortisol concentrations are elevated. The number of immune cells is correspondingly affected (Grzelak et al., 2017). The result of these mechanisms is evident in farmed salmonids, as disease outbreaks may occur after stressful periods (Taksdal, Ramstad, Stangeland, & Dannevig, 1998). Noteworthy, several production-related factors in aquaculture have shown to influence MMCs, such as nutrition and stocking density (Montero, Blazer, Socorro, Izquierdo, & Tort, 1999).

In terms of internal or genetic factors influencing the immune response, the diverse variations found in both susceptibility and response to disease in different vertebrate species are evident. Although, as mentioned, properties of the immune system are highly conserved throughout evolution, the response to trauma and intruding agents may differ between species, as seen during intraperitoneal injection of adjuvanted vaccines in Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout (Mutoloki, Reite, Brudeseth, Tverdal, & Evensen, 2006), but also within the same species due to both external and genetic divergencies. The genes code for factors important in both innate and adaptive immunity (Buchmann, 2022); thus, as breeding in aquaculture has evolved to become highly advanced, including genomic selection (GS) and marker-assisted selection (MAS), specific traits providing higher protection against diseases has been selected for. In salmonid production, several genetic markers have been identified as necessary in relation to resistance to infection and disease, such as quantitative trait loci (QLT) associated with resistance against infectious pancreatic necrosis virus (IPNV) (Houston et al., 2008; Moen, Baranski, Sonesson, & Kjøglum, 2009) and salmonid alphavirus (SAV) in Atlantic salmon (Aslam et al., 2020). Here, both early onset of the adaptive defense and lower early viral replication have been reported to improve resistance (Purcell, LaPatra, Woodson, Kurath, & Winton, 2010). The genetic divergencies between species or within separate groups of the same species can thus result in different susceptibility and responses to an infection.
5.3.4 Inflammatory reactions in the musculoskeletal system

In teleosts, the acute inflammation is similar to that of mammals, as equivalent cells and mediators are present in the inflammatory response. Despite the many common features, as mentioned, some major differences are bound to influence the fish's immune response: Their anatomical divergencies, their life in an aquatic milieu, and their poikilothermic properties. Nevertheless, in the event of tissue damage and necrosis caused by infections, mechanical trauma, hypoxia, and other harming factors leading to acute inflammation, the immune system will respond in the way most fitting for the factor in guestion. The acute inflammatory response in mammals is induced by mediators produced by cells at the site of damage (Martin & Feng, 2009). First, during the vascular phase, an increase in blood flow and permeability in the vessels will allow the passage of proteins, plasma, and migration of neutrophils followed by macrophages and other leucocytes, known as the cellular phase (Ackermann, 2012; Loynes et al., 2010). By their function, neutrophils, NCC, and NK-like cells are important for eliminating microbes but will, in turn, create a pro-inflammatory milieu due to the tissue damage following the secretion of degrading components. The initial tissue damage combined with the inflammatory milieu will attract additional immune cells to the site. The leukocyte migration is possible through chemoattractants released by affected host cells and intruding agents and the polymerization of the plasma protein fibrinogen (Manseth et al., 2004). Thus, at the damage site, inflammation is promoted by local and migrated cells and mediators, enabling the removal of the harmful agent but simultaneously inflicting damage to the local tissue. The reparative phase of acute inflammation consists of removing necrotic cells and debris, along with mesenchymal stem cell differentiation, to restore the initial function and structure of the tissue. In severe tissue damage, connective tissue replaces areas where normal structure and function are not restored, leaving a scar formation (Ackermann, 2012).

In mammals and fish, several possible outcomes can occur following an acute inflammatory response, depending on the efficiency of the reaction. Should the harmful agent be efficiently removed and the area of affected tissue is limited, healing and regeneration will restore tissue structure and function (Soliman & Barreda, 2022). Should the affected area include more extensive areas and necrosis and loss of parenchymal cells are abundant, fibrovascular tissue and later loose connective tissue will fill the space resulting from the removal of necrotic debris. Collagen-rich connective tissue will further replace the loose connective tissue, restoring the structure but not the function of the tissue. A chronic inflammatory response will develop if the harmful agent persists in the tissue, as in some intracellular infections or foreign body reactions (Shah, Pritt, & Alexander, 2017). On a structural level, chronic inflammation is characterized by the causative factor and the immune response against it. Thus, the distribution may be focal, multifocal, or diffuse. When macrophages dominate a chronic inflammation, the changes are usually described as granulomatous inflammation (Williams & Williams, 1983). In fish, macrophages may develop into epithelioid cells and multinucleated giant cells (MGCs) (Noga, Dykstra, & Wright, 1989; Roberts & Rodger, 2012) as seen in mammals, and may be randomly distributed or located in relation to organized granulomas, thus giving the granulomatous inflammation a diffuse or nodular appearance, respectively (Shah et al., 2017).

The zebrafish model is well-used for investigating similarities and possible differences in developmental, pathological, and immunological conditions in fish and mammals. Zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) is a primitive teleost species in the family *Cyprinidae* and has become a widely used laboratory fish in medical research due to the great genetic similarities to mammals, including humans,

combined with fast development and low-cost demands (Briggs, 2002). Thus, thorough work has been conducted on the inflammatory response in fish versus mammals over the last decades (Campos-Sánchez & Esteban, 2021). It is, however, important to remember the great diversity of the 28,000 different teleost species, and the inflammatory and regenerative capacity will thus depend on the species and, importantly, on the organ or tissue in question. Therefore, inflammation and regeneration in the tissues of the musculoskeletal system of farmed Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout are given special attention in this thesis.

5.3.4.1 Pathological conditions and regeneration in bone tissue

In salmonid aquaculture, deformities of the axial skeleton of Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout affecting the vertebral column have been given much attention due to both lower fish welfare and performance, and consequently, a negative impact on the production yield (Deschamps et al., 2008; Witten, Gil-Martens, Huysseune, Takle, & Hjelde, 2009). Many factors in the aquaculture industry can affect vertebral properties and morphology (Fjelldal et al., 2012), such as fast growth through rearing procedures (Fjelldal et al., 2006), nutrition (Fjelldal et al., 2009), vaccination (Berg, Yurtseva, Hansen, Lajus, & Fjelldal, 2012) and exercise levels (Deschamps et al., 2009; Totland et al., 2011). Genetic divergencies between farmed and wild Atlantic salmon has little impact on the presence of vertebral deformities (Fjelldal, Glover, Skaala, Imsland, & Hansen, 2009); however, as shown by Gislason (2010), genetic mutations affecting bone development can be the cause of some skeletal deformities, including abnormal ribs, seen in rainbow trout (Gislason et al., 2010). It is likely that factors affecting the bone tissue development and structure in the vertebral column also affect other bone tissue structures in the fish. For example, costal deformities have been detected together with vertebral deformities in fish with phosphorus deficiency (Baeverfjord et al., 1998). Costal deformities are not given as much attention as other parts of the axial skeleton, likely due to their lower impact on production. The prevalence of rib deformities, including costal fractures in farmed Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout, has been given some attention (Boglione et al., 2014; Jiménez-Guerrero et al., 2022), but has not been investigated to a large extent.

A life spent in an aquatic environment follows an altered impact from gravity compared to terrestrial vertebrates. This results in a larger mass of skeletal muscle in relation to the axial skeleton bone tissue, unlike in mammals (Stickney et al., 2000). As mentioned, although relatively thin and flexible, teleost ribs show a high breaking force (Fiedler et al., 2021), likely to withstand the constant strain of the attached skeletal muscle during continual movement. This is reflected by the higher mineral content in the bones of fish exposed to a higher activity level (Totland et al., 2011). Thus, normal swimming movement is not expected to result in costal fractures. However, costal fractures have been reported in both wild and farmed fish (Fjelldal et al., 2020; Fjelldal et al., 2018). This leads to the question of whether external trauma or other pathological conditions in the bone may cause the ribs to fracture. In mammals, several osteopathological conditions will affect and weaken the strength of the bone, such as osteoporosis (OP); reduced bone mineral density (Christodoulou & Cooper, 2003), osteogenesis imperfecta (OI); altered bone structure and composition (Nijhuis et al., 2019), and osteomalacia (OM); defect bone mineralization (Maricic, 2008). Both OP and OI have been observed in zebrafish during experimental investigations (Fisher, Jagadeeswaran, & Halpern, 2003; Rosa, Laizé, Gavaia, & Cancela, 2021), while OM is an observed consequence of phosphorus deficiency in fish, including salmonids (Baeverfjord et al., 1998; Baeverfjord et al., 2019; Witten et al., 2019). Therefore, the phosphorous level in commercial fish feed is adjusted to meet the need for normal bone development. In terms of nutrition and the hot topic of vegetable oils in replacement

for fish oils, it is reported that although lower mineralization is observed during smoltification in fish fed vegetable oil-based feeds, there is no difference in skeletal deformities in the two feeds in adult fish (Berge et al., 2009). All in all, the costal fractures in fish could be due to pathophysiological conditions or external trauma causing breakage. The latter might be more likely to occur in aquaculture production as the fish is handled during transportation, vaccination, and medical treatment. However, knowledge is still scarce on these assumptions.

As for fracture healing, many reports have investigated detailed bone tissue repair in several teleost species, both in cellular and acellular bone (Moss, 1962). The reports conclude that this process is similar to that of mammals, containing both an initial phase with hemorrhage due to disturbance of the local vascularization (de Haan, Fosseidengen, Fjelldal, Burggraaf, & Rijnsdorp, 2016), quickly followed by the recruitment of osteoblasts and osteoclast to perform callus formations and subsequently remodeling of the newly laid down (woven) bone best to restore the original structure and function of the bone (Fjelldal et al., 2018; Takeyama et al., 2014; Tomecka, Ethiraj, Sánchez, Roehl, & Carney, 2019).

5.3.4.2 Inflammation and regeneration in skeletal muscle

The regeneration response in skeletal muscle is a highly conserved process through evolution. Although the processes may differ greatly among species, some mechanisms are conserved: The ability for the myocytes to re-enter the cell cycle by dedifferentiation into mononuclear and proliferative cells and the contribution of satellite/satellite-like cells (Baghdadi & Tajbakhsh, 2018). Dedifferentiation is mainly seen in species with limb-regenerative capacities (Sandoval-Guzman et al., 2014), and in fish, dedifferentiation of myocytes following tissue injury is seen in extraocular muscles (Saera-Vila et al., 2015). Dedifferentiation has largely been lost in vertebrates, but the presence and importance of satellite cells, on the other hand, is crucial in lower and higher vertebrates (Siegel, Gurevich, & Currie, 2013). As mentioned, during both pre- and postembryonic growth, satellite cells are recruited for hyperplastic growth, regeneration, and development of restored muscle in the event of muscle injury.

The regeneration process in muscle can be divided into three phases, which can also be detected by histological examinations: The proliferating phase of satellite cells, including necrosis of injured myocytes and a subsequent inflammation; the early differential phase of satellite cells into myoblasts, with newly formed myocytes with central nuclei, including removal of cell debris by immune cells and the presence of loose connective tissue, and the late differential phase, where hyperplasia and hypertrophy of myocytes are observed, including more organized dense connective tissue and newly formed vessels (Baghdadi & Tajbakhsh, 2018; Tidball & Villata, 2010; Winkler et al., 2011). As the myocytes are harmed, either by physical trauma, physiological disturbances, or invading pathogens, intracellular components will leak through the compromised sarcolemma, which will activate the quiescent satellite cells (Fu, Wang, & Hu, 2015) to enter the cell cycle (proliferation phase). This attracts a fast influx of immune cells, first neutrophils and macrophages and later T- and B-cells, which will further facilitate the proliferation and differentiation into myoblasts (early differential stage) and fuse to form new myocytes (late differential stage) (Yang & Hu, 2018). As mentioned, essential properties, the poikilothermic properties, are an important factor influencing the regeneration time course in fish. Thus, all the stages mentioned above occur in fish, as seen both as upregulation of immune gene expression in Atlantic salmon myocytes (Pooley, Tacchi, Secombes, & Martin, 2013) and in fish skeletal muscle during bacterial infection (Valenzuela

et al., 2017), however with some variance in time of onset and duration. Mosaic patterns in the skeletal muscle of larger species are seen in intact muscle and regenerating muscle with smaller, newly formed, regenerating muscle cells adjacent to larger muscle cells at the later stages of regeneration (Rowlerson et al., 1997). In zebrafish, the myosepta have been suggested as a contributor during inflammation, either as a route during the migration or as a source for regenerating fibers. However, this is not seen in larger fish with post-larval continuous growth (Rowlerson et al., 1997).

The immune response will affect the regeneration process of skeletal muscle, as proinflammatory cells and molecules will promote the proliferation stage, and anti-inflammatory cells and molecules will enhance the differentiation stage of myogenesis (Ziemkiewicz, Hilliard, Pullen, & Garg, 2021). Macrophages are of specific importance, implicated by the role of the pro-inflammatory and antiinflammatory phenotypes on proliferation and differentiation of satellite cells during the different regeneration stages (Arnold et al., 2007; Massimino et al., 1997; Merly, Lescaudron, Rouaud, Crossin, & Gardahaut, 1999), and through the general healing and fibrosis in injured skeletal muscle (Muñoz-Cánoves & Serrano, 2015; Tidball, 2010). Further, subpopulations in M2 polarized macrophages affect healing and regeneration through different mechanisms (Villalta, Nguyen, Deng, Gotoh, & Tidball, 2009; Ziemkiewicz et al., 2021). The polarization of M1 and M2 can be affected by the phagocytic activity of the macrophages (Arnold et al., 2007), mechanical strain (Ballotta, Driessen-Mol, Bouten, & Baaijens, 2014), and iron overload in the tissue (Sindrilaru et al., 2011), among others, and is still a source of research in mammalian medicine today. An imbalance in the strict regulation of M1 and M2 presence in the tissue is an important factor in chronic inflammatory conditions in the skeletal muscle in mammals, such as Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) (Dort, Fabre, Molina, & Dumont, 2019). Hybrid phenotypes (a hybrid of M1 or M2) has been detected in traumatic injured skeletal muscle in mouse seen with both regenerative and fibrotic tissue, indicating the cause of damage to affect the outcome of healing by affecting the phenotype polarization (Novak, Weinheimer-Haus, & Koh, 2014).

In mammals, although without phagocytic activity and generally viewed as M2-phenotypes, the tissue-resident macrophages play important roles in the total macrophage response in skeletal muscle (Davies et al., 2013; McLennan, 1993). These cells are located in the perimysium and epimysium of the muscle and are important during the recruitment of inflammatory cells from the circulation (Brigitte et al., 2010). Apart from these tissue-resident macrophages, extensive research in later years has shown important contributions by other cells already present in the skeletal muscle interstitium, such as fibro-adipogenic progenitor cells (FAPs). FAPs are stem cells that may differentiate into fibroblasts or adipocytes, and during acute skeletal muscle injury, FAPs rapidly increase and positively affect myogenesis (Joe et al., 2010). The different macrophage phenotypes regulate FAPs, as proinflammatory M1 will induce apoptosis of FAPS and thus reduce the extent of adipose tissue and fibrosis deposits. In contrast, M2 will induce FAP differentiation (Lemos et al., 2015). Although FAPs may promote satellite cell differentiation in acute injury, the prolonged inflammation during chronic myopathies may lose this effect, and the fibrotic scar tissue will be a dominant feature (Mozzetta et al., 2013). Thus, due to the unbalanced inflammatory milieu, FAPs give rise to both extensive ectopic adipose tissue (Uezumi, Fukada, Yamamoto, Takeda, & Rsuchida, 2010) and fibrosis (Uezumi et al., 2011) during failed regeneration of skeletal muscle. Other cells resident in the skeletal muscle that contribute to the inflammation and regeneration during injury are endothelial cells and pericytes, both of which are involved in angiogenesis, revascularization, and satellite cell regulation (Birbrair et al., 2014; Christov et al., 2007).

The cause of injury will also affect the regeneration response, as illustrated in Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout during infection with the gram-negative bacteria, activating PAMPs, versus mechanical trauma, activating DAMPs (Ingerslev, Lunder, & Nielsen, 2010). Here, the infection shows a higher expression of proinflammatory cytokines. Similarly, if the pathogen is extracellular or intracellular, the response will happen accordingly. For example, a common response to viral infections is autophagy of the infected cell (Cui, 2019), a mechanism seen in close relation to the immune response in rainbow trout skeletal muscle cells (Valenzuela et al., 2023). However, the immune response to pathogen infection depends highly on the specific pathogen in question and its mechanisms to invade the cell and avoid the host defense system.

5.3.4.3 Inflammatory conditions in adipose tissue

Inflammation of adipose tissue, also known as steatitis, has been described in several teleosts species, particularly farmed fish. Pansteatitis is characterized as a generalized inflammatory process in the adipose tissues and has been associated with certain types of nutritional fish oils combined with low levels of vitamin E. The increased amount of LC-PUFA in the feed will increase the demand for vitamin E due to increased oxidation activity (Farwer et al., 1994). In earlier reports on pansteatitis in farmed fish, the affected fish were recognized by abnormal and lethargic swimming behavior and a darker color fin (Roberts & Agius, 2008; Roberts, Richards, & Bullock, 1979). Here, histological examinations revealed that several organs were affected, with infiltration of lymphocytes and macrophages. Skeletal muscle was also compromised, suggested to result from a low vitamin E level in the diet. (Roberts et al., 1979). However, steatitis can be detected in fish without macroscopic or behavioral alterations. In rainbow trout, the condition was confirmed through the detection of granulomas in the adipose tissue in fish fed high fish oil (FO) based diet (Twibell et al., 2017), suggesting this condition to be more prevalent but not easily discovered and that a reduction in FO in the diet could be beneficial.

On the contrary, the benefits of dietary FOs are widely accepted in obesity treatment in mammals (Bargut, Mandarim-de-Lacerda, & Aguila, 2015). Steatitis is commonly linked to obesity in mammals suffering from metabolic syndrome (Hotamisligil et al., 2006; O'Rourke, 2009). The enlarged adipocytes release proinflammatory molecules named adipokines (Fasshauer & Blüher, 2015; Skurk, Alberti-Huber, Herder, & Hauner, 2007) during obesity, causing insulin resistance (Hotamisligil, Murray, Choy, & Spiegelman, 1994; Xu et al., 2003). The inflammatory response is suggested to be induced by oxidative stress or hypoxia in the adipose tissue (Pasarica et al., 2009; Trayhurn, Wang, & Wood, 2008). In obese individuals, adipose tissue is characterized by enlarged adipocytes and infiltration of inflammatory cells, herein an abundance of M1-polarized macrophages (Schenk, Saberi, & Olefski, 2008; Suganami & Ogawa, 2010). The increased amount of bone marrow-recruited macrophages relative to the M2-polarized tissue-resident macrophages (Bourlier & Bouloumie, 2009) correlates with increasing adipocyte size (Weisberg et al., 2003) and is seen in close relation to dying adipocytes (Saverio et al., 2005). These mammal studies show that adipose tissue can greatly recruit the immune system during compromised metabolism and local and systemic disturbances.

As mentioned in earlier sections, adipose tissue makes up a significant part of the total body mass in fish. The inflammatory conditions in obese mammals have led to an increasing interest in studying similar changes in farmed salmonids, as deposition of excess visceral fat is a consequence of increased lipid levels in the feed, resulting from hyperplasia and, particularly in larger individuals, hypertrophy of adipocytes (Gélineau, Corraze, Boujard, Larroquet, & Kaushik, 2001). The reduced

level of level of EPA and DHA in commercial fish feeds is shown to affect the deposition of visceral adipose tissue (Bou et al., 2017; Todorčević et al., 2009) and the adipocytes are also likely to increase in size due to increased storage of lipids on a VO diet (Todorčević et al., 2008). Increased lipid storage and low levels of DHA are likely linked to elevated oxidative stress related to increased inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) and impaired mitochondrial activity (Bou et al., 2020; Todorčević et al., 2009). Regarding species differences, recent studies have shown that rainbow trout has a better capacity to increase EPA and DHA metabolism (Berge et al., 2023).

5.3.4.4 Selected viruses affecting the salmonid musculoskeletal system

Several infectious agents can cause disease during the production cycle of Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout. Disease outbreaks can cause high morbidity and mortality and are therefore a threat to both the production outcome and animal welfare. As mentioned, vaccines have successfully encountered many diseases caused by bacterial infections. However, vaccines protecting against diseases caused by viruses are more complicated to obtain. In relation to the topic of this thesis, some viral infections are of particular interest as they affect the skeletal muscle and are therefore relevant when addressing inflammation in the musculoskeletal system. Thus, a specific focus is given in the next section on these viruses.

Piscine orthoreovirus-1 (PRV-1)

Piscine orthoreovirus 1 is the causative agent of the disease known as heart and skeletal muscle inflammation (HSMI) in Atlantic salmon (Palacios et al., 2010; Wessel et al., 2017). The nonenveloped, double-stranded RNA virus belongs to the family Reoviridae (Markussen et al., 2013) and is ubiquitous in the seawater phase of salmonid production (Løvoll et al., 2012). The virus has also been detected in wild Atlantic salmon, but infection of the virus is not consistently associated with clinical signs of disease; thus, the fish may be healthy carriers of the virus (Garseth, Fritsvold, Opheim, Skjerve, & Biering, 2013). The virus infects red blood cells (Finstad et al., 2014) and is distributed throughout the body's tissues via the circulation. The disease is characterized by necrosis and inflammation in the heart muscle and predominantly red skeletal muscle and has a high morbidity and up to 20% mortality (Kongtorp, Kjerstad, Taksdal, Guttvik, & Falk, 2004). Disease outbreaks are commonly observed after 5 to 7 months post-sea transfer (Kongtorop, Taksdal, & Lyngøy, 2004). Although the viral load increases during disease outbreaks, the virus can survive inside phagocytes and is therefore not eliminated, leaving the fish persistently infected (Malik et al., 2019). The inflammation of red skeletal muscle is characterized by necrosis of myocytes and infiltration of mononucleated cells. The white skeletal muscle may also be affected (Kongtorp et al., 2004a). In an experimental study on PRV-1 infection in rainbow trout, only mild pathological changes in the heart were detected, and persistent infection was not present (Purcell et al., 2020). In 2022, 147 outbreaks of HSMI in Atlantic salmon were reported (Olsen & Dahle, 2023). As the virus has not yet been cultivatable in vitro (Pham et al., 2020), attempts to develop efficient vaccines against infection have had moderate success, protecting against severe HSMI but not against PRV-1 infection (Haatveit et al., 2018; Wessel et al., 2018). Today, no vaccine against HSMI is utilized in Norwegian salmonid production.

Piscine orthoreovirus 3 (PRV-3)

PRV-1 infection can occur in rainbow trout, however, with only mild myocarditis in the heart observed (Purcell et al., 2020). In rainbow trout, HSMI is caused by another subtype of piscine orthoreovirus, PRV-3 (Olsen, Hjortaas, Tengs, Hellberg, & Johansen, 2015). This virus is closely related to PRV-1 with 89 % identity alignment (Dhamotharan et al., 2018) and can provide cross-protection against PRV-1 in Atlantic salmon (Malik et al., 2021c). This disease closely resembles HSMI in Atlantic salmon, yet there exist certain distinctions that set the two conditions apart. In rainbow trout, unlike in Atlantic salmon, HSMI is associated with anemia (Olsen et al., 2015). Additionally, the disease is usually observed in the freshwater stage of production, and the infection is more efficiently eliminated compared to PRV-1 in Atlantic salmon (Hauge et al., 2017; Vendramin et al., 2019). In Norway, PRV-3 was detected in ten localities in 2022. However, severe outbreaks of HSMI in rainbow trout have not been reported in the last decade (Olsen & Dahle, 2023).

Salmonid alphavirus (SAV)

Salmonid alphavirus is an enveloped single-stranded RNA virus belonging to the family Togaviridae (Nelson, McLoughlin, Rowley, Platten, & McCormick, 1995). The subtypes SAV2 and SAV3 are the causative agents of pancreas disease (PD) in Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout (SAV2 and 3) and sleeping disease (SD) in rainbow trout (SAV2) (Hodneland, Bratland, Christie, Endresen, & Nylund, 2005; Nelson et al., 1995; Weston, Welsh, McLoughlin, & Todd, 1999). In Norway, there are currently two ongoing PD pandemics, geographically divided by the causative virus into areas north of Hustadvika, Møre and Romsdal (SAV2), and south of Stad, Vestland (SAV3) (Sindre, Patel, Olsen, & Løkslett, 2022). PD and SD are recognized by necrotic lesions and inflammation in the heart, red skeletal muscle, and the pancreas (Graham et al., 2007). Due to the characteristic pathological changes in the pancreas and the abnormal swimming behavior of the affected fish, likely caused by the compromised skeletal muscle, the disease has been named accordingly (McLoughlin & Graham, 2007). In Norway, the clinical signs occur in the seawater production phase in Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout, with a low to moderate mortality (Taksdal et al., 2007). An outbreak may last 3 to 4 months (Taksdal et al., 2007). However, the virus can be detected in recovered individuals (Andersen, Bratland, Hodneland, & Nylund, 2007). Although red skeletal muscle is more severely affected, with necrosis and inflammatory cell infiltration, white skeletal muscle can also show mild and severe degeneration (Taksdal et al., 2007). The virus can be detected in several tissues in infected fish (Andersen et al., 2007) and has been shown to target the satellite cells in the skeletal muscle of rainbow trout, likely explaining the degenerative properties in the tissue with a slow regeneration with macrophage infiltration and myofiber atrophy (Biacchesi et al., 2016; Heidari et al., 2015). Due to the lower prevalence of severe lesions in rainbow trout, Taksdal et al. 2007 discussed whether rainbow trout may be less susceptible to SAV infection than Atlantic salmon or if the regenerative process is more successful. In 2022, 90 outbreaks of PD were reported in Norway (Sindre et al., 2023). Several vaccines are available and utilized in Norwegian salmonid production, however with some variations in protective properties (Jensen, Kristoffersen, Myr, & Brun, 2012; Karlsen et al., 2012; Veenstra et al., 2020).

5.4 Red and melanized focal changes in farmed Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout

5.4.1 Prevalence and concerns in the industry

In farmed Atlantic salmon in Norway, the findings of the fillet's red and melanized focal changes (RFC and MFC), commonly known as red and dark spots, have increased during the last three decades (Mørkøre et al., 2015). Today, the prevalence of MFC in slaughter-sized fish is, on average, 20-30 % (Bjørgen et al., 2019; Mørkøre et al., 2015), and the discoloration is detected at slaughter. MFC have not been observed in the freshwater phase of production but show a steady increase in prevalence after transfer to seawater (Bjørgen et al., 2019). RFC, on the other hand, has been reported in freshwater smolts (Jiménez-Guerrero et al., 2022) and has a steady prevalence of 1-5 % with no increase during the seawater phase (Bjørgen et al., 2019). RFC and MFC have not been reported in wild Atlantic salmon. As for farmed rainbow trout, the prevalence of MFC is reported to be much lower in slaughter-ready fish, with an average prevalence of 1-2 % (Mørkøre et al., 2015). The changes predominantly occur in the cranio-ventral and cranio-dorsal part of the abdominal wall, primarily seen on the peritoneal side of the fillet (Fig. 7), but with the potential to reach through the skeletal muscle to the skin. The changes result in the cassation of the affected area. As a result, RFC and MFC cause great economic losses for the Atlantic salmon industry.

5.4.2 Characterization of changes

To utilize a suitable surveillance system regarding the prevalence of the changes, several classification systems have been developed for use during visual evaluation of the fillet at slaughter. The changes vary in size and color intensity; thus, the macroscopic evaluation is based on their localization and appearance. One of Norway's largest seafood companies, Mowi, has developed a classification system grading the RFC and MFC with increasing severity, from grade 1 (small focal change and light discoloration) to grade 3 (large change with intense discoloration) (Bjørgen et al., 2019). This grading system is widely used in the industry and during research investigations on the changes. In a report from The Norwegian Institute of Food, Fisheries and Aquaculture Research (Nofima), another system was developed to evaluate the changes, including the localization (anterior abdominal wall, posterior abdominal wall, and dorsal musculature) and severity (grade 1, 2, 4 and 8) (Mørkøre, 2012). Grade 1 includes changes with only weak discoloration, grade 2 represents focal changes smaller than 3 cm, grade 4 includes changes within 3-6 cm sizes, and grade 8 is given to melanized areas larger than 8 cm. Recently, an additional method has been developed to evaluate melanized changes in the fillet while adjusting for fish size (Jiménez-Guerrero et al., 2022).

Descriptive studies on RFC and MFC histological properties in Atlantic salmon have also been performed. RFC presents characteristic pathological changes in line with acute inflammation, including hemorrhage and necrotic myocytes (Fig. 7) (Bjørgen et al., 2019; Bjørgen et al., 2020). MFC, on the other hand, represents a chronic, granulomatous inflammation in the skeletal muscle (Fig. 7), with organized granulomas being a frequent finding (Koppang et al., 2005; Larsen et al., 2012). Categorization of the histological findings in MFC in Atlantic salmon has been developed, grading the microscopic changes in the skeletal muscle from 1 to 9 (Bjørgen et al., 2019). Category 1 includes samples with no pathological observations; category 2 represents intact myocytes with infiltration of endomysial melano-macrophages; category 3 represents intact myocytes with surrounding fibrosis, and no melano-macrophages, category 4 includes the changes of category 3 with the presence of melano-macrophages, category 5 represents samples with more abundant inflammation and fibrosis in the tissue, while category 6 and 7 includes samples with larger areas of fibrosis and inflammatory cells, with and without melano-macrophages, respectively. Category 8 represents inflammation with organized granulomas, whereas category 9 shows diffuse granulomatous inflammation in larger areas of the skeletal muscle. It is shown that the histological category of the MFC corresponds to the macroscopic grade of the changes using the Mowi classification system; increasing macroscopic grades have a higher histological category, however with a significant variation of histological categories found in grade 1 MFC (Bjørgen et al., 2019). No protocol on the development from RFC to MFC is established, however, given their typical localization, the histological findings on acute inflammation in RFC and chronic inflammation in MFC, the finding of transition forms between RFC and MFC (Bjørgen et al. 2019), in addition to the steady prevalence of RFC as opposed to the increasing, accumulative prevalence of MFC, the assumption that RFC develops into MFC is valid.



Figure 7. RFC and MFC in Atlantic salmon. The changes are predominantly observed in the cranioventral region of the abdominal wall. The macroscopic focal red change is characterized histologically by hemorrhage and necrotic myocytes (Scale bar = 100 μ m). In contrast, the melanized focal changes in severe cases represent a chronic granulomatous inflammation with vacuoles and an abundance of infiltrated melano-macrophages (Scale bar = 100 μ m). Created with BioRender.com.

5.4.3 Aetiology: Current knowledge

Being the reason for significant economic losses in the industry, the cause of RFC and MFC have been given increasing interest during the last decades. Many theories have been launched regarding the initiating factor (Fig. 8). One of the first hypotheses regarding the cause and development of MFC in farmed Atlantic salmon was the role of intraperitoneally injected adjuvanted vaccines (Koppang et al., 2005). Rightfully, due to intraperitoneal injections, local inflammation is initiated, affecting the abdominal organs and the soft tissue in the abdominal cavity (Mutoloki et al., 2006; Roberts, MacQueen, Shearer, & Young, 1973a, 1973b). Accordingly, development of granulomas can occur in many fish species as a result of injected foreign materials (Balouet & Laurencin, 1986), including the presence of melanin-containing cells (Roberts et al., 1973b). The findings of large, lipidcontaining vacuoles in MFC were suspected to result from the oil adjuvants utilized in the vaccines (Koppang et al., 2005; Larsen et al., 2012). The correlation between vaccine injections and the development of MFC is thus reasonable. However, MFC has also been reported in unvaccinated fish (Larsen et al., 2014; Berg et al., 2007), indicating additional factors to influence the observed changes. The increasing prevalence of MFC seen during the last three decades correlates with important changes in commercial fish feed, from fish oil to vegetable lipid sources. As mentioned earlier, the nutritional impact on the immune system is evident, as anti-inflammatory oils are exchanged for proinflammatory substances (Montero et al., 2010). A low level of EPA and DHA in fish feeds has been reported to increase the prevalence of MFC (Sissener et al., 2016). Additionally, the use of antioxidants, and to some degree zinc, has proven to reduce the number of MFC compared to control feeds (Mørkøre et al., 2015).

Another possible cause of acute inflammation in the skeletal muscle is external trauma, causing local damage in the tissue. During salmonid production, the fish are handled during transportation, vaccination, and medical and mechanical treatment of infection and disease, typically using pumping devices. An increase in MFC has been observed during external trauma (Mørkøre et al., 2022); however, the consequences of traumatic incidents in salmonid farming and possible harmful effect on both the axial skeleton and the skeletal muscle is not well studied. The handling of the fish is also associated with low oxygen levels in the water due to stressful impacts on the fish. Low oxygen levels have been shown to affect the prevalence of MFC negatively (Mørkøre et al., 2015). Hypoxia in the local tissue due to vascular pathologies such as thrombosis has also been speculated to cause necrosis and hemorrhage. Additionally, as an acute inflammatory reaction is commonly solved efficiently by the immune system under normal physiological and metabolic conditions, the suggestion that the acute inflammation (RFC) in the skeletal muscle is developing into a chronic granulomatous inflammation (MFC) has shed light on both the rate and mechanism behind the regenerative process and also the possible presence of a persistent agent in the tissue.

First, the intriguing fact that RFC and MFC have not been observed in wild salmon raises the question of whether the chronic changes result from genetic divergencies in immune responses between the farmed salmon and its wild, non-bred counterpart. The same question is valid, looking at the different prevalence of the changes in farmed Atlantic salmon versus farmed rainbow trout, despite similar production procedures in both species. Detailed analysis of these questions has not yet been performed. As for the presence of persistent agents, several pathogens have been identified and suggested to interfere with the development of MFC, particularly the viruses affecting the skeletal muscle in salmonids such as PRV-1 and SAV. However, only the presence of PRV-1 in severe focal changes has been shown to have a plausible effect on the ongoing chronic inflammation (Bjørgen et al., 2015; Malik et al., 2021a). As RFC and some MFC can be found without PRV-1, the initial cause of the changes must lie elsewhere.

Altogether, the causative factors of RFC and MFC can be numerous. By studying the independent factors that might contribute to the development of the changes, one may reveal the significance of each of the separate factors. In addition, by describing other types of muscle melanization and even melanization in different species, one may acquire important knowledge on the initial cause and the development of the condition.



Figure 8. Possible causative factors influencing the development of RFC and MFC. Vaccine side-effects, nutritional properties, stress-related situations with low oxygen levels, genetic divergencies, mechanical trauma, infectious agents, sea water temperature effect on regeneration, and other possible external factors have all been suggested, but no single cause has been detected. Created with BioRender.com.

5.5 Aims and objectives

The ultimate research goal of this thesis was to investigate and describe potential causative factors regarding the melanization of the skeletal muscle in farmed Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout. This was done by studying independent factors that might contribute to the development of red and melanized changes, and thus reveal the significance of each of the separate factors, and by describing and comparing other types of muscle melanization and melanization in different origin groups and species.

To approach the research goal, several hypotheses were postulated to provide further knowledge on the matter:

Hypothesis 1: Red and melanized focal changes are associated with pathological conditions in the ribs

Hypothesis 2: Melanized changes in skeletal muscle are similar in both red and white skeletal muscle

Hypothesis 3: Prevalence and development of melanized changes are influenced by the genetic differences between farmed and wild Atlantic salmon

Hypothesis 4: Prevalence and morphological characteristics of melanized focal changes in farmed rainbow trout are similar to that in Atlantic salmon.

As ribs are closely related to the skeletal muscle. i.e., the fillet, it was of interest to reveal if pathological conditions in the ribs could be associated with melanized focal changes in the white skeletal muscle. The aim of paper I was to investigate this hypothesis and thus provide new knowledge on causative factors for the development of the condition in relation to pathological changes in the ribs. Paper II aimed to describe histological properties and infectious agents present in diffusely melanized red skeletal muscle, an atypical melanized change in Atlantic salmon. Uncovering possible differences could contribute to additional knowledge on the development of the changes. Also, as genetic differences are known to affect both physiological and immunological responses, and as RFC and MFC have not been observed in wild Atlantic salmon and with a lower prevalence in farmed rainbow trout, paper III and IV aimed to test the related hypothesis, investigating the prevalence and regeneration of RFC and MFC in both Atlantic salmon with different origin (farmed, hybrid, and wild), and in different salmonid species (Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout).

6 MATERIALS AND METHODS

6.1 Materials

For this thesis, farmed, wild, and hybrid Atlantic salmon and farmed rainbow trout were sampled based on the presence of RFC and MFC. The samples were retrieved from commercial Norwegian producers, research facilities, and rivers in Norway (Fig. 9). All handling of the fish, including anesthesia and euthanasia, was conducted according to EU and Norwegian legislation. Legislation references are summarized in figure 9.

In paper I, fillets from farmed Atlantic salmon were evaluated at slaughter at the facilities of Bremnes Seashore AS, a commercial aquacultural producer in Bremnes, Norway. Wild-caught spawning Atlantic salmon was sampled from the river Drammenselven in Viken, Norway. Samples were also retrieved from Matre Research Station in Matre, Norway, representing wild, hybrid, and farmed Atlantic salmon. Material from the latter was also used in paper III. The samples for paper I included white skeletal muscle, ribs, and peritoneum. Selection criteria were the presence of red and melanized focal changes and no discoloration (controls) found in areas adjacent to the ribs in the abdominal cavity. In paper II, whole-side fillets from farmed Atlantic salmon containing red and white skeletal muscle were sampled at slaughter. The samples were retrieved from a commercial producer, Lerøy Seafood Group ASA location at Kjørsvikgrunn in northwestern Norway. The skin was removed at slaughter, revealing the discoloration of the red skeletal muscle. For this sampling, the selection criteria were the presence of diffuse melanization of red skeletal muscle. Samples with no discoloration from the same fish population were used as controls.

The material used in paper III was also partly used in paper I. Atlantic salmon from farmed (bred), hybrid, and wild origin were kept in identical rearing conditions from hatching to slaughter at the facilities of Matre Research Station. As this material was part of an animal study, the research was reviewed and approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee/IACUC and NARA (permit number 15780) according to the European Union Directive2010/63/EU and Norwegian regulation FOR-2015-06-18-761. The fish were macroscopically analyzed for red and melanized focal changes from the late freshwater stage and throughout the seawater stage. Random selection for measuring production parameters (growth, length, etc) was also performed throughout the trial. RFC and MFC in the abdominal wall were the selection criteria for further histological investigations.

Paper IV included fillets from farmed rainbow trout from three farms in Western Norway. The selection criteria were the presence of red or melanized changes in the white skeletal muscle of the fillet at slaughter.



Figure 9. Material used in the thesis. For paper I-III, Atlantic salmon was used. In paper I, fish were obtained from a commercial producer, research facilities, and a river with spawning Atlantic salmon. For paper IV, rainbow trout from three different locations were investigated. Legislation references for handling of the fish are included.*Fish from Matre research station were used in papers I and III. Created with BioRender.com.

6.2 Methodology

Several methodological techniques were utilized to approach the hypotheses postulated in this thesis. Radiographic, histological, and genetic analyses were performed.

6.2.1 Radiography

Radiographs of selected fillets with a focus on the ribs to investigate skeletal abnormalities were performed in paper I. Specific settings were applied according to tissue size and to highlight bone (high milliampere/second (mAs), low kilo voltage (kV) technique) using a direct digital system (SoundEklineSeries DR). The size of the samples ranged from 5 x 6 cm to 10 x 15 cm. For the small samples, 9 mAs and 40 kV were used; for the larger samples, 16 mAs and 40 kV were used.

6.2.2 Histology

The use of histological examinations was vital for further describing the findings of the radiographic experiments, but also to accompany current knowledge on microscopic details regarding RFC and MFC and provide further information on the matter. Samples were embedded in paraffin for all histological procedures according to standard protocols. In paper I, the samples included bone tissue. Thus, decalcification was necessary, as this process enables optimal sectioning of bone tissue. After radiographic examinations, the samples were decalcified in a 0.5 M pH 8 EDTA solution (disodium ethylenediaminetetraacetate, 2H2O) before further dissection for block preparation. During this process, which occurs after fixation, minerals are removed from the bone. This can be done using strong mineral acids, weaker organic acids, or chelating components (Rolls, 2023). Chelating agents, such as EDTA, are the gentlest approach and most suitable for detailed examination and advanced histological techniques such as *in situ* hybridization. Here, the hydroxyapatite crystals in the bone are reduced in size by removing surface calcium.

In this thesis, several stains were used to detect specific properties in the tissue, including hematoxylin and eosin stain (HE) for nuclear and cellular components, Lendrums Maritus Scarlet Blue stain (MSB) for fibrin, Giemsa stain for nuclear and cytoplasmic morphology and parasite deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) and Gram stain for bacterial detection. Van Gieson stain (VG) for collagen fibers and connective tissue and Masson Trichrome stain (MT) for distinguishing collagen and connecting tissue from adjacent cells (Padmapriya & Lakshmi, 2021), Fontana Masson stain (FM) for melanin was also conducted (Churukian, 2008).

6.2.3 Reverse transcription quantitative polymerase chain reaction (Rt-qPCR)

Reverse transcription quantitative polymerase chain reaction (Rt-qPCR) is used for both qualitative and quantitative analyses of detecting specific nucleic acid in tissues. qPCR is the preferred method for detecting the presence and amount of virus in specific tissues. During the detection of RNA viruses, the ribonucleic acid (RNA) is transcribed into DNA through reversed transcription, which is further analyzed through light cycle procedures. The DNA sequence is amplified, and by using sequence-specific primers, adding fluorescence dye (the SYBR Green method) (Fig. 10), or fluorescent probes (the TaqMan method), the increased fluorescence signal corresponds with an increasing amount of viral-RNA present at each cycle. The cycle threshold (Ct) value represents the number of cycles necessary for detecting the fluorescent signal over background levels. Thus, the lower the Ct value, the more abundant viral nucleic acid present. The test is regarded as negative above a specific number of cycles, i.e., a particular Ct value.

A RT-qPCR method conducted by PatoGen was utilized in all four papers to detect the presence of viral genes in the tissue. PatoGen meets the requirements of Norwegian Standard NS-EN ISO/IEC 17025, 'General requirements for the competence of testing and calibration laboratories'. In papers I and III, the spleen was used to detect virus in fish from Matre Research Station and the wild-caught fish, while in paper II and IV, the skeletal muscle was used. In paper IV, the heart was also utilized for RT-qPCR analyses. Samples selected for RT-qPCR analysis were transferred to RNAlater after dissection. The samples were sent to PatoGen AS, Ålesund, Norway, for the Rt-qPCR analysis. The analyses are accredited and validated to ISO7025 standards.



Figure. 10. Reverse transcriptase qPCR illustrated using the SYBR Green method. RNA extracted from the tissue is synthesized to complementary DNA(cDNA) by reverse transcriptase enzyme. Following denaturation of cDNA, primers attach, and through DNA polymerase, nucleotides and target-specific fluorescent dye creates double-stranded DNA molecules. The fluorescent signal is detected through amplification cycles, resulting in a Ct value representing the number of cycles acquired for detecting the signal. Created with BioRender.com.

6.2.4 In situ hybridization (ISH)

Using the *in situ* hybridization method, as the name implies, one can detect the presence and localization of specific DNA or RNA sequences in the tissue. To detect the messenger RNA (mRNA), a complementary probe linked to a fluorescent molecule or a chromogen enzyme creates a signal that is detectible in a microscope (Fig.11). In this thesis, a specific method of in situ hybridization known as RNAscope was utilized. Here, specific RNAprobes are designed to detect target RNA in the tissue. An initial fixation and permeabilization procedure makes the tissue available for the probes. The standardized probe design includes up to 20 highly specific Z-probes. Although up to 20 probes can be present, only three bindings are acquired for signal visualization. Additionally, only one RNA transcript in the tissue can create detectable signals, making this method highly specific and sensitive. Each Z-probe consists of three elements: the bottom part is complementary to the target RNA, the top part represents the binding site for a preamplifier, and a mid-part binds the bottom and top part together. To successfully create a binding site for the preamplifier, two Z-probes must hybridize to the target sequence in tandem. After the preamplifier attachment, multiple amplifiers will hybridize to the preamplifier, followed by the adhesion of fluorescent molecules or chromogen enzymes. The labeled RNA can be visualized using a standard light microscope (with the chromogen), making it possible to visualize both the target RNA's presence and localization.



Figure 11. In situ hybridization. After permeabilization of the tissue, a complementary Z-probe attaches to a specific sequence in the RNA molecule. When two Z-probes hybridize to the target sequence, the preamplifier attach, followed by the attachment of amplifiers. The adhesion of chromogen enzymes to the amplifiers visualizes the localization of the RNA sequence in the tissue with a light microscope. Created with BioRender.com.

7 SUMMARY OF SEPARATE PAPERS

Paper I:

The specific localization of RFC and MFC in the cranio-ventral and cranio-dorsal part of the abdominal wall in 90 % of the fish indicates a site-specific causative factor for the changes. In this anatomical area, the ribs are located beneath the peritoneum. Thus, pathological conditions in the ribs, specifically trauma and fractures, are valid factors to explore concerning RFC and MFC. In paper, I, 129 samples were selected based on the presence of RFC and MFC at the time of slaughter, including equivalent areas of the fish selected for controls. To investigate if the adjacent ribs were involved in the change, both ribs and peritoneum were retained in the samples. Through radiographic and histological investigations, variations within costal morphology and vascularization in Atlantic salmon were detected and described, providing further knowledge on anatomical properties and, importantly, giving more solid information on putative non-pathological morphology when examining ribs in relation to adjacent soft tissue inflammation. Costal abnormalities detected in radiographic investigations, such as mild rib axis deviation, ribs with wave-shaped distal ends, and ribs with a radiolucent medulla, showed no statistical association with macroscopic discoloration or histological changes in the skeletal muscle; thus, these costal variations were suspected to be non-pathological. The results revealed a statistically significant association between costal fractures and RFC and MFC. A statistically significant association was also found between MFC and callus formation in the ribs. These results, combined with the vascularization of the ribs, implies that a costal fracture in Atlantic salmon may cause a local hemorrhage and acute inflammation in the adjacent soft tissue (seen as RFC). The acute inflammation is followed by reparation and later bone and soft tissue regeneration, resulting in callus formation, as seen in mammals. Thus, the association between callus formation and the more progressed changes (MFC), but not RFC, is valid. However, RFC and MFC were also seen without any sign of costal interference, implying that other factors may be involved in the development of these focal changes. In conclusion, costal fractures in farmed Atlantic salmon are likely to evoke an acute reaction in the neighboring soft tissue and can be resolved in a manner similar to fracture healing in mammals. The development of MFC is suggested to result from a persistent factor driving chronic inflammation, as previously suggested (Bjørgen et al., 2019; Malik et al., 2021a), possibly also impairing bone tissue repair. Conversely, chronic inflammation in the soft tissue caused by alternative factors may affect the adjacent bone (Epsley et al., 2021; Kawao & Kaji, 2015), resulting in poor bone health and, consequently, fractures.

Paper II (Short communication):

As previously described, the majority of RFC and MFC in farmed Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout are localized in the abdominal wall towards the peritoneal side of the truncus. However, melanization has been observed in other areas as focal, distinct discolorations and as more diffuse discoloration in the dorsal skeletal muscle (Mørkøre et al., 2015). Other localizations, and even more so, different tissue distributions (focal or diffuse), point to potentially different causative factors. Paper II focused on the morphological and histological properties of diffuse melanization in red skeletal muscle in farmed Atlantic salmon to investigate if non-typical melanization differs from MFC. Six whole-fish fillets with red skeletal muscle melanization were examined, and six fillets without discoloration from the same population were used as controls. The samples were obtained from Lerøy Seafood Group ASA, a commercial producer in Norway. Both the localization and distribution of melanin differed from the common MFC. The affected fish contained dark, melanized red skeletal muscle involving the entire red muscle mass. There was a clear demarcation zone between the affected red skeletal muscle and the unaffected white skeletal muscle, seen both macroscopically and microscopically. Histological investigations, including special stains, revealed diffuse inflammation with degenerative and necrotic muscle fibers interspersed between large amounts of fibrotic tissue and, importantly, an abundance of melano-macrophages. Some muscle regeneration was also observed. Both Giemsa and Gram staining were negative. Altogether, the histological findings were similar to that commonly seen in severe MFC in white skeletal muscle, however, organized granulomas were not observed. This may be due to a limited number of samples, a dissimilar inflammatory reaction in red versus white skeletal muscle due to differences in metabolic and vascular characteristics, or a different initial and/or persistent causative factor in diffuse red muscle melanization compared to white muscle MFC. Both PRV-1 and SAV2 may induce red skeletal muscle inflammation, however, SAV2 was only detected in three of the six affected fish. The presence of PRV-1 was statistically higher in the affected samples compared to the controls, although the virus was detected in 10 of 12 samples by RT-qPCR. Taken together, the diffuse melanization and the presence of PRV-1 suggest a potential association between PRV-1 and the onset of this condition. This seems especially plausible considering the common occurrence of red skeletal muscle affection seen in cases of HSMI caused by PRV-1.

Paper III:

Although RFC and MFC are prevalent in the production of Atlantic salmon, such changes have not been observed in wild Atlantic salmon. This could result from genetic differences in wild versus farmed and bred salmon or may be linked to environmental factors associated with production practices. In paper III, 1854, Atlantic salmon of farmed, hybrid, and wild origin were reared under identical conditions from hatching to slaughter. The presence and prevalence of RFC and MFC were investigated at three time points: Once prior to sea transfer and at two time points after sea transfer. No macroscopic discoloration was detected at the freshwater stage; however, both RFC and MFC occurred after sea transfer. RFC showed a steady prevalence throughout the trial (1-5 %), whereas MFC showed an increase from sea transfer to slaughter (20-30 % at slaughter), both coinciding with findings in earlier reports on the prevalence of RFC and MFC in farmed Atlantic salmon (Bjørgen et al., 2019). The presence of PRV-1 was detected in the spleen in 98% of the samples selected for RTqPCR during the seawater phase. There were no statistical differences between the origin groups regarding the presence of RFC and MFC. These results implied that the genetic factor, i.e., differences in origin, is not a causative or developmental factor for the occurrence of RFC and MFC in Atlantic salmon. Histological examinations also showed similar inflammatory reactions in the skeletal muscle and adipose tissue in fish from all origin groups. This suggests that external factors are likely the primary contributors to these observations. In addition to these results, histological investigations, including the Fontana Masson stain for melanin, revealed the presence of melano-macrophages in the adipose tissue in freshwater smolts prior to sea transfer. These findings, including the abundance of melano-macrophages in the adipose tissue in several samples from the seawater phase, suggests a link between steatitis and the development of MFC.

Paper IV:

Having ruled out genetic divergences as a potential causative factor for RFC and MFC in Atlantic salmon in Paper III, it became crucial to investigate whether the same held true for rainbow trout.

Although the observed prevalence of RFC and MFC in farmed rainbow trout is lower, there are no histological descriptions of the changes in farmed rainbow trout. In paper IV, samples from a total of 1293 fish were retrieved from three different commercial farms in Norway. The presence and severity of RFC and MFC were registered at slaughter, and samples for histological examinations and RT-qPCR were selected based on the presence of the changes. The prevalence of MFC varied from 1,46% in farm 1, 6,47% in farm 2, and 5,76% in farm 3. RFC was found in only one fish in farm 1. The changes were primarily localized in the cranioventral region of the abdominal wall and typically of low severity. Histological examinations revealed some common characteristics with MFC in Atlantic salmon. However, notable differences were observed, such as a relatively low prevalence of melanomacrophages and organized granulomas. RT-gPCR revealed the presence of both PRV-1 and SAV in skeletal muscle and PRV-3 in the heart; however, in situ hybridization (ISH) showed no relation to the lesioned areas in the tissue. In light of the macroscopic localization of RFC and MFC, their lower prevalence compared to Atlantic salmon, and the histological distinctions from Atlantic salmon MFC, our findings suggest that the underlying causes of RFC and MFC in rainbow trout are similar to those in Atlantic salmon. However, the inflammatory response and regenerative capacity appear to differ, possibly owing to distinct reactions to viral infections.

8 DISCUSSION

8.1 Material and methodological considerations

8.1.1 Macroscopic grading systems, radiography, and histology

The selection of materials for this thesis aimed to provide a comprehensive overview of RFC and MFC in the commercial production of Atlantic Salmon and rainbow trout in Norway. This was done by retrieving samples from different production sites and conducting the sampling during standard slaughter procedures, except for the fish in paper III. This diverse sampling approach enabled us to capture a broad representation of changes, ensuring that our findings could be generalized across different production locations, thus minimizing potential biases related to locality differences. A drawback of collecting samples from different locations is the variability in the assessment of the macroscopic discoloration in the fillet, which can be influenced by different personnel conducting the evaluations. In paper I-III, macroscopic evaluation was performed by the local staff at the abattoirs using the grading system developed by Mowi, grading RFC and MFC from 1 to 3. Although this is a common system used by the industry, detailed registrations of the changes are left out. A specific change may have varying appearances as a result of vaccine side effects/erroneous injection, trauma, or other causes. However, distinguishing and standardizing these changes can be challenging using a three-grade system based on color intensity and size. The grading system developed by NOFIMA utilized in paper IV includes four grades, thus more detailed but still challenging to use when attempting to differentiate between possible causative factors. Importantly, the low-severity grades (Mowi grade 1: Small focal change and light discoloration, and Nofima grade 1: Weak discoloration, and grade 2: Focal changes smaller than 3 cm) might be challenging to detect for untrained observers or during fast-paced slaughter procedures. Specifically, RFC grade 1 in the skeletal muscle can be challenging to distinguish from a small hemorrhage in the peritoneum without the use of more detailed examination or even histological examinations. Consequently, the grading system may not consistently yield standardized assessments, especially when applied by different handlers and personnel. Importantly, using different grading systems makes it challenging to compare results when looking at the presence and variations in severity of the grades in this thesis. Therefore, despite the existence of several grading systems, the industry would benefit from using a single, standard grading system to provide a more accurate assessment of the prevalence of RFC and MFC.

In paper I, RFC and MFC were evaluated combined with radiographic examinations aiming to reveal abnormal ribs in the area of interest. This approach provided valuable insight into both the potential involvement of the ribs in the observed macroscopic changes and the prevalence of costal abnormalities within these samples. Radiographic investigations on fish ribs have been successful in earlier reports, revealing bone fractures and callus formations (Fjelldal et al., 2018). Spatial resolution of radiographs is higher than computed tomography (CT), but the latter with the advantage of providing further information on the 3D structures of the examined tissue. However, such methods would be both more expensive and time-consuming. Importantly, histological examinations accompanying the radiograph findings proved very important during the work on paper I and should not be replaced by advanced imaging modalities. This was illustrated by the finding of fractured ribs on radiographs, which, upon histological analysis, revealed no signs of soft tissue inflammation adjacent to the fractures. This indicates that the fracture likely occurred

postmortem, a possibility that was not unlikely in our study due to the handling of the fillets during separation from the vertebral spine. In a statistical analysis of the prevalence of costal fractures, these postmortem fractures could potentially contribute to erroneous results if not revealed by histology. This should be considered in future radiographic investigations on costal fractures in fish. Moreover, in paper I, RFC and MFC could be detected in relation to costal abnormalities other than fractures by radiographic imaging; however, histological investigations revealed costal morphology with putatively normal variations devoid of adjacent soft tissue inflammation, suggesting that the RFC/MFC was not related to the specific costal abnormality in question. All in all, without histological investigations complemented by a thorough understanding of the normal variations in costal morphology, the prevalence of costal fractures in live fish and the correlation between RFC/MFC and costal abnormalities can be misinterpreted.

When detecting the presence of melanin in melano-macrophages, the Fontana Masson stain was utilized in paper III and IV. Other pigments, such as lipofuscin and hemosiderin, are also known to be present in these cells. In HE stained sections, melanin and lipofuscin are particularly difficult to distinguish, as they both hold brown/black color. Specific special stains are developed for lipofuscin and hemosiderin, such as Sudan Black stain and Perls' Prussion blue stain, respectively. During the work of paper III, sections were stained for lipofuscin in addition to melanin using Sudan Black, however the stain gave little additional information as the color of the pigment remained the same in both stains, making it challenging to distinguish melanin from lipofuscin. However, one cannot rule out the presence of lipofuscin based only on positive staining for melanin. Other staining protocols could be added to differentiate melanin and lipofuscin, such as the Nile Blue method (Lillie, 1956). However, due to the positive staining for melanin, the use of further stains for lipofuscin proved unnecessary for the purpose of this thesis.

In paper II and IV, special staining for the detection of collagen fibers were used. In paper II, the VG stain showed abundant collagen deposition, indicating fibrosis in the tissue. In paper IV, both VG and MT stains were utilized to detect possible differences in results between the two staining procedures. Both stains are widely used for the detection of collagen fibers; however, utilizing three colors, MT stain can differentiate important histopathological structures and is thus a common stain during tissue analyses in disease and, importantly, in myopathological conditions (Dubuisson et al., 2022; Kalpajyoti, Girish, Sanjay, Alshame, & Dinesh, 2018). Both stains have similar limitations when it comes to the identification of thin collagen fibers. However, the revealed collagen in paper II and IV indicated that the amount of collagen in these samples exceeded the minimal detection level. Additionally, the level and organization of collagen fibers in paper IV was similar in both stains, indicating that the use of one of the stains is sufficient when detecting connective tissue during scar formation and fibrosis in the skeletal muscle of salmonids.

8.1.2 RT-qPCR and ISH

The use of RT-qPCR in our research enabled the determination of the presence of specific viral RNA in our material. Given previous reports linking severe MFC to the PRV-1 virus, identifying this virus in our material could add additional weight to these results. Other viral infections could also contribute to the discussion regarding possible co-infections and their implications. In paper I, RT-qPCR was only conducted on spleen from the wild-caught fish and selected fish from Matre Research station. The rest of the material in paper I was diagnosed based on clinical manifestations of HSMI during production. Thus, the presence of PRV-1 in the skeletal muscle was not investigated by RT-qPCR in

paper I and III; however, the focus in papers I and III was primarily to investigate correlations between costal abnormalities and RFC/MFC and genetic differences affecting their morphology and prevalence, respectively. Additionally, RT-qPCR does not detect the specific location of the viral RNA within the tissue. Thus, a positive result for PRV-1 in skeletal muscle in paper I and III would not have vielded sufficient knowledge about the virus's contribution to RFC/MFC, as PRV-1 infects red blood cells and can be present in organs and tissues throughout the body. This is also true for using RTqPCR in skeletal muscle in paper II. In contrast, ISH would be the most suitable method to detect and localize viral nucleic acids in the tissue. In paper I, attempts were made to conduct ISH on the samples. This proved unsuccessful, likely due to the length of the fixation time of the samples. For ISH by RNAscope, fixation should be restricted to 72h, and in our samples, longer fixation was necessary due to large sample sizes. The samples were also decalcified in 0.5 M pH 8 EDTA solution for a minimum of five days; however, as EDTA is a slow but gentle method of decalcification, the duration of this process is less likely to affect the RNA quality in the specimens. Both formalin fixation, within the appropriate duration, and EDTA decalcification have been shown to preserve sufficient amounts of RNA in the tissue to successfully conduct ISH, both in paraffin-embedded samples (Walsh, Freemont, & Hoyland, 1993) and resin-embedded blocks (Huysseune, Soenens, & Witten, 2021).

An interesting discussion regarding the virus localization in the material in paper I is the possible presence of PRV-1 in the osteoclasts. It has been demonstrated that PRV-1 persistently infects macrophages (Malik et al., 2019; Malik et al., 2021a). In mammals, the hematopoietic-originating osteoclasts share the same origin as macrophages (Bar-Shavit, 2007; Jacome-Galarza et al., 2019) and possess the ability to serve as APCs with expression of MHC class I and II (Li et al., 2010). Thus, persistently PRV-1 infected osteoclasts in salmonids may express M1-polarization and therefore show increased resorption activity, as seen in other bone-related viral diseases such as Dengue fever (Huang et al., 2016) and measle virus infection in susceptible mammals (Raynaud-Messina, Verollet, & Maridonneau-Parini, 2019; Sundaram, Sambandam, Shanmugarajan, Rao, & Reddy, 2017).

8.2 Evaluation of the results in light of existing knowledge and identified gaps for future study

Paper I revealed the involvement of costal fractures in the development of RFC and MFC, giving important information on a causative factor that should be mitigated, if possible, during production. Norwegian salmonid production is highly intensified, and production procedures are developed to accommodate the rapid, large-scale production. With the large quantities of fish produced, individual care is not possible, nor within the scope; however, fish health and welfare should be sustained on a population level with accommodating laws and regulations. The finding of costal fractures associated with RFC and MFC highlights a possible production-related cause that, if addressed and corrected, could reduce the prevalence of RFC and MFC. Alternatively, the costal fractures may result from factors other than direct trauma, such as poor bone health during osteopathological conditions. Although not associated with RFC and MFC, costal variations found in paper I, such as radiolucent ribs with large cavities in the cortical bone, could negatively affect the bone's strength and resistance. Increased resorption of bone has been correlated with increased fracture risk in mammals. In salmonids, increased bone and cartilage resorption has been reported in salmon suffering from phosphorus deficiency (Roberts, Hardy, & Sugiura, 2001) and during bacterial infections (Ostland, McGrogan, & Ferguson, 1997). Thus, costal fractures could potentially

increase during nutritional and disease-related pathologies. However, as seen in birds, resorption resulting in an increased diameter of the marrow cavity in bones is correlated with increased stiffness of the bone, and it is thus more likely that the observed resorption of bone in the salmon ribs is due to a life in aquatic water without the impact of gravity increasing the bone thickness. Additionally, resorption and remodeling are continuous processes in bone, in particular in fish with indeterminate growth, such as salmonids, and are an important part of developing secondary sexual characteristics such as the kype in male salmon (Perry et al., 2019; Witten & Hall, 2002). It should be noted that a local inflammation in the adjacent soft tissue could affect the resorption activity in the bone (Epsley et al., 2021). Thus, an alternative theory behind the fractured ribs is the negative effect on bone tissue due to MFC, as chronic inflammation may impair normal osteoclast and osteoblast function.

The overall occurrence of costal abnormalities in farmed Atlantic salmon in Norway has not been previously investigated. In our work, we obtained insight into this matter by conducting radiographic investigations on the control samples retrieved from commercial facilities. However, for future research, to gain a more comprehensive representation of the prevalence of costal fracture in farmed Atlantic salmon and to reveal possible causes behind these pathological changes, a larger sample size should be obtained from different producers without the selection criteria of RFC and MFC. The same approach should be taken for farmed rainbow trout, as the prevalence of costal abnormalities in the Norwegian rainbow trout production remains known. Additionally, the prevalence of costal fractures and abnormalities in wild Atlantic salmon was not determined in paper I, as the sample size of wild fish was limited, and radiographic investigations were only performed on half of the wild-caught fish. Improved knowledge on the prevalence of costal fractures in farmed and wild Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout could give important information on how to avoid these pathologies and thus reduce the development of RFC and MFC.

Describing melanization with different localization and distribution occurring in the same species brings additional knowledge to the melanization process in skeletal muscle. The abundance of melano-macrophages seen in paper II is not typically seen in red skeletal muscle inflammation induced by PRV-1 or SAV infection. This may be an atypical presentation of the conditions, or it may be a result of co-infection or due to other unknown factors. The samples were collected at slaughter, which resonates with the changes showing signs of late-stage chronic inflammation with fibrosis and regeneration. Also, the red skeletal muscle may initiate a different response compared to the white skeletal muscle. The differing physiological properties in the red (slow) and white (fast) skeletal muscle may explain a dissimilar response. In mammals, muscular dystrophies have been a source of research for several years. Although the role of fiber type differences has not been fully explained, reports have shown that fast muscle fibers are more prone to damage during contraction in DMD mice (Moens, Baatsen, & Marechal, 1993). As for viral defense mechanisms, in contrast to skeletal muscle, the host defense against PRV-1 in heart muscle in Atlantic salmon showed an early abundance of M2 macrophages scattered in the tissue without the intracellular presence of PRV-1 (Malik, Nyman, Wessel, Dahle, & Rimstad, 2021), combined with a higher regenerative rate of the tissue (Dhamotharan et al., 2020). These results illustrate the heart muscle's ability to regenerate, possibly due to the resident immune cells in the tissue (Poss, Wilson, & Keating, 2002; Nakamura & Shimozawa, 1994). As for white skeletal muscle, M2 polarized macrophages were associated with PRV-1 infection in severe MFC (Malik et al., 2021a). Here, the presence of intracellular melanin coincided with the M2 polarization, indicating that the recruited macrophages entered the tissue as non-pigmented cells that progressed to produce melanin (Malik et al., 2021a). Thus, the infected melano-macrophages were suggested to have anti-inflammatory polarization. The finding of excessive melano-macrophage presence in melanized red skeletal muscle in paper II could indicate

that the regenerative capacity in skeletal muscle is lower than in the heart, and a persistent viral infection could impede the regeneration process, as seen in MFC in white skeletal muscle. Although RT-qPCR detected virus in the red skeletal muscle, the localization of PRV-1 could not be detected in our material by ISH due to sub-optimal fixation. Additionally, although no organized granulomas were observed in paper II, only six samples with observable macroscopic changes in the red skeletal muscle were examined. Thus, the number of samples was limited, and granuloma formation in red muscle cannot be ruled out based on this investigation. For future investigations, ultra-structural cell studies focusing on melanin production in salmonid macrophages infected with PRV-1 could give interesting information on the function of melanin in these cells during infection.

In paper III, the exclusion of genetic divergencies among different Atlantic salmon origins as a causative factor has provided novel insight into the occurrence of RFC and MFC, narrowing down the search for root causes of the conditions. Muscular dystrophies in mammals are often linked to genetic diseases, most commonly being DMD, caused by dysfunction of the important sarcolemmaassociated protein dystrophin, resulting in impaired muscle strength and function (Duan, Goemans, Takeda, Mercuri, & Aartsma-Rus, 2023). Due to calcium influx and leakage of DAMPs from the damaged myocytes caused by muscle contraction, the myocytes undergo necrosis, and an inflammatory reaction is initiated (De Paepe & De Bleecker, 2013). Thus, muscular dystrophies are characterized by degeneration of myocytes, necrosis, and muscle regeneration with infiltration of fibrosis and adipose tissue (Dubuisson et al., 2022; Gaspar, Vasishta, & Radotra, 2019). These similarities to MFC give sufficient grounds for suggesting heritability to be a causative factor for these changes in farmed salmonids. However, the results from paper III indicate that the causative factor for RFC and MFC lies within the production procedures, implying the importance of optimized rearing and handling conditions in Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout production. Several external factors have been suggested to induce RFC and MFC in salmonid production, and as the condition appears to be multifactorial, several aspects of the production procedures should be analyzed. The results in paper I point towards one of these contributing factors. As shown in earlier reports, PRV-1 is an important driver of inflammation in MFC in Atlantic salmon, but the viral infection is not the initial cause of RFC. Interestingly, RFC and MFC were not detected in vaccinated, PRV-1-positive fish kept in in-house tanks (Bjørgen et al., 2015). These fish were not subjected to mechanical delousing procedures, implying that the RFC and MFC detected in seawater cages in the same study were caused by dissimilar fish handling compared to in-house tanks. Organically farmed salmon are also reported to have a lower prevalence of RFC and MFC. Here, specific legislations apply for the production procedures, including water quality, oxygen levels, a higher content of FO in the feeds, the use of cleaner fish as the preferred method for sea lice treatment, and a lower maximum fish density in freshwater (20 kg/m³) and seawater (10 kg/m³) compared to conventional salmon production (Lovdata, 2015). All these external factor differences may contribute to the dissimilar prevalence of focal changes in the skeletal muscle in their respective production forms. However, in paper III, the maximum fish density was substantially lower than what is accepted as a max kg/m³ in both organic and conventional production, and the fish were handled with minimal traumatic impact during lice removal. Despite these differences from conventional production, a similar prevalence of RFC and MFC were observed in paper III. Nevertheless, an important difference from organic salmon production in paper III was the use of conventional feeds, i.e., with a lower level of nutritional FO.

Although reared in fairly similar matters as conventional Atlantic salmon, direct comparative conclusions cannot be made in rainbow trout production unless the fish are kept in identical facilities. Rainbow trout acquire a higher water temperature during hatching (Noble et al., 2020) and are more prone to smoltification than Atlantic salmon. Notably, according to industry representatives, rainbow trout is a more physically active species, indicating a higher demand for

feed and oxygen. The lower prevalence of RFC in paper IV could suggest that the initial factor causing the acute inflammation is less prevalent in rainbow trout production. A common-garden experiment including both species kept in typical salmon production conditions could reveal if the difference in prevalence between the two species seen in paper IV is indeed due to genetic differences. Another reason for the discrepancy in MFC prevalence in farmed rainbow trout and Atlantic salmon could be the differing body shape between the species causing different impacts of a possible inflicted trauma. Rainbow trout are commonly shorter relative to weight compared to Atlantic salmon (Berge et al., 2023). Interestingly, the higher activity level of the rainbow trout would imply a higher impact on physical barriers in the production facilities. Thus, one could expect a higher prevalence of trauma-induced damage to the musculoskeletal system in farmed rainbow trout. However, this has not been reported, nor is this in correlation with the prevalence of RFC and MFC in paper IV. It is, however, due to the result in paper IV, likely that the difference in prevalence of RFC and MFC in the two salmonid species is not caused by different impacts of rearing procedures but rather different responses to the harmful impact.

In paper IV, several similarities were observed regarding the macroscopic and histological characteristics of RFC and MFC when comparing Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout. However, some significant differences were noted, such as a lower prevalence of the macroscopic changes and the absence of organized granulomas in histological investigations. Additionally, there was an excessive presence of small, regenerating myocytes with abundant adjacent connective tissue. The latter observation was also seen in the diffuse melanization of red skeletal muscle in paper II. However, it is worth noting that white skeletal muscle in rainbow trout had a lower presence of melanomacrophages than red and white skeletal muscle in Atlantic salmon. Thus, the shared localization of these changes suggests that the initial causative factors of RFC and MFC in Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout are likely the same, but that there are variations in the rate and process of repair and regeneration. In mammals, inflammatory mediators produced from polarized macrophages regulate the survival of FAPs, with M2 macrophages promoting the production of fibrosis and adipose tissue (Lemos et al., 2015). M2 macrophages prolong the effect of FAPs through TGB- β 1 by triggering FAP differentiation. Two isoforms of TGF-B1 (TGF-B1a and TGF-B1b) have been detected in salmonids (Hardie et al., 1998; Maehr et al., 2013) and has been reported to have similar effects in fish as in mammals in terms of immune reactions. Of the two TGF- β 1, particularly TGF- β 1b appears to be linked to macrophages (Maehr et al., 2013). Fibrosis and infiltration of adipocytes are common findings in MFC in Atlantic salmon (Bjørgen et al., 2019; Larsen et al., 2012) and were indeed found in rainbow trout in paper IV. During muscle damage in rainbow trout inflicted by scalpel incision, TGFβ1 was upregulated, coinciding with the increase of M2 macrophages in the tissue, likely explaining the abundance of fibrosis (Schmidt, Andersen, Ersbøll, & Nielsen, 2016). The slow regenerative capacity in the skeletal muscle in Atlantic salmon MFC are further suspected to result in the unsuccessful healing of the chronic inflammation due to an ongoing M2 polarization following persistently infected macrophages. This was emphasized by the findings in paper IV, as virus was not present in the lesions, and the lesions were less prevalent. As the localization of the investigated viruses was not related to the lesions or melano-macrophages, this indicates that the low prevalence of granulomas and the lower prevalence of MFC in rainbow trout is due to a more efficient immune response with possibly a more rapid clearance of the virus. As for the regeneration process in skeletal muscle per se in rainbow trout versus Atlantic salmon, comparative studies inflicting tissue damage with identical sources should be conducted without the use of infectious pathogens, as the pathogen species-specificities and host response result in differing results of healing.

Melanization of skeletal muscle in fish has been described in many species, including salmonids, and appears to have several explanations apart from viral infections, such as parasite infection in

Portuguese pouting (Trisopterus luscus) (Esteves et al., 2009) and elevated dietary zinc levels in sand flathead (Platycephalus bassensis) (Ooi et al., 2022). Melanization of blood vessels has also been reported in both farmed (Cooper, Olsen, Seliussen, & Gannefors, 2011) and wild fish (Ooi, Ware, Lewis, Lyle, & Nowak, 2019). Although rare, peritoneal melanization in humans has been reported in association with pathological conditions in the abdominal cavity, predominantly seen with ovarian lesions in females (Kim, Suh, Song, & Ahn, 2002). A common feature for all these cases is the presence of harmful factors, such as infectious agents, cancerous development, or heavy metals. However, melanization is not consequently linked to inflammation or apparent infiltration of macrophages in the local tissue, as seen in melanized sand flat head skeletal muscle (Stocker, Haddy, Lyle, & Nowak, 2020). The melanization of the alimentary tract seen in several teleost species has not been linked to a specific cause (Fishelson, Golani, Russell, Galil, & Goren, 2012). The tissue melanization in some of the mentioned reports has thus been attributed to the presence of melanocytes and not melano-macrophages (Cooper & Midling, 2007; Fishelson et al., 2012). In mammals, melanogenesis is especially induced by nitric oxide (NO) (Lassalle et al., 2003), and the unusual location of melanocytes in the peritoneum of humans during peritoneal melanosis has been suggested to result from migration of neural crest-derived cells differentiating into melanocytes (Drachenberg & Papadimitriou, 1990; Le Douarin, Creuzet, Couly, & Dupin, 2004). Noteworthy, melanin synthesis has been reported in adipose tissue of obese humans, suggested to be a result of increased ROS in the tissue (Randhawa et al., 2009). The presence of such non-classical melanocytes may also be the case in fish, although not yet completely understood (Adameyko & Lallemend, 2010). Nevertheless, the presence of melanin-producing melano-macrophages has been shown in MFC in Atlantic salmon (Larsen et al., 2012), due to the distribution of pigment in the characteristic dendritic cells, combined with the results from Thorsen et al. (2006) and Haugarvoll et al. (2008) showing tyrosinase activity and melanin production in an Atlantic salmon leukocyte population. In this thesis, the findings of melano-macrophages in adipose tissue were recurring in all four papers. Additionally, the histological examination of the skeletal muscle in freshwater smolts in paper III revealed no pathological changes, except for melano-macrophages in the adipose tissue. The presence of melano-macrophages in relation to adipocytes could be part of an ongoing recruitment of non-pigmented macrophages from the circulation with the production of melanin at the site in response to inflammatory stimuli. Alternatively, the observed melano-macrophages may have developed from tissue-resident non-pigmented macrophages. In amphibians, macrophages were detected in adipose tissue before bone marrow establishment, but also in Ambystoma mexicanum, an amphibian lacking bone marrow hematopoiesis, like teleosts (Hassnain Wagas et al., 2017). Noteworthy, earlier reports have also shown other similarities between amphibians and fish, such as the presence of melanin-producing macrophages in the liver (Sichel et al., 1997), suggesting a possible evolutionary link in the development of these immune cells. In the visceral adipose tissue of rainbow trout, cells expressing MHC-II molecules have been identified, suggesting macrophages to be present (Pignatelli et al., 2014), however, the presence of melano-macrophages was not determined. Thus, the presence and role of tissue-resident macrophages in adipose tissue in rainbow trout and Atlantic salmon is somewhat unclear and should be further investigated.

As melano-macrophages are occasionally seen in non-immunological tissues and organs in response to chronic inflammation, the findings of melano-macrophages in adipose tissue could indicate a lowscale inflammation in the affected area. In chronic inflammation in skeletal muscle, FAP activation causes an increased number of adipocytes in the affected tissue. Thus, an underlying cause of steatitis in the fish could further increase the local melano-macrophage infiltration in the inflamed skeletal muscle. In salmonid production, increased nutritional level of LC-PUFA, herein the antiinflammatory EPA, and DHA (Wu, Ting, & Chen, 2003), has shown to reduce the prevalence of MFC in the fillet (Lutfi et al., 2022; Sissener et al., 2016), and even the severity of the pathological lesions associated with HSMI (Martinez-Rubio et al., 2012). The effect of PUFA levels on MFC could also be the reason for the difference in prevalence in conventionally farmed versus organically farmed salmon, with an important productional difference being the content of marine fish oils in the diet (Esaiassen et al., 2022). In general, PUFA is necessary for adequate function of the immune system (Kiron et al., 1995), however, a higher level of PUFAs will bring increased fatty acid peroxidation in the tissue (Stéphan, Guillaume, & Lamour, 1995) and a maximum dietary level of PUFA has been suggested (Olsen, Loevaas, & Lie, 1999). In the study conducted by Twibell et al. (2017), steatitis in rainbow trout was associated with a high level of FO in the diet. Interestingly, although increased VO in exchange for the beneficial FO in commercial feeds has been shown to result in both reduced fish health and increased prevalence of MFC (Bou et al., 2017; Sissener et al., 2016), a substitution of FO with canola oil reduced the severity of steatitis in rainbow trout (Twibell et al., 2017), and importantly, the prevalence of MFC in slaughter sized fish, (Hatlen et al., 2022), without having adverse effects on other fish health parameters (Ruyter et al., 2022; Ruyter et al., 2019). These results indicate that canola oil is an appropriate replacement of FO in the diet of salmonids regarding melanization of the skeletal muscle and adipose tissue. As melano-macrophages are present in both the adipose tissue and skeletal muscle in MFC and the reduction of inflammatory conditions in these tissues are associated with the same dietary source, the link between steatitis and MFC should be further investigated.

9 CONCLUSIONS

This thesis aimed to reveal factors causing red and melanized focal changes (RFC and MFC) in Norwegian-farmed Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout. To investigate possible causes, several hypotheses were tested through observations and investigations on representative samples in papers I-IV.

Paper I: The hypothesis that red and melanized focal changes are associated with pathological conditions in the ribs was accepted. This hypothesis was postulated as RFC and MFC are predominantly found in the cranioventral part of the abdominal wall, indicating the causative factor to be related to the specific localization. The ribs in salmonids are closely related to the abdominal skeletal muscle, and pathological changes in the ribs are suggested to cause local inflammation in the adjacent soft tissue. Paper I confirmed the association between costal fractures and RFC/MFC. This was supported by the revealed anatomical properties of the ribs, indicating that a costal fracture could lead to a hemorrhage and acute inflammation in the local tissue, followed by healing of the fracture resulting in callus formations. Callus formations were only associated with MFC, not RFC, coinciding with the association of acute costal damage and acute inflammation (RFC) and the late phase of bone healing and chronic inflammation (MFC). However, RFC and MFC were also observed with no costal fractures, indicating that other unknown factors also can cause local inflammation in the skeletal muscle.

Paper II: The hypothesis that melanized changes in skeletal muscle are similar in both red and white skeletal muscle was partly accepted. As diffuse melanization of red skeletal muscle differs from MFC in both distribution in the tissue and prevalence, this hypothesis was postulated. Red skeletal muscle differs from white skeletal muscle in terms of vascularization and metabolism, thus, the pathogenesis behind the melanization may vary from white skeletal muscle. However, due to the different location and distribution in the tissue, the initial cause may also differ from that causing RFC/MFC. In paper II, melanization was seen with a clear demarcation zone separating the red and non-affected white skeletal muscles. The microscopic changes were similar to those found in MFC; extensive fibrosis was present between necrotic and regenerative myocytes, and an abundance of melano-macrophages was seen interspersed in the lesioned areas, indicating diffuse granulomatous inflammation. However, no organized granulomas were observed. This could be due to the limited sample size or the different tissue healing and pathogen elimination processes in the red skeletal muscle. Although PRV-1 is suggested to be an important driving force of chronic inflammation in MFC, the virus is not suspected to be the initiating cause of the focal changes. A characteristic pathological finding in Atlantic salmon's heart and skeletal muscle inflammation (HSMI) is skeletal muscle inflammation affecting primarily the red skeletal muscle. In this study, the sampled fish were diagnosed with HSMI during the seawater phase of production; thus, combined with a statistically significant lower Ct value for PRV-1 in the affected samples, the results indicate that the observed changes could be caused by an outbreak of HSMI, with a persistent infection of PRV-1 leaving a non-resolved chronic inflammation as seen in MFC.

<u>Paper III:</u> The hypothesis that the prevalence and development of melanized changes are influenced by the genetic differences between farmed and wild Atlantic salmon was rejected. This hypothesis was formed as no observations of RFC and MFC have been reported in wild Atlantic salmon. This leads to the question of whether the relatively high prevalence of the changes in farmed Atlantic salmon is due to the external rearing conditions or the genetic divergence between wild and farmed salmon, a consequence of meticulous selective breeding during the last decades. To uncover this, Atlantic salmon of farmed, wild, and hybrid origin were kept in identical facilities from hatching to slaughter in a so-called common garden experiment. The focal changes were observed only after seawater transfer, and the general prevalence of RFC and MFC coincided with earlier reports, with 1-5% RFC throughout the seawater phase and an increasing occurrence of MFC, with 25-30 % at slaughter. There were no statistical differences in prevalence between the different origin groups. Additionally, histological examination revealed no origin differences in terms of inflammatory responses. These results indicate that the contrasting presence of RFC and MFC in farmed versus wild Atlantic salmon is due to external factors in the salmonid production, such as feeding, handling, and other production procedures, and not due to genetic differences between farmed salmon and its wild counterparts.

Paper IV: The hypothesis that the prevalence and morphological characteristics of melanized focal changes in farmed rainbow trout are similar to that in Atlantic salmon was rejected. In farmed rainbow trout production, RFC and MFC observations are less frequent than in Atlantic salmon production, and thus this hypothesis was formed. As revealed in paper III, the dissimilar frequency of changes could be due to external production procedures. However, the Norwegian production of rainbow trout is similar to that of Atlantic salmon, suggesting that internal (genetic) differences between the two species are of greater importance to the dissimilar prevalence. Macroscopically, rainbow trout MFC were predominantly seen in the cranioventral area of the abdominal wall, equivalent to the most common location in Atlantic salmon. In contrast, RFC were only observed in one of 1293 fish, and the maximum prevalence of MFC was 6,47%. In histological examinations, chronic inflammation with abundant fibrosis was detected. The presence of melano-macrophages was lesser than compared to Atlantic salmon MFC, and organized granulomas were only detected in one fish. PRV-1 and SAV were detected in the skeletal muscle through ISH, but not in relation to the lesions. This contrasts with Atlantic salmon MFC, where PRV-1 is observed in relation to severe lesions and granulomas and thus is likely to play an important role in chronic, non-resolved inflammation. PRV-3, the virus causing HSMI in rainbow trout, was only detected in heart tissue, not skeletal muscle. The location of the changes in the abdominal wall implies that the initial causes of RFC in farmed rainbow trout are the same as in farmed salmon, possibly with a lower impact resulting in a lower prevalence. However, the inflammatory reaction and viral impact in MFC differed between the two species, suggesting that genetic divergencies affecting these responses are of significance for the duration and healing of the tissue, consequently resulting in faster healing and, thus, a lower prevalence of MFC in farmed rainbow trout.

In sum, this thesis shows that Atlantic salmon RFC, and consequently MFC, are likely caused by external factors found in the production procedures in Norwegian salmonid aquaculture, and not by genetic differences within the species. One of these external factors may cause costal fractures, leading to RFC and later MFC development. However, as RFC and MFC were also observed without costal abnormalities, further research is required to reveal additional external causative factors. The atypic distribution of melanization in red skeletal muscle suggests a different initial causative factor than for RFC and MFC; however, the duration and severity of the lesion could point to persistent infection of PRV-1, as seen in MFC. The unlike prevalence of RFC and MFC in farmed rainbow trout versus Atlantic salmon, combined with the dissimilar distribution of PRV-1 in rainbow trout skeletal muscle, underline previous reports on PRV-1 being an important driving force in the development of chronic inflammation in Atlantic salmon MFC.

10 FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

This thesis has contributed valuable insight into the origins and development of RFC and MFC. Paper I and III results indicate the importance of controlling external factors in salmonids production. These procedures and milieu factors encompass a wide range, including water temperature, timing of smoltification, timing of sea transfer, nutritional content, hardness of the pellets, handling during transportation, vaccination, medical/mechanical treatments, and general stressors causing unease in the population. To identify single causative factors, focusing on production facilities with lower prevalence of RFC and MFC would be warranted. Previous research has revealed lower prevalence in organic Atlantic salmon production and land-based production. Also, as demonstrated in Paper IV, while the inflammatory response differs in rainbow trout, the prevalence of RFC in rainbow trout is lower than in Atlantic salmon. Thus, the initiating factor, or the production-related factor responsible for these changes, could be less prevalent in rainbow trout production. For instance, as implied by the results in paper I, if lower rates of costal fractures are observed in these rearing facilities, this could potentially uncover the specific procedures causing such fractures. Subsequently, beneficial changes could be implemented into conventional Atlantic salmon production facilities.

As a result of cost-efficiency-driven adjustments, the replacement of fish oils with vegetable oils has been linked to an increased prevalence of melanized changes, primarily due to reduction of the important anti-inflammatory omega-3 fatty acids EPA and DHA. However, maintaining a high level of fish oils may also have adverse effects on the inflammatory state within the adipose tissue, as seen in farmed fish with pansteatitis. Research conducted thus far on specific lipid sources, such as canola oil, suggest that some vegetable oils can yield positive effect not only on adipose tissue but also on skeletal muscle, leading to a lower prevalence of MFC when compared to standardized fish feeds. Given that salmonid skeletal muscle comprises a significant portion of fatty tissue, and adipocyte infiltration frequently occurs within chronic inflammatory lesions, it is important to investigate any potential correlation between steatitis and MFC. An increase in inflammation within the fillet may result in increased presence of anti-inflammatory melano-macrophages, as shown in previous reports on macrophage polarization in MFC. Furthermore, it is not only the lipid source itself, but also the nutritional fat content in total that could contribute to obesity-related health issues as seen in humans. The combination of fast growth in farmed salmonids and excessive lipids in their feed could potentially serve as a source of inflammation in the skeletal muscle-related adipose tissue. Thus, low-cost feeds containing selected vegetable oils without compromising the fish robustness and increasing the inflammatory state are warranted. Further research on the consequence of alternative lipid sources affecting inflammatory conditions, seen in light of MFC, could give valuable knowledge to further understand the effect of feeds on this condition.

This thesis supports the role of PRV-1 infection in driving the development of MFC in farmed Atlantic salmon, particularly when contrasted with the results in rainbow trout, where the virus was not localized in relation to lesioned areas. Given that PRV-1 infection is inevitable in farmed salmon in Norway, increased host defence against the infection is desirable. Vaccination has successfully protected against several bacterial infections in salmonid farming and is a far more preferrable approach compared to medical treatments. However, as PRV cannot be cultivated in vitro, a lot is still unknown about the virus entry-mechanism and the organism's ability to eliminate the virus. These gaps make the development of efficient vaccines a complex task. In alignment with previous reports, the results in paper IV implies that rainbow trout have dissimilar response to PRV-1 infection compared to Atlantic salmon, although both PRV-1 and PRV-3 may infect both species. Due to cross-

protection against PRV-1 in PRV-3 infected salmon, an alternative approach using live PRV-3 vaccines has been suggested, however several challenges are related to this type of immunization, such as the possible infection risk of rainbow trout and of wild salmon. Alternatively, the genetic variations causing the dissimilar reactions in response to PRV-1 and PRV-3 infection could be further investigated in comparative studies between Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout, as has been conducted during selective breeding with genomic selection in Atlantic salmon against several infectious agents.

11 REFERENCES

Ackermann, M. R. (2012). Chapter 3: Inflammation and Healing. In J. F. Zachary & M. D. McGavi (Eds.). Pathologic Basis of Veteriary Disease, 5th ed. (pp 89-147). St. Louis, Miss: Elsevier.

Ackman, R. G., & Zhou, S. (1994). Energy storage sites in Atlantic salmon muscle: Distribution of adipocytes. *High Performance Fish*, 306-311.

- Adameyko, I., & Lallemend, F. (2010). Glial versus melanocyte cell fate choice: Schwann cell precursors as a cellular origin of melanocytes. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences, 67*(18), 3037-3055. doi:10.1007/s00018-010-0390-y
- Agius, C. (1980). Phylogenic development of melano-macrophage centers in fish. *Journal of Zoology,* 191(1), 11-31. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7998.1980.tb01446.x
- Agius, C. (1981). Preliminary Studies on the Ontogeny of the Melano-Macrophages of Teleost Haemopoietic Tissues and Age-Related Changes. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology, 5*(4), 597-606. doi:10.1016/S0145-305X(81)80034-1
- Agius, C. (1985). The Melano-macrophage Centres of Fish: A Review. In M. J. Manning, Tatner, M. F., (Ed.), *Fish Immunology* (pp. 85-105). London: Academic Press.
- Agius, C. & Roberts, R. J., (2003). Melano-macrophage centres and their role in fish pathology. Journal of Fish Diseases, 26(9), 499-509. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2761.2003.00485.x
- Ahmed, R. (2022). Melanomacrophage Centers: Comparative Histological Insights among Three Reptilian Species. *Egyptian Academic Journal of Biological Sciences Zoology*, *14*(2), 191-210. doi: 10.21608/EAJBSZ.2022.260921
- Andersen, L., Bratland, A., Hodneland, K., & Nylund, A. (2007). Tissue tropism of salmonid alphaviruses (subtypes SAV1 and SAV3) in experimentally challenged Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.). Archives of Virology, 152(10), 1871-1883. doi:10.1007/s00705-007-1006-1
- Ando, K., Shibata, E., Has, S., Brand, M., & Kawakami, A. (2017). Osteoblast Production by Reserved Progenitor Cells in Zebrafish Bone Regeneration and Maintenance. *Developmental Cell, 43*, 643-650. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2017.10.015
- Arnheiter, H. & Debbache, J. (2021). Chapter 6: Development of Melanin-Bearing Pigment Cells in Birds and Mammals In H. Hashumoto, M. Goda, R. Futahasi, R. Kelsh, T. Akiyama (Eds.).
 Pigments, Pigment Cells and Pigment Patterns. Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. doi: 10.1007/978-981-16-1490-3_6
- Arnold, L., Henry, A., Poron, F., Baba-Amer, Y., van Rooijen, N., Plonquet, A., Gherardi, R. K., & Chazaud, B. (2007). Inflammatory monocytes recruited after skeletal muscle injury switch into antiinflammatory macrophages to support myogenesis. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 204(5), 1057-1069. doi:10.1084/jem.20070075
- Aslam, M. L., Robledo, D., Krasnov, A., Moghadam, H. K., Hillestad, B., Houston, R. D., Baranski, M., Boison, S., & Robinson, N. A. (2020). Quantitative trait loci and genes associated with salmonid alphavirus load in Atlantic salmon: implications for pancreas disease resistance and tolerance. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 10393-10393. doi:10.1038/s41598-020-67405-8
- Baeverfjord, G., Antony Jesu Prabhu, P., Fjelldal, P. G., Albrektsen, S., Hatlen, B., Denstadli, V.,
 Ytterborg, E., Takle, H., Lock, E.-J., Bertssen, M. H. G., Lundebye, A.-K., Åsgård, T., & Waagbø,
 R. (2019). Mineral nutrition and bone health in salmonids. *Reviews in Aquaculture*, *11*(3), 740-765. doi:10.1111/raq.12255
- Baeverfjord, G., Aasgaard, T., & Shearer, K. D. (1998). Development and detection of phosphorus deficiency in Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L., parr and post-smolts. *Aquaculture Nutrition*, 4(1), 1-11. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2095.1998.00095.x
- Baghdadi, M. B., & Tajbakhsh, S. (2018). Regulation and phylogeny of skeletal muscle regeneration. Developmental Biology, 433(2), 200-209. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2017.07.026

- Ballotta, V., Driessen-Mol, A., Bouten, C. V. C., & Baaijens, F. P. T. (2014). Strain-dependent modulation of macrophage polarization within scaffolds. *Biomaterials*, 35(18), 4919-4928. doi:10.1016/j.biomaterials.2014.03.002
- Balouet, G., & Laurencin, F. B. (1986). Granulomatous nodules in fish: an experimental assessment in rainbow trout, Salmo Gairdneri Richardson, and turbot, Scopththalmus maximus (L.). Journal of Fish Diseases, 9, 417-429.

Bar-Shavit, Z. (2007). The Osteoclast: A Multinucleated, Hematopoietic-Origin, Bone-Resorbing Osteoimmune Cell. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, *102*, 1130-1139. doi:10.1002/jcb.21553

Bargut, T. C. L., Mandarim-de-Lacerda, C. A., & Aguila, M. B. (2015). A high-fish-oil diet prevents adiposity and modulates white adipose tissue inflammation pathways in mice. *Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 26(9), 960-969. doi:10.1016/j.jnutbio.2015.04.002

- Barlaup, B. T. (2011). Byglandsbleke, Salmo Salar. Artsdatabanken, 175, 2. ISSN1504-9140
- Barnham, C., & Baxter, A. (1998). *Condition factor, K, for salmonid fish*. Fisheries Notes. ISSN 1440-2254. State of Victoria, Department of Primary Industries.
- Berg, A., Rødseth, O. M., & Hansen, T. (2007). Fish size at vaccination influence the development of side-effects in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo Salar* L.). *Aquaculture*, 265(1), 9-15. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2007.02.014
- Berg, A., Yurtseva, A., Hansen, T., Lajus, D., & Fjelldal, P. G. (2012). Vaccinated farmed Atlantic salmon are susceptible to spinal and skull deformities. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology, 28*(3), 446-452. doi:10.1111/j.1439-0426.2012.01988.x
- Berge, G. M., Krogdahl, Å., Hillestad, M., Holm, H., Holm, J., & Ruyter, B. (2023). Comparison of EPA and DHA utilization in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) and rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) fed two diets with different content of fish oil and rapeseed oil. Journal of Applied Aquaculture, 35(1), 167-185. doi:10.1080/10454438.2021.1955804
- Berge, G. M., Witten, P. E., Baeverfjord, G., Vegusdal, A., Wadsworth, S., & Ruyter, B. (2009). Diets with different n–6/ n–3 fatty acid ratio in diets for juvenile Atlantic salmon, effects on growth, body composition, bone development and eicosanoid production. *Aquaculture*, 296(3), 299-308. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2009.08.029
- Biacchesi, S., Jouvion, G., Mérour, E., Boukadiri, A., Desdouits, M., Ozden, S., Huerre, M., Ceccaldi, P.-E., & Brémont, M. (2016). Rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) muscle satellite cells are targets of salmonid alphavirus infection. *Veterinary Research*, 47(1), 9-9. doi:10.1186/s13567-015-0301-1
- Birbrair, A., Zhang, T., Wang, Z.-M., Messi, M. L., Mintz, A., & Delbono, O. (2014). Pericytes: multitasking cells in the regeneration of injured, diseased, and aged skeletal muscle. *Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience*, *6*, 245-245. doi:10.3389/fnagi.2014.00245
- Bjørgen, H., Haldorsen, R., Oaland, Ø., Kvellestad, A., Kannimuthu, D., Rimstad, E. & Koppang, E. O. (2019). Melanized focal changes in skeletal muscle in farmed Atlantic salmon after natural infection with *Piscine orthoreovirus* (PRV). *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 42(6), 935-945. doi:10.1111/jfd.12995
- Bjørgen, H., & Koppang, E. O. (2021). Anatomy of teleost fish immune structures and organs. *Immunogenetics*, 73(1), 53-63. doi:10.1007/s00251-020-01196-0
- Bjørgen, H., Kumar, S., Gunnes, G., Press, C. M., Rimstad, E., & Koppang, E. O. (2020). Immunopathological characterization of red focal changes in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) white muscle. *Veterinary Immunology and Immuopathology*, 222, 110035. doi: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2020.110035
- Bjørgen, H., Wessel, Ø., Fjelldal, P. G., Hansen, T., Sveier, H., Sæbø, H. R., Enger, K. B., Mose, E., Kvellestad, A., Rimstad, E. & Koppang, E. O. (2015). *Piscine orthoreovirus* (PRV) in red and melanised foci in white muscle of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). *Veterinary Research, 46*, 89-89. doi:10.1186/s13567-015-0244-6
- Bly, J. E., & Clem, L. W. (1992). Temperature and teleost immune functions. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, 2(3), 159-171. doi:10.1016/S1050-4648(05)80056-7

- Boglione, C., Pulcini, D., Scardi, M., Palamara, E., Russo, T., & Cataudella, S. (2014). Skeletal anomaly monitoring in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*, Walbaum 1792) reared under different conditions. *PLoS ONE*, 9(5), e96983-e96983. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0096983
- Boonanuntanasarn, S., Yoshizaki, G., Iwai, K., & Takeuchi, T. (2004). Molecular Cloning, Gene Expression in Albino Mutants and Gene Knockdown Studies of Tyrosinase mRNA in Rainbow Trout. *Pigment Cell Research*, *17*(4), 413-421. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0749.2004.00166.x
- Bou, M., Berge, G. M., Baeverfjord, G., Sigholt, T., Østbye, T.-K., & Ruyter, B. (2017). Low levels of very-long-chain n-3 PUFA in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) diet reduce fish robustness under challenging conditions in sea cages. *Journal of Nutritional Science*, 6(32), 1-14. doi:10.1017/jns.2017.28
- Bou, M., Torgersen, J. S., Østbye, T.-K. K., Ruyter, B., Wang, X., Škugor, S., Kristiansen, I. Ø., & Todorčević, M. (2020). DHA Modulates Immune Response and Mitochondrial Function of Atlantic Salmon Adipocytes after LPS Treatment. *International Joural of Molecular Sciences*, 21(11), 4101. doi:10.3390/ijms21114101
- Bourlier, V., & Bouloumie, A. (2009). Role of macrophage tissue infiltration in obesity and insulin resistance. *Diabetes & Metabolism*, *35*(4), 251-260. doi:10.1016/j.diabet.2009.05.001
- Brattgjerd, S. & Evensen, Ø. (1996). A sequential light microscopic and ultrastructural study on the uptake and handling of *Vibrio salmonicida* in phagocytes of the head kidney in experimentally infected Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). *Veterinary Pathology, 33*(1), 55-65. doi:10.1177/030098589603300106
- Briggs, J. P. (2002). The zebrafish: a new model organism for integrative physiolog. *American Journal* of Physiology- Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology, 282, R3-R9. doi:10.1152/ajpregu.00589.2001
- Brigitte, M., Schilte, C., Plonquet, A., Baba-Amer, Y., Henri, A., Charlier, C., Tajbaksh, S., Albert, M., Gherardi, R. K., & Chrétien, F. (2010). Muscle resident macrophages control the immune cell reaction in a mouse model of notexin-induced myoinjury. *Arthritis & Rheumatism, 62*(1), 268-279. doi:10.1002/art.27183
- Buchman, K. (2022). Chapter 21: Genetic Breeding, Disease Resistance and Immunity. In K.
 Buchmann & C. J. Secombes (Eds.) *Principles of Fish Immunology*. (pp 657-666). Switzerland: Springer International Publishing AG.
- Burleigh, I. G. (1977). Observations on the number of nuclei within the fibres of some red and white muscles. *Journal of Cell Science, 23*, 269-284. doi:10.1242/jcs.23.1.269
- Campos-Sánchez, J. C., & Esteban, M. Á. (2021). Review of inflammation in fish and value of the zebrafish model. *Journal of Fish Diseases, 44*(2), 123-139. doi:10.1111/jfd.13310
- Christensen, B. M., Li, J., Chen, C.-C., & Nappi, A. J. (2005). Melanization immune responses in mosquito vectors. *Trends i Parasitology*, *21*(4), 192-199. doi:10.1016/j.pt.2005.02.007
- Christodoulou, C., & Cooper, C. (2003). What is osteoporosis? *Postgraduate Medical Journal,* 79(929), 133-138. doi:10.1136/pmj.79.929.133
- Christov, C., Chrétien, F., Abou-Khalil, R., Bassez, G., Vallet, G., Authier, F., Bassaglia, Y., Shinin, V.,
 Tajbakhsh, S., Chazaud, B., & Gherardi, R. K. (2007). Muscle Satellite Cells and Endothelial
 Cells: Close Neighbors and Privileged Partners. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 18, 1397-1409.
- Churukian, C. J. (2008). Pigments and Minerals. In J. D. Bancroft. & M. Gamble (Eds.) Theory and Practice of Histological Techniques. Elsevier Health Sciences.
- Cohen, L., Dean, M., Shipov, A., Atkins, A., Monsonego-Ornan, E., & Shahar, R. (2012). Comparison of structural, architectural and mechanical aspects of cellular and acellular bone in two teleost fish. *Journal of Experimental Biology, 215*(11), 1983. doi:10.1242/jeb.064790
- Colombo, S., Berli, I., Delmas, V., & Larue, L. (2011). Classical and Nonclassical Melanocytes in Vertebrates. In J. Borovansky, Riley, P. A. (Ed.), *Melanins and Melanosomes: Biosynthesis, Biogenesis, Physiological, and Pathological Functions*: Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

- Cooper, M., & Midling, K. Ø. (2007). Blood vessel melanosis: a physiological detoxification mechanism in Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*). Aquaculture International, 15(1), 43-54. doi:10.1007/s10499-006-9067-9
- Cooper, M., Olsen, R. L., Seliussen, & J., Gannefors, C. (2011). Dietary Trace Metal Supplements Promote Blood Vessels Melanosis in Fillets of Juvenile Farmed Atlantic Cod, Gadus morhua L. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society, 42(2), 222-229. doi:10.1111/j.1749-7345.2011.00458.x
- Crane, M. J., & Albina, J. E. (2014). Chapter 12: The Wound Macrophage. In S. K. Biswas & A. Mantovai (Eds.). *Macrophages: Biology and Role in the Pathology ogf Diseases*. Springer Science+Business Media New York. doi: 1 0.1007/978-1-4939-1311-4_2
- Crête-Lafrenière, A., Weir, L. K., & Bernatchez, L. (2012). Framing the Salmonidae Family Phylogenetic Portrait: A More Complete Picture from Increased Taxon Sampling. *PLoS ONE*, 7(10), e46662-e46662. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0046662
- Cruz-Garcia, L., Sánchez-Gurmaches, J., Bouraoui, L., Saera-Vila, A., Pérez-Sánchez, J., Gutiérrez, J., & Navarro, I. (2011). Changes in adipocyte cell size, gene expression of lipid metabolism markers, and lipolytic responses induced by dietary fish oil replacement in gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata* L.). *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, Part A, 158*(4), 391-399. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2010.11.024
- Cui, J. (2019). Autophagy and Viral Infection. *Autophagy Regulation of Innate Immunity, 1209*, 55-78. doi:10.1007/978-981-15-0606-2_5
- Dalmo, R. A., & Bøgwald, J. (2022). Chapter 2: Innate Immunity. In K. Buchmann, C. J. Secombes (Eds.). *Principles of Fish Immunology*. Switzerland: Springer International Publishing AG.
- Dalmo, R. A., Ingebrigtsen, K., & Bøgwald, J. (1997). Non-specific defence mechanisms in fish, with particular reference to the reticuloendothelial system (RES). *Journal of Fish Diseases, 20*(4), 241-273. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2761.1997.00302.x
- Dang, M., Nowell, C., Nguyen, T., Bach, L., Sonne, C., Nørregaard, R., Stride, M., & Nowak, B. (2019).
 Characterisation and 3D structure of melanomacrophage centers in shorthorn sculpins (*Myoxocephalus scorpius*). *Tissue and Cell*, *57*, 34-41. doi:10.1016/j.tice.2019.02.003
- Davesne, D., Meunier, F. J., Schmitt, A. D., Friedman, M., Otero, O., & Benson, R. B. J. (2019). The phylogenetic origin and evolution of acellular bone in teleost fishes: insights into osteocyte function in bone metabolism. *Biological Reviews*, 94(4), 1338-1363. doi:10.1111/brv.12505
- Davies, L. C., Jenkins, S. J., Allen, J. E., & Taylor, P. R. (2013). Tissue-resident macrophages. *Nature Immunology*, 14(10), 986-995. doi:10.1038/ni.2705
- De Clercq, A., Perrott, M. R., Davie, P. S., Preece, M. A., Wybourne, B., Ruff, N., Huysseune, A., & Witten, P. E. (2017). Vertebral column regionalisation in Chinook salmon, *Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*. Journal of Anatomy, 231(4), 500-514. doi:10.1111/joa.12655
- de Haan, D., Fosseidengen, J. E., Fjelldal, P. G., Burggraaf, D., & Rijnsdorp, A. D. (2016). Pulse trawl fishing: characteristics of the electrical stimulation and the effect on behaviour and injuries of Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*). *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 73(6), 1557-1569. doi:10.1093/icesjms/fsw018
- De Paepe, B., & De Bleecker, J. L. (2013). Cytokines and Chemokines as Regulators of Skeletal Muscle Inflammation: Presenting the Case of Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. *Mediators of Inflammation, 2013*, 540370-540310. doi:10.1155/2013/540370
- Deschamps, M.-H., Labbé, L., Baloche, S., Fouchereau-Péron, M., Dufour, S., & Sire, J.-Y. (2009). Sustained exercise improves vertebral histomorphometry and modulates hormonal levels in rainbow trout. *Aquaculture, 296*(3), 337-346. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2009.07.016
- Deschamps, M. H., Kacem, A., Ventura, R., Courty, G., Haffray, P., Meunier, F. J., & Sire, J. Y. (2008). Assessment of "discreet" vertebral abnormalities, bone mineralization and bone compactness in farmed rainbow trout. *Aquaculture*, 279(1), 11-17. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2008.03.036
- Deschamps, M. H., Stewart, N. P., Demanche, A., & Vandenberg, G. W. (2016). Preliminary study for description of bone tissue responsiveness to prolonged dietary phosphorus deficiency in rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum). *Aquaculture Research*, 47(3), 900-911. doi:10.1111/are.12549
- Dhamotharan, K., Bjørgen, H., Malik, M. S., Nyman, I. B., Markussen, T., Dahle, M. K., Koppang, E. O., Wessel, Ø., & Rimstad, E. (2020). Dissemination of *Piscine orthoreovirus*-1 (PRV-1) in Atlantic Salmon (*Salmo salar*) during the Early and Regenerating Phases of Infection. *Pathogens*, 9(2), 143. doi:10.3390/pathogens9020143
- Dhamotharan, K., Vendramin, N., Markussen, T., Wessel, Ø., Cuenca, A., Nyman, I. B., Olse, A. B., Tengs, T., Dahle, M. K., & Rimstad, E. (2018). Molecular and Antigenic Characterization of *Piscine orthoreovirus* (PRV) from Rainbow Trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Viruses, 10*(4), 170. doi:10.3390/v10040170
- Dijkstra, C. D., Döpp, E. A., Joling, P., & Kraal, G. (1985). The heterogeneity of mononuclear phagocytes in lymphoid organs: distinct macrophage subpopulations in the rat recognized by monoclonal antibodies ED1, ED2 and ED3. *Immunology, 54*(3), 589-599.
- Dort, J., Fabre, P., Molina, T., & Dumont, N. A. (2019). Macrophages Are Key Regulators of Stem Cells during Skeletal Muscle Regeneration and Diseases. *Stem Cells International, 2019*, 4761427-4761420. doi:10.1155/2019/4761427
- Drachenberg, C. B., & Papadimitriou, J. C,. (1990). Melanotic Peritoneal Cyst: Light -Microscopic and Ultrastructural studies. *Archives of Pathology & Laboratory Medicine*, *114*(5), 463-467.
- Duan, D., Goemans, N., Takeda, S., Mercuri, E., & Aartsma-Rus, A. (2023). Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers*, 7(1). doi:10.1038/s41572-021-00248-3.
- Dubuisson, N., Versele, R., Planchon, C., Selvais, C. M., Noel, L., Abou-Samra, M., & Davis-López de Carrizosa, M. A. (2022). Histological Methods to Assess Skeletal Muscle Degeneration and Regeneration in Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. *International Journal of Molecular Science*, 23(24), 16080. doi:10.3390/ijms232416080
- Einen, O., & Skrede, G. (1998). Quality characteristics in raw and smoked fillets of Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar, fed high-energy diets. Aquaculture Nutrition, 4, 99-108. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2095.1998.00053.x
- ElObeid, A. S., Kamal-Eldin, A., Abdelhalim, M. A. K., & Haseeb, A. M. (2017). Pharmacological Properties of Melanin and its Function in Health. *Basic & Clinical Pharmacology & Toxicology*, 120(6), 515-522. doi:10.1111/bcpt.12748
- Epsley, S., Tadros, S., Farid, A., Kargilis, D., Mehta, S., & Rajapakse, C. S. (2021). The Effect of Inflammation on Bone. *Frontiers in Physiology*, *11*, 511799-511799. doi:10.3389/fphys.2020.511799
- Esaiassen, M., Jensen, T. K., Edvinsen, G. K., Otnæs, C. H. A., Ageeva, T. N., & Mæhre, H. K. (2022). Nutritional value and storage stability in commercially produced organically and conventionally farmed Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) in Norway. *Applied Food Research*, 2(1), 100033. doi:10.1016/j.afres.2021.100033
- Esteves, A., Seixas, F., Carvalho, S., Nazario, N., Mendes, M., & Martins, C. (2009). *Huffmanela* sp. (Nematoda: Trichosomoididae) muscular parasite from *Trisopterus luscus* captured off the Portuguese coast. *Dis Aquat Organ, 84*(3), 251-255. doi:10.3354/dao02048
- Farwer, S. R., Der Boer, B. C. J., Haddeman, E., Kivits, G. A. A., Wiersma, A., & Danse, B. H. J. C. (1994). The vitamin E nutritional status of rats fed on diets high in fish oil, linseed oil or sunflower seed oil. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 72(1), 127-145. doi:10.1079/BJN19940015
- Fasshauer, M., & Blüher, M. (2015). Adipokines in health and disease. Trends in Pharmacological Sciences, 36(7), 461-470. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2015.04.014
- Fauconneau, B., Andre, S., Chmaitilly, J., Le Bail, P. Y., Krieg, F., & Kaushik, S. J. (1997). Control of skeletal muscle fibres and adipose cells size in the flesh of rainbow trout. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 50(2), 296-314. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8649.1997.tb01360.x

- Fiedler, I. A. K., Elmogazy, O., Courtemanche, G., Cardoso, L., & Berteau, J. P. (2021). Bones of teleost fish demonstrate high fracture strain. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 120, 110341-110341. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2021.110341
- Finstad, Ø., Dahle, M., Lindholm, T., Nyman, I., Løvoll, M., Wallace, C., Olsen, C. M., Storset, A. K., & Rimstad, E. (2014). Piscine orthoreovirus (PRV) infects Atlantic salmon erythrocytes. *Veterinary Research*, 45(1), 35-35. doi:10.1186/1297-9716-45-35
- Fischer, U., Koppang, E. O., & Nakanishi, T. (2013). Teleost T and NK cell immunity. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, *35*(2), 197-206. doi:10.1016/j.fsi.2013.04.018
- Fishelson, L., Golani, D., Russell, B., Galil, B., & Goren, M. (2012). Melanization of the alimentary tract in lizardfishes (Teleostei, Aulopiformes, Synodontidae). *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 95(2), 195-200. doi:10.1007/s10641-012-9982-8
- Fisher, S., Jagadeeswaran, P., & Halpern, M. E. (2003). Radiographic analysis of zebrafish skeletal defects. *Developmetal Biology*, *264*(1), 64-76. doi:10.1016/S0012-1606(03)00399-3
- Fjelldal, P. G., Glover, K. A., Skaala, Ø., Imsland, A., & Hansen, T. J. (2009). Vertebral body mineralization and deformities in cultured Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.): Effects of genetics and off-season smolt production. *Aquaculture*, 296(1), 36-44. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2009.08.020
- Fjelldal, P. G., Hansen, T., Breck, O., Sandvik, R., WaagbØ, R., Berg, A., & Ørnsrud, R. (2009). Supplementation of dietary minerals during the early seawater phase increase vertebral strength and reduce the prevalence of vertebral deformities in fast-growing under-yearling Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) smolt. *Aquaculture Nutrition*, 15(4), 366-378. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2095.2008.00601.x
- Fjelldal, P. G., Hansen, T., Breck, O., Ørnsrud, R., Lock, E. J., Waagbø, R., Wargelious, A., & Witten, P. E. (2012). Vertebral deformities in farmed Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) - etiology and pathology. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology, 28*(3), 433-440. doi:10.1111/j.1439-0426.2012.01980.x
- Fjelldal, P. G., Lock, E.-J., Grotmol, S., Totland, G. K., Nordgarden, U., Flik, G., & Hansen, T. (2006). Impact of smolt production strategy on vertebral growth and mineralisation during smoltification and the early seawater phase in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar, L.). Aquaculture, 261(2), 715-728. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2006.08.008
- Fjelldal, P. G., Madaro, A., Hvas, M., Stien, L. H., Oppedal, F., & Fraser, T. W. (2020). Skeletal deformities in wild and farmed cleaner fish species used in Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* aquaculture. *Joural of Fish Biology*, *98*(4), 1049-1058. doi:10.1111/jfb.14337
- Fjelldal, P. G., van der Meeren, T., Fraser, T. W. K., Sambraus, F., Jawad, L., & Hansen, T. J. (2018). Radiological changes during fracture and repair in neural and haemal spines of Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*). J Fish Dis, 41(12), 1871-1875. doi:10.1111/jfd.12899
- Froehlich, J. M., Fowler, Z. G., Galt, N. J., Smith, J. D. L., & Biga, P. R. (2013). Sarcopenia and piscines: the case for indeterminate-growing fish as unique genetic model organisms in aging and longevity research. *Frontiers in Genetics*, *4*, 159-159. doi:10.3389/fgene.2013.00159
- Fryer, J. L., Pilcher, K. S., Sanders, J. E., Rohovec, J. S., Zinn, J. L., Groberg, W. J., & McCoy, R. H. (1976). *Temperature, infectious diseases, and the immune response in salmonid fish.* Environmental Research Laboratory, Duluth, Minnesota 55804: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.
- Fu, X., Wang, H., & Hu, P. (2015). Stem cell activation in skeletal muscle regeneration. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences, 72(9), 1663-1677. doi:10.1007/s00018-014-1819-5
- Gabillard, J. C., Sabin, N., & Paboeuf, G. (2010). In vitro characterization of proliferation and differentiation of trout satellite cells. *Cell & Tissue Research*, 342(3), 471-477. doi:10.1007/s00441-010-1071-8
- Galdiero, M. R., Biswas, S. K., & Mantovani, A. (2014). Chapter 2: Polarized Activation of Macrophages. In S. K. Biswas & A. Mantovai (Eds.). *Macrophages: Biology and Role in the*

Pathology ogf Diseases. Springer Science+Business Media New York. doi: 1 0.1007/978-1-4939-1311-4 2

- Garseth, Å. H., Fritsvold, C., Opheim, M., Skjerve, E., & Biering, E. (2013). Piscine reovirus (PRV) in wild Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L., and sea-trout, *Salmo trutta* L., in Norway. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, *36*(5), 483-493. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2761.2012.01450.x
- Gaspar, B. L., Vasishta, R. K., & Radotra, B. D. (2019). Classification of Skeletal Muscle Diseases. In Myopathology : A Practical Clinico-pathological Approach to Skeletal Muscle Biopsies (1st 2019. ed.) (pp. 99-102). Springer Singapore: Imprint: Springer.
- Gélineau, A., Corraze, C., Boujard, T., Larroquet, L., & Kaushik, S. (2001). Relation between dietary lipid level and voluntary feed intake, growth, nutrient gain, lipid deposition and hepatic lipogenesis in rainbow trout. *Reproduction Nutrition Development*, 41(6), 487-503. doi:10.1051/rnd:2001103
- Gil Martens, L., Lock, E. J., Fjelldal, P. G., Wargelius, A., Araujo, P., Torstensen, B. E., Witten, P. E, Hanse, T., Waagbø, R., & Ørnsrud, R. (2010). Dietary fatty acids and inflammation in the vertebral column of Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L., smolts: a possible link to spinal deformities. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, *33*(12), 957-972. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2761.2010.01201.x
- Giovannone, D., Paul, S., Schindler, S., Arata, C., Farmer, D. J. T., Patel, P., Smeeton, J., & Crump, J. G. (2019). Programmed conversion of hypertrophic chondrocytes into osteoblasts and marrow adipocytes within zebrafish bones. *eLIFE*, 8:e42736. doi:10.7554/eLife.42736
- Gislason, H., Karstensen, H., Christiansen, D., Hjelde, K., Helland, S., & Bæverfjord, G. (2010). Rib and vertebral deformities in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) explained by a dominantmutation mechanism. *Aquaculture*, 309(1), 86-95. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2010.09.016
- Gjedrem, T. (1992). Breeding plans for rainbow trout. *Aquaculture, 100*(1), 73-83. doi:10.1016/0044-8486(92)90340-Q
- Gjedrem, T. (2010). The first family-based breeding program in aquaculture. *Reviews in Aquaculture,* 2(1), 2-15. doi:10.1111/j.1753-5131.2010.01011.x
- Glover, K. A., Otterå, H., Olsen, R. E., Slinde, E., Taranger, G. L., & Skaala, Ø. (2009). A comparison of farmed, wild and hybrid Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) reared under farming conditions. *Aquaculture*, 286(3), 203-210. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2008.09.023
- Glover, K. A., Solberg, M. F., McGinnity, P., Hindar, K., Verspoor, E., Coulson, M. W., Hanse, M. M., Hitoshi, A., Skaala, Ø. & Svåsand, T. (2017). Half a century of genetic interaction between farmed and wild Atlantic salmon: Status of knowledge and unanswered questions. *Fish and Fisheries (Oxford, England), 18*(5), 890-927. doi:10.1111/faf.12214
- Graham, D. A., Jewhurst, H. L., McLoughlin, M. F., Branson, E. J., McKenzie, K., Rowley, H. M., & Todd, D. (2007). Serological, virological and histopathological study of an outbreak of sleeping disease in farmed rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, 74(3), 191-197. doi:10.3354/dao074191
- Grzelak, A. K., Davis, D. J., Caraker, S. M., Crim, M. J., Spitsbergen, J. M., & Wiedmeyer, C. E. (2017). Stress Leukogram Induced by Acute and Chronic Stress in Zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). *Comparative Medicine*, 67(3), 263-269.
- Gunrow, B., Stange, K., Bochert, R., & Tönben, K. (2021). Histological and biochemical evaluation of skeletal muscle in the two salmonid species Coregonus maraena and Oncorhynchus mykiss. PLoS ONE, 16(8), e0255062. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0255062
- Hanada, T., & Yoshimura, A. (2002). Regulation of cytokine signaling and inflammation. *Cytokine Growth Factor Reviews*, *13*(4), 413-421. doi:10.1016/S1359-6101(02)00026-6
- Hardie, L. J., Laing, K. J., Daniels, G. D., Grabowski, P. S., Cunningham, C., & Secombes, C. J. (1998).
 Isolation of the first piscine transforming growth factor β gene: Analysis reveals tissue specific expression and a potential regulatory sequence in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus Mykiss*). *Cytokine*, *10*(8), 555-563. doi:10.1006/cyto.1997.0334

Hardy, R. W. (2002). Rainbow Trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. In C. D. Webster, C. Lim (Eds.), *Nutrient Requirements and Feeding of Finfish for Aquaculture* (pp. 184-202): CABI Publishing.

 Hassnain Waqas, S. F., Noble, A., Hoang, A. C., Ampem, G., Popp, M., Strauß, S., Guille, M., & Röszer, T. (2017). Adipose tissue macrophages develop from bone marrow–independent progenitors in *Xenopus laevis* and mouse. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, *102*(3), 845-855. doi:10.1189/jlb.1A0317-082RR

Hatlen, B., Larsson, T., Østbye, T.-K., Romarheim, O. H., Rubio, L. M., & Ruyter, B. (2022). Improved fillet quality in harvest-size Atlantic salmon fed high n-3 canola oil as a DHA-source. *Aquaculture*, 560, 738555. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2022.738555

- Haugarvoll, E., Bjerkås, I., Nowak, B. F., Hordvik, I., & Koppang, E. O. (2008). Identification and characterization of a novel intraepithelial lymphoid tissue in the gills of Atlantic salmon. *Journal of Anatomy*, *213*(2), 202-209. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7580.2008.00943.x
- Haugarvoll, E., Thorsen, J., Laane, M., Huang, Q., & Koppang, E. O. (2006). Melanogenesis and evidence for melanosome transport to the plasma membrane in a CD83+ teleost leukocyte cell line. *Pigment Cell Research*, 19(3), 214-225. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0749.2006.00297.x
- Hauge, H., Vendramin, N., Taksdal, T., Olsen, A. B., Wessel, Ø., Mikkelsen, S. S., Alencar, A. L. F., Olesen, J., & Dahle, M. K. (2017). Infection experiments with novel Piscine orthoreovirus from rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) in salmonids. *PLoS ONE, 12*(7), e0180293. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0180293
- Havixbeck, J. J., & Barreda, D. R. (2015). Neutrophil Development, Migration, and Function in Teleost Fish. *Biology*, 4(4), 715-734. doi:10.3390/biology4040715
- He, S., Chen, J., Jiang, Y., Wu, Y., Zhu, L., Jin, W., Zhao, C., Yu, T., Wang, T., Wu, S., Lin, X., Qu, J. Y., We, Z., Zhag, W., & Xu, J. (2018). Adult zebrafish Langerhans cells arise from hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells. *eLIFE*, 7. doi:10.7554/eLife.36131
- Heidari, Z., Tinsley, J., Bickerdike, R., McLoughlin, M. F., Zou, J., & Martin, S. A. M. (2015). Antiviral and metabolic gene expression responses to viral infection in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, *42*(2), 297-305. doi:10.1016/j.fsi.2014.11.003
- Herraez, M. P., & Zapata, A. G. (1986). Structure and function of the melano-macrophage centres of the goldfish *Carassius auratus*. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, 12(1), 117-126. doi:10.1016/0165-2427(86)90116-9
- Hikima, J.-i., Jung, T.-S., & Aoki, T. (2011). Immunoglobulin genes and their transcriptional control in teleosts. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, 35(9), 924-936. doi:10.1016/j.dci.2010.10.011
- Hodneland, K., Bratland, A., Christie, K. E., Endresen, C., & Nylund, A. (2005). New subtype of salmonid alphavirus (SAV), *Togaviridae*, from Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* and rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss* in Norway. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, , 66(2), 113-120. doi:10.3354/dao066113
- Hopkins, K. D. (1992). Reporting Fish Growth: A Review of the Basics. *Journal of the World Aquaculture Society*, 23(3).
- Horton, J. M. & Summers, A. P. (2009). The material properties of acellular bone in a teleost fish. Journal of Experimental Biology, 212, 1413-1420. doi:10.1242/jeb.020636
- Hotamisligil, G. S. (2006). Inflammation and metabolic disorders. *Nature, 444*(7121), 860-867. doi:10.1038/nature05485
- Hotamisligil, G. S., Murray, D. L., Choy, L. N., & Spiegelman, B. M. (1994). Tumor necrosis factor alpha inhibits signaling from the insulin receptor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United states of America*, *91*(11), 4854-4858. doi:10.1073/pnas.91.11.4854
- Houston, R. D., Haley, C. S., Hamilton, A., Guy, D. R., Tinch, A. E., Taggart, J. B., McAndrew, B. J., & Bishop, S. C. (2008). Major Quantitative Trait Loci Affect Resistance to Infectious Pancreatic Necrosis in Atlantic Salmon (*Salmo salar*). *Genetics*, *178*(2), 1109-1115. doi:10.1534/genetics.107.082974

- Huang, Y.-L., Chen, S.-T., Liu, R.-S., Chen, Y.-H., Lin, C.-Y., Huang, C.-H., Shu, P.-Y., Lioa, C.-L., & Hsieh, S.-L. (2016). CLEC5A is critical for dengue virus-induced osteoclast activation and bone homeostasis. *Journal of Molecular Medicine*. (*Berl*), 94(9), 1025-1037. doi:10.1007/s00109-016-1409-0
- Huysseune, A., Soenens, M., & Witten, P. E. (2021). High-Resolution Histology for Craniofacial Studies on Zebrafish and Other Teleost Models. In S. Dworkin (Ed.), *Craniofacial Development* (pp. 249-262). Humana, New York, NY: Humana Press.
- Haatveit, H. M., Hodneland, K., Braaen, S., Hansen, E. F., Nyman, I. B., Dahle, M. K., Frost, P., & Rimstad, E. (2018). DNA vaccine expressing the non-structural proteins of *Piscine orthoreovirus* delay the kinetics of PRV infection and induces moderate protection against heart -and skeletal muscle inflammation in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). *Vaccine, 36*(50), 7599-7608. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.10.094
- Ingerslev, H. C., Lunder, T., & Nielsen, M. E. (2010). Inflammatory and regenerative responses in salmonids following mechanical tissue damage and natural infection. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, 29(3), 440-450. doi:10.1016/j.fsi.2010.05.002
- Ito, C., Hikosaka-Kuniishi, M., Yamazaki, H., & Yamane, T. (2022). Multiple cell populations generate macrophage progenitors in the early yolk sac. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 79(3), 159-159. doi:10.1007/s00018-022-04203-7
- Jacome-Galarza, C. E., Percin, G. I., Muller, J. T., Mass, E., Lazarov, T., Eitler, J., Rauner, M., Yadav, V.
 K., Crozet, L., Bohm, M., Loyher, P.-L., Karsenty, G., Waskow, C., & Geissmann, F. (2019).
 Developmental origin, functional maintenance and genetic rescue of osteoclasts. *Nature*, 568(7753), 541-545. doi:10.1038/s41586-019-1105-7
- Jantawongsri, K., Jones, B., Elliot, D., Schmidt-Posthaus, H., & Nowak, B. (2022). Chapter 18: Immunopathology. In K. Buchmann & C. J. Secombes (Eds.). *Principles of Fish Immunology*. (pp. 565-598). Switzerland: Switzerland: Springer International Publishing AG.
- Jensen, B. B., Kristoffersen, A. B., Myr, C., & Brun, E. (2012). Cohort study of effect of vaccination on pancreas disease in Norwegian salmon aquaculture. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, 102(1), 23-31. doi:10.3354/dao02529
- Jiménez-Guerrero, R., Baeverfjord, G., Evensen, Ø., Hamre, K., Larsson, T., Dessen, J.-E., Ganestad, K.
 H., & Mørkøre, T. (2022). Rib abnormalities and their association with focal dark spots in Atlantic salmon fillets. *Aquaculture*, *561*. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2022.738697
- Jobling, M. (2002). Chapter 5: Environmental Factors and Rates of Development and Growth. In P. J.
 B. Hart, J. D. Reyolds (Eds.). Handbook of Fish Biology and Fisheries: Fish Biology. Blackwell Science Ltd.
- Joe, A. W. B., Yi, L., Natarajan, A., Le Grand, F., So, L., Wang, J., Rudnicki, M. A., & Rossi, F. M. V. (2010). Muscle injury activates resident fibro/adipogenic progenitors that facilitate myogenesis. *Nature Cell Biology*, 12, 153-163.
- Johansen, S. J. S., & Jobling, M. (1998). The influence of feeding regime on growth and slaughter traits of cage-reared Atlantic salmon. *Aquaculture International, 6*(1), 1-17. doi:10.1023/A:1009250118318
- Johnston, I. A. (1999). Muscle development and growth: potential implications for flesh quality in fish. *Aquaculture, 177*(1), 99-115. doi:10.1016/S0044-8486(99)00072-1
- Johnston, I. A., Manthri, S., Alderson, R., Smart, A., Campbell, P., Nickell, D., Robertson, B., Paxton, C. G. M., & Burt, M. L. (2003). Freshwater environment affects growth rate and muscle fibre recruitment in seawater stages of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). *Journal of Experimental Biology, 206*(Pt 8), 1337-1351. doi:10.1242/jeb.00262
- Johnston, I. A., & McLay, H. A. (1997). Temperature and family effects on muscle cellularity at hatch and first feeding in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). *Revue Canadienne de Zoologie, 75*(1), 64-74. doi:10.1139/z97-008

- Kacem, A., Meunier, F. J., & Baglinière, J. L. (1998). A quantitative study of morphological and histological changes in the skeleton of *Salmo salar* during its anadromous migration. *Journal* of Fish Biology, 53(5), 1096-1109. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8649.1998.tb00466.x
- Kague, E., Hughes, S. M., Lawrence, E. A., Cross, S., Martin-Silverstone, E., Hammond, C. L., & Hinits, Y. (2019). Scleraxis genes are required for normal musculoskeletal development and for rib growth and mineralization in zebrafish. *The FASEB Journal, 33*(8), 9116-9130. doi:10.1096/fj.201802654RR
- Kalpajyoti, B., Girish, H.C., Sanjay, M., Alshame, M. J., & Dinesh, B. S. (2018). Connective Tissue Stains: A Review Article. *Research Journal of Pharmaceutical, Biological and Chemical Sciences*, 9(6), 809. ISSN: 0975-8585
- Karlsen, M., Tingbø, T., Solbakk, I.-T., Evensen, Ø., Furevik, A., & Aas-Eng, A. (2012). Efficacy and safety of an inactivated vaccine against Salmonid alphavirus (family *Togaviridae*). *Vaccine*, 30(38), 5688-5694. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.05.069
- Kause, A., Kiessling, A., Martin, S. A. M., Houlihan, D., & Ruohonen, K. (2016). Genetic improvement of feed conversion ratio via indirect selection against lipid deposition in farmed rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss* Walbaum). *British Journal of Nutrition*, 116(9), 1656-1665. doi:10.1017/S0007114516003603
- Kause, A., Paananen, T., Ritola, O., & Koskinen, H. (2007). Direct and indirect selection of visceral lipid weight, fillet weight, and fillet percentage in a rainbow trout breeding program. *Journal* of Animal Science, 85(12), 3218-3227. doi:10.2527/jas.2007-0332
- Kawao, N., & Kaji, H. (2015). Interactions Between Muscle Tissues and Bone Metabolism: INTERACTIONS BETWEEN MUSCLE AND BONE. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, 116(5), 687-695. doi:10.1002/jcb.25040
- Kiessling, A., Ruohonen, K., & Bjørnevik, M. (2006). Muscle fibre growth and quality in fish. Arch. Tierz., Dummerstorf, 49, 137-146. http://hdl.handle.net/11250/295481
- Kim, N. R., Suh, Y. L., Song, S. Y., & Ahn, G. (2002). Peritoneal melanosis combined with serous cystadenoma of the ovary: A case report and literature review. *Pathology International*, 52(11), 724-729. doi:10.1046/j.1440-1827.2002.01405.x
- Kiron, V., Fukuda, H., Takeuchi, T., & Watanabe, T. (1995). Essential fatty acid nutrition and defence mechanisms in rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology. A, Comparative Physiology, 111(3), 361-367. doi:10.1016/0300-9629(95)00042-6
- Kongtorop, R. T., Taksdal, T., & Lyngøy, A. (2004a). Pathology of heart and skeletal muscle inflammation (HSMI) in farmed Atlantic salmon Salmo salar. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms, 59(3), 217-224. doi:10.3354/dao059217
- Kongtorp, R. T., Kjerstad, A., Taksdal, T., Guttvik, A., & Falk, K. (2004b). Heart and skeletal muscle inflammation in Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L.: a new infectious disease. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 27(6), 351-358. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2761.2004.00549.x
- Koppang, E. O., Haugarvoll, E., Hordvik, I., Aune, L., & Poppe, T. T. (2005). Vaccine-associated granulomatous inflammation and melanin accumulation in Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L., white muscle. Journal of Fish Diseases, 28(1), 13-22. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2761.2004.00583.x
- Kottler, V. A., Künstner, A., & Schartl, M. (2015). Pheomelanin in fish? *Pigment Cell & Melanoma Research*, 28(3), 355-356. doi:10.1111/pcmr.12359
- Koumans, J. T. M., & Akster, H. A. (1995). Myogenic cells in development and growth of fish. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology - Part A: Physiology, 110(1), 3-20. doi:10.1016/0300-9629(94)00150-R
- Kryvi, H., & Poppe, T. (2016). Fiskeanatomi. Bergen: Fagbokforlaget. ISBN: 9788245037333
- Köllner, B., Fischer, U., Rombout, J. H. W. M., Taverne-Thiele, J. J., & Hansen, J. D. (2004). Potential involvement of rainbow trout thrombocytes in immune functions: a study using a panel of monoclonal antibodies and RT-PCR. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology, 28*(10), 1049-1062. doi:10.1016/j.dci.2004.03.005

- Larsen, H. A. S., Austbo, L., Nodtvedt, A., Fraser, T. W. K., Rimstad, E., Fjelldal, P. G., Hansen, T., & Koppang, E. O. (2014). The effect of vaccination, ploidy and smolt production regime on pathological melanin depositions in muscle tissue of Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L. *Journal* of Fish Diseases, 37(4), 327. doi:10.1111/jfd.12106
- Larsen, H. A. S., Austbø, L., Mørkøre, T., Thorsen, J., Hordvik, I., Fischer, U., Jirillo, E., Rimstad, E, & Koppang, E. O. (2012). Pigment-producing granulomatous myopathy in Atlantic salmon: A novel inflammatory response. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, 33(2), 277-285. doi:10.1016/j.fsi.2012.05.012
- Lassalle, M. W., Igarashi, S., Sasaki, M., Wakamatsu, K., Ito, S., & Horikoshi, T. (2003). Effects of Melanogenesis-Inducing Nitric Oxide and Histamine on the Production of Eumelanin and Pheomelanin in Cultured Human Melanocytes. *Pigment Cell Research*, 16(1), 81-84. doi:10.1034/j.1600-0749.2003.00004.x
- Le Douarin, N. M., Creuzet, S., Couly, & G., Dupin, E. (2004). Neural crest cell plasticity and its limits. Development, 131(19), 4637-4650. doi:10.1242/dev.01350
- Le Morvan, C., Troutaud, D., & Deschaux, P. (1998). Differential effects of temperature on specific and nonspecific immune defences in fish. *Joural of Experimental Biology, 201*(Pt 2), 165-168. doi:10.1242/jeb.201.2.165
- Lemos, D. R., Babaeijandaghi, F., Low, M., Chang, C.-K., Lee, S. T., Fiore, D., Zhang, R.-H., Natarajan, A., Nedospasov, S. A., & Rossi, F. M. V. (2015). Nilotinib reduces muscle fibrosis in chronic muscle injury by promoting TNF-mediated apoptosis of fibro/adipogenic progenitors. *Nature Medicine*, 21(7), 786-794. doi:10.1038/nm.3869
- Li, H., Hong, S., Qian, J., Zheng, Y., Yang, J., & Yi, Q. (2010). Cross talk between the bone and immune systems: osteoclasts function as antigen-presenting cells and activate CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells. *Blood 115*(2), 210-217. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-11-255026
- Lillie, R. D. (1956). A Nile Blue Staining Technic for the Differentiation of Melanin and Lipofuscins. *Stain Technology*, *31*(4), 151-153. doi:10.3109/10520295609113795
- Lin, X., Wen, Z., & Xu, J. (2019). Tissue-resident macrophages: from zebrafish to mouse. *Blood Science*, 1(1), 57-60. doi:10.1097/BS9.00000000000013
- Lovdata. (2015). Forskrift om økologisk akvakulturproduksjon og merking av økologiske akvakulturprodukter. Norwegian laws and legislations, Nærings- og Fiskeridepartementet. Retrieved from: <u>https://lovdata.no/dokument/LTI/forskrift/2015-07-07-879</u>
- Lovdata. (2018). Forskrift om drift av akvakulturanlegg (akvakulturdriftsforskriften). § 34, Avliving av fisk. Norwegian laws and legislations, Nærings- og Fiskeridepartementet. Retrieved from: https://lovdata.no/dokument/SF/forskrift/2008-06-17-822?q=akvakulturdrifts
- Loynes, C. A., Martin, J. S., Robertson, A., Trushell, D. M. I., Ingham, P. W., Whyte, M. K. B., & Renshaw, S. A. (2010). Pivotal Advance: Pharmacological manipulation of inflammation resolution during spontaneously resolving tissue neutrophilia in the zebrafish. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 87(2), 203-212. doi:10.1189/jlb.0409255
- Lutfi, E., Berge, G. M., Bæverfjord, G., Sigholt, T., Bou, M., Larsson, T., Mørkøre, T., Evense, Ø., Sissener, N. H., Rosenlud, G., Sveen, L., Østbye, T.-K., & Ruyter, B. S. (2022). Increasing dietary levels of the omega-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids, EPA and DHA, improves the growth, welfare, robustness, and fillet quality of Atlantic salmon in sea cages. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 129(1), 1-48. doi: 10.1017/S0007114522000642
- Løken, O. M., Bjørgen, H., Hordvik, I., & Koppang, E. O. (2020). A teleost structural analogue to the avian bursa of Fabricius. *Journal of Anatomy*, 236(5), 798-808. doi:10.1111/joa.13147
- Løvoll, M., Alarcón, M., Bang Jensen, B., Taksdal, T., Kristoffersen, A. B., & Tengs, T. (2012). Quantification of piscine reovirus (PRV) at different stages of Atlantic salmon Salmo salar production. Diseases of Aquatic Organsims, 99(1), 7-12. doi:10.3354/dao02451
- Ma, J., Bruce, T. J., Jones, E. M., & Cain, K. D. (2019). A Review of Fish Vaccine Development Strategies: Conventional Methods and Modern Biotechnological Approaches. *Microorganisms*, 7(11), 569. doi:10.3390/microorganisms7110569

- Maehr, T., Costa, M. M., Gonzalez Vecino, J. L., Wadsworth, S., Martin, S. A. M., Wang, T., & Secombes, C. J. (2013). Transforming growth factor- beta 1b: A second TGF- beta 1 paralogue in the rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) that has a lower constitutive expression but is more responsive to immune stimulation. *Fish & Shellfish immunology*, 34(2), 420-432. doi:10.1016/j.fsi.2012.11.011
- Magnadottir, B. (2006). Innate immunity of fish (overview). Fish & Shellfish Immunology, 20(2), 137-151. doi:10.1016/j.fsi.2004.09.006
- Malik, M. S., Bjørgen, H., Dhamotharan, K., Wessel, Ø., Koppang, E. O., Di Cicco, E., Hanse, E. F.,
 Dahle, M. K., & Rimstad, E. (2019). Erythroid Progenitor Cells in Atlantic Salmon (Salmo salar)
 May Be Persistently and Productively Infected with Piscine Orthoreovirus (PRV). Viruses, 11(9), 824. doi:10.3390/v11090824
- Malik, M. S., Bjørgen, H., Nyman, I. B., Wessel, Ø., Koppang, E. O., Dahle, M. K., & Rimstad, E. (2021a). PRV-1 Infected Macrophages in Melanized Focal Changes in White Muscle of Atlantic Salmon (*Salmo salar*) Correlates With a Pro-Inflammatory Environment. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *12*, 664624-664624. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2021.664624
- Malik, M. S., Nyman, I. B., Wessel, Ø., Dahle, M. K., & Rimstad, E. (2021b). Dynamics of Polarized Macrophages and Activated CD8 + Cells in Heart Tissue of Atlantic Salmon Infected With Piscine Orthoreovirus-1. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *12*, 729017-729017. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2021.729017
- Malik, M. S., Teige, L. H., Braaen, S., Olsen, A. B., Nordberg, M., Amundsen, M., Dhamotharan, K., Svenning, S., Edholm, M. M., Takano, T., Jørgesen, J. B., Wessel, Ø., Rimstad, E., & Dahle, M. K. (2021c). Piscine Orthoreovirus (PRV)-3, but Not PRV-2, Cross-Protects against PRV-1 and Heart and Skeletal Muscle Inflammation in Atlantic Salmon. *Vaccines*, 9(3), 230. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines9030230
- Manseth, E., Skjervold, P. O., Fjæra, S. O., Brosstad, F. R., Bjørnson, S., & Flengsrud, R. (2004). Purification and characterization of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) fibrinogen. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 138(2), 169-174. doi:10.1016/j.cbpc.2004.03.007
- Mantegazza, A. R., Magalhaes, J. G., Amigorena, S., & Marks, M. S. (2013). Presentation of Phagocytosed Antigens by MHC Class I and II. *Traffic, 14*(2), 135-152. doi:10.1111/tra.12026
- Maricic, M. (2008). Osteomalacia. *Current Osteoporos Reports, 6*(4), 130-133. doi:10.1007/s11914-008-0023-7
- Markussen, T., Dahle, M. K., Tengs, T., Løvoll, M., Finstad, Ø. W., Wiik-Nielsen, C. R., Grove, S., Lauksund, S., Robertsen, B., & Rimstad, E. (2013). Sequence analysis of the genome of piscine orthoreovirus (PRV) associated with heart and skeletal muscle inflammation (HSMI) in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). *PLoS ONE, 8*(7), e70075-e70075. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0070075
- Martin, P., & Feng, Y. (2009). Inflammation Wound healing in zebrafish. *Nature, 459*(7249), 921-923. doi:10.1038/459921a
- Martinez-Rubio, L., Morais, S., Evensen, Ø., Wadsworth, S., Ruohonen, K., Vecino, J. L. G., Bell, J. G., & Tocher, D. R. (2012). Functional feeds reduce heart inflammation and pathology in Atlantic Salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) following experimental challenge with Atlantic salmon reovirus (ASRV). *PLoS ONE*, 7(11), e40266-e40266. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0040266
- Massimino, M. L., Rapizzi, E., Cantini, M., Libera, L. D., Mazzoleni, F., Arslan, P., & Carraro, U. (1997). ED2+ Macrophages Increase Selectively Myoblast Proliferation in Muscle Cultures. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 235(3), 754-759. doi:10.1006/bbrc.1997.6823
- Matschak, T. W., Hopcroft, T., Mason, P. S., Crook, A. R., & Stickland, N. C. (1998). Temperature and oxygen tension influence the development of muscle cellularity in embryonic rainbow trout. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 53(3), 581-590. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8649.1998.tb01003.x

- Matschak, T. W., & Stickland, N. C. (1995). The growth of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) myosatellite cells in culture at two different temperatures. *Experientia*, *51*(3), 260-266. doi:10.1007/BF01931109
- McLennan, I. S. (1993). Resident macrophages (ED2- and ED3 positive) do not phagocytose degenerating rat skeletal muscle fibres. *Cell & Tissue Research, 272*(1), 193-196. doi:10.1007/BF00323586
- McLoughlin, M. F., & Graham, D. A. (2007). Alphavirus infections in salmonids a review. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, *30*(9), 511-531. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2761.2007.00848.x
- Merly, F., Lescaudron, L., Rouaud, T., Crossin, F., & Gardahaut, M. F. (1999). Macrophages enhance muscle satellite cell proliferation and delay their differentiation. *Muscle Nerve*, 22(6), 724-732. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-4598(199906)22:6<724::AID-MUS9>3.0.CO2-O
- Meseguer, J., Lopez-Ruiz, A., & Esteban, M. A. (1994). Melano-macrophages of the seawater teleosts, sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) and gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata*) : morphology, formation and possible function. *Cell and Tissue Research, 277*(1), 1-10. doi:10.1007/BF00303074
- Meunier, F. J. (2002). Types of calcified structures: C. Skeleton. In J. Panfili, H. de Potual, H. Troadec,
 P. J. Wright (Eds.), *Manual of Fish Sclerochronology* (pp 65- 87). Brest, France: Ifremer-IRD coedition, 464 p. ISBN 2-84433-067-3
- Midtlyng, P. J. (2022). Chapter 19: Current Use and Need for New Fish Vaccines. In K. Buchmann & C. J. Secombes (Eds.) *Principles of Fish Immunology*. (pp. 599-608). Switzerland: Switzerland: Springer International Publishing AG.
- Midtlyng, P. J., & Lillehaug, A. (1998). Growth of Atlantic salmon Salmo salar after intraperitoneal administration of vaccines containing adjuvants. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, 32(2), 91-97. doi:10.3354/dao032091
- Midtlyng, P. J., Reitan, L. J., & Speilberg, L. (1996). Experimental studies on the efficacy and sideeffects of intraperitoneal vaccination of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) against furunculosis. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, 6(5), 335-350. doi:10.1006/fsim.1996.0034
- Mizoguchi, T., & Ono, N. (2021). The diverse origin of bone-forming osteoblasts. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, *36*(8), 1432-1447. doi:10.1002/jbmr.4410
- Moen, T., Baranski, M., Sonesson, A. K., & Kjøglum, S. (2009). Confirmation and fine-mapping of a major QTL for resistance to infectious pancreatic necrosis in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*): population-level associations between markers and trait. *BMC Genomics*, 10(1), 368-368. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-10-368
- Moens, P., Baatsen, P. H. W. W., & Marechal, G. (1993). Increased susceptibility of EDL muscles from mdx mice to damage induced by contractions with stretch. *Journal of Muscle Research and Cell Motility*, 14(4), 446-451. doi:10.1007/BF00121296
- Mohagheghpour, N., Waleh, N., Garger, S. J., Dousman, L., Grill, L. K., & Tusé, D. (2000). Synthetic Melanin Suppresses Production of Proinflammatory Cytokines. *Cellular Immunology*, 199, 25-36. doi:10.1006/cimm.1999.1599
- Montero, D., Blazer, V. S., Socorro, J., Izquierdo, M. S., & Tort, L. (1999). Dietary and culture influences on macrophage aggregate parameters in gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata*) juveniles. *Aquaculture*, *179*(1), 523-534. doi:10.1016/S0044-8486(99)00185-4
- Montero, D., Mathlouthi, F., Tort, L., Afonso, J. M., Torrecillas, S., Fernández-Vaquero, A., Negrin, D., & Izquierdo, M. S. (2010). Replacement of dietary fish oil by vegetable oils affects humoral immunity and expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines genes in gilthead sea bream *Sparus aurata*. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology, 29*(6), 1073-1081. doi:10.1016/j.fsi.2010.08.024
- Moreiras, H., Bento-Lopes, L., Neto, M. V., Escrevente, C., Cabaço, L. C., Hall, M. J., Ramalho, J. S., Seabra, M. C., & Barral, D. C. (2022). Melanocore uptake by keratinocytes occurs through phagocytosis and involves protease-activated receptor-2 internalization. *Traffic, 23*(6), 331-345. doi:10.1111/tra.12843

- Moss, M. L. (1962). Studies of the acellular bone of teleost fish. II. Response to fracture under normal and acalcemic conditions. *Acta Anatomica*, *48*, 46-60. doi:10.1159/000141826
- Moss, M. L. (1963). The biology of acellular teleost bone. *Annals New York Academy of Sciences* 31(109), 337-350. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.1963.tb13475
- Mozzetta, C., Consalvi, S., Saccone, V., Tierney, M., Diamantini, A., Mitchell, K. J., Marazzi, G., Borsellino, G., Battistini, L., Sassoon, D., Sacco, A., & Puri, P. L. (2013). Fibroadipogenic progenitors mediate the ability of HDAC inhibitors to promote regeneration in dystrophic muscles of young, but not old Mdx mice. *EMBO Molecular Medicine*, 5(4), 626-639. doi:10.1002/emmm.201202096
- Muhlfeld, C. C., Dauwalter, D. C., D'Angelo, V. S., Ferguson, A., Giersch, J. J., Impson, D., Koizumi, I., Kovach, R., McGinnity, P., Schöffmann, J., Vøllestad, L. A., Epifanio, E. (2019). Global Status of Trout and Char: Conservation Challenges in the Twenty-First Century. In J. L. Kershner, J. E. Williams, R. E. Gresswell, J. Lobon-Cervia (Eds.), *Trout and Char of the World* (pp. 717-760). American Fisheries Society. ISBN: 978-1-934874-54-7
- Muñoz-Cánoves, P., & Serrano, A. L. (2015). Macrophages decide between regeneration and fibrosis in muscle. *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism, 26*(9), 449-450. doi:10.1016/j.tem.2015.07.005
- Mutoloki, S., Reite, O. B., Brudeseth, B., Tverdal, A., & Evensen, Ø. (2006). A comparative immunopathological study of injection site reactions in salmonids following intraperitoneal injection with oil-adjuvanted vaccines. *Vaccine*, 24(5), 578-588. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2005.08.070
- Mørkøre, T. (2012). *Filet av oppdrettslaks: Kvalitetsavvik og årsakssammenhenger*. Nofima Report 17/2012. Retrieved from https://www.fhf.no/prosjekter/prosjektbasen/900339/
- Mørkøre, T., Larsson, T., Jiménez-Guerrero, R., Moreno, H. M., Borderias, J., Ruyter, B. S., Standal, I. B., Sarno, A., Evensen, Ø., Dessen, J.- E., Rørvik, K.- A., Hamre, K., Andersen, Ø., Wakamatsu, K., Ito, S., Gannestad, K. H., Xu, C., Østbye, T.- K., Hillestad, B., Torgersen, J., & Bæverfjord, G. (2022). *EX-spot: Mørke flekker i laksefilet. Årsak til dannelse og tiltak som hemmer utvikling*. In Nofima Report 27/2022. Retrieved from https://www.fhf.no/prosjekter/prosjektbasen/901487/
- Mørkøre, T., Larsson, T., Kvellestad, A. S., Koppang, E. O., Åsli, M., Krasnov, A., Desse, J-E., Moreo, H.
 M., Valen, E., Ganestad, K., Gjerde, B., Taksdal, T., Bæverfjord, G., Meng, Y., Heia, K., Wold, J.
 P., Borderias, A. J., Moghadam, H., Romarheim, O. H. & Rørvik, K. A. (2015). Mørke flekker i laksefilet. Kunnskapsstatus og tiltak for å begrense omfanget (Melanised changes in salmon fillet. Knowledge status and efforts to limit their occurrence). In Nofima report 34/2015.
- Nag, A. C. (1972). Ultrastructure and adenosine triphosphatase activity of red and white muscle fibers of the caudal region of a fish, *Salmo gairdneri*. *Journal of Cell Biology 55*(1), 42-57. doi:10.1083/jcb.55.1.42
- Nakamura, H. & Shimozawa, A. (1994). Phagocytotic cells in the fish heart. Archives of Histology and Cytology, 57(4), 415-425. doi: 10.1679/aohc.57.415
- Nakanishi, T., Toda, H., Shibasaki, Y., & Somamoto, T. (2011). Cytotoxic T cells in teleost fish. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology, 35*(12), 1317-1323. doi:10.1016/j.dci.2011.03.033
- Nanton, D. A., Vegusdal, A., Rørå, A. M. B., Ruyter, B., Baeverfjord, G., & Torstensen, B. E. (2007). Muscle lipid storage pattern, composition, and adipocyte distribution in different parts of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) fed fish oil and vegetable oil. *Aquaculture, 265*(1), 230-243. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2006.03.053
- Nelson, R. T., McLoughlin, M. F., Rowley, H. M., Platten, M. A., & McCormick, J. I. (1995). Isolation of a toga-like virus from farmed Atlantic salmon Salmo salar with pancreas disease. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms, 22(1), 25-32. doi:10.3354/dao022025
- Nicoletta, S., Giambattista, B., Chrysovalentinos, P., Robert, V.-A., Fernando de la, G., & Aldo, C. (2015). Fin Spine Bone Resorption in Atlantic Bluefin Tuna, *Thunnus thynnus*, and

Comparison between Wild and Captive-Reared Specimens. *PLoS ONE, 10*(3), e0121924. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0121924

- Nie, C.-H., Wan, S.-M., Liu, Y.-L., Liu, H., Wang, W.-M., Gao, Z.-X., & Nie, C.-H. (2019). Development of Teleost Intermuscular Bones Undergoing Intramembranous Ossification Based on Histological-Transcriptomic-Proteomic Data. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 20(19). doi:10.3390/ijms20194698
- Nijhuis, W. H., Eastwood, D. M., Allgrove, J., Hvid, I., Weinans, H. H., Bank, R. A., & Sakkers, R. J. (2019). Current concepts in osteogenesis imperfecta: bone structure, biomechanics and medical management. *Journal of Children's Orthopaedics*, 13(1), 1-11. doi:10.1302/1863-2548.13.180190
- Noble, C., Gismervik, K., Iversen, M. H., Kolarevic, J., Nilsson, J., Stien, L. H. & Turnbull, J., & Turbull, J. F. (2020). Velferdsindikatorer for regnbueørret i oppdrett: Hvordan vurdere og dokumentere fiskevelferd. 309 pp. Nofima Project 901157. ISBN 978-82-8296-638-2
- Noga, E. J., Dykstra, & M. J., Wright, J. F. (1989). Chronic Inflammatory Cells with Epithelial Cell Characteristics in Teleost Fishes. *Veterinary Pathology*, *25*(5), 429-437. doi:10.1177/030098588902600508
- Norwegian Seafood Council (2021, November 18). The success recipe for eradicating antibiotics in Norwegian salmon farming. Retrieved from Norwegian Seafood Council: https://en.seafood.no/news-and-media/news-archive/the-success-recipe-for-eradicatingantibiotics-in-norwegian-salmonfarming/#:~:text=%E2%80%9CThe%20use%20of%20antibiotics%20in,and%20healthy%20ch
- oice%20to%20eat.%E2%80%9D Norwegian Seafood Council. (2023, October 25). *Yearly exports from Norway*. Retrieved from https://en.seafood.no/market-insight/norwegian-trade/year/
- Novak, M. L., Weinheimer-Haus, E. M., & Koh, T. J. (2014). Macrophage activation and skeletal muscle healing following traumatic injury. *Journal of Pathology*, 232(3), 344-355. doi:10.1002/path.4301
- O'Rourke, R. W. M. D. F. (2009). Inflammation in obesity-related diseases. *Surgery, 145*(3), 255-259. doi:10.1016/j.surg.2008.08.038
- Odgren, P. R., Witwicka, H., & Reyes-Gutierrez, P. (2016). The cast of clasts: catabolism and vascular invasion during bone growth, repair, and disease by osteoclasts, chondroclasts, and septoclasts. *Connective Tissue Research*, *57*(3), 161-174. doi:10.3109/03008207.2016.1140752
- Olsen, A. B., & Dahle, M. (2023). Fish Health Report 2022: Heart and skeletal muscle inflammation (HSMI) in Atlantic salmon and HSMI-related disease in rainbow trout. Retrieved from www.vetinst.no: https://www.vetinst.no/rapporter-ogpublikasjoner/rapporter/2023/fiskehelserapporten-2022
- Olsen, A. B., Hjortaas, M., Tengs, T., Hellberg, H., & Johansen, R. (2015). First Description of a New Disease in Rainbow Trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum) Similar to Heart and Skeletal Muscle Inflammation (HSMI) and Detection of a Gene Sequence Related to Piscine Orthoreovirus (PRV). *PLoS ONE*, 10(7), e0131638. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0131638
- Olsen, R. E., Loevaas, E., & Lie, O. (1999). The influence of temperature, dietary polyunsaturated fatty acids, alpha -tocopherol and spermine on fatty acid composition and indices of oxidative stress in juvenile Arctic char, *Salvelinus alpinus* (L.). *Fish Physiology and Biochemistry*, 20(1), 13-29. doi:10.1023/A:1007767827996
- Ooi, C. K., Haddy, J., Nowak, B., Lyle, J., Mai, Y., McLean, H., & Lewis, T. (2022). Links between elevated zinc levels, diet and muscle melanisation in sand flathead (*Platycephalus bassensis*) from polluted estuaries. *Environmental Advances*, 7, 100177. doi:10.1016/j.envadv.2022.100177

- Ooi, C. K., Ware, M., Lewis, T., Lyle, J., & Nowak, B. F. (2019). Muscle melanisation in sand flathead (*Platycephalus bassensis*) and links to elevated zinc levels.*Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 149, 110493-110493. doi:10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.110493
- Ortega-Villaizan, M. d. M., Coll, J., & Rimstad, E. (2022). Editorial: The role of red blood cells in the immune response of fish. *Frontiers in Immunology, 13*, 1005546-1005546. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2022.1005546
- Ostland, V. E., McGrogan, D. G., & Ferguson, H. W. (1997). Cephalic osteochondritis and necrotic scleritis in intensively reared salmonids associated with Flexibacter psychrophilus. *Journal of Fish Diseases, 20*(6), 443-451. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2761.1997.00323.x
- Overstreet, R. M., & Thulin, J. (1989). Response by Plectropomus-Leopardus and Other Serranid Fishes to Pearsonellum-Corventum (*Digenea, Sanguinicolidae*), Including Melanomacrophage Centers in the Heart. *Australian Journal of Zoology, 37*(1), 129-142. doi:10.1071/ZO9890129
- Overturf, K., Barrows, F. T., Hardy, R. W., Brezas, A., & Dumas, A. (2016). Energy composition of diet affects muscle fiber recruitment, body composition, and growth trajectory in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Aquaculture, 457, 1-14. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2016.02.002
- Padmapriya, A. R., & Lakshmi, T. A. (2021). Differential Stains For Histological Analysis (Enamel,Dentin,Cementum) Of Teeth And Bone Using Van Gieson And Masson's Trichrome Stain. Natural Volatiles & Essential Oils, 8(5), 6661-6669. ISSN: 2148-9637
- Palacios, G., Lovoll, M., Tengs, T., Hornig, M., Hutchison, S., Hui, J., Kongtorp, R.-T, Savji, N., Bussetti, A. V., Solovyov, A., Kristoffersen, A. B., Celone, C., Street, C., Trifonov, V., Hirschberg, D. L., Rabadan, R., Egholm, M., Rimstad, E., & Lipkin, W. I. (2010). Heart and skeletal muscle inflammation of farmed salmon is associated with infection with a novel reovirus. *PLoS ONE*, 5(7), e11487-e11487. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0011487
- Palić, D., Ostojić, J., Andreasen, C. B., & Roth, J. A. (2007). Fish cast NETs: Neutrophil extracellular traps are released from fish neutrophils. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology, 31*(8), 805-816. doi:10.1016/j.dci.2006.11.010
- Pasarica, M., Sereda, o. R., Redman, L. M., Albarado, D. C., Hymel, D. T., Roan, L. E., Rood, J. C., Burk, D. H., & Smith, S. R. (2009). Reduced Adipose Tissue Oxygenation in Human Obesity:
 Evidence for Rarefaction, Macrophage Chemotaxis, and Inflammation Without an Angiogenic Response. *Diabetes*, *58*, 718-725. doi:10.2337/db08-1098
- Patterson, C., & Johnson, G. D. (1995). The Intermuscular Bones and Ligaments of Teleostean Fishes. Smithsonian Contributions to Zoology, 559, 1-83. doi: 10.5479/si.00810282.559
- Perry, W. B., Solberg, M. F., Besnier, F., Dyrhovden, L., Matre, I. H., Fjelldal, P. G., Ayllon, F., Creer, S., Llewellyn, M., Taylor, M. I., Carvalho, G., & Glover, K. A. (2019). Evolutionary drivers of kype size in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*): domestication, age and genetics. *R Soc Open Sci, 6*(4), 190021-190021. doi:10.1098/rsos.190021
- Persson, P., Björnsson, B. T., & Takagi, Y. (1999). Characterization of morphology and physiological actions of scale osteoclasts in the rainbow trout. *Journal of Fish Biology, 54*(3), 669-684. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8649.1999.tb00645.x
- Pham, P. H., Misk, E., Papazotos, F., Jones, G., Polinski, M. P., Contador, E., Russell, S., Garver, K. A., Lumsden, J. S., & Bols, N. C. (2020). Screening of Fish Cell Lines for Piscine Orthoreovirus-1 (PRV-1) Amplification: Identification of the Non-Supportive PRV-1 Invitrome. *Pathogens (Basel)*, 9(10), 833. doi:10.3390/pathogens9100833
- Pignatelli, J., Castro, R., González Granja, A., Abós, B., González, L., Jensen, L. B., & Tafalla, C. (2014). Immunological characterization of the teleost adipose tissue and its modulation in response to viral infection and fat-content in the diet. *PLoS ONE, 9*(10), e110920-e110920. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0110920
- Plouffe, D. A., Hanington, P. C., Walsh, J. G., Wilson, E. C., & Belosevic, M. (2005). Comparison of select innate immune mechanisms of fish and mammals. *Xenotransplantation*, 12(4), 266-277. doi:10.1111/j.1399-3089.2005.00227.x

- Pooley, N. J., Tacchi, L., Secombes, C. J., & Martin, S. A. M. (2013). Inflammatory responses in primary muscle cell cultures in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). *BMC Genomics*, 14(1), 747-747. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-14-747
- Poppe, T. T., & Breck, O. (1997). Pathology of Atlantic salmon Salmo salar intraperitoneally immunized with oil-adjuvanted vaccine. A case report. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms, 29(3), 219-226. doi:10.3354/dao029219
- Poss, K. D., Wilson, L. G., & Keating, M. T. (2002). Heart Regeneration in Zebrafish. *Science*, 298(5601), 2188-2190. doi:10.1126/science.1077857
- Press, C. M., & Evensen, Ø. (1999). The morphology of the immune system in teleost fishes. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, *9*(4), 309-318. doi:10.1006/fsim.1998.0181
- Purcell, M. K., LaPatra, S. E., Woodson, J. C., Kurath, G., & Winton, J. R. (2010). Early viral replication and induced or constitutive immunity in rainbow trout families with differential resistance to Infectious hematopoietic necrosis virus (IHNV). *Fish & Shellfish Immunology, 28*(1), 98-105. doi:10.1016/j.fsi.2009.10.005
- Purcell, M. K., Powers, R. L., Taksdal, T., McKenney, D., Conway, C. M., Elliott, D. G., Pollinski, M., Garver, K., & Winton, J. (2020). Consequences of *Piscine orthoreovirus* genotype 1 (PRV-1) infections in Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*), coho salmon (*O. kisutch*) and rainbow trout (*O. mykiss*). Journal of Fish Diseases, 43(7), 719-728. doi:10.1111/jfd.13182
- Randhawa, M., Huff, T., Valencia, J. C., Younossi, Z., Chandhoke, V., Hearing, V. J., & Baranova, A. (2009). Evidence for the ectopic synthesis of melanin in human adipose tissue. *FASEB Journal*, 23(3), 835-843. doi:10.1096/fj.08-116327
- Raynaud-Messina, B., Verollet, C., & Maridonneau-Parini, I. (2019). The osteoclast, a target cell for microorganisms. *Bone*, *127*, 315-323. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2019.06.023
- Reite, O. B., & Evensen, Ø. (2006). Inflammatory cells of teleostean fish: A review focusing on mast cells/eosinophilic granule cells and rodlet cells. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology, 20*(2), 192-208. doi:10.1016/j.fsi.2005.01.012
- Rescan, P. Y. (2008). New insights into skeletal muscle development and growth in teleost fishes. Journal of Experimental Zoology Part B: Molecular and Developmental Evolution, 310(7), 541-548. doi:10.1002/jez.b.21230
- Riley, P. A. (1997). Melanin. International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology, 29(11), 1235-1239. doi:10.1016/S1357-2725(97)00013-7
- Roberts, R. J. (1975). Melanin-Containing Cells of Teleost Fish. In W. E. Riebelin, Migaki, G. (Eds.), *The Pathology of Fishes* (pp. 399–428). Madison, WI: University of Wisconsin Press.
- Roberts, R. J., & Rodger, H. D. (2012). Chapter 3: The Pathophysiology and Systemic Pathology of Teleosts. In R. J. Roberts (Ed.) *Fish Pathology* (4th ed.) (pp. 62-143). Chichester: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Roberts, R. J., & Agius, C. (2008). Pan-steatitis in farmed northern bluefin tuna, *Thunnus thynnus* (L.), in the eastern Adriatic. Journal of Fish Diseases, *31*(2), 83-88. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2761.2007.00901.x
- Roberts, R. J., Hardy, R. W., & Sugiura, S. H. (2001). Screamer disease in Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L., in Chile. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 24(9), 543-549. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2761.2001.00328.x
- Roberts, R. J., MacQueen, A., Shearer, W. M., Young, H. (1973a). The histopathology of salmon tagging I. The tagging lesion in newly tagged parr. *Journal of Fish Biology, 5*, 497-503. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8649.1973.tb04479.x
- Roberts, R. J., MacQueen, A., Shearer, W. M., & Young, H. (1973b). The histopathology of salmon tagging II. The chronic tagging lesion in returning adult fish. *Journal of Fish Biology, 5*, 615-619. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8649.1973.tb04495.x
- Roberts, R. J., Richards, R. H., & Bullock, A. M. (1979). Pansteatitis in rainbow trout *Salmo gairdneri* Richardson: a vclinical and histopathological study. *Journal of Fish Diseases, 2*, 85-92. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2761.1979.tb00145.x

- Rolls, G. (2023). An In troduction to Decalcification. Leica Biosystems .Retrieved from https://www.leicabiosystems.com/knowledge-pathway/an-introduction-todecalcification/#:~:text=Decalcifying%20agents%20%E2%80%93%20Chelating%20agents,cry stal%2C%20slowly%20reducing%20its%20size.
- Rosa, J. T., Laizé, V., Gavaia, P. J., & Cancela, M. L. (2021). Fish Models of Induced Osteoporosis. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology*, *9*, 672424-672424. doi:10.3389/fcell.2021.672424
- Rowlerson, A., Radaelli, G., Mascarello, F., & Veggetti, A. (1997). Regeneration of skeletal muscle in two teleost fish: *Sparus aurata* and *Brachydanio rerio*. *Cell & Tissue Research*, 289(2), 311-322. doi:10.1007/s004410050878
- Ruyter, B., Bou, M., Berge, G. M., Mørkøre, T., Sissener, N. H., Sanden, M., Lufti, E., Romarheim, O.-H., Krasov, A., & Østbye, T.-K. K. (2022). A dose-response study with omega-3 rich canola oil as a novel source of docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) in feed for Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) in seawater; effects on performance, tissue fatty acid composition, and fillet quality. *Aquaculture*, 561, 738733. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2022.738733
- Ruyter, B., Sissener, N., Østbye, T.-K. K., Simon, C., Krasnov, A., Bou, M., Sanden, M., Nichols, P. D., Lufti, E., & Berge, G. M. (2019). Omega-3 canola oil effectively replaces fish oil as a new safe dietary source of docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) in feed for juvenile Atlantic salmon.
- Saera-Vila, A., Kasprick, D. S., Junttila, T. L., Grzegorski, S. J., Louie, K. a. W., Chiari, E. F., Kish, P. E., & Kahana, A. (2015). Myocyte Dedifferentiation Drives Extraocular Muscle Regeneration in Adult Zebrafish. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 56(8), 4977-4993. doi:10.1167/iovs.14-16103
- Salinas, I. (2015). The Mucosal Immune System of Teleost Fish. *Biology, 4*(3), 525-539. doi:10.3390/biology4030525
- Salmerón, C. (2018). Adipogenesis in fish. *Journal of Experimental Biology, 221*(Pt Suppl 1). doi:10.1242/jeb.161588
- Sandoval-Guzman, T., Wang, H., Khattak, S., Schuez, M., Roensch, K., Nacu, E., Tazaki, A., Joven, A., Tanatka, E. M., & Simon, A. (2014). Fundamental Differences in Dedifferentiation and Stem Cell Recruitment during Skeletal Muscle Regeneration in Two Salamander Species. *Cell Stem Cell,* 14, 174-187. doi:10.1016/j.stem.2013.11.007
- Santamaria, N., Bello, G., Passantino, L., Di Comite, M., Zupa, R., Pousis, C., Vassallo-Agius, R., Cicirelli, V., Basilone, G., Mangano, S., & Corriero, A. (2018). Micro-anatomical structure of the first spine of the dorsal fin of Atlantic bluefin tuna, *Thunnus thynnus* (Osteichthyes: Scombridae). *Ann Anat, 219*, 1-7. doi:10.1016/j.aanat.2018.03.009
- Saverio, C., Grant, M., Giorgio, B., Incoronata, M., Enzo, C., Emanuela, F., Wang, S., Fortier, M., Greenberg, A. S., & Martin, S. O. (2005). Adipocyte death defines macrophage localization and function in adipose tissue of obese mice and humans. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 46(11), 2347-2355. doi:10.1194/jlr.M500294-JLR200
- Schaffler, M. B., Cheung, W.-Y., Majeska, R., & Kennedy, O. (2014). Osteocytes: Master Orchestrators of Bone. *Calcified Tissue International*, *94*(1), 5-24. doi:10.1007/s00223-013-9790-y
- Schenk, S., Saberi, M., & Olefsky, J., M. (2008). Insulin sensitivity: Modulation by nutrients and inflammation. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 118(9), 2992-3002. doi:10.1172/JCI34260
- Schmidt, J. G., Andersen, E. W., Ersbøll, B. K., & Nielsen, M. E. (2016). Muscle wound healing in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Fish & Shellfish Immunology, 48*, 273-284. doi:10.1016/j.fsi.2015.12.010
- Schwindt, A. R., Truelove, N., Schreck, C. B., Fournie, J. W., Landers, D. H., & Kent, M. L. (2006).
 Quantitative evaluation of macrophage aggregates in brook trout *Salvelinus fontinalis* and rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, 68(2), 101-113. doi:10.3354/da0068101

- Seale, P., Sabourin, L. A., Girgis-Gabardo, A., Mansouri, A., Gruss, P., & Rudnicki, M. A. (2000). Pax7 Is Required for the Specification of Myogenic Satellite Cells. *Cell*, 102(6), 777-786. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)00066-0
- Seger, C., Hargrave, M., Wang, X., Chai, R. J., Elworthy, S., & Ingham, P. W. (2011). Analysis of Pax7 expressing myogenic cells in zebrafish muscle development, injury, and models of disease. *Developmental Dynamics*, 240(11), 2440-2451. doi:10.1002/dvdy.22745
- Shah, K. K., Pritt, B. S., & Alexander, M. P. (2017). Histopathologic review of granulomatous inflammation. *Journal of Clinical Tuberculosis and Other Mycobacterial Diseases*, 7, 1-12. doi:10.1016/j.jctube.2017.02.001
- Shao, T., Zhu, L.-Y., Nie, L., Shi, W., Dong, W.-R., Xiang, L.-X., & Shao, J.-Z. (2015). Characterization of surface phenotypic molecules of teleost dendritic cells. *Developmetal & Comparative Immunology*, 49(1), 38-43. doi:10.1016/j.dci.2014.11.010
- Sichel, G., Scalia, M., Mondio, F., & Corsaro, C. (1997). The Amphibian Kupffer Cells Build and Demolish Melanosomes: An Ultrastructural Point of View. *Pigment Cell Research*, 10(5), 271-287. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0749.1997.tb00687.x
- Siegel, A. L., Gurevich, D. B., & Currie, P. D. (2013). A myogenic precursor cell that could contribute to regeneration in zebrafish and its similarity to the satellite cell. *FEBS Journal, 280*(17), 4074-4088. doi:10.1111/febs.12300
- Sindre, H., Patel, S., Olsen, A. B., & Løkslett, H. (2023). *Fish Health Report 2022: Pancreas Disease* (*PD*). Retrieved from www.vetinst.no: https://www.vetinst.no/rapporter-ogpublikasjoner/rapporter/2023/fiskehelserapporten-2022
- Sindrilaru, A., Peters, T., Wieschalka, S., Baican, C., Peter, H., Hainzl, A., Schatz, S., Qi, Y., Schlecht, A., Weiss, J. M., Wlascheck, M., Sunderkötter, C., & Scharffetter-Kochanek, K. (2011). An unrestrained proinflammatory M1 macrophage population induced by iron impairs wound healing in humans and mice. *Journal of Clinical Investigations*, *121*(3), 985-997. doi:10.1172/JCI44490
- Sissener, N. H., Waagbø, R., Rosenlund, G., Tvenning, L., Susort, S., Lea, T. B., Oaland, Ø., Chen, L., & Breck, O. (2016). Reduced n-3 long chain fatty acid levels in feed for Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) do not reduce growth, robustness or product quality through an entire full scale commercial production cycle in seawater. *Aquaculture, 464*, 236-245. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2016.06.034
- Skurk, T., Alberti-Huber, C., Herder, C., & Hauner, H. (2007). Relationship between Adipocyte Size and Adipokine Expression and Secretion. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 92(3), 1023-1033. doi:10.1210/jc.2006-1055
- Skaala, Ø., Borgstrøm, R., Solberg, M. F., Fiske, P., Hindar, N., Mo, T. A., Sørgrov, H. & Barlaup, B. T. (2020). Regnbueørret (Onchorhynchus mykiss); produksjon og interaksjoner med stedegne arter. Retrieved from Institute of Marie Research:
- https://www.hi.no/hi/nettrapporter/rapport-fra-havforskningen-2020-21 Smith, G. R. & Stearley, R. F. (1989). The Classification and Scientific Names of Rainbow and Cutthroat Trouts. *Fisheries*, *14*(1), *4*-10. doi:10.1577/1548-
 - 8446(1989)014<0004:TCASNO>2.0.CO;2
- Soliman, A. M., & Barreda, D. R. (2022). Acute Inflammation in Tissue Healing. *International Journal* of Molecular Science, 24(1), 641. doi:10.3390/ijms24010641
- Soliman, S. A. (2018). The Growth Cartilage and Beyond: Absence of Medullary Bone in Silver Carp Ribs. *Mathews Journal of Cytology and Histology, 2*(1), 008. ISSN 2577-4158
- Stearley, R. F. & Smith, G. R. (1993). Phylogeny of the Pacific Trouts and Salmons (Oncorhynchus) and Genera of the Family Salmonidae. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 122(1), 1-33. doi:https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8659(1993)122<0001:POTPTA>2.3.CO;2
- Steinel, N. C., & Bolnick, D. I. (2017). Melanomacrophage Centers As a Histological Indicator of Immune Function in Fish and Other Poikilotherms. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *8*, 827-827. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2017.00827

Stéphan, G., Guillaume, J., & Lamour, F. (1995). Lipid peroxidation in turbot (Scophthalmus maximus) tissue: effect of dietary vitamin E and dietary n–6 or n–3 polyunsaturated fatty acids. *Aquaculture*, 130(2), 251-268. doi:10.1016/0044-8486(94)00322-F

- Stickney, H. L., Barresi, M. J. F., & Devoto, S. H. (2000). Somite development in zebrafish. *Developmental Dynamics, 219*(3), 287-303. doi:10.1002/1097-0177(2000)9999:9999<::AID-DVDY1065>3.0.CO2-A
- Stocker, C. W., Haddy, J., Lyle, J., & Nowak, B. F. (2020). Muscle melanisation of southern sand flathead (*Platycephalus bassensis*) in the Tamar Estuary, Tasmania, Australia. *Environmental Pollution*, 256, 113452-113452. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2019.113452
- Suganami, T., & Ogawa, Y. (2010). Adipose tissue macrophages: their role in adipose tissue remodeling. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, *88*(1), 33-39. doi:10.1189/jlb.0210072
- Sullivan, M., Hammond, G., Roberts, R. J., & Manchester, N. J. (2007). Spinal deformation in commercially cultured Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L .: a clinical and radiological study. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 30(12), 745-752. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2761.2007.00889.x
- Sun, B., Robertsen, B., Wang, Z., & Liu, B. (2009). Identification of an Atlantic salmon IFN multigene cluster encoding three IFN subtypes with very different expression properties. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, 33(4), 547-558. doi:10.1016/j.dci.2008.10.001
- Sundaram, K., Sambandam, Y., Shanmugarajan, S., Rao, D. S., & Reddy, S. V. (2017). Measles virus nucleocapsid protein modulates the Signal Regulatory Protein-β1 (SIRPβ1) to enhance osteoclast differentiation in Paget's disease of bone. *Bone Reports*, 7(C), 26-32. doi:10.1016/j.bonr.2016.06.002
- Sørum, U., & Damsgard, B. (2004). Effects of anaesthetisation and vaccination on feed intake and growth in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). *Aquaculture, 232*(1), 333-341. doi:10.1016/S0044-8486(03)00529-5
- Takagi, Y., & Kaneko, T. (1995). Developmental sequence of bone-resorbing cells induced by intramuscular implantation of mineral-containing bone particles into rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss. Cell and Tissue Research, 280*(1), 153-158. doi:10.1007/BF00304520
- Takeyama, K., Chatani, M., Takano, Y., & Kudo, A. (2014). *In-vivo* imaging of the fracture healing in medaka revealed two types of osteoclasts before and after the callus formation by osteoblasts. *Developmental Biology*, 394(2), 292-304. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2014.08.007
- Taksdal, T., Olsen, A. B., Bjerkås, I., Hjortaas, M. J., Dannevig, B. H., Graham, D. A., & McLoughlin, M.
 F. (2007). Pancreas disease in farmed Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L., and rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum), in Norway. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, *30*(9), 545-558. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2761.2007.00845.x
- Taksdal, T., Ramstad, A., Stangeland, K., & Dannevig, B. H. (1998). Induction of infectious pancreatic necrosis (IPN) in covertly infected Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L., post-smolts by stress exposure, by injection of IPN virus (IPNV) and by cohabitation. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 21(3), 193-204. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2761.1998.00092.x
- Thorsen, J., Høyheim, B., & Koppang, E. O. Isolation of the Atlantic salmon tyrosinase gene family reveals heterogenous transcripts in a leukocyte cell line. *Pigment Cell Research, 19,* 327-336. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0749.2006.00319.x
- Thorstad, E. B., Berg, O. K., Hesthagen, T. H., Hindar, K., Norum, I. C. J., Sandlund, O. T., & Saksgård, L. M. (2011b). Småblanken i Namsenvassdraget - faglig grunnlag for handlingsplan. NINA Rapport 660. 33 pp. Retrieved from: https://brage.nina.no/ninaxmlui/handle/11250/2642624
- Thorstad, E. B., Whoriskey, F., Rikardsen, A. H., & Aarestrup, K. (2011a). Aquatic Nomads: The Life and Migration of the Atlantic Salmon. In Ø. Aas, S. Einum, A, Klemetsen, J, Skurdal (Eds.), *Atlantic Salmon Ecology* (pp. 1-23). West Sussex, Po19 85Q, United Kingdom: Blackwell Publishing Ltd.

- Tidball, J. G. & Villalta, S. A. . (2010). Regulatory interactions between muscle and the immune system during muscle regeneration. *American Journal of Physiology- Regulatory, Integrative* and Comparative Physiology, 298, R1173–R1187. doi:10.1152/ajpregu.00735.2009
- Todorčević, M., Kjær, M. A., Djaković, N., Vegusdal, A., Torstensen, B. E., & Ruyter, B. (2009). N-3 HUFAs affect fat deposition, susceptibility to oxidative stress, and apoptosis in Atlantic salmon visceral adipose tissue. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, Part B* 152(2), 135-143. doi:10.1016/j.cbpb.2008.10.009
- Todorcević, M., Skugor, S., Krasnov, A., & Ruyter, B. (2010). Gene expression profiles in Atlantic salmon adipose-derived stromo-vascular fraction during differentiation into adipocytes. *BMC Genomics*, *11*(1), 39-39. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-11-39
- Todorčević, M., Vegusdal, A., Gjøen, T., Sundvold, H., Torstensen, B. E., Kjær, M. A., & Ruyter, B. (2008). Changes in fatty acids metabolism during differentiation of Atlantic salmon preadipocytes; Effects of n-3 and n-9 fatty acids. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta. Molecular and cell biology of lipids*, *1781*(6), 326-335. doi:10.1016/j.bbalip.2008.04.014
- Tomecka, M. J., Ethiraj, L. P., Sánchez, L. M., Roehl, H. H., & Carney, T. J. (2019). Clinical pathologies of bone fracture modelled in zebrafish. *Disease Models & Mechanisms*, 12(9). doi:10.1242/dmm.037630
- Tort, L. & Balasch, J. C. (2022). Chapter 20: Stress and Immunity in Fish. In K. Buchmann & C. J. Secombes (Eds.). *Principles of Fish Immunology*. (pp. 609-655). Switzerland: Switzerland: Springer International Publishing AG.
- Totland, G. K., Fjelldal, P. G., Kryvi, H., Løkka, G., Wargelius, A., Sagstad, A., Hansen, T., & Grotmol, S. (2011). Sustained swimming increases the mineral content and osteocyte density of salmon vertebral bone. *Journal of Anatomy*, 219(4), 490-501. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7580.2011.01399.x
- Trayhurn, P., Wang, B., & Wood, I. S. (2008). Hypoxia in adipose tissue: a basis for the dysregulation of tissue function in obesity? *British Journal of Nutrition*, 100(2), 227-235. doi:10.1017/S0007114508971282
- Twibell, R. G., Gannam, A. L., Barron, J. M., Wing, K., Hanson, K. C., Peterson, D. P., Balmer, B. F., & Nelson, D. (2017). Effects of dietary lipid and light source on steatitis in steelhead, *Oncorhynchus mykiss. Aquaculture, 479*, 370-377. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2017.06.009
- Uezumi, A., Fukada, S., Yamamoto, N., Takeda, S., Rsuchida, K. (2010). Mesenchymal progenitors distinct from satellite cells contribute to ectopic fat cell formation in skeletal muscle. *Nature Cell Biology*, *12*, 143-152.
- Uezumi, A., Ito, T., Morikawa, D., Shimizu, N., Yoneda, T., Segewa, M., Yamaguchi, M., Ogawa, R., Matev, M. M., Miyagoe-Suzuki, Y., Takeda, S., Tsujikawa, K., Tsuchida, K., Yamamoto, H., & Fukada, S. (2011). Fibrosis and adipogenesis originate from a common mesenchymal progenitor in skeletal muscle. *Journal of Cell Science*, *124*(21), 3654-3664. doi:10.1242/jcs.086629
- Valenzuela, C. A., Azúa, M., Álvarez, C. A., Schmitt, P., Ojeda, N., & Mercado, L. (2023). Evidence of the Autophagic Process during the Fish Immune Response of Skeletal Muscle Cells against *Piscirickettsia salmonis. Animals*, 13(5), 880. doi:10.3390/ani13050880
- Valenzuela, C. A., Zuloaga, R., Poblete-Morales, M., Vera-Tobar, T., Mercado, L., Avendaño-Herrera, R., Valdés, & Molina, A. (2017). Fish skeletal muscle tissue is an important focus of immune reactions during pathogen infection. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, 73, 1-9. doi:10.1016/j.dci.2017.03.004
- Veenstra, K. A., Hodneland, K., Fischer, S., Takehana, K., Belmonte, R., & Fischer, U. (2020). Cellular Immune Responses in Rainbow Trout (*Onchorhynchus mykiss*) Following Vaccination and Challenge Against Salmonid Alphavirus (SAV). *Vaccines*, 8(4), 725. doi:10.3390/vaccines8040725
- Veenstra, K. A., Wang, T., Alnabulsi, A., Douglas, A., Russell, K. S., Tubbs, L., Arous, J. B., & Secombes, C. J. (2017). Analysis of adipose tissue immune gene expression after vaccination of rainbow

trout with adjuvanted bacterins reveals an association with side effects. *Molecular Immunology, 88,* 89-98. doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2017.05.026

- Vegusdal, A., Sundvold, H., Gjøen, T., & Ruyter, B. (2003). An in vitro method for studying the proliferation and differentiation of Atlantic salmon preadipocytes. *Lipids*, *38*(3), 289-296. doi:10.1007/s11745-003-1063-3
- Vendramin, N., Kannimuthu, D., Olsen, A. B., Cuenca, A., Teige, L. H., Wessel, Ø., Iburg, T. M., Dahle, M. K., Rimstad, E., & Olesen, N. J. (2019). Piscine orthoreovirus subtype 3 (PRV-3) causes heart inflammation in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Veterinary Research*, 50(1), 14-14. doi:10.1186/s13567-019-0632-4
- Venegas-Calerón, M., Sayanova, O., & Napier, J. A. (2010). An alternative to fish oils: Metabolic engineering of oil-seed crops to produce omega-3 long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids. *Progress in Lipid Research*, 49(2), 108-119. doi:10.1016/j.plipres.2009.10.001
- Villalta, S. A., Nguyen, H. X., Deng, B., Gotoh, T., & Tidball, J. G. (2009). Shifts in macrophage phenotypes and macrophage competition for arginine metabolism affect the severity of muscle pathology in muscular dystrophy. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 18(3), 482-496. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddn376
- Vogel, W. O. P. (2010). Zebrafish and lymphangiogenesis: a reply. *Anatomical Science International,* 85(2), 118-119. doi:10.1007/s12565-010-0077-3
- Wakamatsu, K. & Ito, S. (2021). Chapter 2: Melanins in Vertebrates. In H. Hashumoto, M. Goda, R. Futahasi, R. Kelsh, T. Akiyama (Eds.). *Pigments, Pigment Cells and Pigment Patterns*. Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. doi: 10.1007/978-981-16-1490-3_6
- Walsh, L., Freemont, A. J., & Hoyland, J. A. (1993). The effect of tissue decalcification on mRNA retention within bone for in-situ hybridization studies. *International Journal of Experimental Pathology*, 74(3), 237-241.
- Wang, X., Sathe, A. A., Smith, G. R., Ruf-Zamojski, F., Nair, V., Lavine, K. J., Xing, C., Sealfon, S. C., & Zhou, L. (2020). Heterogeneous origins and functions of mouse skeletal muscle-resident macrophages. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *117*(34), 20729-20740. doi:https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1915950117
- Weigele, J., & Franz-Odendaal, T. A. (2016). Functional bone histology of zebrafish reveals two types of endochondral ossification, different types of osteoblast clusters and a new bone type. *Journal of Anatomy*, 229(1), 92-103. doi:10.1111/joa.12480
- Weil, C., Lefèvre, F., & Bugeon, J. (2013). Characteristics and metabolism of different adipose tissues in fish. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries, 23*(2), 157-173. doi:10.1007/s11160-012-9288-0
- Weisberg, S. P., McCann, D., Desai, M., Rosenbaum, M., Leibel, R. L., & Ferrante Jr., A. W. (2003). Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue. *Journal of Clinical Investigations*, 112(12), 1796-1808. doi:10.1172/JCI200319246
- Weiss, J. S., James, W. D., & Cooper, K. D. (1988). Melanophages in inflammatory skin disease demonstrate the surface phenotype of OKM5+ antigen-presenting cells and activated macrophages. *Journal of he American Academy of Dermatology*, 19(4), 633-641. doi:10.1016/s0190-9622(88)70217-0
- Wen, C.-M. (2016). Development and characterization of a cell line from tilapia head kidney with melanomacrophage characteristics. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, 49, 442-449. doi:10.1016/j.fsi.2016.01.013
- Wennevik, V., Hansen, T. (2022). Topic: Salmon. Retrieved from *Institute of Marine Research*: https://www.hi.no/en/hi/temasider/species/salmon--atlantic
- Wentzel, A. S., Janssen, J. J. E., de Boer, V. C. J., van Veen, W. G., Forlenza, M., & Wiegertjes, G. F. (2020a). Fish Macrophages Show Distinct Metabolic Signatures Upon Polarization. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *11*, 152. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2020.00152
- Wentzel, A. S., Petit, J., van Veen, W. G., Rosenbek Fink, I., Scheer, M. H., Piazzon, C. M., Forlenza, M., Spaink, H. P., & Wiegertjes, G. F. (2020b). Transcriptome sequencing supports a

conservation of macrophage polarization in fish. *Sci Rep, 10*(1), 13470-13470. doi:10.1038/s41598-020-70248-y

- Wessel, Ø., Braaen, S., Alarcon, M., Haatveit, H., Roos, N., Markussen, T., Tengs, T., Dahle, M. K., & Rimstad, E. (2017). Infection with purified *Piscine orthoreovirus* demonstrates a causal relationship with heart and skeletal muscle inflammation in Atlantic salmon. *PLoS ONE*, 12(8), e0183781-e0183781. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0183781
- Wessel, Ø., Haugland, Ø., Rode, M., Fredriksen, B. N., Dahle, M. K., & Rimstad, E. (2018). Inactivated Piscine orthoreovirus vaccine protects against heart and skeletal muscle inflammation in Atlantic salmon. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, *41*(9), 1411-1419. doi:10.1111/jfd.12835
- Weston, J. H., Welsh, M. D., McLoughlin, M. F., & Todd, D. (1999). Salmon Pancreas Disease Virus, an Alphavirus Infecting Farmed Atlantic Salmon, Salmo salar L. Virology, 256(2), 188-195. doi:10.1006/viro.1999.9654
- Williams, G. T., & Williams, W. J. (1983). Granulomatous inflammation-a review. *Journal of Clinical Pathology*, *36*(7), 723-733. doi:10.1136/jcp.36.7.723
- Winkler, T., von Roth, P., Matziolis, G., Schumann, M. R., Hahn, S., Strube, P., Stoltenburg-Didinger, G., Perka, C., Duda, G. ., & Tohtz, S. V. (2011). Time course of skeletal muscle regeneration after severe trauma: Muscle function against the background of MRI and histological findings. *Acta Orthopaedica*, 82(1), 102-111. doi:10.3109/17453674.2010.539498
- Witten, P. E., Fjelldal, P. G., Huysseune, A., McGurk, C., Obach, A., & Owen, M. A. G. (2019). Bone without minerals and its secondary mineralization in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*): the recovery from phosphorus deficiency. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 222(Pt 3). doi:10.1242/jeb.188763
- Witten, P. E., Gil-Martens, L., Huysseune, A., Takle, H., & Hjelde, K. (2009). Towards a classification and an understanding of developmental relationships of vertebral body malformations in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). *Aquaculture, 295*(1), 6-14. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2009.06.037
- Witten, P. E., Hansen, A., & Hall, B. K. (2001). Features of Mono- and Multinucleated Bone Resorbing Cells of the Zebrafish Danio rerio and Their Contribution to Skeletal Development, Remodeling, and Growth. Journal of Morphology, 250, 197-207. doi: 10.1002/jmor.1065
- Witten, P. E., & Hall, B. K. (2002). Differentiation and growth of kype skeletal tissues in anadromous male Atlantic Salmon (*Salmo salar*). *International Journal of Developmental Biology*(46), 719-730.
- Witten, P. E., & Huysseune, A. (2009). A comparative view on mechanisms and functions of skeletal remodelling in teleost fish, with special emphasis on osteoclasts and their function. *Biological Reviews Cambridge Philosophical Society*, 84(2), 315-346. doi:10.1111/j.1469-185X.2009.00077.x
- Witten, P. E., Huysseune, A., & Hall, B. K. (2010). A practical approach for the identification of the many cartilaginous tissues in teleost fish. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology*, 26, 257-262. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0426.2010.01416.x
- Wlodarski, K. H., Brodzikowska, A., & Kuzaka, B. (2014). Are Chondroclasts and Osteoclasts Identical? *Folia Biologica (Kraków), 62*(2). doi:10.3409/fb62 2.143
- Wolke, R. E. (1992). Piscine macrophage aggregates: A review. Annual Review of Fish Diseases, 2, 91-108. doi:10.1016/0959-8030(92)90058-6
- Wu, C., Zhang, Y., Chai, L., & Wang, H. (2017). Histological changes, lipid metabolism and oxidative stress in the liver of Bufo gargarizans exposed to cadmium concentrations. *Chemosphere*, 179, 337-346. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.03.131
- Wu, F. C., Ting, Y. Y., & Chen, H. Y. (2003). Dietary docosahexaenoic acid is more optimal than eicosapentaenoic acid affecting the level of cellular defence responses of the juvenile grouper *Epinephelus malabaricus*. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, *14*(3), 223-238. doi:10.1006/fsim.2002.0433

- Xu, H., Barnes, G. T., Yang, Q., Tan, G., Yang, D., Chou, C. J., Sole, J., Nichols, A., Ross, J. S., Tartaglia, L. A., & Chen, H. (2003). Chronic inflammation in fat plays a crucial role in the development of obesity-related insulin resistance. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *112*(12), 1821-1830. doi:10.1172/JCI200319451
- Yang, W., & Hu, P. (2018). Skeletal muscle regeneration is modulated by inflammation. *Joural of* Orthopaedic Translation, 13, 25-32. doi:10.1016/j.jot.2018.01.002
- Yao, J. (2017). Mechanical properties of the vertebral column and ribs of farmed fish with emphasis on Atlantic Salmon (Master Thesis). Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Ås. http://hdl.handle.net/11250/2455047
- Ytteborg, E., Todorcevic, M., Krasnov, A., Takle, H., Kristiansen, I. Ø., & Ruyter, B. (2015). Precursor cells from Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) visceral fat holds the plasticity to differentiate into the osteogenic lineage. *Biology Open*, 4(7), 783-791. doi:10.1242/bio.201411338
- Zhang, X.-J., Wang, P., Zhang, N., Chen, D.-D., Nie, P., Li, J.-L., & Zhang, Y.-A. (2017). B Cell Functions Can Be Modulated by Antimicrobial Peptides in Rainbow Trout Oncorhynchus mykiss : Novel Insights into the Innate Nature of B Cells in Fish. Frontiers in Immunology, 8, 388-388. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2017.00388
- Zhou, S., Ackman, R. G., & Morrison, C. (1995). Storage of lipids in the myosepta of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). *Fish Physiology and Biochemistry*, *14*(2), 171-178. doi:10.1007/BF00002460
- Zhou, S., Ackman, R. G., & Morrison, C. (1996). Adipocytes and lipid distribution in the muscle tissue of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 53(2), 326-332. doi:10.1139/f95-197
- Ziemkiewicz, N., Hilliard, G., Pullen, N. A., & Garg, K. (2021). The Role of Innate and Adaptive Immune Cells in Skeletal Muscle Regeneration. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22(6), 3265. doi:10.3390/ijms22063265
- Aas, T. S., Åsgård, T., & Ytrestøyl, T. (2022a). Chemical composition of whole body and fillet of slaughter sized Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) and rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) farmed in Norway in 2020. *Aquaculture Reports, 25*, 101252. doi:10.1016/j.aqrep.2022.101252
- Aas, T. S., Åsgård, T., & Ytrestøyl, T. (2022b). Utilization of feed resources in the production of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) in Norway: An update for 2020. *Aquaculture Reports, 26*, 101316. doi:10.1016/j.aqrep.2022.101316

12 ENCLOSED PAPERS I-IV

Ι

DOI: 10.1111/ahe.12900

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



atomia Histologia Embryologia

Anatomical and pathological characteristics of ribs in the Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) and its relevance to soft tissue changes

Malin Brimsholm¹ | Per Gunnar Fjelldal² | Tom Hansen² | Cathrine Trangerud³ | Geir Magne Knutsen⁴ | Charlotte Finstad Asserson⁴ | Erling Olaf Koppang¹ | Håvard Bjørgen¹

¹Unit of Anatomy, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Ås, Norway

²Matre Research Station, Institute of Marine Research, Matredal, Norway

³Unit of Radiology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Ås, Norway

⁴Bremnes Seashore, Bremnes, Norway

Correspondence

Håvard Bjørgen, Unit of Anatomy, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, 1433 Ås, Norway. Email: havard.bjorgen@nmbu.no

Funding information

Fiskeri - og havbruksnæringens forskningsfond, Grant/Award Number: 901501

Abstract

Studies on the anatomical and pathological characteristics of ribs in farmed Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) are warranted due to their possible association with red and melanized focal changes (RFC and MFC) in the fillet, a major quality and animal welfare concern. In this work, we provide an anatomical description of ribs based on radiographical and histological analyses. We also address various pathological rib changes and their association to RFC and MFC. In total, 129 fish were investigated; captured wild (n = 10) and hatchery reared (n = 119) Atlantic salmon (3.5-6.1 kg). The fish were selected based on the macroscopic presence of RFC, MFC or no changes (controls). Radiographic results revealed costal abnormalities in all fish groups. By histological investigations of the variations herein, our results provide new insight into the anatomical characteristics including vascularization within the ribs; a potential site for haemorrhage following costal fractures. Costal fractures were detected by radiology in 40 of 129 samples (RFC: 38.4%, MFC: 47.2%, controls: 9.5 %). A statistically significant association was found between costal fractures and red (p = 0.007) and melanized changes (p = 0.000). However, red and melanized changes were also observed in samples with no costal fractures (n = 45), indicating that also other factors influence the development of RFC/MFC.

KEYWORDS Atlantic salmon, fillet, histology, melanin, radiology, ribs

1 | INTRODUCTION

Teleost bones show many similar morphological traits to mammalian bones. Both mammalian and teleost bone collars are covered by periosteum, and cortical bone is oriented in longitudinal lamellas surrounding a medullar cavity lined with endosteum (Cohen et al., 2012; Davesne et al., 2019; Jiao et al., 2020; Moss, 1961, 1962; Weiss & Watabe, 1979; Witten & Huysseune, 2009). Salmonids are regarded as primitive teleosts (Davesne et al., 2019), in which a characteristic trait is the presence of osteocytes embedded in the lamellar bone classified as cellular bone, as found in mammals (Moss, 1961;Moss, 1963). Advanced teleost species such as tilapia

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes. © 2023 The Authors. Anatomia, Histologia, Embryologia published by Wiley-VCH GmbH.

2 WII_EY _____ Anatomia Histologia Embryologia

(Oreochromis niloticus) and medaka (Oryzias latipes) are classified with acellular bone, that is, bone lacking embedded osteocytes (Boglione et al., 2013; Cohen et al., 2012; Kölliker, 1857; Moss, 1961). Bone formation is performed through perichondral, endochondral or intramembranous ossification and in large teleosts such as the Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar), the presence of spongious bone has been described (Moss, 1961, 1963; Weigele & Franz-Odendaal, 2016; Witten et al., 2000; Witten & Hall, 2002). In contrast to mammals, teleosts have no functional bone marrow in the medullar cavity of the bone (reviewed by Bjørgen & Koppang, 2021). The medullar cavity consists of either chondrocytes or, after resorption of cartilage by chondroclasts, adipose tissue (Boglione et al., 2013; Jiao et al., 2020; Moss, 1963; Weigele & Franz-Odendaal, 2016; Willett et al., 1999; Witten et al., 2001; Witten & Huysseune, 2009).

In teleost fish, the ribs (costae) are part of the axial skeleton, extending from the vertebral bodies in a ventrolateral direction into the sub-peritoneal fascia on both sides of the abdominal cavity (Kryvi & Poppe, 2016; Roberts, 2012). Investigations done on silver carp (Hypophthalmichthys molitrix) have shown that the ribs develop by perichondral ossification with an elongation process through type II endochondral ossification, with no bone tissue formed in the medullar cavity (Soliman, 2018). Together with the thick abdominal musculature and covered by parietal peritoneum, the ribs function as a protective shield for the abdominal organs. They also act as anchors for muscle attachment, thus contributing to the swimming movement of the fish. Although the structure of ribs in fish, including Atlantic salmon, has been described in previous reports (Horton & Summers, 2009; Jiao et al., 2020; Jiménez-Guerrero et al., 2022; Kague et al., 2019; Nie et al., 2017; Patterson & Johnson, 1995; Roberts, 2012; Soliman, 2018), studies on the anatomy of ribs in farmed Atlantic salmon with a broad histological approach are scarce. In farmed salmon and other reared fish species, pathological changes and deformities in bones are not uncommon and have been associated with several production-related factors (Aunsmo et al., 2008; Baeverfjord et al., 1998; Boglione et al., 2014; Eriksen et al., 2006; Gil Martens et al., 2010; Gislason et al., 2010; Martini et al., 2021). Insufficient diet giving phosphorus, ascorbic acid and vitamin D deficiency has been proved to affect bone development and bone weakness in both mammals and teleosts (Baeverfjord et al., 1998; Darias et al., 2011; Roberts et al., 2001). In salmonids, vertebral deformities have been reported as the most frequent skeletal abnormality, with several different malformations in the vertebral column such as lordosis, kyphosis and scoliosis, vertebral fusions and cross-stich vertebra (Fjelldal et al., 2012; Trangerud et al., 2020; Witten et al., 2009). Thus, most studies have focused on changes in the vertebra, and not the ribs.

Costal changes seem especially interesting in relation to the condition termed melanized focal changes (MFC), which is a major quality concern in the fillet of farmed salmon. Such changes are typically restricted to a focal area in the cranio-ventral part of the fillet (Bjørgen et al., 2019), with affected musculature reaching medially from underneath the peritoneum and continuing towards the red musculature laterally. Based on primarily radiological analysis, an association between costal abnormalities and MFC was reported by Jiménez-Guerrero et al. (2022). However, MFC were also found in fish without costal abnormalities, and environmental factors were suggested to be determinant for the development of MFC (Jiménez-Guerrero et al., 2022). The average prevalence of MFC at slaughter is about 20% (Mørkøre et al., 2015), and their occurrence is a reason for downgrading or cassation, leading to substantial economic losses. In the early stage of the condition, a focal haemorrhage occurs in the same restricted area. These changes appear red (macroscopically) and have thus been termed red focal changes (RFC). Histologically, acute necrosis and extra-vasal erythrocytes dominate within the tissue (Bjørgen et al., 2019, 2020). As the RFC develop, the tissue becomes increasingly necrotic and fibrotic, and leukocytes are recruited to the area. Among these are the melanomacrophages, a pigment-producing leukocyte responsible for the discolouration of the fillet. Instead of healing, a chronic granulomatous inflammatory condition may develop, sometimes with wellorganized granulomas (Koppang et al., 2005; Larsen et al., 2012). This state of the condition has been associated with the presence of piscine orthoreovirus 1 (PRV-1) (Bjørgen et al., 2015, 2019). PRV-1 antigen has been shown to be walled off in granulomas, and local replication of PRV-1 is believed to be the driving power of this nonresolving condition (Bjørgen et al., 2020). However, RFC can occur prior to PRV-1 infection (Biørgen et al., 2019), and their initial cause is still unknown. Their restricted focal location argues for an underlying anatomical predisposition, possibly associated with costal injury and/or costal fractures. In mammals, but also in fish, bone fractures can affect the neighbouring soft tissue and can cause haemorrhage (de Haan et al., 2016). This in turn is followed by acute inflammation (Loi et al., 2016: Marsell & Einhorn, 2011: Schindeler et al., 2008). Thus, a similar pathogenesis is possible in salmon, where haemorrhage and acute inflammation following a costal fracture may develop into a chronic, granulomatous inflammation driven by the presence of PRV-1.

The overall aim of this study was to investigate variations in costal anatomy in Atlantic salmon, herein addressing various changes in the ribs and in the neighbouring musculature, possibly leading to the development of RFC/MFC. This was approached by collecting a comprehensive material from different groups of fish including farmed, wild, and experimentally kept fish, where samples of both affected (RFC/MFC) and unaffected musculature were collected. By performing macroscopic, radiographic and histological investigations, we describe the anatomical features, the different pathological changes and the association between such changes and RFC/MFC.

2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Fish origin

Fillets containing ribs were obtained from three different locations in Norway (Table 1). In total, we studied the ribs and adjacent soft tissue in relation to RFC and MFC from 129 individuals.

Fish origin and key information

TABLE 1

Population	Location	Samples (n)	Sea transfer (date)	Harvest (week)	Weight at slaughter (mean)	Vaccination	Diagnosis
1	Bremnes Seashore	40	21.11.2017	21/2019	4.70 kg	Aquavet PD 7 VET	PD, CMS
2	Bremnes Seashore	18	17.03.2018	26/2019	3.50 kg	Alpha Ject Micro 1 PD/6	PD, CMS, HSMI
З	Bremnes Seashore	32	08.09.2019	5/2021	5.99 kg	Alpha Ject Micro 1 PD/6	PD, CMS patraurellosis
4	Bremnes Seashore	Ŷ	21.09.2021	34/2022	4.10kg	Aquavaq 6	Pastaurellosis, mycobacteriosis, PRV ^a , PMCV ^a
J.	Matre Research St.	23	22.05.2018 20.08.2018	36/2019	4.39 kg	Aquavac ó	PRV ^a
6	Drammenselven	6 4	× ×	46/2019 48/2020	6.13 kg 5.1kg	× ×	PRV ^a
^a Virus detected hv	RT-rPCR hut diagnosis no:	t confirmed					

Anatomia Histologia

A total of six different samplings were conducted (population 1–6; Table 1), where population 1–4 were collected at slaughter, originating from a commercial aquaculture facility, Bremnes Seashore, Bømlo, Norway. Population 5 included farmed, wild and farmed X wild hybrid salmon from Matre Research Station, Institute of Marine Research, Matre, Norway. The farmed salmon in this population were of MOWI origin, and the wild salmon were obtained from wild caught parent's eggs and sperm fertilized at the premises in Matre. Hybrids represented a combination of wild and farmed eggs and sperm. After hatching, wild, farmed and hybrid fish were kept under common rearing conditions, i.e., tanks and sea water cages (Debes et al., 2021). Population 6 consisted of wild spawning salmon caught in the river Drammenselven in the eastern part of Norway.

2.2 | Sample handling and macroscopic evaluation

At slaughter, the fillets were sampled based on macroscopic evaluation of the abdominal wall, that is, peritoneum, ribs and adjacent white skeletal muscle. Fillets with no appearent discolouration were sampled as controls. Macroscopic discolouration included RFC and MFC and was graded using the classification system developed by MOWI, with grades from 0 to 3 with increasing severity (Biørgen et al., 2019). The sampling of population 1-4 was conducted by the staff at Bremnes Seashore and shipped on ice to the Norwegian School of Veterinary Science (NMBU), Adamstuen, Oslo. Here, the samples were transferred to buffered formalin for fixation. The samples in population 5 and 6 were also collected at the time of slaughter/spawning and were transferred to formalin immediately after dissection. The weight and length of each fish in these populations were registered prior to dissection. Samples from population 1-4 and 6 included the ribs in their total length, while in population 5, samples were retrieved only from the area with macroscopic discolouration and equivalent areas for controls.

Prior to radiographic investigations, the abdominal walls were palpated to reveal costal abnormalities and fractures. The size of the samples in population 1–4 and 6 were approximately 10×15 cm, as for population 5 the sample size was about 5×6 cm, with some variation. Prior to fixation in buffered formalin, all samples but for population 5 were photographed to record macroscopic information. For further investigations, the samples were grouped according to discolouration and arranged into groups; group A: No macroscopic discolouration; group B: RFC and group C: MFC.

2.3 | Radiographic investigations

Radiographic investigations were conducted at the radiology department at the NMBU premises on Adamstuen, by a direct digital system (SoundEklineSeries DR). The samples were labelled according to population and sample number and then placed on trays in order of correct numbering. The samples from Bremnes were



FIGURE 1 Radiological results, ribs in farmed Altantic salmon (*Salmo salar L*.) lateral aspect. (a) Proximal part of ribs showing axis deviation noted as mild bending of axis. (b) Distal part of ribs showing axis deviations noted as wave shaped ribs. (c) Proximal part of ribs with a central radiolucent medulla. (d) Mid part of ribs with focal radiolucent appearance. Distal parts of ribs are also wave shaped. (e) Mid part of rib with costal fracture. (f) Distal part of ribs with focal thickening noted as callus formations.

FIGURE 2 Atlantic salmon ribs. Schematic illustration of ribs (a), with cross sections showing variations of proximal (b, c), mid (d, e) and distal (f, g) parts. All sections are retrieved from the same individual (farmed salmon). Note the different scale bars in proximal and distal parts. (b) Proximal part, irregular circumference of rib with several large cavities in the cortical bone. Scale bar: 500 µm. (c) Proximal part, higher magnification of section seen in 'b'. Cavities in the cortical bone containing adipocytes. Blood vessels in the medullar cavity. Scale bar: 100 µm. (d) Mid part, round circumference. Medullar cavity with blood vessels. Scale bar: 100 µm. (e) Mid part, round circumference. Medullar cavity containing chondrocytes. Scale bar: 100 µm. (f) Distal part, irregular circumference. No apparent medullar cavity seen. Scale bar: 100 µm. (g) Distal part, round circumference. Medullar cavity containing chondrocytes. Scale bar: 50 µm.

radiographed in groups of 6, while the samples from Matre were radiographed in groups of 12, as the samples were smaller. The first six samples in population 6 were not radiologically examined, and the last four samples were radiographed in one group. After radiography, the samples were returned to buffered formalin to avoid dehydration.

2.4 | Statistical analyzes

To investigate association between costal changes and macroscopic discolouration, a chi-squared test followed by a logistic regression was conducted using STATA (StataCorp. 2019. Stata Statistical Software: Release 16: StataCorp LLC).



FIGURE 3 Histological investigation, group A. Anatomical characteristics of ribs and adjacent soft tissue in farmed and wild Atlantic salmon with no detected costal or adjacent soft tissue changes. All sections are retrieved from wild salmon. (a) Longitudinal section of rib. Hypertrophic chondrocytes in the medullar cavity and adjacent soft tissue, that is, adipose tissue and white skeletal muscle. Scale bar: 500 µm. (b) Longitudinal section. Osteocytes (arrowhead) embedded in the cortical bone, with parallel-oriented lamellae. Periosteum covering the bone collar. Scale bar: 500 µm. (c) Cross section. Chondrocyttic core, cortical bone and adjacent soft tissue surrounding the rib. Scale bar: 100 µm. (d) Cross section. Osteocytes embedded in bone tissue, no apparent osteons. (e) Longitudinal section. Medullar cavity with adipose tissue and a longitudinal oriented blood vessel. Scale bar: 100 µm. (f) Cross section. Medullar cavity with adipose tissue and multiple vessels seen (arrowhead). Scale bar: 100 µm.

2.5 | Histological investigations

Following fixation and radiological investigations, the samples were decalcified in 0.5 M pH 8 EDTA solution (disodium ethylenediaminetetraacetate, 2H2O) for a minimum of five days, according to size. The samples were further sectioned for block preparation to include the area containing RFC or MFC, and/or costal abnormalities revealed by radiographic investigations. Following paraffin embedding performed according to standard procedures, the slides were sectioned in 2 μ m thickness and transferred to glass slides. After incubation at 37°C for 36–48h, the sections were deparaffinized in xylene, rehydrated through alcohol baths and stained according to standard haematoxylin and eosin staining protocols.

2.6 | Pathogen detection

Farmed salmon in population 1–4 originated from larger fish groups at Bremnes Seashore, Bømlo. Registered diagnoses were detected through fish health and pathogen surveillance at the production site (Table 1). In population 5 and 6, samples from spleen were collected on RNA*later* and sent to PatoGen AS, Ålesund, Norway, for RT-qPCR-analysis accredited and validated to ISO7025 standards for the detection of piscine orthoreovirus 1 (PRV-1).

3 | RESULTS

3.1 | Macroscopic evaluation and classification of changes

Macroscopic evaluation was conducted in each population (1-6). In population 1 (Bremnes), six samples contained RFC, 29 samples contained MFC and five samples had no macroscopic discolouration. In population 2 (Bremnes), seven samples contained RFC and 11 samples contained MFC. In population 3 (Bremnes), 12 samples contained RFC, one sample contained MFC and the remaining 19 samples had no macroscopic discolouration. None of the samples in population 4 (Bremnes) showed macroscopic discolouration. In population 5 (Matre), one sample had RFC, 14 samples had MFC, and eight samples showed no macroscopic discolouration. No macroscopic discolouration was detected in population 6 (wild salmon). Changes in population 1, 2 and 3 were located mainly in the ventral area of the abdominal wall. All changes were graded 1-3. Based on macroscopic evaluation, the samples were grouped accordingly: No macroscopic discolouration (group A) n = 48, RFC (group B) n = 26, MFC (group C) n = 55.

In group B, seven samples were classified as grade 3, while the rest showed mild discolouration; nine samples with grade 2 and ten samples with grade 1. Mixed changes (red and melanized combined) were present in three samples, but haemorrhage dominated



FIGURE 4 Histological investigation, group A. Anatomical characteristics of ribs and adjacent soft tissue in farmed and wild Atlantic salmon with no detected costal or adjacent soft tissue changes. (a) Farmed salmon. Distal part of rib containing a zone of proliferative chondrocytes in the medullar cavity. Hyperthrophic chondrocytes seen on the right. Scale bar: $100 \,\mu$ m. (b) Farmed salmon. Rib showing central medulla with abrubt demarcation in the transitional zone. The chondrocytic core is intact prior to the transitional zone. Blood vessels and cell infiltration post transition. Scale bar: $100 \,\mu$ m. (c) Wild salmon. Rib showing area of bone resorption in the cortical bone with an intact chondrocytic core. Note the sparse amount of adipose tissue adjacent to the rib. Scale bar: $500 \,\mu$ m. (d) Wild salmon. Cross section showing rib with adjascent soft tissue facing the abdominal lumen; parietal peritoneum (arrowhead), interstitial connective tissue and elastic fibres. Scale bar: $100 \,\mu$ m. (e) Wild salmon. Cross section of rib showing adjacent blood vessel. Scale bar: $100 \,\mu$ m. (f) Farmed salmon. Nerve located in adipose tissue between myocytes adjacent to rib. Scale bar: $100 \,\mu$ m.

the changes and were thus classified as red. In group C, five samples had grade 1, 18 samples had grade 2 and 32 samples had grade 3 MFC. Costal fractures were only detected in five samples by palpation.

3.2 | Radiographic investigations

Radiographic analysis revealed ribs with changes of different types and distribution. The results ranged from no observable changes to ribs with axis deviations, that is, mild bending of axis and distal wave shaped ribs (Figure 1a,b), radiolucent medulla in proximal to mid areas of the ribs (Figure 1c,d), single or multiple costal fractures (Figure 1e), and focal thickening with varying opacity noted as callus formations (Figure 1f). Different costal changes could be detected within the same sample. In group A (no macroscopic discolouration), 9.5% showed costal fractures. Group B (RFC) had a prevalence of 38.4% costal fractures. In group C (MFC), 47,2% of the fillets had fractured ribs. Costal fractures and callus formations were seen only in farmed salmon.

3.3 | Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was conducted on all radiological findings in relation to macroscopic discolouration. Due to the sample sizes, population 5 was not included in statistical tests on costal changes where the entire length of the rib was required (radiolucent medulla and axis deviations). Ribs with radiolucent medulla and axis deviations were observed in all groups (A, B and C) and showed no statistically significant association with RFC/MFC (p = >0.05). In samples with costal fractures and callus formations, discolouration was often present. There was a statistical significant association between costal fractures in fillets detected by radiography, and fillets containing RFC (OR, p = 0.007) and MFC (OR, p = 0.000). There was no association between callus formations and RFC (p =>0.05); however, there was a statistical significant association between MFC and callus formations (OR, p = 0.000) found on radiographic investigations.

3.4 | Histological investigations

3.4.1 | Anatomical characteristics of Atlantic salmon ribs

The anatomical characteristics of ribs and adjacent soft tissue were characterised in group A (no macroscopic discolouration). The circumference of the rib was round or oval and smooth or irregular shaped based on the position in question (proximal, mid or distal part) (Figure 2a-g). The ribs displayed a central medullar cavity holding hypertrophic chondrocytes, with layers of a cortical bone



FIGURE 5 Histological investigations of rib changes observed on radiography. Mild bending of rib axis (a-c), distal wave shaped ribs (d-f) and radiolucent medulla (g-i). (a) Macroscopic details of fillet, no discolouration of soft tissue present. (b) Radiographic result of fillet showing mild bending of rib axis. (c) Histological changes of rib with mild bending of axis. Resorption cavity seen in the bone tissue. No pathological changes in surrounding soft tissue. Scale bar: 500 µm. (d) Macroscopic details of fillet, no discolouration of soft tissue present. (e) Radiographic results of fillet showing distal wave shaped ribs. (f) Histological changes of rib with wave shaped appearance. Irregular shaped rib, with the chondrocyttic medulla partly visible in the section. Resorption cavity containing blood vessel seen in a longitudinal direction in rib. No pathological changes in adjacent soft tissue. Scale bar: 500 µm. (g) Macroscopic details of fillet, no discolouration of soft tissue present. (h) Radiographic results of fillet showing ribs with radiolucent medulla. (i) Histological changes of rib with radiolucent medulla. The chondrocyttic medulla and surrounding bone tissue appears intact, no pathological changes in neighbouring soft tissue. Scale bar: 500 µm.

surrounding the centrum (Figure 3a). The bone lamellae were presented with a parallel orientation with no apparent osteons and the bone contained osteocytes embedded in bone matrix (Figure 3b). The cortical bone was covered by periosteum, connective tissue and adipose tissue, with white skeletal muscle tissue adjacent to the proximal and mid part of the ribs (Figure 3a,b). In contrast, distal parts of ribs were surrounded by abundant adipose and connective tissue. In general, wild salmon showed sparse amount of adipose tissue adjacent to the ribs compared to farmed salmon. A cross section of the ribs showed all the structures described above, with chondrocytes in the cartilaginous core (Figure 3c,d). Ribs containing adipose tissue in the medullar cavity were also observed, with central blood vessels in the medullar cavity (Figure 3e,f). At the most distal part of the ribs, chondrocytes in the central medulla appeared to be in a proliferative state (Figure 4a). Several samples showed characteristic changes in the medullar cavity, here described as a transitional zone, with resorption of the hyperthrophic chondrocytes and appearance of other cell types, that is, erythrocytes, adipocytes and cellular debris (Figure 4b). In addition, samples could show an intact chondocytic medulla with resorption cavities in the lamellar bone (Figure 4c). Anatomically, as in mammals, the ribs were located in close relation to the peritoneum (Figure 4d) with adjacent vessels and nerves (Figure 4e.f).

3.4.2 | Costal changes – Axis deviations and radiolucent medulla

Due to their occurrence in all groups, ribs with axis deviations and radiolucent medulla on radiography were selected from group A for histological investigations. Mild bending of axis showed no pathological changes in the costal anatomy or surrounding soft tissue



FIGURE 6 Macroscopic, radiographic and histological results of a sample in group B (RFC). (a) Macroscopic evaluation of RFC grade 3 measuring <3 cm, non-pervasive. Stippled square: Radiographic result of area with RFC showing no observable changes in ribs. (b) Histological investigation of area with RFC. No pathological changes in the rib. Neighbouring soft tissue showing degeneration of myocytes and inflammatory cells and haemorrhage. Scale bar: 500 µm. (c, d) Higher magnification (scale bar: 100 µm) of soft tissue inflammation with haemorrhage. degeneration, necrosis and vacuoles present.

(Figure 5a-c). Distal wave shaped ribs were difficult to evaluate in sections, as the rib axis deviated in both lateral/medial and cranial/caudal direction. Nevertheless, the microscopic anatomy of wave shaped ribs was identical to that described in Figure 4a, with proliferative chondrocytes in the medullar cavity (Figure 5d-f). Ribs with radiolucent medulla (Figure 5g,i) on radiography had either a chondrocyttic or an adipocytic medullar cavity, with occational resorption cavities as seen in Figure 4c. No pathological changes were observed in the neighbouring soft tissue.

3.4.3 | Ribs in relation to red focal changes

The histological characteristics of RFC were in line with previous reports (Bjørgen et al., 2015, 2019, 2020), with mild to severe haemorrhage in the soft tissue, necrosis and degeneration of myocytes and infiltration of inflammatory cells. Such findings were not consistently found associated with costal changes (Figure 6a). Herein, affection solely of the adjacent soft tissue at the level of the rib was observed (Figure 6b–d). Other samples contained costal fractures located in the area of the RFC (Figure 7a) but with no affection of the neighbouring soft tissue following histological examination (Figure 7b). Grade 3 RFC could be found without severe costal changes (Figure 7c,d).

3.4.4 | Ribs in relation to melanized focal changes

Group C contained samples of MFC graded from 1 to 3 macroscopically. In radiological investigations, 26 of 55 samples had costal fractures. Sections retrieved from areas containing MFC revealed several different changes histologically, ranging from no histological changes in the bone tissue or neighbouring soft tissue to severe structural changes in both. Histological changes in the soft tissue corresponded to the findings and classification of MFC done by Bjørgen et al. (2019), with changes ranging from mild inflammation and sparse presence of melano-macrophages in the soft tissue to complete loss of skeletal muscle architecture and abundant presence of melano-macrophages, granulomas, fibrosis and inflammation.

As in group B, MFC could have no costal changes on radiology or histology (Figure 8a,b); however, in the adipose tissue of the myosepta near the ribs, melano-macrophages were often found between adipocytes and vessels (Figure 8c,d). Analysis of ribs in MFC could also have similar resorption patterns as seen in samples from group A (Figure 9a-d), but with no apparent affection of the adjacent soft tissue.

When examined by histology, radiographically detected fractures occasionally displayed callus-like structures (Figure 10a-c). Distinct fractures were also observed (Figure 10d-f). These FIGURE 7 Macroscopic, radiographic and histological results of a sample in group B (RFC). (a) Macroscopic evaluation of RFC grade 2 measuring >1 cm (arrow) and RFC grade 3 measuring >3 cm, nonpervasive. Stippled square 1: Radiographic result of RFC grade 2 showing costal fracture (circle). Stippled square 2: Radiographic result of RFC grade 3 showing rib with axis deviation (oval). (b) Histological findings in rib located in area of RFC grade 2. Costal fracture, with no apparent affection of the surrounding soft tissue. Scale bar: 500 µm. (c) Histological findings in RFC grade 3, showing area of soft tissue adjacent to a radiological normal rib with haemorrhage between myocytes and infiltrating inflammatory cells. Degenerated myocytes. Scale bar: 100 µm. (d) Histological findings in rib with axis deviation located in area of RFC grade 3, with no pathological changes in bone structure or in the chondrocyttic core. Adjacent soft tissue is intact. Scale bar: 500 µm.



changes did not consistently correlate with the severity of the MFC (Figure 10d-f); however, samples with grade 3 MFC often showed severe changes in both ribs and adjacent soft tissue (Figure 10g-i). Callus formations were histologically seen as focal thickening of unorganised bone with resorption cavities (Figure 11a-d). Presence of melano-macrophages in adjacent soft tissue was often evident.

4 | DISCUSSION

The rationale for this study was to describe anatomical characteristics of ribs in the Atlantic salmon, and to apply this information in investigating different pathological changes affecting the ribs, and finally, to identify the possible association between costal changes and RFC/MFC. Thus, novel anatomical information provided a basis for the interpretation of different costal changes. Samples of the lateral musculature including ribs were obtained from different groups of Atlantic salmon (wild, farmed and hybrids). The material was categorised by macroscopic evaluation into three different groups: Group A (no macroscopic discolouration), group B (red focal changes/RFC) and group C (melanized focal changes/MFC). All groups were investigated by macroscopical, radiographical and histological analysis. The samples in all groups were radiographed to reveal possible associations between macroscopic discolouration and costal changes. The variations in rib morphology detected by radiographic investigations coincided with the results of Jiménez-Guerrero et al. 2022 and other radiographic investigations on teleost fish (Fjelldal et al., 2020). As both longitudinal radiolucent ribs and axis variations, that is, mild bending and distal wave shape, were observed in all groups, we assume these costal variations to be of non-pathological nature. Thus, such costal variations detected in fish with macroscopic discolouration and/or inflammation in adjacent soft tissue could be a coincidental finding. Costal fractures and callus formations were commonly found in relation to MFC, indicating that such changes may cause MFC. Alternatively, the chronic inflammatory environment in the neighbouring soft tissue may cause the costal bone tissue to deteriorate, leading to altered rib morphology.

In our study, 40 samples were classified with costal fractures by radiographic examination. Costal fractures were only seen in fish kept in captivity, that is, in on-land tanks and sea water cages. Our results suggest that the cause of costal fractures may lie in the rearing conditions (handling, nutrition etc.), or in the genetic differences between farmed and wild fish (Gjedrem et al., 1991; Gjøen & Bentsen, 1997). However, our wild fish material was limited, and six of ten wild fish samples were not radiographed. Other reports

FIGURE 8 Macroscopic, radiographic and histological results of a sample in group C (MFC). (a) Macroscopic evaluation of MFC grade 2, measuring 2 cm, >1 cm deep, non-pervasive. Stippled square: Radiographic results with no observable costal changes. (b) Histological results of area containing MFC. No pathological findings in rib or adjacent soft tissue. A vessel and a nerve are located in close relation to the rib. Scale bar: 500 µm. (c) Vessel and nerve (arrowhead). Melanomacrophages (arrow) in relation to vessel. Scale bar: 100 µm. (d) Melanomacorphages surrounding vacuoles and a vessel in the myoseptal adipose tissue in the area above the rib, towards the peritoneal cavity. Scale bar: 100 µm.

Contraction of the local sector



(a)

(c)

the underlying musculature, while the weaker and softer ribs of Atlantic salmon could bend and break or bend without fracture, both resulting in a local muscle edema caused by restricted blood flow or bleeding caused by fracture. Such forces could be caused by the swelling of the formulated dry pellets fed to farmed Atlantic salmon, which drinks seawater as part of their natural hypo-osmoregulation (Usher et al., 1988).

As ribs are in close proximity to RFC/MFC, costal changes could be an initial cause of RFC and ultimately MFC. This has recently been addressed by Jiménez-Guerrero et al. (2022). By investigating fillets both with and without macroscopic discolouration, we sought to differentiate costal changes related to discolouration, and changes found in all groups, suggesting the latter being normal variations. Association was not detected between macroscopic discolouration and radiolucent medulla and axis deviations. A statistically significant association was found between RFC/MFC and costal fractures detected by radiographic investigations. However, as histological investigations revealed unaffected ribs in the area of the RFC, and vice versa, these findings underline the importance of histological investigations. MFC were also occasionally found without costal changes, thus the underlying cause of macroscopic discolouration cannot be explained by costal fractures alone.

As with costal fractures, focal bone thickening noted as callus formations were only found in salmon held in captivity. In earlier FIGURE 9 Macroscopic, radiographical and histological investigation of a sample in group C (MFC). (a) MFC in sample measuring >3 cm, 2 cm deep, pervasive. Stippled square: Radiographic results of ribs in area of the MFC showing radiolucent medulla in mid part of ribs. (b) Histological characteristics of rib with radiolucent appearance. No pathological changes in surrounding soft tissue. Central medulla of rib showing a transitional zone with removal of hyperthropic chondrocytes. Cavities in the cortical bone adjacent to central medulla showing similar components as the transferred central cavity. Black line: Marked area of cross section in 'd'. Scale bar: 500 µm. (c) Central chondrocyttic medulla with transitional zone. Erythrocytes present post transition. Scale bar: 100 µm. (d) Cross section of area marked with a black line in 'b' showing vessels containing erythrocytes in cavities adjacent to an intact chondrocyttic medulla. Scale bar: 50μm.



reports, findings of focal bone thickening in teleost bones have been noted as hyperostosis, or swollen bone. Based on several observations, such as species-specific patterns and onset timing of development, hyperostosis in teleosts is regarded a non-pathological expansion of bone (Smith-Vaniz et al., 1995). However, a possible link between hyperostosis and bone fractures has been suggested (Fjelldal et al., 2018, 2020; Jawad, 2013). Fjelldal et al. (2020) discovered a high prevalence of site-specific hemal and neural spine calluslike formations in the axial skeleton in wild ballan wrasse (Labrus bergylta), similar to the callus formations in our samples, herein suggesting that a continuous mechanical load may cause the bone to fracture followed by a fracture healing process. Due to the sampling method in our study, we were not able to pinpoint the specific rib (number) in question, as the samples were cropped to include a limited area of the axial skeleton. Thus, site-specific findings were not included in our work. Also, as the size of the hyperostotic structures varies among species and individuals, these structures could in some cases be challenging to distinguish from callus formation only using radiographic investigations. However, due to the association between callus formations and MFC found in our work, it is likely that these changes are the result of a pathological condition in the bone tissue.

By histological investigations, we were able to show anatomical characteristics of Atlantic salmon ribs coinciding with findings in earlier reports, such as osteocyttic bone, longitudinal bone lamella and a chondrocyttic or adipocytic medulla. A transition zone was noted in several ribs. In both wild and farmed fish, multiple longitudinal vessels were found in the adipocyttic medulla post cartilage resorption, and within resorption cavities in the cortical bone with the chondrocyttic core still intact. To our knowledge, such vascularisation of teleost ribs has not been previously described. Resorption cavities in the cortical bone were found both in ribs presented as normal on radiographic investigations, but also in ribs presented with axis deviations and radiolucent medulla. The latter corresponds well with micro-CT results done on thickened salmon rib, herein revealing a thinner compacta with resorptive appearance (Jiménez-Guerrero et al., 2022). As in mammals, bone resorption and vascularisation of bony tissue is a vital part of the bone development and remodelling in teleosts (Benzinou et al., 2002), and resorption activity of both mono- and multinucleated osteoclasts in teleost fish has been well reviewed by Witten and Huysseune (Witten & Huysseune, 2009). In carp and tilapia, Cohen et al. (2012) described an area of woven-like bone structure in the central part of the rib with occasional perforation by the central lumina (Cohen et al., 2012). Interestingly, fish with acellular bone has shown an increase of the hollow medullar cavity correlated with an increase of stiffness of the rib (Horton & Summers, 2009), as is the case in mammals and birds. This might indicate that the resorption of bone in our results is in fact making the



FIGURE 10 Macroscopic, radiographic and histological results of samples in group C (MFC). (a) Macroscopic evaluation of MFC grade 2, measuring >2 cm. (b) Radiographic result of sample in 'a', showing costal fracture (arrow). (c) Histological characteristics of costal fracture seen in 'b'. Loss of normal rib structure, callus-like formation surrounding rib bone collar with an irregular appearance of the longitudinal section of rib. No resorption cavities. No affection of neighbouring soft tissue. Scale bar: 500 µm. (d) Macroscopic evaluation of MFC grade 3, measuring >3 cm, non-pervasive and MFC grade 2, measuring <2 cm (arrow). (e) Radiographic results of sample in 'd', showing costal fracture (arrow). (f) Histological characteristics of costal fracture seen in 'e'. Costal fracture with inflammatory cells present in soft tissue. Adjacent myocytes are degenerated, and melano-macrophages and vacuoles are present in the area of inflammation. Scale bar: 500 µm. (g) Macroscopic evaluation MFC grade 3, measuring >3 cm, 2 cm deep, non-pervasive. (h) Radiographic results of sample in 'g', showing costal fractures (arrowheads). (i) Histological investigations of area containing costal fractures in 'h'. Total loss of normal tissue arcitecture in rib and adjacent soft tissue. Inflammatory cells are present, in addition to melano-macrophages and vacuoles. Degeneration of myocytes is evident. Scale bar: 500 µm.

rib more resistant by adapting to changing stressors, a trait beneficial to the fish. If so, this corresponds to the increased breaking force following increased body weight (Yao & Mørkøre, 2017). However, it is noteworthy that cross sections of the ribs revealed an irregular appearance of the outer circumference in addition to large resorption cavities in the bone, resulting in areas of distinctly thinner cortical bone. There is limited knowledge on osteoporosis in farmed Atlantic salmon; however, osteoporotic conditions can be induced by several factors in teleost species such as zebrafish (Rosa et al., 2021), a fish widely utilized in research revolving human medicine. We speculate if the resorptive changes in Atlantic salmon rib are pathologically induced, thus affecting the rib breaking force negatively, or if this is merely a physiological and anatomical trait in salmon due to life in an aquatic milieu.

Co-occurring resorption and bone formation is vital for healthy bone growth, thus as the fish grows, bones will subsequently increase in size. Ribs with radiographical radiolucent medulla were detected in all groups, but not in all samples. As these findings were often located in proximal and mid parts of the ribs, we speculate that the increased thickness of the rib due to growth is what allows the X-ray beam to pass through tissue that are of less radiopaque properties, giving the medulla a radiolucent appearance. The size of the individual fish was not registered in our work; however, we believe that the fish size will impact the findings of radiolucent medulla.

Histological investigations of the most distal part of ribs, both normal and wave shaped ribs, revealed a central medulla containing proliferative chondrocytes. These results are in line with Soliman (2018), showing chondrocytes arranged as resting, proliferating and hypertrophic zones in the medullar cavity in both the proximal and distal part of the rib. In our work, we were not able to reveal a proximal growth plate in the ribs. Wave shaped ribs were solely located at the distal end of the rib, surrounded by abundant
FIGURE 11 Macropscopic, radiographical and histological investigation of a sample in group C (MFC) presented with focal thickening of ribs detected on radiographic investigations. (a) MFC measuring >3 cm in length, nonpervasive. Stippled square: Radiographic results showing thickened, irrgular shape in distal regions of ribs. (b) Histological findings in thickened and irregular rib located in area of melanized focal change. Normal bone tissue arcitecture is lacking, with focal bone resorption. Adjacent soft tissue with infiltrating inflammatory cells and vacuoles. Scale bar: 500 µm. (c) Adjacent soft tissue dominated by adipocytes, with melanomacrophages present. Scale bar: 500 µm. (d) Granuloma with abundant presence of surrounding melano-macrophages. Melano-macrophages are also present between adipocytes (arrowhead). Scale bar: 100 µm.



adipose tissue and to a lesser extent skeletal muscle tissue. We speculate that this axis deviation is due to the anatomical structure and position, as muscle attachment surely will anchor the ribs and restrict their shape in more proximal areas; however, ribs noted as wiggled have also been observed in Atlantic salmon with phosphorus deficiency (Baeverfjord et al., 1998). No pathological changes were found in the cortical bone or surrounding soft tissue of wave shaped ribs in group A; however, in samples with MFC located at the equivalent areas, neighbouring soft tissue could be severely affected. In terms of other axis deviations, histological investigations on mild bending of axis in group A revealed normal bone morphology and surrounding soft tissue, with a mild curve in the rib axis. Thus, supported by radiology and statistics, both axis deviations found in our work are suggested to be normal variations of rib morphology in at least some teleost species, including Atlantic salmon. However, these results cannot rule out that inflammation in the soft tissue can alter the axis of the rib, or that these deviations show different breaking force than other costal changes, as resorption of the cortical bone followed by vascularization was indeed seen in all parts of the rib, including the distal wave shaped part.

As Moss pointed out in 1961 (Moss, 1961), the vascular pattern in teleost bone varies substantially among species and even within one individual. Our findings show several longitudinal vessels within the

ribs, thus the ribs in Atlantic salmon have great potential for haemorrhage and the recruiting of haematopoietic and inflammatory cells in the event of a fracture. The histological investigations conducted in our study showed that costal fractures could be accompanied by acute inflammation and haemorrhage in the adjacent muscle and connective tissue. This complies with mammalian fracture repair explained by a four-stage model, where a fracture will cause haemorrhage in the neighbouring soft tissue, followed by acute inflammation, callus formation and remodelling of the callus (Kolar et al., 2011; Marsell & Einhorn, 2011; Schindeler et al., 2008). In Moss' work on fracture repair in acellular and cellular teleosts (Moss, 1962), the examined opercular and lower jaw elements were sparsely vascularised, thus a hematoma was not a dominating feature in the fracture healing process. In our work, costal fractures were occasionally found with no changes in the neighbouring soft tissue, indicating that the fracture occurred postmortem. Importantly, some samples with focal macroscopic discolouration contained costal fractures in the equivalent area presented by radiography; however, histological investigations revealed postmortem fractures, thus the macroscopic focal discolouration herein must have a different origin.

In mammalian fracture healing, bone splints are covered by a soft and later a hard callus. We show that ribs with callus-like appearance in radiology were histologically presented with corresponding callus properties, that is, woven bone with resorption cavities covering areas of what was presumed to be an old fracture site. This is in line with earlier reports on fracture healing in teleosts using both radiography and histology (Fjelldal et al., 2018; Geurtzen et al., 2014; Moss, 1962; Takeyama et al., 2014).

In sum, our study has shown variations in the anatomical characteristics in Atlantic salmon ribs, including vascularisation and resorption cavities. This included ribs with intact chondrocyttic medulla and no vessels or resorption cavities present, and ribs with multiple longitudinal vessels in both the medullar cavity and in resorption cavities in the cortical bone. Our results provide additional knowledge to the association between costal changes and RFC/ MFC found in earlier reports and has demonstrated the potential for local haemorrhage in the event of costal fractures. In accordance with earlier findings, the initial cause of RFC/MFC cannot be fully explained by costal changes alone.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Norwegian Seafood Research Fund (FHF) is acknowledged for funding (Grant number 901501). Ms. Clementine Linde is acknowledged for valuable laboratory assistance.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study (histological slidesand X-ray files) are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

ORCID

Håvard Bjørgen 🕩 https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4683-0088

REFERENCES

- Aunsmo, A., Guttvik, A., Midtlyng, P. J., Larssen, R. B., Evensen, Ø., & Skjerve, E. (2008). Association of spinal deformity and vaccineinduced abdominal lesions in harvest-sized Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L. Journal of Fish Diseases, 31(7), 515–524. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2761.2007.00899.x
- Baeverfjord, Aasgaard, T. E., & Shearer, K. (1998). Development and detection of phosphorus deficiency in Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L., parr and post-smolts. Aquaculture Nutrition, 4(1), 1–11. https://doi. org/10.1046/j.1365-2095.1998.00095.x
- Benzinou, A., Casselman, J. M., Folkvord, A., Geffen, A. J., Troadec, H., McCurdy, W. J., Mesnil, B., Meunier, F. J., Moksness, E., Morales-Nin, B., Mosegaard, H., Panfili, J., de Pontual, H., Troadec, H., & Wright, P. J. (2002). Manuel de sclérochronologie des poissons. Ifremer.
- Bjørgen, H., Haldorsen, R., Oaland, Ø., Kvellestad, A., Kannimuthu, D., Rimstad, E., & Koppang, E. O. (2019). Melanized focal changes in skeletal muscle in farmed Atlantic salmon after natural infection with *piscine orthoreovirus* (PRV). *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 42(6), 935– 945. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.12995
- Bjørgen, H., & Koppang, E. O. (2021). Anatomy of teleost fish immune structures and organs. *Immunogenetics*, 73(1), 53–63. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00251-020-01196-0
- Bjørgen, H., Kumar, S., Gunnes, G., Press, C. M., Rimstad, E., & Koppang, E. O. (2020). Immunopathological characterization of red focal

changes in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) white muscle. Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology, 222, 110035. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.vetimm.2020.110035

- Bjørgen, H., Wessel, Ø., Fjelldal, P. G., Hansen, T., Sveier, H., Sæbø, H. R., Enger, K. B., Monsen, E., Kvellestad, A., Pimstad, E., & Koppang, E. O. (2015). *Piscine orthoreovirus* (PRV) in red and melanised foci in white muscle of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). *Veterinary Research*, 46, 89. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13567-015-0244-6
- Boglione, C., Gavaia, P., Koumoundouros, G., Gisbert, E., Moren, M., Fontagné, S., & Witten, P. E. (2013). Skeletal anomalies in reared European fish larvae and juveniles. Part 1: Normal and anomalous skeletogenic processes. *Reviewa in Aquaculture*, 5(s1), S99–S120. https://doi.org/10.1111/raq.12015
- Boglione, C., Pulcini, D., Scardi, M., Palamara, E., Russo, T., & Cataudella, S. (2014). Skeletal anomaly monitoring in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss, Walbaum 1792) reared under different conditions. PLoS One, 9(5), e96983. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0096983
- Cohen, L., Dean, M., Shipov, A., Atkins, A., Monsonego-Ornan, E., & Shahar, R. (2012). Comparison of structural, architectural and mechanical aspects of cellular and acellular bone in two teleost fish. *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, 215(11), 1983–1993. https://doi. org/10.1242/jeb.064790
- Darias, M. J., Mazurais, D., Koumoundouros, G., Cahu, C. L., & Zambonino-Infante, J. L. (2011). Overview of vitamin D and C requirements in fish and their influence on the skeletal system. Aquaculture, 315(1), 49–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2010.12.030
- Davesne, D., Meunier, F. J., Schmitt, A. D., Friedman, M., Otero, O., & Benson, R. B. J. (2019). The phylogenetic origin and evolution of acellular bone in teleost fishes: Insights into osteocyte function in bone metabolism. *Biological Reviews*, 94(4), 1338–1363. https://doi. org/10.1111/brv.12505
- de Haan, D., Fosseidengen, J. E., Fjelldal, P. G., Burggraaf, D., & Rijnsdorp, A. S. (2016). Pulse trawl fishing: Characteristics of the electrical stimulation and the effect on behavior and injuries of Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*). *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 73(6), 1557–1569. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsw018
- Debes, P. V., Solberg, M. F., Matre, I. H., Dyrhovden, L., & Glover, K. A. (2021). Genetic variation for upper thermal tolerance diminishes within and between populations with increasing acclimation temperature in Atlantic salmon. *Heredity*, 127(5), 455–466. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41437-021-00469-y
- Eriksen, M. S., Bakken, M., Espmark, Å., Braastad, B. O., & Salte, R. (2006). Prespawning stress in farmed Atlantic salmon Salmo salar: Maternal cortisol exposure and hyperthermia during embryonic development affect offspring survival, growth and incidence of malformations. Journal of Fish Biology, 69(1), 114–129. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2006.01071.x
- Fjelldal, P. G., Hansen, T., Breck, O., Ørnsrud, R., Lock, E. J., Waagbø, R., Wargelius, A., & Witten, P. E. (2012). Vertebral deformities in farmed Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) – Etiology and pathology. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology*, 28(3), 433–440. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1439-0426.2012.01980.x
- Fjelldal, P. G., Madaro, A., Hvas, M., Stien, L. H., Oppedal, F., & Fraser, T. W. (2020). Skeletal deformities in wild and farmed cleaner fish species used in Atlantic salmon Salmo salar aquaculture. Journal of Fish Biology, 98(4), 1049–1058. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.14337
- Fjelldal, P. G., van der Meeren, T., Fraser, T. W. K., Sambraus, F., Jawad, L., & Hansen, T. J. (2018). Radiological changes during fracture and repair in neural and haemal spines of Atlantic cod (*Gadus* morhua). Journal of Fish Diseases, 41(12), 1871–1875. https://doi. org/10.1111/jfd.12899
- Geurtzen, K., Knopf, F., Wehner, D., Huitema, L. F. A., Schulte-Merker, S., & Weidinger, G. (2014). Mature osteoblasts dedifferentiate in response to traumatic bone injury in the zebrafish fin and skull.

14390264, 0, Downloaded from https://onlinelibrary.wiley

com/doi/10.1111/ahe.12900 by University Of Life Sciences,

Wiley Online Library on [17/04/2023]. See the Terms

and Conditi

(http

on Wiley Online Library for rules

of use; OA articles

are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

Development, 141(11), 2225-2234. https://doi.org/10.1242/ dev.105817

- Gil Martens, L., Lock, E. J., Fjelldal, P. G., Wargelius, A., Araujo, P., Torstensen, B. E., Witten, P. E., Hansen, T., Waagbø, R., & Ørnsrud, R. (2010). Dietary fatty acids and inflammation in the vertebral column of Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L., smolts: A possible link to spinal deformities. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 33(12), 957–972. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2761.2010.01201.x
- Gislason, H., Karstensen, H., Christiansen, D., Hjelde, K., Helland, S., & Bæverfjord, G. (2010). Rib and vertebral deformities in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) explained by a dominant-mutation mechanism. Aquaculture, 309(1), 86–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. aquaculture.2010.09.016
- Gjedrem, T., Salte, R., & Gjøen, H. M. (1991). Genetic variation in susceptibility of Atlantic salmon to furunculosis. Aquaculture, 97(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/0044-8486(91)90274-B
- Gjøen, H. M., & Bentsen, H. B. (1997). Past, present, and future of genetic improvement in salmon aquaculture. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 54(6), 1009–1014. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1054-3139(97)80005-7
- Horton, J. M., & Summers, A. P. (2009). The material properties of acellular bone in a teleost fish. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 212(Pt 9), 1413–1420. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.020636
- Jawad, L. A. (2013). Hyperostosis in three fish species collected from the sea of Oman. American Association for Anatomy, 296(8), 1145–1147. https://doi.org/10.1002/ar.22728
- Jiao, Y. Y., Okada, M., Hara, E. S., Xie, S. C., Nagaoka, N., Nakano, T., & Matsumoto, T. (2020). Micro-architectural investigation of teleost fish rib inducing pliant mechanical property. *Materials*, 13(22), 5099. https://doi.org/10.3390/ma13225099
- Jiménez-Guerrero, R., Baeverfjord, G., Evensen, Ø., Hamre, K., Larsson, T., Dessen, J.-E., Gannestad, K.-H., & Mørkøre, T. (2022). Rib abnormalities and their association with focal dark spots in Atlantic salmon fillets. *Aquaculture*, 561, 738697. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. aquaculture.2022.738697
- Kague, E., Hughes, S. M., Lawrence, E. A., Cross, S., Martin-Silverstone, E., Hammond, C. L., & Hinits, Y. (2019). Scleraxis genes are required for normal musculoskeletal development and for rib growth and mineralization in zebrafish. *Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*, 33(8), 9116–9130. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.201802654RR
- Kolar, P., Gaber, T., Perka, C., Duda, G. N., & Buttgereit, F. (2011). Human early fracture hematoma is characterized by inflammation and hypoxia. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research*, 469(11), 3118– 3126. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11999-011-1865-3
- Kölliker, A. (1857). On the different types in the microscopic structure of the skeleton of osseous fishes. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, 9, 656–668. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspl.1857.0132
- Koppang, E. O., Haugarvoll, E., Hordvik, I., Aune, L., & Poppe, T. T. (2005). Vaccine-associated granulomatous inflammation and melanin accumulation in Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar L.*, white muscle. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 28(1), 13–22. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2761.2004.00583.x
- Kryvi, H., & Poppe, T. (2016). Fiskeanatomi. Fagbokforlaget.
- Larsen, H. A. S., Austbø, L., Mørkøre, T., Thorsen, J., Hordvik, I., Fischer, U., Jirillo, E., Rimstad, E., & Koppang, E. O. (2012). Pigmentproducing granulomatous myopathy in Atlantic salmon: A novel inflammatory response. Fish Shellfish Immunology, 33(2), 277-285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2012.05.012
- Loi, F., Córdova, L. A., Pajarinen, J., Lin, T.-H., Yao, Z., & Goodman, S. B. (2016). Inflammation, fracture and bone repair. *Bone*, *86*, 119–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bone.2016.02.020
- Marsell, R., & Einhorn, T. A. (2011). The biology of fracture healing. *Injury*, 42(6), 551–555. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.injury.2011.03.031
- Martini, A., Huysseune, A., Witten, P. E., & Boglione, C. (2021). Plasticity of the skeleton and skeletal deformities in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) linked to rearing density. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 98(4), 971–986. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.14272

- Mørkøre, T., Larsson, T., Kvellestad, A. S., Koppang, E. O., Åsli, M., Krasnov, A., Dessen, J.-E., Moreno, H. M., Valen, E., Gannestad, K. H., Gjerde, B., Taksdal, T., Bæverfjord, G., Meng, Y., Heia, K., Wold, J. P., Borderias, A. J., Moghadam, H., Romarheim, O. H., & Rørvik, K.-A. (2015). Mørke flekker i laksefilet. Kunnskapsstatus og tiltak for å begrense omfanget. In Rapport/Report 34/2015 NOFIMA.
- Moss, M. L. (1961). Studies of the acellular bone of teleost fish. I. Morphological and systematic variations. Acta Anatomica, 46, 343– 462. https://doi.org/10.1159/000141794
- Moss, M. L. (1962). Studies of the acellular bone of teleost fish. II. Response to fracture under normal and acalcemic conditions. Acta Anatomica, 48, 46–60. https://doi.org/10.1159/000141826
- Moss, M. L. (1963). The biology of acellular teleost bone. Annals New York Academy of Sciences, 31(109), 337–350. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1749-6632.1963.tb13475
- Nie, C.-H., Wan, S.-M., Tomljanovic, T., Treer, T., Hsiao, C.-D., Wang, W.-M., & Gao, Z.-X. (2017). Comparative proteomics analysis of teleost intermuscular bones and ribs provides insight into their development. BMC Genomics, 18(1), 147. https://doi.org/10.1186/s1286 4-017-3530-z
- Olsen, S. H., Siikavuopio, S. I., Tobiassen, T., Ageeva, T. N., & Heia, K. (2021). Kvalitet på regnbueørret oppdrettet i sjø – holdbarhet (QIM), filetfarge og muskeltekstur. In Rapport/Report 7/2021. NOFIMA.
- Patterson, C., & Johnson, G. D. (1995). The intermuscular bones and ligaments of teleostean fishes. *Smithsonian Contributions to Zoology*, 559, 1–83. https://doi.org/10.5479/si.00810282.559
- Roberts, R. J. (2012). Fish pathology (4th ed.). Wiley-Blackwell.
- Roberts, R. J., Hardy, R. W., & Sugiura, S. H. (2001). Screamer disease in Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L., in Chile. Journal of Fish Diseases, 24(9), 543–549. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2761.2001.00328.x
- Rosa, J. T., Laizé, V., Gavaia, P. J., & Cancela, M. L. (2021). Fish models of induced osteoporosis. Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology, 9, 672424. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.672424
- Schindeler, A., McDonald, M. M., Bokko, P., & Little, D. G. (2008). Bone remodeling during fracture repair: The cellular picture. Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology, 19(5), 459–466. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2008.07.004
- Smith-Vaniz, W. F., Kaufman, L. S., & Glowacki, J. (1995). Species-specific patterns of hyperostosis in marine teleost fishes. *Marine Biology*, 121, 573–580. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00349291
- Soliman, S. A. (2018). The growth cartilage and beyond: Absence of medullary bone in silver carp ribs. Mathews Journal of Cytology and Histology, 2(1), 8.
- Takeyama, K., Chatani, M., Takano, Y., & Kudo, A. (2014). In-vivo imaging of the fracture healing in medaka revealed two types of osteoclasts before and after the callus formation by osteoblasts. *Developmental Biology*, 394(2), 292–304. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ydbio.2014.08.007
- Trangerud, C., Bjørgen, H., Koppang, E. O., Grøntvedt, R. N., Skogmo, H. K., Ottesen, N., & Kvellestad, A. (2020). Vertebral column deformity with curved cross-stitch vertebrae in Norwegian seawaterfarmed Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar L. Journal of Fish Diseases*, 43(3), 379–389. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.13136
- Usher, M. L., Talbot, C., & Eddy, F. B. (1988). Drinking in Atlantic Salmon Smolts transferred to seawater and the relationship between drinking and feeding. *Aquaculture*, 73(1), 237-246. https://doi. org/10.1016/0044-8486(88)90058-0
- Weigele, J., & Franz-Odendaal, T. A. (2016). Functional bone histology of zebrafish reveals two types of endochondral ossification, different types of osteoblast clusters and a new bone type. *Journal of Anatomy*, 229(1), 92–103. https://doi.org/10.1111/joa.12480
- Weiss, R. E., & Watabe, N. (1979). Studies on the biology of fish bone. III. Ultrastructure of osteogenesis and resorption in osteocytic (cellular) and anosteocytic (acellular) bones. *Calcified Tissue International*, 28(1), 43–56. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02441217

-WILLEY- Anatomia Histologia

16

- Willett, C. E., Cortes, A., Zuasti, A., & Zapata, A. G. (1999). Early hematopoiesis and developing lymphoid organs in the zebrafish. *Developmental Dynamics*, 214(4), 323–336. https://doi.org/10.1002/ (SICI)1097-0177(199904)214:4<323::AID-AJA5>3.0.CO
- Witten, P. E., Gil-Martens, L., Huysseune, A., Takle, H., & Hjelde, K. (2009). Towards a classification and an understanding of developmental relationships of vertebral body malformations in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). Aquaculture, 295(1), 6–14. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2009.06.037
- Witten, P. E., & Hall, B. K. (2002). Differentiation and growth of kype skeletal tissues in anadromous male Atlantic Salmon (Salmo salar). International Journal of Developmental Biology, 46, 719–730.
- Witten, P. E., Hansen, A., & Hall, B. K. (2001). Features of mono- and multinucleated bone resorbing cells of the zebrafish *Danio rerio* and their contribution to skeletal development, remodeling, and growth. *Journal of Morphology*, 250(3), 197–207. https://doi. org/10.1002/jmor.1065
- Witten, P. E., & Huysseune, A. (2009). A comparative view on mechanisms and functions of skeletal remodelling in teleost fish, with special emphasis on osteoclasts and their function. *Biological Reviews Cambridge Philosophical Society*, 84(2), 315–346. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185X.2009.00077.x

- Witten, P. E., Villwock, W., Peters, N., & Hall, B. K. (2000). Bone resorption and bone remodelling in juvenile carp, *Cyprinus carpio* L. Journal of Applied Ichthyology, 16(6), 254–261. https://doi. org/10.1046/j.1439-0426.2000.00233.x
- Yao, J., & Mørkøre, T. (2017). Mechanical properties of the vertebral column and ribs of farmed fish with emphasis on Atlantic Salmon. Mater Thesis, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Ås.

How to cite this article: Brimsholm, M., Fjelldal, P. G., Hansen, T., Trangerud, C., Knutsen, G. M., Asserson, C. F., Koppang, E. O., & Bjørgen, H. (2023). Anatomical and pathological characteristics of ribs in the Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*) and its relevance to soft tissue changes. *Anatomia, Histologia, Embryologia*, 00, 1–16. <u>https://doi. org/10.1111/ahe.12900</u>

Ι

DOI: 10.1111/jfd.13729

SHORT COMMUNICATION



Diffuse melanization of the red skeletal musculature in farmed Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.)

Malin Brimsholm¹ | Line Rønning² | Espen Rimstad³ | Erling Olaf Koppang¹ | Håvard Bjørgen¹

¹Unit of Anatomy, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Ås, Norway

²Lerøy Seafood Group ASA, Bergen, Norway

³Unit of Virology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Ås, Norway

Correspondence

Håvard Bjørgen, Unit of Anatomy, Norwegian School of Veterinary Science, Norwegian University of Life Sciences (NMBU), Ås, Norway. Email: havard.bjorgen@nmbu.no

Funding information

Fiskeri - og havbruksnæringens forskningsfond, Grant/Award Number: 901501 Keywords: filet, melanin, melano-macrophage, piscine myocarditis virus, piscine orthoreovirus 1, salmonid alphavirus

1 | INTRODUCTION

Farmed Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) are susceptible to melanization of the white muscle ('the filet'), where melanized spots have a prevalence of 20%-30% at slaughter (Mørkøre et al., 2015). More than 90% of melanized changes in the filet manifest as focal discoloration in the cranio-ventral part (Biørgen et al., 2019). These changes develop from focal haemorrhages, that is, red focal changes, which are the initial and acute stage of the condition (Bjørgen et al., 2015, 2019). The haemorrhages are believed to progress into a chronic inflammatory condition with melanization (Koppang et al., 2005; Larsen et al., 2012). Although the development of severe melanized focal changes has been associated with persistent PRV-1 infection (Bjørgen et al., 2019), the initial causes of red focal changes are unknown (Bjørgen et al., 2020). The focal appearance and restricted localization argue for underlying anatomical predispositions, and hypotheses such as fat accumulation and fat-induced inflammation, local ischaemia and costal abnormalities have all been proposed as hypotheses (Bjørgen et al., 2019; Jiménez-Guerrero et al., 2022). Still, no single cause has been pinpointed and the aetiology of the condition is probably of multifactorial origin.

Melano-macrophages are common immune cells in fish and are normally found in abundance in lymphoid organs such as kidney,

spleen and liver (Bjørgen & Koppang, 2021; Thorsen et al., 2006). They are especially active in chronic, granulomatous inflammation and can thus be found in a range of different inflammatory conditions (Koppang et al., 2005; Poppe & Breck, 1997). Although focal melanization is the most prevalent manifestation in white muscle. other forms have been reported, including melanization near the vertebrae (Trangerud et al., 2020), in the dorsal part of the fillet and diffuse melanization of the dorsal and ventral white muscle (Ugrovatov, 2016). In summary, the white muscle could seem more disposed for inflammatory conditions attracting melanomacrophages. On the contrary, melanization is rarely reported to occur in the red skeletal muscle but has occasionally been observed by producers or customers (Personal observation, Line Rønning, Lerøy Seafood Group). As the red skeletal muscle is found on the lateral side of the trunk (reviewed by Kiessling et al., 2006), beneath the skin, melanization is often left undiscovered due to the fileting methods. Although conditions such as wounds and foreign bodies can induce the reaction of melano-macrophages (Roberts et al., 1973), melanization of the red skeletal muscle has not been reported as a quality concern.

Here, we report the appearance of melanization in farmed Atlantic salmon affecting solely the red skeletal muscle. We provide histopathological description of the condition and discuss possible causes of this presumed uncommon condition.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

^{© 2022} The Authors. Journal of Fish Diseases published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

2 | MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 | Fish origin and health

In November 2016, approximately 52,000 harvest-ready Atlantic salmon from Lerøy's location Kjørvikgrunn were slaughtered according to production standards. The fish was of the AquaGen QTL IPN/PD breed and had an average weight of 4613g. All fish had been vaccinated with Alpha Ject micro 6 (Pharmaq, part of Zoetis).

Heart and skeletal muscle inflammation (HSMI) caused by PRV-1 infection was confirmed by histology in November 2015. Salmonid alphavirus 2 (SAV2) was detected in the population by RT-qPCR in July 2016 and Pancreas disease (PD) caused by SAV2 infection was confirmed by RT-qPCR and histological investigations in August 2016. Cardiomyopathy syndrome (CMS) caused by piscine myocarditis virus (PMCV) was suspected in August 2016. This was confirmed by histological investigations in December 2016. Increased mortality was registered in relation to all three disease outbreaks.

2.2 | Sampling and RT-qPCR

At slaughter, a high prevalence of melanization in the red skeletal muscle was detected. Affected (n = 6) and unaffected fillets (n = 6) were collected at the production line and shipped on ice to the School of Veterinary Medicine, Adamstuen, Oslo, Norway. The changes were photographed, and samples were collected from three different areas of the filet (cranial, mid, and caudal parts, see Figure 1) and put in buffered formalin. Both cross-sectional and longitudinal samples were obtained. From each fish, a sample collected from the red muscle (mid part) was put in RNAlater and sent to PatoGen AS, Ålesund, Norway, for RT-qPCR analysis for common viral infections affecting the skeletal muscle: Piscine orthoreovirus 1 (PRV-1) and salmonid alphavirus 2 (SAV2). The samples were also analysed for infectious pancreas necrosis virus (IPNV). The RT-gPCR analyses are accredited and validated to ISO7025 standards. Details of purification method and PCR conditions could not be disclosed by PatoGen due to issues related to competing patents. Samples were defined as positive when having a PRV-1, SAV2 or IPNV C, lower than 37.0. Statistical analysis of PRV-1 data was performed using Mann-Whitney U-test in STATA (StataCorp. 2019. Stata Statistical Software: Release 16. College Station, TX: StataCorp LLC).

2.3 | Histological investigations

The samples were embedded in paraffin and stained according to standard procedure with haematoxylin and eosin. In addition, all samples were stained for detection of fibrin according to Lendrums Maritus Scarlet Blue (MSB) staining protocol, Giemsa staining to differentiate nucleus morphology and cytoplasm of blood cells, Van





FIGURE 1 Macroscopic appearance of (a) control filet, (b) melanized filet, lateral projection (skin removed) and (c) clear demarcation in melanization of red skeletal muscle presented through longitudinal and cross sectioning. Note the shallow layer of discoloration, reflecting only affection of the red muscle layer and not the underlying white musculature. Samples were collected from cranial (I), mid (II) and caudal (III) parts.

Gieson (VG) for detection of collagen and Gram staining for detection of Gram-positive/negative bacteria.

3 | RESULTS

3.1 | Macroscopic evaluation

Severe, diffuse melanization of the red skeletal muscle was observed as superficial, black discoloration in the fillet of the affected fish (Figure 1). The extent of the discoloration was identical to the anatomical placement of the red skeletal muscle. In transverse sections of the fillet, a clear demarcation in melanization confirmed that solely the red, and not the white skeletal muscle was affected (Figure 1c). All the control individuals were devoid of discoloration.

3.2 | Histological analysis

In H&E-stained sections, the macroscopically observed demarcation of melanization between white and red muscle was confirmed, as the white muscle had normal appearance while the red muscle was severely affected (Figure 2a). The changes in the red muscle were dominated by muscle fibre degeneration and fibrosis. Fibrosis was confirmed by VG stain (Figure 2b). Scattered immune cells, predominantly macrophage-like cells were observed and melanomacrophages and what appeared as either large accumulations of melanin or collections of melano-macrophages were detected (Figure 2c). Some muscle fibres showed signs of regeneration, including cytoplasmic basophilia and rowing of nuclei (Figure 2d). The histological features were similar in all affected fish and for the different areas sampled. Giemsa and Gram staining did not show presence of bacteria.

Journal of Fish Diseases No pathological changes were detected in the control fish (Figure 3a,b); however, scattered melano-macrophages were occasionally detected in the endomysium of red muscle. (Figure 3c,d).

3.3 | RT-qPCR

Tissue from the mid part of the filet was analysed for the presence of PRV-1 and SAV2 (Table 1) but also for IPNV, by RT-qPCR, as IPN is a differential diagnosis to PD. All affected samples were positive for PRV-1 with a median C_t value of 30.2, for the control fish, four samples were PRV-1 positive, and two were negative. When the negative value is set to 37, that is, cut-off for the RT-qPCR, there were statistically significant difference between the C_t values for PRV-1



FIGURE 2 Histological analysis of red muscle, affected fish. (a) HE stain. Demarcation between unaffected white muscle (left) and affected red muscle (right). Fixation artefacts, seen as myocyte shrinkage with peripheral empty space, are evident in white muscle. (b) VG stain confirming the presence of collagen (pink). (c) HE stain, cross section. Red skeletal muscle with degenerated muscle cells (black arrow), extensive fibrosis and infiltrates with immune cells. Melano-macrophages or melanin accumulations scattered within the red muscle (white arrowheads). (d) HE stain, longitudinal section. Muscle fibres in different size/stages of regeneration, supported by occasionally basophilic fibres and central rowing of nuclei (black arrow).



FIGURE 3 Histological analysis of red muscle, control fish. (a) HE stain. White (left) and red (right) skeletal muscle fibres separated by a septum with predominantly fat-containing cells. (b) VG stain showing intact muscle cells (yellow) and collagen (pink) in endomysium. Note the sparse amount of collagen. (c) HE stain, cross section. Muscle cell diameter 25–45 µm. Melano-macrophages (arrows) in the endomysium. (d) HE stain, longitudinal section. Striated myocytes with multiple peripheral nuclei.

for affected versus non-affected groups (p = .0022). SAV2 was detected in three affected samples, of which one had a C_t 23.2, and in two non-affected samples. No samples were positive for IPNV.

4 | DISCUSSION

In this case report, we present melanization affecting the whole red skeletal muscle in farmed Atlantic salmon. The condition, that in general is considered as a rather rare quality and possibly welfare problem, was detected during quality control after filleting, as a black longitudinal sheath directly underneath the skin.

Histological analysis revealed diffuse inflammation with infiltrates of inflammatory cells where melano-macrophages were abundant. There was extensive fibrosis. In general, there were several histological similarities with the more common melanized focal changes; however, no granulomas were detected in the red skeletal muscle. Granulomas are hallmark traits for severe melanized focal changes in the white muscle and typical for some chronic inflammatory conditions (Koppang et al., 2005; Shah et al., 2017). The absence of organized granulomas may imply that the underlying cause differs from that of the melanized focal changes in white muscle. Alternatively, anatomical and physiological conditions in red muscle could contribute to the development of the changes seen in our study. Nevertheless, granulomatous inflammation in red muscle has been reported in rainbow trout affected by proliferative kidney disease (PKD) (Fernandez-De-Luco et al., 1997); thus such an immune reaction can also occur in red muscle. Signs of regeneration were seen in most changes in our work, indicating that the condition is temporary and heals over time. Macrophage-like cells and myophagocytosis were observed in the affected red muscle, but scattered melano-macrophages were also detected in the endomysium between intact muscle fibres from non-affected fish. Melanin is rarely observed in the red skeletal muscle in routine diagnostics (personal communication, Dr. Hege Hellberg, Pharmaq Analytic, Norway); however, this could be a normal trait of slaughter-ready farmed salmon, or alternatively the scattered melano-macrophages could be remnants from a preceding regeneration and clearing of the condition.

Red muscle is anatomically different from white muscle in several important aspects. Although the red muscle makes up <10% of the total muscle mass in Atlantic salmon, it is important

TABLE 1 RT-gPCR

	Fish	PRV-1	SAV2
Affected	1	28.8	28.1
	2	29.6	23.2
	3	31.8	31.6
	4	27.6	n.d.
	5	30,8	n.d.
	6	33.0	n.d.
Non-affected (controls)	7	34.8	n.d.
	8	34.6	n.d.
	9	n.d.	29.4
	10	35.5	n.d.
	11	35.2	n.d.
	12	n.d.	33.1



in enduring and slow movement as it is rich in mitochondria and heavily vascularized, and thus adapted towards aerobic exercise (Anttila & Manttari, 2009; Kryvi & Poppe, 2016). White muscle, on the other hand, generates speed and extreme anaerobic movements, but has a relatively poor blood supply and only scattered mitochondria (Hudson, 1973; Nag, 1972). These differences could have an impact on the process of regeneration and healing in red and white muscle which subsequently can lead to different forms of melanization.

Of the viruses commonly affecting the skeletal muscle in salmon, some are prone to cause red muscle damage (Bruno et al., 2013). PRV-1, which is the cause of HSMI may specifically affect the red muscle and induce myositis, and although it is not a common reaction, melano-macrophages have been described in the red skeletal muscle of HSMI diseased fish (Wessel et al., 2017). SAV2 and 3, which are the causes of PD in farmed salmon in Norway, can affect both red and white muscle, typically late in the course of the disease development (Bruno et al., 2013). The endomysial inflammation and fibrosis observed in our material could result from both SAV2 and PRV-1 infection. One could speculate that SAV2 was the key contributor due to the ongoing outbreak concurrent with slaughter; however, SAV2 was only detected in three of the six affected samples. The C, values for PRV-1 of affected fish were statistically significantly lower (p = .0022) than from non-affected fish. Although the RT-gPCRs were run without a normalizing RNA reference, and the amount of RNA thus cannot be guantified, the C, values of PRV-1 reflects in general that the load of PRV-1 was significantly higher in melanized red muscle than in normal red muscle tissue. This indicates a correlation of the amount of PRV-1 and the condition, but it does not necessarily specify causation.

All affected fish were infected with PRV-1, including the three SAV2 infected. The two SAV2 infected non-affected fish were negative for PRV-1 by RT-qPCR. The number of samples here is very

Journal of Fish Diseases 🦔

-WILEY small, but it could be speculated that the findings indicate that SAV2 infection alone does not induce red muscle melanization. The coinfection with PRV-1 and SAV2 found in three of six affected sam-

ples is difficult to speculate upon. The fish came from a population where HSMI and PD had been confirmed prior to slaughter, that is, the population had probably gone through serious infections with both PRV-1 and SAV2. In addition, CMS caused by PMCV was suspected and later detected at the location; however, PMCV does not infect skeletal muscle. Melanization is a general inflammatory response where one important function is to protect the surrounding tissue against oxidative damage (Larsen et al., 2012). Melanization has been detected not only in association with intraperitoneal injections (Koppang et al., 2005; Poppe & Breck, 1997) but also in several viral infections, for example, PRV-1 has been associated with severe melanized focal changes in the white skeletal muscle (Bjørgen et al., 2015, 2019) and melanization of the heart atrium has been reported in fish with CMS (Fagerland et al., 2013). In an epidemiological study, PD diagnosis was correlated with increased prevalence of melanized focal changes in the filet (Lund et al., 2018). Although statistical analysis of our material could indicate that PRV-1 infection is associated with red muscle melanization, other infections or even co-infections with SAV2 or PMCV may have contributed to the development of the condition.

In situ detection of viruses in the red muscle could have added information about the presence of PRV-1 and SAV2 in relation to the histopathological changes, but this was not possible to perform due to sub-optimal fixation of the field material. There is no experimental model that are known to induce the condition, and one is dependent on samples collected at the slaughter line in field.

In conclusion, we have reported a case of melanization solely affecting the red skeletal muscle of farmed Atlantic salmon. The condition has unknown aetiology and histologically appears diffuse and not granulomatous as is the dominant form in melanized focal changes in the white muscle. The involvement of SAV2 and PRV-1 infection might participate in the development of the changes and should be a target in future research if the condition develops into a more generalized problem for the industry.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MB: carried out histological analysis and wrote the manuscript. LR: sampled field material and commented on the manuscript. ER: commented on the manuscript. EOK: conducted sample preparations and histological experiments, commented on the manuscript. HB: conducted sample preparations and histological experiments, commented on the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Dr. Hege Hellberg, Pharmaq Analytic, is acknowledged for fruitful scientific discussions.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study (histological slides) are available from the corresponding author, HB, upon reasonable request.

ORCID

Espen Rimstad ⁽¹⁰⁾ https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9911-5948 Erling Olaf Koppang ⁽¹⁰⁾ https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4859-1455 Håvard Bjørgen ⁽¹⁰⁾ https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4683-0088

REFERENCES

- Anttila, K., & Manttari, S. (2009). Ultrastructural differences and histochemical characteristics in swimming muscles between wild and reared Atlantic salmon. Acta Physiologica, 196(2), 249–257. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-1716.2008.01911.x
- Bjørgen, H., Haldorsen, R., Oaland, Ø., Kvellestad, A., Kannimuthu, D., Rimstad, E., & Koppang, E. O. (2019). Melanized focal changes in skeletal muscle in farmed Atlantic salmon after natural infection with *Piscine orthoreovirus* (PRV). *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 42(6), 935– 945. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.12995
- Bjørgen, H., & Koppang, E. O. (2021). Anatomy of teleost fish immune structures and organs. *Immunogenetics*, 73(1), 53–63. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00251-020-01196-0
- Bjørgen, H., Kumar, S., Gunnes, G., Press, C. M. L., Rimstad, E., & Koppang, E. O. (2020). Immunopathological characterization of red focal changes in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) white muscle. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology*, 222, 110035. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.vetimm.2020.110035
- Bjørgen, H., Wessel, Ø., Fjelldal, P. G., Hansen, T., Sveier, H., Saebø, H. R., Enger, K. B., Monsen, E., Kvellestad, A., Rimstad, E., & Koppang, E. O. (2015). *Piscine orthoreovirus* (PRV) in red and melanised foci in white muscle of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). *Veterinary Research*, 46, 89. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13567-015-0244-6
- Bruno, D. W., Noguera, P. A., & Poppe, T. T. (2013). A colour atlas of salmonid diseases (Vol. 91). Springer Science & Business Media.
- Fagerland, H. A. S., Austbø, L., Fritsvold, C., Alarcon, M., Rimstad, E., Falk, K., Taksdal, T., & Koppang, E. O. (2013). Pathological pigmentation in cardiac tissues of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*) with cardiomyopathy syndrome. *Veterinary Research*, 44(1), 107. https://doi. org/10.1186/1297-9716-44-107
- Fernandez-De-Luco, D., Peribanez, M. A., Garcia, L., & Castillo, J. A. (1997). Granulomatous myositis in rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss affected by proliferative kidney disease (PKD). Diseases of Aquatic Organisms, 31(1), 49-54. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao03 1049
- Hudson, R. C. L. (1973). On the function of the white muscles in teleosts at intermediate swimming speeds. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 58(2), 509–522. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.58.2.509
- Jiménez-Guerrero, R., Baeverfjord, G., Evensen, Ø., Hamre, K., Larsson, T., Dessen, J.-E., Gannestad, K. H., & Mørkøre, T. (2022). Rib abnormalities and their association with focal dark spots in Atlantic salmon fillets. *Aquaculture*, 561, 738697. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. aquaculture.2022.738697
- Kiessling, A., Ruohonen, K., & Bjørnevik, M. (2006). Muscle fibre growth and quality in fish. Archiv fur Tierzucht Dummerstorf, 49, 137–146.
- Koppang, E. O., Haugarvoll, E., Hordvik, I., Aune, L., & Poppe, T. T. (2005). Vaccine-associated granulomatous inflammation and melanin accumulation in Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar L.*, white muscle. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 28(1), 13–22. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2761.2004.00583.x

Kryvi, H., & Poppe, T. (2016). Fiskeanatomi. Fagbokforlaget.

- Larsen, H. A., Austbø, L., Mørkøre, T., Thorsen, J., Hordvik, I., Fischer, U., Jirillo, E., Rimstad, E., & Koppang, E. O. (2012). Pigment-producing granulomatous myopathy in Atlantic salmon: A novel inflammatory response. Fish & Shellfish Immunology, 33(2), 277-285. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.fsi.2012.05.012
- Lund, M., Skjerve, E., Qviller, L., van Son, T. C., Lillehaug, A., Kristoffersen, A. B., & Brun, E. (2018). Epidemiologisk studie av sammenhenger mellom melanin i filét hos laks og virusinfeksjoner og andre produksjonsvariabler. (Epidemiologic study of associations between melanin in fillet in salmon and viral infections and other production variables). https:// www.fhf.no/prosjekter/prosjektbasen/901256/
- Mørkøre, T., Larsson, T., Kvellestad, A. S., Koppang, E. O., Åsli, M., Krasnov, A., & Gannestad, K. H. (2015). Mørke flekker i laksefilet. Kunnskapsstatus og tiltak for å begrense omfanget (Melanised changes in salmon fillet. Knowledge status and efforts to limit their occurrence). NOFIMA report. https://nmbu.brage.unit.no/nmbu-xmlui/handl e/11250/2368359
- Nag, A. C. (1972). Ultrastructure and adenosine triphosphatase activity of red and white muscle fibers of the caudal region of a fish, Salmo gairdneri. Journal of Cell Biology, 55(1), 42–57. https://doi. org/10.1083/jcb.55.1.42
- Poppe, T., & Breck, O. (1997). Pathology of Atlantic salmon Salmo salar intraperitoneally immunized with oil-adjuvanted vaccine. A case report. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms, 29(3), 219–226. https://doi. org/10.3354/dao029219
- Roberts, R. J., MacQueen, A., Shearer, W., & Young, H. (1973). The histopathology of salmon tagging: I. The tagging lesion in newly tagged parr. Journal of Fish Biology, 5(4), 497–503.
- Shah, K. K., Pritt, B. S., & Alexander, M. P. (2017). Histopathologic review of granulomatous inflammation. *Journal of Clinical Tuberculosis and Other Mycobacterial Diseases*, 7, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jctube.2017.02.001
- Thorsen, J., Høyheim, B., & Koppang, E. O. (2006). Isolation of the Atlantic salmon tyrosinase gene family reveals heterogenous transcripts in a leukocyte cell line. *Pigment Cell Research*, 19(4), 327–336. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0749.2006.00319.x
- Trangerud, C., Bjørgen, H., Koppang, E. O., Grøntvedt, R. N., Skogmo, H. K., Ottesen, N., & Kvellestad, A. (2020). Vertebral column deformity with curved cross-stitch vertebrae in Norwegian seawaterfarmed Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L. Journal of Fish Diseases, 43(3), 379–389. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.13136
- Ugrovatov, S. (2016). Discolouration of the dorsal white musculature of farmed Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) in Norway, characterised by histological and transcriptional methods. Norwegian University of Life Sciences. https://nmbu.brage.unit.no/nmbuxmlui/bitstream/ handle/11250/2434880/Sergey%20Ugrovatov%202016.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- Wessel, Ø., Braaen, S., Alarcon, M., Haatveit, H., Roos, N., Markussen, T., Tengs, T., Dahle, M. K., & Rimstad, E. (2017). Infection with purified *Piscine orthoreovirus* demonstrates a causal relationship with heart and skeletal muscle inflammation in Atlantic salmon. *PLoS One*, 12(8), e0183781. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0183781

How to cite this article: Brimsholm, M., Rønning, L., Rimstad, E., Koppang, E. O., & Bjørgen, H. (2022). Diffuse melanization of the red skeletal musculature in farmed Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*). *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 00, 1–6. <u>https://doi. org/10.1111/jfd.13729</u>

Π

DOI: 10.1111/jfd.13856

RESEARCH ARTICLE

Revised: 16 August 2023



Red and melanized focal changes in white skeletal muscle in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*): Comparative analysis of farmed, wild and hybrid fish reared under identical conditions

Malin Brimsholm¹ | Per Gunnar Fjelldal² | Tom Hansen² | Thomas Kenneth William Fraser² | Monica Solberg³ | Kevin Glover³ | Erling Olaf Koppang¹ | Håvard Bjørgen¹

¹Unit of Anatomy, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Ås, Norway

²Matre Research Station, Institute of Marine Research, Matredal, Norway

³Population Genetics Research Group, Institute of Marine Research, Bergen, Norway

Correspondence

Håvard Bjørgen, Unit of Anatomy, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Ås, Norway. Email: havard.bjorgen@nmbu.no

Funding information Fiskeri - og havbruksnæringens forskningsfond

Abstract

Selective breeding plays a vital role in the production of farmed Atlantic salmon and has shown success in many aspects. Still, challenges related to fish health and welfare continue to result in significant economic losses. One such challenge is red and melanized focal changes (RFC/MFC), which result from acute and chronic inflammation, respectively, in the skeletal muscle. Importantly, RFC/MFC has not been observed in wild Atlantic salmon, suggesting that both external and genetic factors may contribute to the development of inflammation. To investigate the underlying cause of RFC/MFC, we conducted a study involving 1854 Atlantic salmon of farmed, wild and hybrid origin. All fish were reared under identical conditions to minimize the influence of external factors. Throughout the production cycle, the fish was monitored for growth parameters and examined for RFC/MFC using macroscopic and histological analysis. We found no association between the experimental groups and the presence of RFC/MFC. Histological investigations revealed melano-macrophages in the soft tissue in freshwater smolt, although no macroscopic discoloration was observed. MFC showed granulomas in various stages, suggesting a complex progression of the condition. In summary, we conclude that RFC/MFC is primarily caused by external factors found in the rearing facilities of farmed Atlantic salmon.

KEYWORDS

black spot breeding, melanin, melano-macrophage, quality

1 | INTRODUCTION

The farming of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) has undergone significant advancements and intensification in production. In 2022, approximately 450,000 tonnes of salmon were exported from Norway, with a value of 40 billion NOK (Norwegian Seafood Council, 2023). Over the past five decades, breeding programmes have been developed and implemented to enhance the suitability of the species for production (Gjedrem, 2010; Gjedrem, Gjøen, & Gjerde, 1991). These breeding efforts, spanning several generations, have focused on selecting traits such as improved growth, delayed sexual maturation, optimal fat content, high-quality fillets and enhanced immunity against infectious agents (Gjedrem, 1983; Gjedrem, Salte, & Gjøen, 1991; Gjøen & Bentsen, 1997; Houston et al., 2008).

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

© 2023 The Authors. Journal of Fish Diseases published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

-WILEY- Journal of

Consequently, today's farmed strains, cultivated by companies like Mowi AS, Salmobreed AS and Aquagen AS, exhibit rapid growth and increased resistance against disease. Initially, breeding relied on phenotypic mass selection, progressing to family-based selection, marker-assisted selection and currently genomic selection. The targeted breeding for domesticated individuals has led to genetically distinct farmed strains that differ from their wild counterparts (reviewed by Glover et al., 2017).

Despite extensive research efforts dedicated to understanding the biology and genetics of Atlantic salmon, and to develop breeding programmes, commercial production still faces significant challenges related to health and quality. One major concern in production is the occurrence of melanized focal changes (MFC), predominantly found in the cranioventral region of the white skeletal muscle (Bjørgen et al., 2019). On average, these changes are present in 20% of all fillets produced in Norway (Mørkøre et al., 2015). Additionally, melanization has been reported, albeit less commonly, in the dorsal parts of the fillet and in the red skeletal muscle (Brimsholm et al., 2022). It is believed that MFC originate from red focal changes (RFC), which are acute changes characterized by haemorrhages and muscle necrosis (Bjørgen et al., 2019, 2020). These muscle bleedings can progress into chronic, non-resolving granulomatous inflammation with an abundance of melano-macrophages (Larsen et al., 2012). The most severe changes have been associated with the presence and replication of piscine orthoreovirus 1 (PRV-1) (Bjørgen et al., 2015, 2019). Although PRV-1 is not considered to be the initial cause of the RFC, it is suggested that the virus, which infects Atlantic salmon erythrocytes (Finstad et al., 2014), is internalized by macrophages during the acute inflammatory response, where it subsequently can avoid elimination. leaving the phagocytes persistently infected (Malik et al., 2019). This, in turn, may lead to a chronic, granulomatous inflammation with organized granulomas, as the immune system attempts to 'wall off' the infection (Bjørgen et al., 2015). Various theories have been proposed to explain the cause of RFC/MFC, including external trauma, vaccination and costal fractures (Brimsholm et al., 2023; Jiménez-Guerrero et al., 2022; Koppang et al., 2005). Impaired oxygen transport resulting from abnormal heart morphology and function in farmed salmon (Johansen et al., 2017; Poppe et al., 2003) has also been suggested as a potential cause for ischemia and necrosis of myocytes. In summary, the initial cause of RFC/MFC appears to be multifactorial, and no single cause has been conclusively identified so far.

The absence of RFC/MFC in wild salmon suggests the involvement of both genetic and environmental factors in the development of this condition. Various studies comparing farmed, wild and hybrid salmon have highlighted the significant impact of genetic factors on morphological and physiological differences, such as growth rate, condition factor and plasma growth hormone (GH) level (Debes et al., 2021; Fleming et al., 2002; Glover et al., 2009; Thodesen et al., 1999). Importantly, genetic variations have been shown to influence susceptibility to infections in Atlantic salmon (Glover et al., 2004, 2017; Lawlor et al., 2009; Lush et al., 2019; Moen et al., 2009). However, to date, no peer-review reports have explored the hereditary variation within Atlantic salmon genotypes and its relationship with the prevalence of MFC. In this study, we employed a common-garden experimental design to assess the contribution of hereditary factors to RFC/MFC development in Atlantic salmon. Our investigation included individuals from farmed, wild and hybrid populations, spanning from the parr stage to the final slaughter size. We observed and documented the presence of RFC and MFC and conducted histological analyses to examine the variations in these changes across different fish groups. Furthermore, we collected data on growth parameters and heart size in all fish groups to explore potential relationships and interactions associated with the prevalence and development of RFC/MFC.

2 | MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 | Fish origin and experimental groups

In this study, a total of 1854 Atlantic salmon were included. Genetically wild (originating from naturally bred), farmed (originated from parents bred by selection) and hybrid salmon (crossed between wild and farmed) were kept together in the same cages under standardized rearing conditions at the Matre and Solheim facilities, Institute of Marine Research (IMR), Matredal, Norway, ensuring identical environmental factors. Research done on farmed, wild and hybrid salmon using the same common-garden approach has been conducted at these facilities for more than a decade (Debes et al., 2021; Perry et al., 2019; Solberg et al., 2013). Wild fish were characterized by first-generation offspring from wild salmon parents' eggs and sperm (Etne × Etne) caught in the river Etneelven, Etne, Norway, Hybrids represented combinations of wild and farmed salmon, with both combinations included as follows: wild salmon eggs crossed with farmed salmon sperm from the Mowi strain (Etne \times Mowi = Hybrid1) and farmed salmon eggs from the Mowi strain crossed with wild salmon sperm (Mowi x Etne=Hybrid2). Farmed salmon were represented by farmed salmon eggs and sperm of the Mowi strain (Mowi × Mowi). The four experimental groups were kept in separate hatching containers, with artificial hatching substrate (astroturf) at a maximum temperature of 8°C (Hansen & Møller, 1985). The experimental groups were further kept separate in $90 \times 90 \times 50$ cm freshwater tanks until they reached approximately 5 cm in length. The fish was then transferred to four $1.5 \times 1.5 \times 0.7$ m freshwater tanks, holding mixed experimental groups. At the trial start-up in March 2018 (day 0 of trial), with a fish length of $13-15 \text{ cm} (\pm 35 \text{ g})$, a 12 mm PIT tag was injected into the abdominal cavity combined with measurements of growth parameters (Table 1). The fish were vaccinated with intraperitoneal injection in March 2018 using AquaVac 6 Vet (Manufacturer: MSD Animal Health. Inactivated agents: IPNV, serotype Sp, Aerormonas salmonicida ssp. Salmonocida, Vibrio salmonicida, Listonella (Vibrio) anguillarum serotype O1, Listonella (Vibrio) Anguillarum serotype O2a, Mortiella viscosa (MSD Animal Health, 2023). In May 2018 (day 67 of trial), the yearling smolts were transferred to 5 m diameter seawater tanks after sampling (Table 1). Fish from all experimental groups were transferred

TABLE 1 Sampling groups and time points.

Month/year	Day of trial	Fish status	Origin	Growth parameters	n/m/h
March 2018	0	Parr	FW tanks (sep)	Measured	1854/0/0
May 2018	67	Smolt	FW tanks(sep)	Measured	1787/20/20
May 2018	SW tank transfer	Smolt	SW tanks(mix)	ns	ns
August 2018	SW cage transfer	Post-smolt	SW cage (mix)	ns	ns
March 2019	369	Salmon	SW cage (mix)	Measured	804/804/46
September 2019	537	Salmon	SW cage (mix)	Measured	669/627/68

Abbreviations: FW, freshwater; h, number of fillets from (m) sampled for histological evaluation; m, number of fish sampled for macroscopic evaluation of fillet; mix, experimental groups are mixed; n, number of fish measured for growth parameters; ns, no sampling; sep, experimental groups are kept separate; SW, sea water.

to two $12 \times 12 \times 14$ m seawater cages at the IMR Solheim aquaculture facilities in August 2018 and kept jointly in the cages. The maximum biomass was observed at the end of the trial (day 537), with a stocking density in each seawater cage at 0.7 kg/m^3 . The fish was reared until the third sampling in March 2019 (day 369 of trial) and the fourth sampling in September 2019 (day 537 of trial). Removal of salmon lice (*Lepeophtheirus salmonis*) was performed manually. At sampling 1 and 2, the fish was anaesthetized with Finquel Vet 0.1 g/L (Manufacturer: MSD Animal Health) prior to measurements. At sampling 2, 3 and 4 the sampled fish were killed with an overdose of Finquel 0.5 g/L and bled out.

2.2 | Ethical considerations

All handling procedures of fish complied with the EU (2010/63/ EU) and Norwegian legislation. This animal study was reviewed and approved by Animal Care and Use Committee/IACUC and NARA (permit number 15780) according to the European Union Directive 2010/63/EU and Norwegian regulation FOR-2015-06-18-761.

2.3 | Sample handling and macroscopic evaluation

Production parameters, that is body weight (grams), length (centimetres from snout to the anterior part of the caudal fin fork), were measured and registered at four time points: March 2018 (day 0), May 2018 (day 67), March 2019 (day 369) and September 2019 (day 537) (Table 2). Condition factor (x factor calculated by Fulton's conditioning factor (Schreck & Moyle, 1990) was calculated at each time point, and specific growth rate (SGR calculated by (e^q - 1) 100 (Houde & Schekter, 1981), where $q = (W_2/W_1)^{1/(2-t1)}$ and W_1 and W_2 are the weights at the first (t_1) and last (t_2) timepoint, was calculated at day 67, 369 and 537. Heart size was measured by weight (grams) at day 369 and 537, and further calculated based on cardio somatic index (CSI (%)=100 (heart mass/BM)) at day 537. Mature fish were identified by their secondary sexual characteristics and large gonads. Sexual maturation was measured at day 537 and referred to as % matured individuals.

Macroscopic evaluation and sampling of white skeletal muscle discoloration were conducted at three time points: Day 67 (n=20), day 369 (n=804) and day 537 (n=627). All samplings included fish from all experimental groups (Table 2). Macroscopic evaluation was performed using the scoring system developed by Mowi, grading RFC and MFC from grade 1 (small change with faint discoloration) to grade 3 (large change with severe discoloration) (Bjørgen et al., 2019). Based on discoloration, muscle tissue was sampled, labelled and transferred to 10% formalin for preservation and fixation for 3 to 10 days, in preparation for histological investigations.

Fish Diseases

2.4 | Pathogen detection

For detection of PRV-1, samples of spleen were collected and transferred to RNAlater for PCR examination conducted by Pato-Gen AS (Ålesund, Norway), with analyses accredited and validated to ISO7025 standards. Samples with a Ct-value lower than 37.0 was defined as positive. At day 67, the spleen was harvested from all 20 individuals (Table 3). At day 369, 46 individuals were tested for the presence of PRV-1, while 15 individuals were tested at day 537.

2.5 | Statistical investigations

To investigate a possible association between experimental groups and the presence of RFC and MFC, and between experimental groups and the grade of RFC/MFC, a Chi-squared test of independence was performed at day 369 and 537. A Kruskal-Wallis test was performed to analyse the difference in heart sizes (g) and body weight (g) across experimental groups at day 537. A Pearson correlation test was performed to assess the linear relationship between heart weight (g) and body weight (g). Logistic regression was used to analyse the relationship between heart size and the presence of RFC/MFC, and CSI and the presence of RFC/MFC, for each experimental group at day 537. *p*-values <0.05 were regarded as statistically significant. All data was analysed using StataCorp. 2019 (Stata Statistical Software: Release 16: StataCorp LLC). The data with variable descriptions are available at DOI: 10.18710/BXFHQ1 (DataverseNO). TABLE 2 Parameters measured at day 0, 67, 369 and 537.

Day 0				
Parameter	Etne × Etne ($n = 448$)	Hybrid1 (n=456)	Hybrid2 (n=465)	Mowi \times Mowi (n=458)
Body weight (g)	46.15 (19.25)	78.93 (23.07)	77.98 (20.83)	131.19 (35.21)
Length (cm)	15.24 (2.37)	18.63 (1.93)	18.48 (1.68)	22.12 (2.26)
Condition factor (κ)	1.19 (0.09)	1.18 (0.07)	1.20 (0.07)	1.18 (0.07)
Day 67				
Parameter	Etne × Etne ($n = 428$)	Hybrid1 (n = 441)	Hybrid2 (n = 458)	Mowi \times Mowi (n = 453)
Body weight (g)	55.35 (21.10)	92.44 (25.19)	93.51 (25.34)	152.40 (40.71)
Length (cm)	16.40 (2.43)	19.91 (1.83)	19.79 (1.83)	23.53 (2.22)
Condition factor (κ)	1.17 (0.10)	1.14 (0.07)	1.17 (0.07)	1.14 (0.06)
SGR (% day)	0.24 (0.20)	0.24 (0.13)	0.28 (0.11)	0.23 (0.09)
RFC (% of origin) ^a	0	0	0	0
MFC (% of origin) ^a	0	0	0	0
Day 369				
Parameter	Etne × Etne ($n = 151$)	Hybrid1 (n = 208)	Hybrid2 (n = 215)	Mowi \times Mowi (n = 230)
Body weight (g)	1367. 06 (592.01)	2526.63 (598.01)	2152.56 (628.73)	3392.53 (624.60)
Length (cm)	47.30 (6.56)	57.19 (3.97)	54.78 (5.07)	62.65 (3.30)
Condition factor (κ)	1.19 (0.11)	1.31 (0.12)	1.26 (0.10)	1.36 (0.10)
SGR (% day)	1.02 (0.15)	1.10 (0.09)	1.04 (0.09)	1.04 (0.07)
Heart weight (g) ^b	1.86 (0.68)	3.56 (0.69)	2.76 (0.69)	4.74 (0.89)
RFC (% of origin)	7	5	5	3
MFC (% of origin)	27	26	28	28
Day 537				
Parameter	Etne × Etne ($n = 137$)	Hybrid1 (n = 165)	Hybrid2 (n = 178)	Mowi \times Mowi (n = 147)
Body weight (g)	2392.72 (1180.71)	4547.90 (1213.77)	3944.81 (1142.13)	5932.85 (1367.817)
Length (cm)	57.94 (8.65)	71.21 (6.05)	68.52 (6.30)	77. 35 (6.24)
Condition factor (κ)	1.13 (0.14)	1.22 (0.13)	1.18 (0.11)	1.25 (0.12)
SGR (% day)	0.76 (0.08)	0.83 (0.06)	0.79 (0.07)	0.78 (0.07)
Heart weight (g)	3.70 (1.78)	6.55 (1.93)	5.97 (1.67)	8.46 (2.12)
CSI (%)	0.15 (0.02)	0.14 (0.02)	0.15 (0.02)	0.14 (0.02)
RFC (% of origin)	1	1	1	0.6
MFC (% of origin)	28	20	32	23

Note: n=observations. The numbers are mean (S.D) or frequency within experimental group (%). Hybrid1=Etne × Mowi, Hybrid2=Mowi × Etne. Abbreviations: CSI, cardio somatic index; MFC, melanized focal changes; RFC, red focal changes; SGR, Specific growth rate.

^aAt day 67, 20 fish were sampled for macroscopic evaluation of fillet (EE = 8, Hybrid1 = 1, Hybrid2 = 2, MM = 9.

^bAt day 369, heart weight was measured in 95 fish (EE=17, Hybrid1=32, Hybrid2=25, MM=21).

2.6 | Histological investigations

Histological investigations of all experimental groups were conducted at day 67, 369 and 537 (Table 3) and included transverse sections of white skeletal muscle. The sections included both RFC, MFC and controls (no discoloration). Prior to sectioning, the samples were cropped to the preferred size for block preparation and paraffin embedding was conducted according to standard procedures. The sections were cut to a thickness of 2μ m, transferred to glass slides and incubated in 37°C for 36–48h. Following deparaffinization in xylene the sections were rehydrated in alcohol baths and stained following a haematoxylin and eosin staining protocol. Fontana Masson stain was conducted to identify melanin pigment (Bancroft & Gamble, 2008). By using a developed classification system on histological changes in melanized white skeletal muscle (Bjørgen et al., 2019) the histological sections were categorized from 1 to 9. Additional changes were noted.

To acquire an adequate number of samples from each experimental group, both macroscopic and histological investigations of samples from day 67 were conducted with knowledge of genetic

TABLE 3 Number of samples (n) in each experimental group selected for histological investigations of skeletal muscle and RtqPCR analyses for the presence of PRV-1 in spleen.

	Etne × Etne (n)	Hybrid1 (n)	Hybrid2 (n)	Mowi × Mowi (n)
Day 67				
Histology	8	1	2	9
Rt-qPCR	8	1	2	9
Day 369				
Histology	9	16	15	8
Rt-qPCR	9	15	14	8
Day 537				
Histology	17	15	21	15
Rt-qPCR	0	4	5	6

Note: Hvbrid1=Etne × Mowi, Hvbrid2=Mowi × Etne.

origin. However, at 369 and 537, the analyses were conducted blinded to the investigators with respect to genetic origin. The experimental group was revealed after the material had been analysed and classified.

3 RESULTS

3.1 Macroscopic results

3.1.1 | Growth parameters

At day 537, farmed salmon (Mowi x Mowi) showed the highest exponential increase in body weight of all experimental groups with a mean weight at 5932g (±1367). Mean weight of Hybrid1 (Etne x Mowi) were 4547g (±1213) and Hybrid2 (Mowi x Etne) 3944g (±1142). Wild salmon (Etne x Etne) had a mean weight of 2392g (±1180). Length measurements showed results corresponding to the weight registrations: Mean length of farmed salmon was 77 cm (\pm 6), Hybrid1 was 71 cm (\pm 6) and 68 cm (\pm 6) for Hybrid2. Wild salmon mean length was 58 cm (±8) at day 537. At day 537, significant differences were found in mean body weight between all experimental groups (χ^2 (3)=306,683, p<.05).

Using body weight and length, body condition (k factor) was calculated. At the trial starting point, wild salmon mean κ factor was highest, followed by Hybrid2, Hybrid1 and farmed salmon. At day 369, the results were reversed, as farmed salmon showed highest mean κ factor at 1.36 (±0.10), Hybrid1 at 1.32 (±0.12), Hybrid2 at 1.26 (±0.10) and wild salmon at 1.19 (±0.11). At day 537, all groups had a decline in body condition: Farmed salmon at 1.25 (0.12), Hybrid1 at 1.22 (±0.16), Hybrid2 at 1.18 (±0.11) and wild salmon at 1.13 (±0.14). SGR was calculated as percentage increase of growth per day. At day 369, mean SGR of wild salmon was 1.02 (±0.15), Hybrid1 was 1.10 (±0.09), Hybrid2 was 1.04 (±0.09) and farmed salmon was 1.04 (\pm 0.07). At day 537, there was a decline in SGR within

all experimental groups: Wild salmon: 0.76 (±0.08), Hybrid1: 0.83 (±0.06), Hybrid2: 0.79 (±0.07) and farmed salmon: 0.78 (±0.07).

3.1.2 | Heart size and maturation

At day 369 and 537, heart size was evaluated by weight (g). Mean heart weight (g) was lowest in wild salmon with 3.70g (±1.78). Hybrid1 had a mean heart weight at 6.55g (±1.93), and Hybrid2 was 5.97 g (±1.67). Farmed salmon had a mean heart weight at 8.46 g (±2.12). At day 537, cardio somatic index was calculated (CSI, % of body weight) (Frisk et al., 2020) (Table 2). Salmon of wild origin had the highest mean CSI at 0.158 (±0.02) followed by Hybrid2 at 0.154 (±0.02). Hybrid1 had a mean CSI of 0.145 (±0.02) and wild salmon had a CSI of 0.144 (±0.02). At day 537, significant differences were found in mean heart weight between all experimental groups $(\chi^2 (3) = 264.088, p < .05)$. There was a positive correlation between heart weight and body weight (r=0.9178, p<.05). The logistic regression model conducted with RFC/MFC as response variable and experimental groups and heart weight (g) as explanatory variable/ associated variables showed that none of the variables were significant with OR 1.07 (p=.485, 95% CI [0.88; 1.31]) and 0.95 (p=.324, 95% CI [0.87; 1.04]), respectively. The result was also not significant when using experimental groups and CSI (%) as explanatory variable/associated variables with OR 1.05 (p=.058, CI [0.86; 1.19]) and 1.98 (p=.849, CI [0.00; 2342.70], respectively.

Maturation was also evaluated at day 537, with the highest percentage registered in the hybrid groups, Hybrid1 (Etne x Mowi) 31% and Hybrid2 (Mowi x Etne) 28%. Wild salmon had a maturation percentage of 25% while the farmed salmon group had the lowest degree of maturation of only 15%.

3.1.3 Red and melanized focal changes (RFC/MFC)

Macroscopic evaluation was conducted at day 67, 369 and 537. At day 67. no RFC or MFC were detected. At day 369. discoloration was detected in 264 of 804 fish, herein 41 RFC and 223 MFC. Thirteen fish had both RFC and MFC. At day 537, discoloration was detected in 171 of 627 fish, herein seven RFC and 164 MFC. Two fish had both RFC and MFC. In general, the prevalence of RFC and MFC increased after seawater transfer (Figure 1). The prevalence of discoloration showed a minor decrease from day 369 to day 537. The prevalence (%) and distribution of RFC and MFC in the different experimental groups are shown in Table 2 and Figure 2. There was no statistically significant association in the presence of RFC and MFC between the experimental groups at day 369 (χ^2 (df=9, n=804)=5.4320, p=.795) or day 537 (χ^2 (df=9, n=627)=6.9193, p=.646). By visual examination, all samples were scored by the Mowi classification system, grading the RFC and MFC from 1 to 3. In all experimental groups, grade 1 was the most frequent score, followed by grade 2. Grade 3 was the least observed grade in all experimental groups. At both day 369 and 537 there was no statistically significant

-WILEY- Journal of Fish Diseases BRIMSHOLM ET AL.

association between RFC grade and experimental groups (χ^2 (df=9, n=804)=12.1404, p=.206, χ^2 (df=9, n=627)=10.0244, p=.349), or MFC grade and experimental groups (χ^2 (df=9, n=804)=9.6834, p=.377, χ^2 (df=9, n=627)=16.4981, p=.057).

3.2 | PRV-1 (RT-qPCR)

At day 67, PRV-1 was not detected in any fish (n=20). At day 369, 45 of 46 samples tested positive for PRV-1 (mean Ct-value 27.03). At day 537, 15 of 15 samples tested positive for PRV-1 (mean Ct-value 32.19).

3.3 | Histological investigations

3.3.1 | Day 67

At day 67, all experimental groups were represented within the obtained 20 samples. In all samples, most myocytes presented no pathological changes. Melano-macrophages were predominantly confined within the connective tissue adjacent to blood vessels, but also occasionally interspersed between adipocytes in the zone



FIGURE 1 Prevalence of red (RFC) and melanized (MFC) focal changes at each sampling point (day 67, 369 and 537).



3.3.2 | Day 369 and 537

At day 369, 46 samples were evaluated by histological investigations, herein eight RFC (Etne x Etne: n=1, Hybrid1: n=3, Hybrid2: n=2, Mowi x Mowi: n=2) and 30 MFC. Eight samples had no macroscopic discoloration. At day 537, 68 samples were selected for histology, herein five RFC (Etne x Etne: n=0, Hybrid1: n=3, Hybrid2: n=2, Mowi x Mowi: n=1) and 61 MFC. Two samples had no macroscopic discoloration.

Histological findings of RFC at both sampling points (day 369 and 537) in each experimental group were characterized by haemorrhage and necrotic myocytes, coinciding with the changes described by Bjørgen et al., 2019. Extravascular erythrocytes were seen between myocytes and interspersed in adipose tissue both between necrotic myocytes (Figure 4a) and in the myosepta (Figure 4b). In more progressed changes, melano-macrophages were found scattered in the affected tissue, however, not as abundant as in MFC. Here, vacuoles, inflammatory cells and fibroblasts were also present (Figure 4c).

The MFC largely coincided with the histological descriptions presented by Bjørgen et al., 2019. This included melano-macrophages interspersed between intact myocytes (category 2), infiltration in the muscle tissue of melano-macrophages and other inflammatory cells, with fibrosis (category 6) and diffuse and nodular granulomatous inflammation and presence of myocyte regeneration (category 8 and 9). Both low- and high-grade categories were observed in all experimental groups. In addition, some changes not represented in the established category system were observed. These changes were seen in all experimental groups and included melano-macrophages in the adipose tissue in the myosepta and perimysium, and various types of vacuoles and/or granulomas. At day 537, histological examination revealed prominent changes in MFC characterized





FIGURE 2 Distribution of red (RFC) and melanized (MFC) focal changes (%) between experimental groups at day 369 (a) and day 537 (b).

FIGURE 3 Histological changes in skeletal muscle in fish sampled at day 67. No macroscopic discoloration observed. (a) Farmed salmon (Mowi × Mowi). Area between red (black asterisk) and white (white asterisk) skeletal muscle. Melanomacrophage (arrowhead) interspersed between adipocytes. HE stain, scale bar=50 µm. (b) Larger magnification of area in (a) with melano-macrophage in adipose tissue. HE stain, scale bar=25 um. (c) Wild salmon (Etne × Etne). Melanomacrophages present in the connective tissue of a blood vessel. HE stain, scale $bar = 50 \mu m.$ (d) Larger magnification of area in (c) with extravascular melanomacrophages. HE stain, scale bar = $25 \,\mu$ m. (e) Wild salmon (Etne × Etne). Positive melanin staining in area between red (black asterisk) and white (white asterisk) skeletal muscle. Fontana Masson stain, scale bar = $50 \,\mu m$. (f) Farmed salmon (Mowi × Mowi). Positive staining for melanin adjacent to blood vessel. Fontana Masson stain, scale bar = $50 \mu m$.



by the presence of vacuoles and melano-macrophages, as well as granulomas in putative various stages. These stages included wellorganized granulomas (Figure 5a), granulomas with central vacuoles (Figure 5b), enlarged central vacuole with fewer surrounding macrophages (Figure 5c), and vacuoles with few surrounding immune cells, except for elongated melano-macrophages lining the rim of the vacuole (Figure 5d). Using Fontana Masson stain, melanin pigment was confirmed in these different stages (Figure 5e,f).

4 | DISCUSSION

This study aimed to assess the genetic influence on the occurrence of RFC and MFC in Atlantic salmon. Individuals from wild, farmed and hybrid origins were reared under identical conditions and sampled before and after transfer to sea and followed until reaching slaughter weight. RFC and MFC were detected after sea cage transfer, and their prevalence increased throughout the production period, although a minor decrease was registered at slaughter. Importantly, no significant difference in the prevalence of RFC and MFC was found between the four experimental groups.

In contrast, our study revealed significant differences in growth parameters between farmed and wild salmon, with the hybrids displaying intermediate characteristics. These results align with previous reports investigating wild, hybrid and farmed fish kept in common conditions (Glover et al., 2009; Perry et al., 2021; Thodesen et al., 1999). Specific growth rate (SGR) and body condition (κ factor) are commonly used metrics in salmonid aquaculture to assess growth and quality, respectively. A higher κ factor value in general indicates better growth and quality (Barnham & Baxter, 1998; Stien et al., 2013) and is correlated with increased fat content of the fish (Einen et al., 1998; Hamre et al., 2004). However, an increased κ factor has been observed in fish with deformed vertebra (Hansen et al., 2010). The κ factor also varies during the production cycle (Mørkøre & Rørvik, 2001) and is thus influenced by multiple factors. The observed decline in SGR and k factor at day 537 can be attributed to variations in day length (photoperiod), as both photoperiod and temperature have been shown to influence these parameters in previous studies (Fjelldal et al., 2009; Nordgarden et al., 2003). It is important to note that SGR tends to decrease with increasing fish size (Jobling, 2010).

In our study, we found significant differences in heart size (g) among all experimental groups. However, we observed a high correlation between heart size and body size. A previous study examining farmed, wild and hybrid Atlantic salmon kept in common rearing conditions did not detect any differences in heart size and



FIGURE 4 Histological changes in red focal changes (RFC).HE stain. Hybrid1 (Etne \times MowiOWI), sampled at day 369 selected for illustration. (a) Erythrocytes and inflammatory cells in adipose tissue between necrotic white skeletal myocytes. Scale bar = 20 µm. (b) Area with haemorrhage in adipose tissue in myosepta. Scale bar = 20 µm. (c) Area in myotome with myocyte necrosis, and presence of erythrocytes, fibroblasts and inflammatory cells. Melano-macrophages are also present (arrowhead). Note the large vacuole (asterisk). Scale bar = 20 µm.



FIGURE 5 Histological changes seen in MFC at day 537. (a) Hybrid1 (Etne × Mowi). Well-organized, cell-rich granuloma, with elongated melanomacrophages and macrophage-like cells. HE stain, scale bar = $50 \mu m$. (b) Hybrid2 (Mowi × Etne). Granuloma with central vacuole and surrounding melano-macrophages and macrophagelike cells. HE stain, scale bar = $50 \mu m.$ (c) Hybrid2 (Mowi × Etne). Larger central vacuole, surrounded by elongated melano-macrophages and less abundant macrophage-like cells. HE stain, scale $bar = 50 \mu m.$ (d) Wild salmon (Etne \times Etne). Vacuole surrounded by elongated melanomacrophages, deprived of macrophagelike cells. HE stain, scale bar = $50 \mu m$. (e) Hybrid2 (Mowi × Etne). Large vacuole with elongated cells staining positive for melanin. Fontana Masson stain. scale $bar = 50 \mu m.$ (f) Hybrid2 (Mowi \times Etne). Elongated cells staining positive for melanin surrounding a vacuole and in adjacent adipose tissue. Fontana Masson stain, scale bar = $100 \,\mu m$.

morphology when accounting for body size (Perry et al., 2020). These results suggest that the altered heart morphology and weight observed in farmed salmon compared to their wild counterparts (Poppe et al., 2003) are likely attributable to environmental factors, such as altered activity levels (Gamperl & Farrell, 2004) and hatchery protocols (Brijs et al., 2020; Frisk et al., 2020). It has been suggested that cardiac malformations may lead to decreased oxygen transport due to reduced cardiac output (Frisk et al., 2020; Johansen et al., 2017; Poppe et al., 2003). This could potentially result in hypoxia in the skeletal muscle, leading to myocyte necrosis and subsequent local inflammation. While we did not specifically investigate cardiac morphology in this study, we found no significant relationship between heart weight and CSI and the presence of RFC/MFC. Therefore, the development of the focal skeletal muscle inflammation does not appear to be linked to these heart parameters.

Macroscopically, RFC and MFC were registered and scored from 1 to 3. Visual examination of the fillets at three different timepoints revealed the absence of RFC and MFC before seawater transfer, with an increased prevalence observed after transfer to sea. This pattern of increasing prevalence after sea transfer is consistent with the findings of Bjørgen et al., 2019. However, our study diverges from their results as we observed a decline in MFC at the point of slaughter. In chronic inflammatory conditions, the rate of inflammation and repair depends on various factors, including the size of the changes, the removal of any persisting agent and the regenerative capacity of the tissue involved (Zachary, 2017). It is important to note that teleosts are poikilothermic vertebrates that adjust to the surrounding temperature. Thus, sea water plays a significant role in influencing the rate inflammation and repair, even during chronic granulomatous inflammation (Le Morvan et al., 1998; Roberts, 2012; Timur et al., 1977). Our study ended in August, during a period with relatively high seawater temperature (C°), whereas the final sampling in the study of Bjørgen et al., 2019 took place in December when seawater temperatures were lower. Therefore, the decline of MFC observed in our study may be temperature-related, with higher temperatures providing a more favourable environment for healing and tissue repair.

In the statistical analysis, we found no significant differences in the distribution and grade of RFC and MFC among the experimental groups. This indicates that the dissimilar prevalence of RFC/MFC in farmed and wild salmon is not primarily influenced by genetic (internal) factors, but rather by external factors, such as nutrition, density, milieu and handling practices. During the seawater phase of our study, fish handling was minimized. The attached sea lice were manually removed, eliminating the need for chemical or mechanical treatments. No other infections were treated throughout the trial. However, the presence of PRV-1 was detected through Rt-qPCR analyses of spleen at day 369 and 537. Previous reports have confirmed that Atlantic salmon may be infected with PRV-1 without presenting clinical signs of disease, that is heart and skeletal muscle inflammation (Wessel et al., 2017; Wessel et al., 2020). Our results show that PRV-1 was present in the spleen of the majority of the fish in the seawater phase, thus the local presence of PRV-1 within RFC and MFC was not investigated. However, the link between PRV-1 infection and MFC has been addressed in previous work, indicating the virus to be a chronic trigger of inflammation due to persistent presence and replication within the most severe, granulomatous changes (Bjørgen et al., 2015, 2020). The presence of PRV-1 in samples obtained during the seawater phase, combined with the marked increase of RFC and MFC at sea, are in line with the previous associations that have been reported between PRV-1 infection and RFC/MFC.

The density of fish in the seawater cages (0.7 kg m^3) was relatively low compared to the maximum acceptable density in

standard production (25 kg/m³) (Lovdata, 2008). Therefore, external trauma resulting from handling and installations during the sea cage stage is unlikely to have played a significant role in the development of RFC and MFC in our study. However, it is important to note that the overall prevalence of MFC in the seawater phase of our study was approximately 25%, which aligns with previous reports from commercial production. This evident increase in prevalence suggests that the underlying cause of these changes may occur immediately before or after sea transfer, potentially attributed to physiological, infectious, nutritional, or other production-related factors.

Journal of Fish Diseases

Following macroscopical evaluation, we conducted histological investigations to further examine the focal discolorations observed in each experimental group. As melano-macrophages may contain several pigments, such as melanin, lipofuscin and hemosiderin (Agius, 1985; Agius & Roberts, 2003) the presence of melanin pigment was confirmed through Fontana Masson stain. At day 67, prior to seawater transfer, no macroscopic changes were visible. However, samples containing both red and white skeletal muscle were sampled to investigate potential histological changes. In these samples, scattered melano-macrophages were detected in close proximity to vessels across all experimental groups. While melano-macrophages and melanin are typically abundant in lymphoid organs like the head kidney and spleen (Thorsen et al., 2006), they can also be found in a perivascular location (Roberts, 1975), particularly in farmed fish, as seen in cod (Cooper & Midling, 2007). At day 67, melanomacrophages were also observed interspersed in the adipose tissue between red and white skeletal muscle in half of the samples, with all experimental groups represented. The myosepta between white muscle myotomes was difficult to evaluate at this time point, likely due lower fat composition in the feed at this point of production compared to later phases (FAO, 2023). As a result, the presence of melano-macrophages in myoseptal adipose tissue could not be evaluated. In a previous study, RFC were observed in freshwater smolts, but not MFC (Jiménez-Guerrero et al., 2022). In addition, histological investigations were not performed in their study, thus the presence of inflammatory cells including melano-macrophages was not addressed. The dynamics of melano-macrophages in inflammatory conditions during the freshwater stage remain largely unknown and should be subject for future investigations.

The observed focal changes at both sampling points in sea water (day 369 and 537) aligned with the histological descriptions of RFC and MFC provided by Bjørgen et al., 2019 and Bjørgen et al., 2020. RFC were present in all experimental groups and exhibited similar characteristics. The histopathological features of MFC generally corresponded to the classification used in Bjørgen et al., 2019, with a few exceptions. One notable finding was the presence of melano-macrophages in the adipose tissue within the myosepta and perimysium, with no other changes detected. The presence of melano-macrophages in the adipose tissue could result from recruitment and actions of inflammatory cells caused by a previous haemorrhage and acute inflammation, as seen in RFC. Additionally, an inflammatory state within the adipose tissue induced by adipocytes themselves could lead to recruitment of inflammatory cells. Reports have indicated an increase in recruited macrophages within adipose tissue of obese humans due to elevated levels of pro-inflammatory mediators (Li et al., 2023; Page et al., 2011). Inflammation of adipose tissue can potentially be induced by hypoxia resulting from adipocytes hypertrophy (Trayhurn et al., 2008). Interestingly, an increase of adipocyte size has been observed in fish-fed vegetable oils, which are commonly included in standard commercial diets due to high costs of fish oil (Cruz-Garcia et al., 2011; Tacon & Metian, 2008). Importantly, a lower dietary content of fish oils, which also leads to lower levels of eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA), has been associated with a higher prevalence of MFC (Lufti et al., 2023; Sissener et al., 2016). The histopathological occurrence of fat in RFC and MFC has to a certain extent been addressed in previous reports. In these reports, the focus was not solely on the location of the granulomas in relation to adipose tissue, but rather the more general role of fat in growth and feeding composition, and the possible correlation between a high-fat content and RFC/MFC (Mørkøre et al., 2016). The granulomas in previous reports were located in relation to white, but not red, skeletal muscle, however, with varying degree of adipocytes present. The adipocytes are suggested to play an active role in the inflammation, as seen in some conditions in mammals (Kawai et al., 2021), however, an initial damage to the adipose tissue cannot be ruled out. In the rare condition of melanized red skeletal muscle. granulomas were not detected (Brimsholm et al., 2022).

The occurrence of granulomas and vacuoles in MFC observed at day 537 has previously been documented in both vaccinated and non-vaccinated Atlantic salmon (Berg et al., 2007; Koppang et al., 2005; Larsen et al., 2012, 2014). In these studies, granulomas were described as well-organized structures containing macrophages, that is melano-macrophages, multinucleated giant cells and epithelioid-like cells. The extracellular vacuoles were filled with erythrocytes and macrophage-like cells, or containing lipids, or they were empty. Vacuoles were also observed centrally within organized granulomas. Our findings align with these previous reports on different stages of granulomas in MFC. It is plausible to suggest that these putative different stages may represent a healing process, culminating in the formation of relatively large vacuoles surrounded by melano-macrophages. Granulomas are commonly observed in chronic inflammation in fish (Roberts, 2012), and their development and characteristics can vary depending on the underlying cause and fish species (Balouet & Laurencin, 1986). Notably, large vacuoles have also been observed in advanced RFC without the presence of granulomas (Bjørgen et al., 2020), indicating that the development of vacuoles without pre-existing granulomas is also a possibility.

In conclusion, our study demonstrates the occurrence of RFC and MFC in genetically wild Atlantic salmon, selectively farmed Atlantic salmon and hybrid Atlantic salmon when subjected to identical rearing conditions. The prevalence of RFC/MFC in these different fish groups indicates that environmental factors associated with the rearing conditions play a significant role in their development. Genetic factors, on the other hand, do not seem to be the driving force behind the occurrence of RFC and MFC. These findings highlight the importance of considering and optimizing rearing conditions to minimize the prevalence of these lesions in farmed Atlantic salmon.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Håvard Bjørgen: Conceptualization; methodology; software; investigation; supervision; project administration; writing – review and editing; writing – original draft; visualization; funding acquisition; formal analysis; validation. **Malin Brimsholm:** Software; validation; investigation; formal analysis; visualization; writing – original draft; writing – review and editing; project administration. **Per Fjelldal:** Writing – review and editing; conceptualization; methodology; funding acquisition; resources; project administration. **Monica Solberg:** Methodology; investigation; writing – review and editing. **Erling Olaf Koppang:** Conceptualization; methodology; investigation; formal analysis; writing – original draft; writing – review and editing; validation; funding acquisition; resources; project administration.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Norwegian Seafood Research Fund (FHF) is acknowledged for partial funding (Grant number 901501).

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

ORCID

Malin Brimsholm [©] https://orcid.org/0009-0002-2724-3822 Erling Olaf Koppang [®] https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4859-1455 Håvard Bjørgen [®] https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4683-0088

REFERENCES

- Agius, C. (1985). The melano-macrophage centres of fish: A review. In M. J. Manning & M. F. Tatner (Eds.), *Fish immunology* (pp. 85–105). Academic Press.
- Agius, C., & Roberts, R. J. (2003). Melano-macrophage centres and their role in fish pathology. Journal of Fish Diseases, 26(9), 499-509.
- Balouet, G., & Laurencin, F. B. (1986). Granulomatous nodules in fish: An experimental assessment in rainbow trout, Salmo Gairdneri Richardson, and turbot, Scopththalmus maximus (L.). Journal of Fish Diseases, 9, 417-429.
- Bancroft, J. D., & Gamble, M. (2008). Theory and practice of histological techniques. Elservier Health Sciences.
- Barnham, C., Baxter, A. (1998). Condition factor, K, for salmonid fish. Fisheries Notes. ISSN 1440-2254. State of Victoria, Department of Primary Industries.
- Berg, A., Rødseth, O. M., & Hansen, T. (2007). Fish size at vaccination influence the development of side-effects in Atlantic salmon (Salmo Salar L.). Aquaculture, 265(1), 9–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquac ulture.2007.02.014
- Bjørgen, H., Haldorsen, R., Oaland, Ø., Kvellestad, A., Kannimuthu, D., Rimstad, E., & Koppang, E. O. (2019). Melanized focal changes in skeletal muscle in farmed Atlantic salmon after natural infection with piscine orthoreovirus (PRV). *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 42(6), 935–945. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.12995

- Bjørgen, H., Kumar, S., Gunnes, G., Press, C. M., Rimstad, E., & Koppang, E. O. (2020). Immunopathological characterization of red focal changes in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) white muscle. *Veterinary Immunology and Pathology*, 222, 110035. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. vetimm.2020.110035
- Bjørgen, H., Wessel, Ø., Fjelldal, P. G., Hansen, T., Sveier, H., Sæbø, H. R., Enger, K. B., Monsen, E., Kvellestad, A., Rimstad, E., & Koppang, E. O. (2015). *Piscine orthoreovirus* (PRV) in red and melanised foci in white muscle of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). *Veterinary Research*, 46, 89. https://doi.org/10.1186/s1356 7-015-0244-6
- Brijs, J., Hjelmstedt, P., Berg, C., Johansen, I. B., Sundh, H., Roques, J. A. C., Ekström, A., Sandblom, E., Sundell, K., Olsson, C., Axlensson, M., & Gräns, A. (2020). Prevalence and severity of cardiac abnormalities and arteriosclerosis in farmed rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus* mykiss). Aquaculture, 526, 735417. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquac ulture.2020.735417
- Brimsholm, M., Fjelldal, P. G., Hansen, T., Trangerud, C., Knutsen, G. M., Asserson, C. F., Koppang, E. O., & Bjørgen, H. (2023). Anatomical and pathological characteristics of ribs in the Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) and its relevance to soft tissue changes. Anatomia Histologia. Embryologia, 52(3), 421–436. https://doi.org/10.1111/ ahe.12900
- Brimsholm, M., Rønning, L., Rimstad, E., Koppang, E. O., & Bjørgen, H. (2022). Diffuse melanization of the red skeletal musculature in farmed Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*). *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 46(4), 453–458. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.13729
- Cooper, M., & Midling, K. Ø. (2007). Blood vessel melanosis: A physiological detoxification mechanism in Atlantic cod (Gadus morhua). Aquaculture International, 15(1), 43–54. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10499-006-9067-9
- Cruz-Garcia, L., Sánchez-Gurmaches, J., Bouraoui, L., Saera-Vila, A., Pérez-Sánchez, J., Gutiérrez, J., & Navarro, I. (2011). Changes in adipocyte cell size, gene expression of lipid metabolism markers, and lipolytic responses induced by dietary fish oil replacement in gilthead sea bream (Sparus aurata L.). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, Part A, 158(4), 391–399. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cbpa.2010.11.024
- Debes, P. V., Solberg, M. F., Matre, I. H., Dyrhovden, L., & Glover, K. A. (2021). Genetic variation for upper thermal tolerance diminishes within and between populations with increasing acclimation temperature in Atlantic salmon. *Heredity*, 127(5), 455–466. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41437-021-00469-y
- Einen, O., Waagan, B., & Thomassen, M. S. (1998). Starvation prior to slaughter in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*): I. effects on weight loss, body shape, slaughter- and fillet-yield, proximate and fatty acid composition. *Aquaculture*, 166(1), 85–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0044-8486(98)00279-8
- FAO. (2023). Food and agriculture organization of the United Nations. Atlantic salmon–Nutritional requirements. Retrieved from https:// www.fao.org/fishery/affris/species-profiles/atlantic-salmon/nutri tional-requirements/en/
- Finstad, Ø., Dahle, M., Lindholm, T., Nyman, I., Løvoll, M., Wallace, C., Olsen, C. M., Storset, A., & Rimstad, E. (2014). Piscine orthoreovirus (PRV) infects Atlantic salmon erythrocytes. Veterinary Research, 45(1), 35. https://doi.org/10.1186/1297-9716-45-35
- Fjelldal, P. G., Glover, K. A., Skaala, Ø., Imsland, A., & Hansen, T. J. (2009). Vertebral body mineralization and deformities in cultured Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.): Effects of genetics and off-season smolt production. Aquaculture, 296(1), 36–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. aquaculture.2009.08.020
- Fleming, I. A., Agustsson, T., Finstad, B., Johnsson, J. I., & Björnsson, B. T. (2002). Effects of domestication on growth physiology and endocrinology of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). *Canadian Journal* of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 59(8), 1323–1330. https://doi. org/10.1139/f02-082

- Journal of
 11

 Frisk, M., Høyland, M., Zhang, L., Vindas, M. A., Øverli, Ø., & Johansen,
 I. B. (2020). Intensive smolt production is associated with deviating cardiac morphology in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.).
 Aquaculture, 529, 735615. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735615
- Gamperl, A. K., & Farrell, A. P. (2004). Cardiac plasticity in fishes: Environmental influences and intraspecific differences. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 207(15), 2539–2550. https://doi.org/10.1242/ jeb.01057
- Gjedrem, T. (1983). Genetic variation in quantitative traits and selective breeding in fish and shellfish. *Aquaculture*, 33(1), 51-72. https://doi. org/10.1016/0044-8486(83)90386-1
- Gjedrem, T. (2010). The first family-based breeding program in aquaculture. Reviews in Aquaculture, 2(1), 2–15. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1753-5131.2010.01011.x
- Gjedrem, T., Gjøen, H. M., & Gjerde, B. (1991). Genetic origin of Norwegian farmed Atlantic salmon. Aquaculture, 98(1-3), 41-50. https://doi.org/10.1016/0044-8486(91)90369-1
- Gjedrem, T., Salte, R., & Gjøen, H. M. (1991). Genetic variation in susceptibility of Atlantic salmon to furunculosis. Aquaculture, 97(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/0044-8486(91)90274-B
- Gjøen, H. M., & Bentsen, H. B. (1997). Past, present, and future of genetic improvement in salmon aquaculture. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 54(6), 1009–1014. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1054 -3139(97)80005-7
- Glover, K. A., Hamre, L. A., Skaala, Ø., & Nilsen, F. (2004). A comparison of sea louse (*Lepeophtheirus salmonis*) infection levels in farmed and wild Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) stocks. *Aquaculture*, 232(1), 41– 52. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(03)00454-X
- Glover, K. A., Otterå, H., Olsen, R. E., Slinde, E., Taranger, G. L., & Skaala, Ø. (2009). A comparison of farmed, wild and hybrid Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) reared under farming conditions. Aquaculture, 286(3), 203–210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2008.09.023
- Glover, K. A., Solberg, M. F., McGinnity, P., Hindar, K., Verspoor, E., Coulson, M. W., Hansen, M. M., Araki, H., Skaala, Ø., & Svåsand, T. (2017). Half a century of genetic interaction between farmed and wild Atlantic salmon: Status of knowledge and unanswered questions. Fish and Fisheries (Oxford, England), 18(5), 890–927. https:// doi.org/10.1111/faf.12214
- Hamre, K., Christiansen, R., Waagbo, R., Maage, A., Torstensen, B. E., Lygren, B., Lie, Ø., Wathne, E., & Albrektsen, S. (2004). Antioxidant vitamins, minerals and lipid levels in diets for Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*, L.): Effects on growth performance and fillet quality. *Aquaculture Nutrition*, 10(2), 113–123. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2095.2003.00288.x
- Hansen, T., Fjelldal, P. G., Yurtseva, A., & Berg, A. (2010). A possible relation between growth and number of deformed vertebrae in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.). Journal of Applied Ichthyology, 26(2), 355–359. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0426.2010.01434.x
- Hansen, T. J., & Møller, D. (1985). Yolk absorption, yolk sac constrictions, mortality, and growth during first feeding of Atlantic Salmon (Salmo salar) incubated on Astro-turf. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 42(6), 1073–1078. https://doi.org/10.1139/ f85-133
- Houde, E. D., & Schekter, R. C. (1981). Growth rates, rations and cohort consumption of marine fish larvae in relation to prey concentrations. Rapports et Proces-Verbaux Des Reunions–Conseil Permanent International Pour Exploration de la Mer, 178, 441–453.
- Houston, R. D., Haley, C. S., Hamilton, A., Guy, D. R., Tinch, A. E., Taggart, J. B., McAndrew, B. J., & Bishop, S. C. (2008). Major quantitative trait loci affect resistance to infectious pancreatic necrosis in Atlantic Salmon (*Salmo salar*). *Genetics*, 178(2), 1109–1115. https:// doi.org/10.1534/genetics.107.082974
- Jiménez-Guerrero, R., Bæverfjord, G., Evensen, Ø., Hamre, K., Larsson, T., Dessen, J.-E., Gannestad, K. H., & Mørkøre, T. (2022). Rib abnormalities and their association with focal dark spots in Atlantic

salmon fillets. Aquaculture, 561, 738697. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. aquaculture.2022.738697

- Jobling, M. (2010). Are compensatory growth and catch-up growth two sides of the same coin. Aquaculture International, 18(4), 501–510. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10499-009-9260-8
- Johansen, I. B., Sandblom, E., Skov, P. V., Gräns, A., Ekström, A., Lunde, I. G., Vindas, M. A., Zhang, L., Höglund, E., Frisk, M., Sjaastad, I., Nilsson, G. E., & Øverli, Ø. (2017). Bigger is not better: Cortisolinduced cardiac growth and dysfunction in salmonids. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 220(14), 2545–2553. https://doi.org/10.1242/ jeb.135046
- Kawai, T., Autieri, M. V., & Scalia, R. (2021). Adipose tissue inflammation andmetabolic dysfunction in obesity. *American Journal of Physiology Cell Physiology*, 320(3), C375–C391. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpce II.00379.2020
- Koppang, E. O., Haugarvoll, E., Hordvik, I., Aune, L., & Poppe, T. T. (2005). Vaccine-associated granulomatous inflammation and melanin accumulation in Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar L.*, white muscle. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 28(1), 13–22. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2761.2004.00583.x
- Larsen, H. A. S., Austbø, L., Mørkøre, T., Thorsen, J., Hordvik, I., Fischer, U., Jirillo, E., Rimstad, E., & Koppang, E. O. (2012). Pigmentproducing granulomatous myopathy in Atlantic salmon: A novel inflammatory response. Fish & Shellfish Immunology, 33(2), 277-285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2012.05.012
- Larsen, H. A. S., Austbø, L., Nodtvedt, A., Fraser, T. W. K., Rimstad, E., Fjelldal, P. G., Hansen, T., & Koppang, E. O. (2014). The effect of vaccination, ploidy and smolt production regime on pathological melanin depositions in muscle tissue of Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 37(4), 327–340. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jfd.12106
- Lawlor, J. L., Dacanay, A., Hutchings, J. A., Brown, L. L., & Sperker, S. A. (2009). Differences in pathogen resistance within and among cultured, conservation-dependent, and endangered populations of Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L. Environmental Biology of Fishes, 84(1), 69–78. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10641-008-9390-2
- Le Morvan, C., Troutaud, D., & Deschaux, P. (1998). Differential effects of temperature on specific and nonspecific immune defences in fish. Journal of Experimental Biology, 201(2), 165–168. https://doi. org/10.1242/jeb.201.2.165
- Li, B., Sun, S., Li, J.-J., Yuan, J.-P., Sun, S.-R., & Wu, Q. (2023). Adipose tissue macrophages: Implications for obesity-associated cancer. *Military Medical Research*, 10(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/s4077 9-022-00437-5
- Lovdata. (2008). Forskrift om drift i akvakultursanlegg (Akvakulturdriftsforskriften). Retrieved from https://lovdata.no/ dokument/SF/forskrift/2008-06-17-822?q=akvakulturdrifts
- Lufti, E., Berge, G. M., Bæverfjord, G., Sigholt, S., Bou, M., Larsson, T., Mørkøre, T., Evensen, Ø., Sissener, N. H., Rosenlund, G., Sveen, L., Østbye, T.-K., & Ruyter, B. (2023). Increasing dietary levels of the n-3 long-chain PUFA, EPA and DHA, improves the growth, welfare, robustness and fillet quality of Atlantic salmon in sea cages. British Journal of Nutrition, 129, 10–28. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0007 114522000642
- Lush, L., Marshall, K., Eaves, A., Salvo, F., Murray, H. M., & Hamoutene, D. (2019). Susceptibility of farmed and two origins of wild Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) to experimental infestations with sea lice (*Lepeophtheirus salmonis*). Aquaculture, 503, 602–608. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.12.033
- Malik, M. S., Bjørgen, H., Dhamotharan, K., Wessel, Ø., Koppang, E. O., Di Cicco, E., Hansen, E. F., Dahle, M. K., & Rimstad, E. (2019). Erythroid progenitor cells in Atlantic Salmon (*Salmo salar*) may be persistently and productively infected with piscine Orthoreovirus (PRV). Viruses, 11(9), 824. https://doi.org/10.3390/v11090824
- Moen, T., Baranski, M., Sonesson, A. K., & Kjøglum, S. (2009). Confirmation and fine-mapping of a major QTL for resistance to

infectious pancreatic necrosis in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar): Population-level associations between markers and trait. BMC Genomics, 10(1), 368. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-10-368

- Mørkøre, T., Dessen, Larsson, T., Jimenez-Guerrero, R., & Rørvik, K. A. (2016). Effekt av fôr på melaninflekker i laks infisert med både PRV og SAV. Report number 31/2016 https://doi.org/10.13140/ RG.2.2.17548.10884
- Mørkøre, T., Larsson, T., Kvellestad, A. S., Koppang, E. O., Åsli, M., Krasnov, A., Dessen, J.-E., Moreno, H. M., Valen, E., Gannestad, K. H., Gjerde, B., Taksdal, T., Bæverfjord, G., Meng, Y., Heia, K., Wold, J. P., Borderias, A. J., Moghadam, H., Romarheim, O. H., & Rørvik, K. A. (2015). Mørke flekker i laksefilet. Kunnskapsstatus og tiltak for å begrense omfanget (Melanised changes in salmon fillet. Knowledge status and efforts to limit their occurrence). NOFIMA report 34/2015. https://nmbu.brage.unit.no/nmbu-xmlui/handle/11250/2368359
- Mørkøre, T., & Rørvik, K. A. (2001). Seasonal variations in growth, feed utilisation and product quality of farmed Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) transferred to seawater as 0+smolts or 1+smolts. Aquaculture, 199(1), 145-157. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044 -8486(01)00524-5
- MSD Animal Health, M. A. (2023). Aquaculture products. Retrieved from https://www.msd-animal-health.com/species/aquaculture/aquac ulture-products/
- Nordgarden, U., Oppedal, F., Taranger, G. L., Hemre, G. I., & Hansen, T. (2003). Seasonally changing metabolism in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*) I–growth and feed conversion ratio. *Aquaculture Nutrition*, 9(5), 287–293. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2095.2003.00256.x
- Norwegian Seafood Council. (2023). Yearly exports from Norway. Retrieved from https://en.seafood.no/market-insight/norwegiantrade/year/
- Wessel, Ø., Braaen, S., Alarcon, M., Haatveit, H., Roos, N., Markussen, T., Tengs, T., Dahle, M. K., & Rimstad, E. (2017). Infection with purified piscine orthoreovirus demonstrates a causal relationship with heart and skeletal muscle inflammation in Atlantic salmon. *PLoS One*, 12(8), e0183781. https://doi.org/10.1371/journ al.pone.0183781
- Page, S., Chandhoke, V., & Baranova, A. (2011). Melanin and melanogenesis in adipose tissue: Possible mechanisms for abating oxidative stress and inflammation. *Obesity Reviews*, 12(5), e21-e31. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-789X.2010.00773.x
- Perry, W. B., Kaufmann, J., Solberg, M. F., Brodie, C., Coral Medina, A. M., Pillay, K., Egerton, A., Harvey, A., Phillips, K. P., Coughlan, J., Egan, F., Grealis, R., Hutton, S., Leseur, F., Ryan, S., Poole, R., Rogan, G., Ryder, E., Schaal, P., ... Glover, K. A. (2021). Domestication-induced reduction in eye size revealed in multiple common garden experiments: The case of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*). Evolutionary Applications, 14(9), 2319–2332. https://doi. org/10.1111/eva.13297
- Perry, W. B., Solberg, M. F., Besnier, F., Dyrhovden, L., Matre, I. H., Fjelldal, P. G., Ayllon, F., Creer, S., Llewellyn, M., Taylor, M. I., Carvalho, G., & Glover, K. A. (2019). Evolutionary drivers of kype size in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*): Domestication, age and genetics. *Royal Society Open Science*, 6(4), 190021. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.190021
- Perry, W. B., Solberg, M. F., Brodie, C., Medina, A. C., Pillay, K. G., Egerton, A., Harvey, A., Creer, S., Llewellyn, M., Taylor, M., Carvalho, G., & Glover, K. A. (2020). Disentangling the effects of sex, life history and genetic background in Atlantic salmon: Growth, heart and liver under common garden conditions. *Royal Society Open Science*, 7(10), 200811. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.200811
- Poppe, T. T., Johansen, R., Gunnes, G., & Tørud, B. (2003). Heart morphology in wild and farmed Atlantic salmon Salmo salar and rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms, 57(1-2), 103–108. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao057103
- Roberts, R. J. (1975). Melanin-containing cells of teleost fish. In W. E. Riebelin & G. Migaki (Eds.), *The pathology of fishes* (pp. 399–428). University of Wisconsin Press.

Roberts, R. J. (2012). Fish pathology (4th ed.). Wiley-Blackwell.

- Schreck, C. B., & Moyle, P. B. (1990). *Methods for fish biology*. American Fisheries Society.
- Sissener, N. H., Waagbø, R., Rosenlund, G., Tvenning, L., Susort, S., Lea, T. B., Oaland, Ø., Chen, L., & Breck, O. (2016). Reduced n-3 long chain fatty acid levels in feed for Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) do not reduce growth, robustness or product quality through an entire full scale commercial production cycle in seawater. *Aquaculture*, 464, 236-245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2016.06.034
- Solberg, M. F., Skaala, Ø., Nilsen, F., & Glover, K. A. (2013). Does domestication cause changes in growth reaction norms? A study of farmed, wild and hybrid Atlantic salmon families exposed to environmental stress. *PLoS One*, 8(1), e54469. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0054469
- Stien, L. H., Bracke, M. B. M., Folkedal, O., Nilsson, J., Oppedal, F., Torgersen, T., Kittelsen, S., Midtlyng, P. J., Vindas, M. A., Øverli, Ø., & Kristiansen, T. S. (2013). Salmon welfare index model (SWIM 1.0): A semantic model for overall welfare assessment of caged Atlantic salmon: Review of the selected welfare indicators and model presentation. Reviews in Aquaculture, 5(1), 33–57. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1753-5131.2012.01083.x
- Tacon, A. G. J., & Metian, M. (2008). Global overview on the use of fish meal and fish oil in industrially compounded aquafeeds: Trends and future prospects. Aquaculture, 285(1), 146-158. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2008.08.015
- Thodesen, J., Grisdale-Helland, B., Helland, S. J., & Gjerde, B. (1999). Feed intake, growth and feed utilization of offspring from wild and selected Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). Aquaculture, 180(3), 237– 246. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(99)00204-5
- Thorsen, J., Høyheim, B., & Koppang, E. O. (2006). Isolation of the Atlantic salmon tyrosinase gene family reveals heterogenous transcripts in

a leukocyte cell line. *Pigment Cell Research*, 19(4), 327–336. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0749.2006.00319.x

-WILEY

Journal of

Fish Diseases

- Timur, M., Roberts, R. J., & McQueen, A. (1977). Carrageenin granuloma in the plaice (*Pleuronectes platessa*); a histopathological study of chronic inflammation in a teleost fish. *Journal of Comparative Pathology*, 87(1), 89–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/0021-9975(77)90083-4
- Trayhurn, P., Wang, B., & Wood, I. S. (2008). Hypoxia in adipose tissue: A basis for the dysregulation of tissue function in obesity? *British Journal of Nutrition*, 100(2), 227-235. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0007114508971282Wessel
- Wessel, Ø., Hansen, E. F., Dahle, M. K., Alarcon, M., Vatne, N. A., Nyman, I. B., Soleim, K. B., Dhamotharan, K., Timmerhaus, G., Markussen, T., Lund, M., Aanes, H., Devold, M., Inami, M., Løvoll, M., & Rimstad, E. (2020). Piscine Orthoreovirus-1 isolates differ in their ability to induce heart and skeletal muscle inflammation in Atlantic Salmon (Salmo salar). Pathogens, 9(12), 1050. https://doi.org/10.3390/ pathogens9121050
- Zachary, J. F. (2017). Pathologic basis of veterinary disease (7th ed.). Elsevier Health Sciences.

How to cite this article: Brimsholm, M., Fjelldal, P. G., Hansen, T., Fraser, T. K. W., Solberg, M., Glover, K., Koppang, E. O., & Bjørgen, H. (2023). Red and melanized focal changes in white skeletal muscle in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*): Comparative analysis of farmed, wild and hybrid fish reared under identical conditions. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 00, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.13856

IV

1	Red and melanized focal changes in the white
2	skeletal muscle of farmed rainbow trout
3	(Oncorhynchus mykiss)
4	
5 6	Håvard Bjørgen ^{1*} , Malin Brimsholm ¹ , Morten Lund ² , Maria K Dahle ³ , Espen Rimstad ⁴ and Erling Olaf Koppang ¹
7	
8 9	¹ Unit of Anatomy, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, 1433 Ås, Norway
10	² Pure Salmon Kaldnes, 3241 Sandefjord, Norway
11	³ Norwegian Veterinary Institute, 1433 Ås, Norway
12 13	⁴ Unit of Virology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, 1433 Ås, Norway
14	
15	* Corresponding author: erling.o.koppang@nmbu.no
16	

17 Running page head: Melanized changes in farmed rainbow trout

18 Abstract

Fillet discoloration by red and melanized focal changes (RFC and MFC) is common in farmed 19 Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). In farmed rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss), similar 20 21 changes have been noted but their prevalence and histological characteristics have not been 22 investigated. Thus, we conducted a study from three different farm sites in Norway 23 encompassing 1293 rainbow trout, all examined at the time of slaughter. Both macroscopic and 24 histological assessments of the changes were performed. RT-qPCR analyses and in situ hybridization (ISH) were used to detect the presence and location, respectively, of potential 25 viruses. RFC were identified in only one fish, while the prevalence of MFC ranged from 1.46% 26 to 6.47%. The changes were predominantly localized in the cranioventral region of the fillet. 27 Histological examinations unveiled necrotic myocytes, fibrosis, and regeneration of myocytes. 28 Melano-macrophages were found in the affected areas and in myoseptal adipose tissue. 29 Organized granulomas were observed in only one fish. Notably, the presence of inflammatory 30 cells, including melano-macrophages, appeared lower compared to what has been previously 31 documented in Atlantic salmon MFC. Instead, fibrosis and regeneration dominated. RT-qPCR 32 and ISH revealed the presence of piscine orthoreovirus-1 (PRV-1) and salmonid alphavirus 33 (SAV) in skeletal muscle. However, these viruses were not consistently associated with 34 lesioned areas, contrasting previous findings in Atlantic salmon. In conclusion, the rainbow 35 trout develops MFC of a different character than farmed Atlantic salmon, and we speculate if 36 the observed pathological differences are contributing to their reduced occurrence in farmed 37 38 rainbow trout.

Keywords: Fillet; Melanin; Melano-macrophage; Piscine orthoreovirus 1; Rainbow trout;
Salmonid alphavirus; Skeletal muscle

2

41 **1. Introduction**

With an approximate prevalence of 20% in the Norwegian Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) 42 production, the occurrence of melanized focal changes (MFC) in the white skeletal muscle 43 (or the fillet) poses a significant quality and economic concern (Mørkøre et al., 2015). The 44 45 discoloration is attributed to the presence of melano-macrophages, a pigment-producing 46 leukocyte population unique to ectothermic vertebrates (Sichel, Scalia, Mondio, & Corsaro, 47 1997). Melano-macrophages can be found in lymphoid organs and inflamed tissues of fish (Agius, 1981; Larsen et al., 2012; Thorsen, Høyheim, & Koppang, 2006). While severe 48 49 melanized white muscle changes in salmon have been associated with Piscine orthoreovirus 1 (PRV-1) infection, they can also occur independently of virus presence (Biørgen et al., 50 51 2019; Bjørgen et al., 2015). The MFC are preceded by focal hemorrhagic lesions (RFC - red focal changes) that may progress into chronic inflammatory changes containing melano-52 macrophages over time (Bjørgen et al. 2019). In less severe cases, various histological 53 changes may be observed, often with melano-macrophages dispersed among seemingly 54 unaffected myocytes. In more severe forms, granulomatous inflammation in conjunction with 55 replicating PRV-1 within melanized granulomas has been described (Bjørgen et al., 2019; 56 Bjørgen et al., 2015). The initiating causes of the RFC remain undetermined (Bjørgen et al. 57 2019). 58

59 MFC have also been noted in the rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) by the fish 60 farming industry, although no peer-reviewed publications have addressed this condition. 61 According to the industry, the prevalence of MFC is negligible in this species, resulting in 62 limited efforts to study the condition. Nonetheless, investigation of such changes in rainbow 63 trout in comparison to similar changes in Atlantic salmon can provide new insight into the 64 pathogenesis of the condition. It is noteworthy that the commercial production conditions of

3

rainbow trout, i.e., seawater locations, vaccination regimes, feed etc. are very similar to those
of Atlantic salmon. The susceptibility of rainbow trout and Atlantic salmon to various viral
infections varies, and this may be particularly important in this matter for viruses known to
induce inflammation in skeletal muscles and being prevalent in aquaculture of salmonids in
Norway, such as salmonid alphavirus (SAV) and PRV-1.

PRV-1- 3 and SAV 1-6 variants cross-infect a range of salmonid species and appear to 70 71 cause species-specific disease dependent on virus genotype. PRV and SAV are often found to infect the same individual (Wiik-Nielsen, Alarcón, Bang Jensen, Haugland, & Mikalsen, 72 2016). PRV-1 infection is endemic in farmed Atlantic salmon after seawater transfer and 73 often leads to outbreaks of heart- and skeletal muscle inflammation (HSMI), one of the most 74 common viral diseases in Norwegian aquaculture (Olsen & Dahle, 2023). PRV-3 has 75 occasionally caused outbreaks in rainbow trout freshwater facilities, characterized by both 76 heart inflammation and anemia (Olsen, Hjortaas, Tengs, Hellberg, & Johansen, 2015). In 77 contrast, PRV-1 has not been associated with disease in farmed Rainbow trout (Purcell et al., 78 2020), and PRV-3 does not lead to disease in Atlantic salmon (Malik et al., 2021c). Whereas 79 Atlantic salmon are persistently infected by PRV-1, rainbow trout appear to be able to fight 80 off both PRV variants after a period of infection (Hauge et al., 2017). Several salmonid 81 Alphavirus (SAV) subtypes cause Pancreas Disease (PD) in farmed Atlantic salmon in 82 Europe, a notifiable disease of high concern that also affects the skeletal muscle (Sindre, 83 Patel, Olsen & Løkslett, 2023). A freshwater SAV-2 variant can cause Sleeping Disease (SD) 84 85 in rainbow trout, but seawater SAV variants rarely cause serious disease in rainbow trout.

In the present study, we investigated focal melanized changes in three distinct populations of farmed rainbow trout. The production and environmental conditions were similar to those of farmed Atlantic salmon, and thus, the study was well-suited for species comparisons, including differences in susceptibility to various pathogens. Our results

4

90 revealed that the MFC in rainbow trout appear macroscopically similar to those in Atlantic 91 salmon but have lower prevalence and show certain microscopical differences that seem 92 characteristic for such changes in trout. We discuss possible explanations for these differing 93 characteristics in farmed rainbow trout MFC and whether these variations may be attributed 94 to inherent defense mechanisms or immune responses to viral infections that impact skeletal 95 muscle.

96

2. Materials and Methods

97 <u>2.1 Fish populations</u>

98	Three marine farms with rainbow trout in Western Norway were selected for this study. Farm
99	1 was in Laksevika, Fram 2 in Tepstad, and Fram 3 in Djupestallen. The samples were
100	obtained at slaughter during the spring of 2017 and were provided by Lerøy Vest AS/Sjøtroll
101	Havbruk AS and Blom Fiskeoppdrett. Fish from Farm 1 were sampled on April 11th, and 616
102	individuals sorted in the weight category 4-5 kg were investigated at the slaughter line. Farm
103	2 was sampled on April 18th, 417 individuals in the weight category 5-6 kg. Farm 3 was
104	sampled on May 2 nd , 260 individuals in weight category 4-5 kg. At slaughter, muscle
105	abnormalities were registered according to anatomical location (Fig. 1) and severity of
106	observed macroscopic changes (scale 1-8 according to Mørkøre et al. (2012) (Fig. 2).
107	
108	2.2 Sampling for transcriptional (RT-qPCR) and histological analysis

To test the populations for the presence of PRV-1, PRV-3, and SAV, hearts and spleen were collected in RNAlater at the slaughter line (Table 1). To test RFC/MFC for virus presence, affected muscle tissue was collected in RNAlater. Control tissue, i.e., non-affected muscle from the corresponding fillet and hearts, were also collected. In addition, samples from the same hearts, affected muscle, and control muscle were collected on buffered formalin for histological analysis. For details, see Table 1.

115

116 <u>2.3 Viral analysis by RT-qPCR</u>
117 Samples in RNAlater were sent to PatoGen AS, Ålesund, Norway, for RT-qPCR analysis for

118 PRV-1, PRV-3, and SAV. The RT-qPCR analyses are accredited and validated to ISO7025

standards. PatoGen AS does not disclose details of the purification method and PCR

120 conditions due to issues related to competing patents.

121

122 <u>2.4 Histological investigations</u>

Samples from hearts and affected and non-affected skeletal muscle were transferred to buffered 123 formalin, fixed for 48 to 72 h, and processed routinely through paraffin embedding for further 124 examination. All selected samples were cut to 2 µm thick sections and incubated at 37 °C for 125 36-48 h on glass slides. Following deparaffinization in xylene and rehydration in alcohol baths, 126 127 the sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (HE) stain according to protocol. To determine the histological changes in HE-stained sections, we used a histological classification 128 129 system developed for Atlantic salmon (Bjørgen et al., 2019). Briefly, the following histological categories were applied: 1) no histological changes; 2) melano-macrophages in the 130 endomysium between intact myocytes; 3) fibrosis in the endomysium without the presence of 131 melano-macrophages: 4) fibrosis in the endomysium with presence of melano-macrophages: 132 5) melano-macrophages, fibrosis and presence of inflammatory cells in the endomysium; 6) 133 organized scar tissue with presence of inflammatory cells 7) organized scar tissue with presence 134 of inflammatory cells and melano-macrophages; 8) inactive granulomatous inflammation with 135 presence of melano-macrophages ad organized granulomas and finally 9) active granulomatous 136 inflammation with myocyte necrosis and myocyte re-generation and presence of melano-137 macrophages. Based on results from the HE stained sections, selected samples were stained 138 using Van Gieson (VG) stain and Masson Trichrome stain (MTC) for the detection of collagen, 139 and Fontana Masson stain for the detection of melanin. 140

141

142 <u>2.5 In situ hybridization (ISH)</u>

RNAscope 2.5 HD Assav-red (Advanced Cell Diagnostics, Newark, CA, USA) was used for 143 *in situ* hybridization (ISH) following the manufacturer's guidelines (Wang et al., 2012). In brief, 144 4 um thick paraffin-embedded tissue sections were prepared from 11 fish. The samples were 145 selected based on their histological characteristics as evaluated in HE staining, combined with 146 detectable virus levels of PRV-1, PRV-3, or SAV (Cq values of <37) in the tissue. Due to high 147 Cq values and low prevalence of lesions, no samples from farm 1 were selected for ISH 148 analyses. From farm 2, three skeletal muscle samples with a Cq value \leq 34.2 for PRV-1 were 149 selected. Two samples with organized granulomas from one fish were added, although these 150 samples had a Cq value \geq 37 for all investigated viruses. Two heart samples were selected from 151 farm 2, one with a Cq value of 28,4 for PRV-3 and mild cardiac lesions, and one with a Cq 152 value of 24,92 for PRV-3 and 30,85 for SAV, with no pathological lesions detected in 153 histological examination. As farm 3 represented the lowest Cq values for SAV in skeletal 154 muscle, five skeletal muscle samples were selected for ISH detection of SAV in the tissue. 155

The slides were mounted on positively charged glass slides (Superfrost©; Mentzel) and airdried for a minimum of 24 h before being subjected to a 60 °C incubation for 90 min, followed by two rounds of 5 min treatment with xylene and two rounds of 1 min treatment with 100% ethanol for dewaxing. Subsequently, the samples underwent a 10 m treatment with hydrogen peroxide to block endogenous peroxidase activity. The pretreatment included heat treatment in RNAscope® Target Retrieval Reagent at 100 °C for 15 min, followed by a protease treatment for 10 min at 40 °C to permeabilize the cells.

For hybridization, the slides were incubated with the target ZZ-probes (Table 2) for 2 h at 40 °C. Signal amplification was obtained by sequentially incubating the slides with the six

amplification solutions provided in the assay kit. Signal detection was performed by incubating 165 the slides with Fast Red chromogenic substrate for 10 min, and counterstaining was performed 166 167 by immersing the slides in a 50% Gill's hematoxylin solution for 2 min. Finally, the samples were mounted using EcoMount (BioCare Medical, Pacheco, CA, USA). All probes were 168 169 designed and produced by the manufacturer based on user-provided sequences and have been catalogued and made commercially available. Details regarding the probes and positive and 170 171 negative control probes, including gene, target region, accession number, and the manufacturer's catalogue number, are available in Table 2. To serve as positive controls for all 172 three viruses, infected tissue from Atlantic salmon was utilized (Supplementary data). In the 173 case of PRV-1, this involved heart and skin samples; for PRV-3, spleen samples were 174 employed, and for SAV, skeletal muscle samples were used. As a negative control, an 175 RNAscope probe against the bacterial gene dapB was used on duplicates of the same sections 176 from skeletal muscle to confirm the absence of background and non-specific cross-reactivity. 177

178 **3. Results**

179 <u>3.1 Macroscopic observations</u>

180	Farm 1 had a MFC prevalence of 1.46%. One individual also displayed a focal hemorrhage,
181	deemed as an RFC. Farm 2 had a MFC prevalence of 6.47% and Farm 3 5.76%. No RFC

182 were observed in these two farms. In all farms, no transient forms between RFC and MFC

183 were observed. The MFC were primarily detected in the cranio-ventral region and the dorsal

184 part of the fillet, and the changes were in general of a low severity. For details, see Table 3.

The severity of the changes followed the same trend in all three populations, with most changes graded 1, accounting for approximately two-thirds of the total number of registered changes. The second most prevalent change was grade 2, and the third was grade 4, while only two grade 8 changes were detected (Figure 2).

189

190 <u>3.2 RT-qPCR</u>

191PRV-1 was detected in one muscle sample from Farm 1 with a Cq value of 34.7, and in two192heart samples, with a mean Cq value of $32.6 (\pm 2.26)$ (Table 4). All affected muscle samples193were negative for PRV-3 and SAV. In three heart samples, PRV-3 was detected with a mean194Cq value of $31.41 (\pm 4.41)$. None of the heart samples were positive for multiple viruses.

All muscle samples from Farm 2 were negative for PRV-1 and PRV-3. For SAV, only two of 54 muscle samples were negative, and the mean Cq value in the remaining muscle samples was 26.9 (\pm 3.62). In the heart samples, SAV and PRV-3 were present in six out of ten samples, with a mean Cq value of 32.01 (\pm 3.06) and 30.94 (\pm 3.90), respectively. PRV-1 was not detected in any of the heart samples.

200	In Farm 3, 26 muscle samples were positive for PRV-1 with a mean Cq value of 33.4
201	(\pm 2.96). Nine out of 37 muscle samples were positive for SAV and had a mean Cq value of
202	34.8 (\pm 1.16). PRV-3 was not detected in any muscle samples but in four out of ten heart
203	samples, with a mean Cq value of 32.7 (\pm 2,81). PRV-1 was detected in eight out of ten heart
204	samples, with a mean Cq value of 27.0 (\pm 4,85). In four heart samples, both PRV-1 and PRV-
205	3 were detected.

206

207 <u>3.3 Histological analysis</u>

Histological investigations were conducted on both affected skeletal muscle and control
samples (Table 1. For detailed information, see supplementary data). Control samples, RTqPCR negative for all viruses, showed no pathological changes.

When combining the macroscopic scoring with the histology, the histological characteristics within macroscopic score 1 varied from moderate myocyte necrosis to severe fibrosis. Melano-macrophages were observed in areas with fibrosis, surrounding vacuoles, and in adipose tissue in myosepta. The second most abundant macroscopic manifestation, score 2, was dominated with the same findings as in score 1 changes, but fibrosis could be more pronounced. In the more severe grades (score 4 and 8), the histological findings included necrosis, fibrosis, and vacuoles in the lesioned areas.

The histological changes observed in the single RFC included hemorrhage and necrosis in the skeletal muscle (Fig 3a). In MFC, only one fish contained organized granulomas (Fig 3b), while vacuoles were often abundant in the lesioned areas (Fig 3c). Melano-macrophages were observed surrounding the vacuoles and in the adipose tissue interspersed in the skeletal muscle and myosepta (Fig 3d). The Fontana Masson stain confirmed the presence of melanin (Fig 3e, f). In general, very scarce inflammatory infiltrates

224	were observed. Instead, there was a prominent presence of loose connective tissue dispersed
225	between putatively regenerated myocytes seen as small myocytes in areas adjacent to intact
226	skeletal muscle (Fig 4). Collagen fibers were detected by Van Gieson stain and Masson
227	Trichrome stain, with both colors revealing similar results (Fig 4).
228	
229	<u>3.4 In situ hybridization (ISH)</u>
230	Investigations for the presence of PRV-1 showed ISH signal in the selected sample having
231	the lowest Cq value (Table 5). The detected signal was observed in relation to intact
232	myocytes and not in degenerated or necrotic myocytes (Fig. 5 a). Signal was also detected in
233	the adipose tissue (Fig. 5 b). No signal was detected in the samples containing organized

234 granulomas.

For PRV-3, one heart showed positive ISH signal. In this sample, mild myocarditis in the stratum compactum and stratum spongiosum were observed. The signal was only detected in the stratum spongiosum (Fig 5 c). Although having a lower Cq value, no pathological lesions were detected in other PRV-3 positive heart samples, and no signal was detected in ISH.

In all SAV-positive skeletal muscle samples selected for ISH analyses, signal was
detected in relation to intact myocytes (Fig. 5 d) and adipose tissue. No signal was detected in
lesioned areas of the samples.

243 **4. Discussion**

In this study, we investigated the prevalence and the macro- and microscopical characteristics 244 of red and melanized focal changes in rainbow trout marine farms. The prevalence of RFC 245 and MFC in the fillets at the time of slaughter ranged from 1.46% to 6.47% in the three farms 246 investigated. This is considerably lower than the prevalence of 5% for RFC and 20-30% for 247 248 MFC that previously have been reported in farmed Atlantic salmon (Bjørgen et al., 2019; 249 Mørkøre et al., 2015). The histological analysis showed that the dominating tissue response in farmed rainbow trout was fibrosis and muscle cell regeneration, which could be due to a 250 different response to initial tissue damage, or a difference in the inflammatory response 251 towards infectious agents. Furthermore, despite similarities in environmental and production-252 related factors between farmed Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout, these factors cannot be 253 ruled out as potential contributors to the observed differences in MFC between the two 254 species. 255

The macroscopic scoring revealed RFC and MFC of predominantly low grades and 256 primarily located in the cranio-ventral region of the abdominal wall, aligning with findings in 257 Atlantic salmon reported by Bjørgen et al. (2019). The shared anatomical localization 258 suggests that the initial cause of the condition may be similar for both species. Additionally, 259 the production procedures in both species are rather equivalent, but there are some species-260 specific differences related to physiology, such as rainbow trout's requirement for higher 261 water temperature at hatching compared to salmon (Noble et al., 2020). Additionally, 262 rainbow trout are highly active, resulting in increased energy and oxygen demand (personal 263 264 communication, DVM. Magnus Lian, fish health manager, Lerøy Sjøtroll). Thus, the low 265 prevalence of RFC and MFC in rainbow trout may be due to variations in external factors during production or an altered response to inflammation, as well as the possible presence of 266

infectious agents. The dominating cranio-ventral localization of RFC and MFC in Atlantic
salmon has prompted speculations regarding potential local tissue-related factors that may
contribute to the initial tissue damage. These factors include intraperitoneal vaccination
(Koppang, Haugarvoll, Hordvik, Aune, & Poppe, 2005), costal fractures (Brimsholm et al.,
2023a), and internal trauma resulting from bloating due to undigested pellets in the stomach.
However, so far, no single factor has been singled out as a primary cause of these changes,
and the condition is regarded as multi-factorial.

We found that several of the histological characteristics in rainbow trout were 274 consistent with those previously reported in Atlantic salmon. These include inflammatory and 275 repair responses, such as inflammatory cells, including melano-macrophages, and necrosis, 276 tissue fibrosis, and myocyte regeneration. However, certain differences were notable, which 277 rendered the classification system developed for RFC/MFC in Atlantic salmon (Bjørgen et 278 al., 2019) somewhat challenging to apply to rainbow trout. Specifically, we rarely observed 279 the most common categories described in salmon, such as the presence of melano-280 macrophages dispersed among seemingly non-affected myocytes (Category 2) or areas 281 dominated by infiltrating inflammatory cells in fibrotic tissue (Category 5-7 and 9). 282 Furthermore, organized granulomas (Category 8) were observed in only one fish. Instead, the 283 predominant finding in rainbow trout appeared to be fibrosis and relatively few melano-284 macrophages (Category 3 and 4) and an abundant presence of small, putatively regenerative 285 myocytes within loose connective tissue. The low abundance of melano-macrophages with 286 287 advanced fibrosis and muscle regeneration can be regarded as key characteristics of MFC in rainbow trout, which is a different tissue response to that of Atlantic salmon. 288

The altered inflammatory response observed in rainbow trout may be attributed to specific species reactions to pathogens, and several factors, including water temperature, fish species, and the persistence of harmful agents could influence these differences. Indeed, the

effect of water temperature on regeneration is an important aspect for poikilothermic animals 292 (Schmidt, Andersen, Ersbøll, & Nielsen, 2016), Additionally, immune cell function has been 293 294 shown to be influenced by water temperature in rainbow trout (Gräns, Rosengren, Niklasson, & Axelsson, 2012), which could imply that low-temperature water could decrease the rate of 295 296 an immune response, as rainbow trout has a higher preferred temperature than Atlantic 297 salmon. Water temperature has also been suggested to influence the prevalence of MFC at 298 different sampling points in farmed Atlantic salmon in Norway (Brimsholm et al., 2023b). We detected granulomas in one rainbow trout, which contrasts the distinct presence of 299 organized granulomas encircled by elongated melano-macrophages which is a hallmark of 300 severe MFC in Atlantic salmon. In Atlantic salmon, the melanin-containing M2 polarized 301 macrophages found within the chronic inflammatory changes are associated with PRV-1 302 infection (Malik et al., 2021a). Additionally, organized granulomas in Atlantic salmon have 303 been shown to contain replicating PRV-1 (Bjørgen et al. 2020), acting as a constant trigger of 304 inflammation which can cause granuloma formation (Bjørgen et al., 2015; Malik et al., 305 2021a). 306

In Atlantic salmon, infection with PRV-1 is associated with heart and skeletal muscle 307 inflammation (HSMI) (Wessel et al., 2017), a condition that most commonly occurs during 308 the seawater production phase. PRV-1 infects erythrocytes during the acute stage of infection 309 (Finstad et al., 2014), and cardiomyocytes are also affected, causing HSMI lesions primarily 310 311 in the heart. Severe cases may cause necrotic myocytes and inflammation in red skeletal 312 muscle (Kongtorp, Kjerstad, Taksdal, Guttvik, & Falk, 2004). Subsequently, macrophages remain persistently infected by the virus, as they appear unable to eliminate it (Malik et al., 313 314 2019). In contrast, in rainbow trout, PRV-1 infection in freshwater smolts only causes mild 315 heart lesions, has a low viral replication, and is later cleared from the tissue (Purcell et al., 2020). Although we detected PRV-1 by RT-qPCR in several rainbow trout skeletal muscle 316

samples, it could be detected by ISH in skeletal muscle only in the selected sample having the 317 lowest Cq value, i.e., containing most viral RNA. Here, the virus was localized in proximity 318 319 to intact myocytes and adipose tissue, with no virus detected in the lesioned areas. In summary, our results suggest that the reduced prevalence of MFC in rainbow trout could be 320 321 related to the lower prevalence of PRV-1 infection and the lower viral load in PRV-1 infected 322 individuals in rainbow trout compared to Atlantic salmon. Biørgen et al. (2019) found that 323 low-grade RFC and MFC were preceding the detection of PRV-1, but that PRV-1 coincided 324 with increased severity in macroscopic and histological grading in MFC. The prevalence of low-grade MFC in rainbow trout at slaughter, combined with the dominant presence of 325 fibrosis and skeletal muscle regeneration, aligns well with the observed differences in the 326 response to PRV-1 infection between Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout. 327

An alternative explanation for the differing prevalence of RFC and MFC in rainbow 328 trout and Atlantic salmon may be rooted in innate differences in their immune and healing 329 responses to initial hemorrhage and tissue damage, and thus not related to PRV-1 infection. 330 As of our knowledge, no comparative study on skeletal muscle has been conducted between 331 the two species. However, a study did compare lesions in the pancreas and pyloric caeca in 332 Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout following intraperitoneal injections with oil-based 333 adjuvants that did not contain antigens (Mutoloki, Reite, Brudeseth, Tverdal, & Evensen, 334 2006). In this study, the local inflammatory reaction in Atlantic salmon persisted for twice as 335 long as in rainbow trout. Furthermore, another study investigated skeletal muscle 336 337 regeneration during experimental trials focusing on bacterial infection in Atlantic salmon and 338 mechanical trauma in rainbow trout. The results indicated inflammatory responses and 339 upregulation of inflammatory mediators in both species, with the most robust response seen 340 in Atlantic salmon (Ingerslev, Lunder, & Nielsen, 2010). However, due to differing harmful factors to which each species was exposed, direct comparative conclusions could not be 341

made. Regarding skeletal muscle, studies on wound healing in the dorsal muscle trunk of
rainbow trout have revealed slow regeneration and an abundance of fibrosis (Schmidt et al.,
2016), revealing that this species, in general, has a slow regenerative response in skeletal
muscle. The elaborate fibrosis previously reported is in line with our results. In summary,
several studies indicate differences in the healing responses between these two species,
although the precise underlying mechanisms involved have yet to be investigated.

348 We conducted ISH not only for the detection of PRV-1 but also for SAV. Our results showed similar staining patterns for both viruses. Although SAV was detected in all selected 349 samples investigated using ISH, the positive signals were not associated with the observed 350 lesions. Instead, they were predominantly seen in proximity to intact myocytes and 351 occasionally within adipose tissue. In Norwegian salmonid aquaculture, the subtypes SAV2 352 and SAV3 are the causative agents of the disease known as Pancreas disease (PD) in Atlantic 353 salmon and rainbow trout, affecting both the pancreas and heart- and skeletal muscle 354 (Hodneland, Bratland, Christie, Endresen, & Nylund, 2005; McLoughlin & Graham, 2007). 355 The current PD pandemic in Norway is geographically divided based on the presence of SAV 356 subtypes; the Northern part of the coast is free from SAV infection, SAV2 is present in the 357 Northern part of the infected zone, while SAV3 is the causative agent in the Southern part 358 (Sindre, Patel, Olsen & Løkslett, 2023), and there is a small overlapping region where both 359 subtypes can be found. The three fish farms in our study were located in the Southern part 360 where SAV3 is found. The skeletal muscle lesions observed in rainbow trout with the subtype 361 362 SAV2 have been shown to have a slow regenerative capacity, likely due to the virus' tropism for skeletal muscle satellite cells (Biacchesi et al., 2016). The localization of SAV that we 363 364 observed in ISH, combined with the necrotic myocytes in SAV-infected control samples, and the abundant presence of small regenerative myocytes in lesions indicate impairment of the 365 infected satellite cells. 366

367	The impact of PRV-3 infection in our samples is believed to be limited, given that the
368	virus was only detected in heart samples using RT-qPCR and by ISH, only in the heart with
369	mild lesions. PRV-3 is closely related to PRV-1 and has been shown to induce cross-
370	protection against PRV-1 infection in Atlantic salmon (Malik et al., 2021c). In rainbow trout,
371	PRV-3 can be the causal agent of a condition with many similarities to HSMI in Atlantic
372	salmon (Vedramin et al., 2019; Dhamotharan et al., 2018; Olsen et al., 2015), although some
373	important differences have been reported. HSMI in rainbow trout primarily occurs during the
374	freshwater stage of production; the infection can cause anemia (Olsen et al., 2015), and the
375	virus is cleared more efficiently than PRV-1 in Atlantic salmon (Hauge et al., 2017;
376	Vendramin et al., 2019). The detection of PRV-3 in our heart samples aligns with earlier
377	reports regarding the distribution of PRV3. As PRV-3 was not detected by RT-qPCR in
378	skeletal muscle in our study, it is possible that the virus had been cleared from the tissue.
379	In conclusion, our study provides insight into the prevalence and key
379 380	In conclusion, our study provides insight into the prevalence and key histopathological characteristics of RFC and MFC in rainbow trout reared in a marine
379 380 381	In conclusion, our study provides insight into the prevalence and key histopathological characteristics of RFC and MFC in rainbow trout reared in a marine environment. The observation that most of these changes appear in the cranio-ventral area is
379 380 381 382	In conclusion, our study provides insight into the prevalence and key histopathological characteristics of RFC and MFC in rainbow trout reared in a marine environment. The observation that most of these changes appear in the cranio-ventral area is consistent between rainbow trout and Atlantic salmon, suggesting a shared underlying cause.
379 380 381 382 383	In conclusion, our study provides insight into the prevalence and key histopathological characteristics of RFC and MFC in rainbow trout reared in a marine environment. The observation that most of these changes appear in the cranio-ventral area is consistent between rainbow trout and Atlantic salmon, suggesting a shared underlying cause. However, the lower prevalence in rainbow trout suggests differences in the impact of the
379 380 381 382 383 383	In conclusion, our study provides insight into the prevalence and key histopathological characteristics of RFC and MFC in rainbow trout reared in a marine environment. The observation that most of these changes appear in the cranio-ventral area is consistent between rainbow trout and Atlantic salmon, suggesting a shared underlying cause. However, the lower prevalence in rainbow trout suggests differences in the impact of the causative factor(s). Notably, fibrosis and regeneration were more prominent histopathological
379 380 381 382 383 384 385	In conclusion, our study provides insight into the prevalence and key histopathological characteristics of RFC and MFC in rainbow trout reared in a marine environment. The observation that most of these changes appear in the cranio-ventral area is consistent between rainbow trout and Atlantic salmon, suggesting a shared underlying cause. However, the lower prevalence in rainbow trout suggests differences in the impact of the causative factor(s). Notably, fibrosis and regeneration were more prominent histopathological features in MFC in rainbow trout as compared to Atlantic salmon. The co-localization of
379 380 381 382 383 384 385 386	In conclusion, our study provides insight into the prevalence and key histopathological characteristics of RFC and MFC in rainbow trout reared in a marine environment. The observation that most of these changes appear in the cranio-ventral area is consistent between rainbow trout and Atlantic salmon, suggesting a shared underlying cause. However, the lower prevalence in rainbow trout suggests differences in the impact of the causative factor(s). Notably, fibrosis and regeneration were more prominent histopathological features in MFC in rainbow trout as compared to Atlantic salmon. The co-localization of PRV-1 and melano-macrophages in Atlantic salmon MFCs and the lack of this co-
379 380 381 382 383 384 385 386 386	In conclusion, our study provides insight into the prevalence and key histopathological characteristics of RFC and MFC in rainbow trout reared in a marine environment. The observation that most of these changes appear in the cranio-ventral area is consistent between rainbow trout and Atlantic salmon, suggesting a shared underlying cause. However, the lower prevalence in rainbow trout suggests differences in the impact of the causative factor(s). Notably, fibrosis and regeneration were more prominent histopathological features in MFC in rainbow trout as compared to Atlantic salmon. The co-localization of PRV-1 and melano-macrophages in Atlantic salmon MFCs and the lack of this co- localization in rainbow trout MFC may explain the lower prevalence and severity of MFC in
379 380 381 382 383 384 385 386 387 388	In conclusion, our study provides insight into the prevalence and key histopathological characteristics of RFC and MFC in rainbow trout reared in a marine environment. The observation that most of these changes appear in the cranio-ventral area is consistent between rainbow trout and Atlantic salmon, suggesting a shared underlying cause. However, the lower prevalence in rainbow trout suggests differences in the impact of the causative factor(s). Notably, fibrosis and regeneration were more prominent histopathological features in MFC in rainbow trout as compared to Atlantic salmon. The co-localization of PRV-1 and melano-macrophages in Atlantic salmon MFCs and the lack of this co- localization in rainbow trout MFC may explain the lower prevalence and severity of MFC in rainbow trout. This suggests that rainbow trout may respond to the PRV-1 infection in
 379 380 381 382 383 384 385 386 387 388 389 	In conclusion, our study provides insight into the prevalence and key histopathological characteristics of RFC and MFC in rainbow trout reared in a marine environment. The observation that most of these changes appear in the cranio-ventral area is consistent between rainbow trout and Atlantic salmon, suggesting a shared underlying cause. However, the lower prevalence in rainbow trout suggests differences in the impact of the causative factor(s). Notably, fibrosis and regeneration were more prominent histopathological features in MFC in rainbow trout as compared to Atlantic salmon. The co-localization of PRV-1 and melano-macrophages in Atlantic salmon MFCs and the lack of this co- localization in rainbow trout MFC may explain the lower prevalence and severity of MFC in rainbow trout. This suggests that rainbow trout may respond to the PRV-1 infection in skeletal muscle in a way that typically prevents the development of chronic inflammation

392 Acknowledgements

- 393 The Norwegian Seafood Research Fund, project # 901501, is acknowledged for partial
- funding. Lerøy Seafood Group ASA and Blom Fiskeoppdrett AS are thanked for contributing
- 395 with valuable samples. Mrs. Ingvild Berg Nyman is acknowledged for her time and
- 396 competence used for *in situ* hybridization experiments.

References

399	Agius, C. (1981). Preliminary Studies on the Ontogeny of the Melano-Macrophages of Teleost
400	Haemopoietic Tissues and Age-Related Changes. Developmental & Comparative
401	Immunology, 5(4), 597-606. doi:10.1016/S0145-305X(81)80034-1
402	Balouet, G., & Laurencin, F. B. (1986). Granulomatous nodules in fish: an experimental assessment in
403	rainbow trout, Salmo Gairdneri Richardson, and turbot, Scopththalmus maximus (L.). Journal
404	of Fish Diseases, 9, 417-429.
405	Biacchesi, S., Jouvion, G., Mérour, E., Boukadiri, A., Desdouits, M., Ozden, S., Huerre, M., Ceccaldi, P
406	E., & Brémont, M. (2016). Rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) muscle satellite cells are
407	targets of salmonid alphavirus infection. Veterinary Research, 47(1), 9-9.
408	doi:10.1186/s13567-015-0301-1
409	Bjørgen, H., Haldorsen, R., Oaland, Ø., Kvellestad, A., Kannimuthu, D., Rimstad, E. & Koppang, E. O.
410	(2019). Melanized focal changes in skeletal muscle in farmed Atlantic salmon after natural
411	infection with Piscine orthoreovirus (PRV). Journal of Fish Diseases, 42(6), 935-945.
412	doi:10.1111/jfd.12995
413	Bjørgen, H., Wessel, Ø., Fjelldal, P. G., Hansen, T., Sveier, H., Sæbø, H. R., Enger, K. B., Mose, E.,
414	Kvellestad, A., Rimstad, E. & Koppang, E. O. (2015). Piscine orthoreovirus (PRV) in red and
415	melanised foci in white muscle of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). Veterinary Research, 46, 89-
416	89. doi:10.1186/s13567-015-0244-6
417	Brimsholm, M., Fjelldal, P. G., Hansen, T., Trangerud, C., Knutsen, G. M., Asserson, C. F., , Koppang, E.
418	O., & Bjørgen, H. (2023a). Anatomical and pathological characteristics of ribs in the Atlantic
419	salmon (Salmo salar L.) and its relevance to soft tissue changes. Anatomia Histologia
420	Embryologia,52(3), 421-436. doi:10.1111/ahe.12900
421	Brimsholm, M., Fjelldal, P. G., Hansen, T., Fraser, T. W. K., Solberg, M., Glover, K., Koppang, E. O., &
422	Bjørgen, H. (2023b). Red and melanized focal changes in white skeletal muscle in Atlantic
423	salmon (Salmo salar): Comparative analysis of farmed, wild and hybrid fish reared under
424	identical conditions. Journal of Fish Diseases. doi:10.1111/jfd.13856
425	Dhamotharan, K., Vendramin, N., Markussen, T., Wessel, Ø., Cuenca, A., Nyman, I. B., Olse, A. B.,
426	Tengs, T., Dahle, M. K., & Rimstad, E. (2018). Molecular and Antigenic Characterization of
427	Piscine orthoreovirus (PRV) from Rainbow Trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Viruses, 10(4), 170.
428	doi:10.3390/v10040170
429	Finstad, Ø., Dahle, M., Lindholm, T., Nyman, I., Løvoll, M., Wallace, C., Olsen, C. M., Storset, A. K., &
430	Rimstad, E. (2014). Piscine orthoreovirus (PRV) infects Atlantic salmon erythrocytes.
431	Veterinary Research, 45(1), 35-35. doi:10.1186/1297-9716-45-35
432	Graham, D. A., Jewhurst, H. L., McLoughlin, M. F., Branson, E. J., McKenzie, K., Rowley, H. M., &
433	Todd, D. (2007). Serological, virological and histopathological study of an outbreak of
434	sleeping disease in farmed rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss. Diseases of Aquatic
435	Organisms, 74(3), 191-197. doi:10.3354/dao074191
436	Gräs, A., Rosegren, M., Niklasson, L., & Axelsson, M. (2012). Behavioural fever boosts the
437	inflammatory response in rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss. Journal of Fish Biology, 81,
438	1111-1117. doi: 10.1111/j.1095-8649.2012.03333.x
439	Hauge, H., Vendramin, N., Taksdal, T., Olsen, A. B., Wessel, Ø., Mikkelsen, S. S., Alencar, A. L. F.,
440	Olesen, J., & Dahle, M. K. (2017). Infection experiments with novel Piscine orthoreovirus
441	from rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) in salmonids. PLoS ONE, 12(7), e0180293.
442	doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0180293
443	Hodneland, K., Bratland, A., Christie, K. E., Endresen, C., & Nylund, A. (2005). New subtype of
444	salmonid alphavirus (SAV), Togaviridae, from Atlantic salmon Salmo salar and rainbow trout
445	Oncorhynchus mykiss in Norway. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms, , 66(2), 113-120.
446	doi:10.3354/dao066113

447 Ingerslev, H. C., Lunder, T., & Nielsen, M. E. (2010). Inflammatory and regenerative responses in 448 salmonids following mechanical tissue damage and natural infection. Fish & Shellfish 449 Immunology, 29(3), 440-450. doi:10.1016/j.fsi.2010.05.002 450 Kongtorp, R. T., Kjerstad, A., Taksdal, T., Guttvik, A., & Falk, K. (2004b). Heart and skeletal muscle 451 inflammation in Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L.: a new infectious disease. Journal of Fish 452 Diseases, 27(6), 351-358. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2761.2004.00549.x 453 Koppang, E. O., Haugarvoll, E., Hordvik, I., Aune, L., & Poppe, T. T. (2005). Vaccine-associated 454 granulomatous inflammation and melanin accumulation in Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L., 455 white muscle. Journal of Fish Diseases, 28(1), 13-22. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2761.2004.00583.x Larsen, H. A. S., Austbø, L., Mørkøre, T., Thorsen, J., Hordvik, I., Fischer, U., Jirillo, E., Rimstad, E, & 456 457 Koppang, E. O. (2012). Pigment-producing granulomatous myopathy in Atlantic salmon: A 458 novel inflammatory response. Fish & Shellfish Immunology, 33(2), 277-285. 459 doi:10.1016/j.fsi.2012.05.012 Malik, M. S., Bjørgen, H., Dhamotharan, K., Wessel, Ø., Koppang, E. O., Di Cicco, E., Hanse, E. F., 460 461 Dahle, M. K., & Rimstad, E. (2019). Erythroid Progenitor Cells in Atlantic Salmon (Salmo salar) 462 May Be Persistently and Productively Infected with Piscine Orthoreovirus (PRV). Viruses, 463 11(9), 824. doi:10.3390/v11090824 464 Malik, M. S., Bjørgen, H., Nyman, I. B., Wessel, Ø., Koppang, E. O., Dahle, M. K., & Rimstad, E. 465 (2021a). PRV-1 Infected Macrophages in Melanized Focal Changes in White Muscle of 466 Atlantic Salmon (Salmo salar) Correlates With a Pro-Inflammatory Environment. Frontiers in 467 Immunology, 12, 664624-664624. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2021.664624 Malik, M. S., Teige, L. H., Braaen, S., Olsen, A. B., Nordberg, M., Amundsen, M., Dhamotharan, K., 468 469 Svenning, S., Edholm, M. M., Takano, T., Jørgesen, J. B., Wessel, Ø., Rimstad, E., & Dahle, M. 470 K. (2021c). Piscine Orthoreovirus (PRV)-3, but Not PRV-2, Cross-Protects against PRV-1 and 471 Heart and Skeletal Muscle Inflammation in Atlantic Salmon. Vaccines, 9(3), 230. 472 doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines9030230 McLoughlin, M. F., & Graham, D. A. (2007). Alphavirus infections in salmonids - a review. Journal of 473 474 Fish Diseases, 30(9), 511-531. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2761.2007.00848.x 475 Mutoloki, S., Reite, O. B., Brudeseth, B., Tverdal, A., & Evensen, Ø. (2006). A comparative 476 immunopathological study of injection site reactions in salmonids following intraperitoneal 477 injection with oil-adjuvanted vaccines. Vaccine, 24(5), 578-588. 478 doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2005.08.070 Mørkøre, T. (2012). Filet av oppdrettslaks: Kvalitetsavvik og årsakssammenhenger. Nofima Report 479 480 17/2012. Retrieved from https://www.fhf.no/prosjekter/prosjektbasen/900339/ 481 Mørkøre, T., Larsson, T., Kvellestad, A. S., Koppang, E. O., Åsli, M., Krasnov, A., Desse, J-E., Moreo, H. 482 M., Valen, E., Ganestad, K., Gjerde, B., Taksdal, T., Bæverfjord, G., Meng, Y., Heia, K., Wold, J. 483 P., Borderias, A. J., Moghadam, H., Romarheim, O. H. & Rørvik, K. A. (2015). Mørke flekker i 484 laksefilet. Kunnskapsstatus og tiltak for å begrense omfanget (Melanised changes in salmon 485 fillet. Knowledge status and efforts to limit their occurrence). In Nofima report 34/2015. 486 Noble, C., Gismervik, K., Iversen, M. H., Kolarevic, J., Nilsson, J., Stien, L. H. & Turnbull, J. , & Turbull, J. F. (2020). Velferdsindikatorer for regnbueørret i oppdrett: Hvordan vurdere og 487 488 dokumentere fiskevelferd. 309 pp. Nofima Project 901157. ISBN 978-82-8296-638-2 Olsen, A. B., Hjortaas, M., Tengs, T., Hellberg, H., & Johansen, R. (2015). First Description of a New 489 490 Disease in Rainbow Trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss (Walbaum) Similar to Heart and Skeletal 491 Muscle Inflammation (HSMI) and Detection of a Gene Sequence Related to Piscine 492 Orthoreovirus (PRV). PLoS ONE, 10(7), e0131638. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0131638 493 Olsen, A. B. & Dahle, M. (2023).). Fish Health Report 2022, Chapter 5.4: Heart and skeletal 494 inflammation (HSMI) in Atlantic salmon and HSMI-like disease in rainbow trout. Retrieved 495 from www.vetinst.no: https://www.vetinst.no/rapporter-og-496 publikasjoner/rapporter/2023/fiskehelserapporten-2022

497	Purcell, M. K., Powers, R. L., Taksdal, T., McKenney, D., Conway, C. M., Elliott, D. G., Pollinski, M.,
498	Garver, K., & Winton, J. (2020). Consequences of <i>Piscine orthoreovirus</i> genotype 1 (PRV-1)
499	infections in Chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha), coho salmon (O. kisutch) and
500	rainbow trout (<i>O. mykiss</i>). <i>Journal of Fish Diseases</i> , 43(7), 719-728. doi:10.1111/jfd.13182
501	Schmidt, J. G., Andersen, E. W., Ersbøll, B. K., & Nielsen, M. E. (2016). Muscle wound healing in
502	rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Fish & Shellfish Immunology, 48, 273-284.
503	doi:10.1016/j.fsi.2015.12.010
504	Sichel, G., Scalia, M., Mondio, F., & Corsaro, C. (1997). The Amphibian Kupffer Cells Build and
505	Demolish Melanosomes: An Ultrastructural Point of View. Pigment Cell Research, 10(5), 271-
506	287. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0749.1997.tb00687.x
507	Sindre, H., Patel, S., Olsen, A. B., & Løkslett, H. (2023). Fish Health Report 2022, Chapter 5.1:
508	Pancreas Disease (PD). Retrieved from www.vetinst.no: https://www.vetinst.no/rapporter-
509	og-publikasjoner/rapporter/2023/fiskehelserapporten-2022
510	Thorsen, J., Høyheim, B., & Koppang, E. O. Isolation of the Atlantic salmon tyrosinase gene family
511	reveals heterogenous transcripts in a leukocyte cell line. Pigment Cell Research, 19, 327-336.
512	doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0749.2006.00319.x
513	Vendramin, N., Kannimuthu, D., Olsen, A. B., Cuenca, A., Teige, L. H., Wessel, Ø., Iburg, T. M., Dahle,
514	M. K., Rimstad, E., & Olesen, N. J. (2019). Piscine orthoreovirus subtype 3 (PRV-3) causes
515	heart inflammation in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Veterinary Research, 50(1), 14-
516	14. doi:10.1186/s13567-019-0632-4
517	Wang, F., Flanagan, J., Su, N., Wang, LC., Bui, S., Nielson, A., Wu, X., Vo, HT., Ma, XJ., & Luo, Y.
518	(2012). RNAscope: A Novel in situ RNA Analysis Platform for Formalin-Fixed, Paraffin-
519	Embedded Tissues. Journal of Molecular Diagnostics, 14(1), 22-29.
520	doi:10.1016/j.jmoldx.2011.08.002
521	Wessel, Ø., Braaen, S., Alarcon, M., Haatveit, H., Roos, N., Markussen, T., Tengs, T., Dahle, M. K., &
522	Rimstad, E. (2017). Infection with purified Piscine orthoreovirus demonstrates a causal
523	relationship with heart and skeletal muscle inflammation in Atlantic salmon. PLoS ONE,
524	12(8), e0183781-e0183781. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0183781
525	Wiik-Nielsen, J., Alarcón, M., Bang Jensen, B., Hauglad, Ø., & Mikalsen, A. B. (2016). Viral co-
526	infections in farmed Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L., displaying myocarditis. Journal of Fish
527	Diseases, 39(12), 1495-1507. doi: 10.1111/jfd.12487
528	

530 Tables

531

Table 1. Sampling information. Abbreviations: prev. – prevalence. he. – heart, sp. – spleen, and mu. –
 muscle. N = number of samples.

		Farm 1 (Laksevika)		Farm 2 (Tepstad)		Farm 3 (Djupestallen)	
	Slaughter (date)	11th of April		18th of April		2nd of May	
	Melanin prev.	1.46% (9 c	of 616 filets)	6.47% (27 of 417 filets)		5.76% (15 of 260 filets)	
	RNAlater he./sp.	N=	35/29	N=26/22		N=30/30	
	Formalin he./sp.	N=	15/12	N=15/10		N=10/10	
		Affec	ted fish	Affec	ted fish	Affected fish	
		Melanized	Control	Melanized	Control	Melanized	Control
	RNAlater mu.	N=9	N=5	N=13	N=10	N=8	N=8
	Formalin mu.	N=9	N=5	N=10	N=10	N=10	N=10
534							
535							
536							
537							

538 **Table 2.** Target and control probes for *in situ* hybridization. n.c. – negative control. b.p. – base pairs

	Probe	Accession no.	Target region (b.p.)	Catalog no.
target	PRV 1	KY429945.1	415 - 1379 (L3 segment)	537451
	PRV 3	MG253809.1	81-1933 (L3 segment)	555221
	SAV	AY604235.1:7788-11747	1366 - 2257	1219771-C1
n.c.	DapB	EF191515	414 - 862	310043
539	1			

- **Table 3.** Prevalence of melanin according to anatomical location (abd. 1 cranio-ventral region, abd.
- 542 2 caudoventral region and dors. dorsal region) and severity (from 1-8) in Farm 1–3.

		Abd. 1			Abd. 2			Dors.	
Score	Farm 1	Farm 2	Farm 3	Farm 1	Farm 2	Farm 3	Farm 1	Farm 2	Farm 3
1	3	7	5	2	4	1	0	4	3
2	1	3	0	2	0	1	0	4	2
4	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	3	2
8	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0

- 547 Table 4. RT-qPCR analyzes in skeletal muscle and heart, showing mean Cq values (standard
- 548 deviation).

	Farm 1	Farm 2	Farm 3
PRV-1	Mu: (n= 1/25)	Mu: (n= 0/54)	Mu: (n= 26/37)
	34,7	He: (0/10)	33.39 (± 2.96)
	He: (n= 2/16)		He: (n= 8/10)
	32,57 (± 2.26)		27,02 (± 4.85)
PRV-3	Mu: (n= 0/25)	Mu: (n= 0/54)	Mu: (n= 0/37)
	He: (n= 3/16)	He: (n= 6/10)	He: (n= 4/10)
	31.41 (± 4.41)	30, 94 (± 3.90)	32,70 (± 2.81)
SAV	Mu: (n= 0/25)	Mu: (n= 52/54)	Mu: (n= 9/37)
	He: (n= 0/16)	26,88 (± 3.62)	34,83 (± 1.16)
		He: (n= 6/10)	He: (n= 0/10)
		32,09 (± 3.06)	

- 551 **Table 5.** *In situ* hybridization (ISH) and RT-qPCR results in tissues selected for ISH analyses.
- 552 Skeletal muscle (Mu) and heart (He) samples. Negative (Neg) results imply no detected signal in ISH
- sections, positive (Pos) results imply detected signal in sample. *Muscle samples containing
- 554 organized granulomas.

PR	/-1	PR	V-3	SAV		
ISH (Tissue)	Cq value	ISH (Tissue)	Cq value	ISH (Tissue)	Cq value	
Neg (Mu)	34.2	Pos (He)	28.4	Pos (Mu)	20.6	
Neg (Mu)	32.7	Neg (He)	24.9	Pos (Mu)	21.8	
Neg (Mu)*	37			Pos (Mu)	22.5	
Neg (Mu)*	37			Pos (Mu)	22.0	
Pos (Mu)	26.5			Pos (Mu)	22.6	

555

557 Figures

558

- 559 Figure 1. Regions used for registration of hemorrhagic and melanized muscle changes in farmed
- 560 Rainbow trout. Registering of melanin according to anatomical location. Anatomical location: abd.1 -
- abdominal cranio-ventral region, abd.2 abdominal caudoventral region and dors. dorsal region.



- **Figure 2.** Macroscopic grading of RFC ad MFC in rainbow trout. (a) Grade 0: No macroscopic
- changes observed in the skeletal muscle. (b) Grade 1: Hazy changes, all sizes. (c) Grade 2: Local and
- distinct change, <3 cm size. (d) Grade 4 RFC: Local and distinct change with red color, 3-6 cm. (e)
- 566 Grade 4 MFC: Local and distinct change, 3-6 cm. (f) Grade 8: Large change, >6 cm.



568 Figure 3. Histological investigations of red and melanized focal changes (RFC ad MFC). (a) RFC: Hemorrhage and necrotic myocytes in white skeletal muscle. Adipocytes and vacuoles are present 569 570 within the lesion. HE stain, scale bar = 100 µm. (b)MFC: Organized granuloma located in the adipose 571 tissue adjacent to the skeletal muscle. Scarce number of melano-macrophages in the tissue. HE stain, 572 scale bar = $100 \mu m.$ (c) MFC: Large vacuole surrounded by elongated melano-macrophages and inflammatory cells located in the white skeletal muscle. HE stain, scale bar = $100 \,\mu\text{m}$. (d) MFC: 573 Melano-macrophages located between adipocytes in the myosepta. HE stain, scale bar = $50 \mu m$. (e) 574 575 Positive staining for melanin in melano-macrophages surrounding a large vacuole. Fontana Masson stain, scale bar= $100 \,\mu\text{m}$. (f) Positive staining for melanin in melano-macrophages located in adipose 576 tissue. Fontana masson stain, scale bar = $50 \mu m$. 577



- 579 Figure 4. Collagen stains of melanized focal changes. (a) Hematoxylin and eosin stain: Area with
- 580 small, regenerative myocytes interspersed in connective tissue. (b) Van Gieson's stain: Collagen-
- 581 stained pink, skeletal muscle stained yellow/orange, nucleus stained brown/black. (c) Masson's
- trichrome stain: Collagen stained blue, skeletal muscle stained red, nucleus stained brown/black.



Figure 5. *In situ* hybridization targeting Piscine orthoreovirus-1 (a,b), Piscine orthoreovirus-3 (c), and Salmonid alphavirus (d-e). (a) Skeletal muscle with PRV-1 positive cell located adjacent to an intact myocyte. Scale bar = 50 μ m. (b) PRV-1 signal detected in the adipose tissue adjacent to intact muscle fibers. Note that no signal is detected within melano-macrophages. Scale bar =50 μ m. (c) PRV-1 signal in cells in the *stratum spongiosum* of the heart. Scale bar = 50 μ m. (d) Skeletal muscle with SAV-positive reactivity. No signal detected in lesioned areas or necrotic myocytes (asterisk). Scale bar = 100 μ m.



ISBN: 978-82-575-2111-0 ISSN: 1894-6402



Norwegian University of Life Sciences Postboks 5003 NO-1432 Ås, Norway +47 67 23 00 00 www.nmbu.no